
 
Solicitor to the Council and Monitoring Officer, T W 
Mortimer LLB Solicitor 

CA  

 

 

 

CABINET 
 
 
Notice of a Meeting, to be held in the Council Chamber, Civic Centre, Tannery Lane, 
Ashford, Kent TN23 1PL on Thursday, 23rd February, 2023 at 7.00 pm. 
 
 
The Members of the Cabinet are:-  
 
Councillor Clarkson – Leader of the Council  
Councillor Bartlett – Deputy Leader and Portfolio Holder for Safety and Wellbeing 
Councillor Barrett – Portfolio Holder for Housing 
Councillor Bell – Portfolio Holder for Planning and Development  
Councillor Buchanan – Portfolio Holder for Climate Change  
Councillor Feacey – Portfolio Holder for Policy and Performance  
Councillor Forest – Portfolio Holder for Environment, Property and Recreation  
Councillor Iliffe – Portfolio Holder for Economic Development  
Councillor Pickering – Portfolio Holder for Human Resources and Customer Services  
Councillor Shorter – Portfolio Holder for Finance, IT and Digital  
 
NB: Under the Council’s Public Participation Scheme, members of the public can 
submit a petition to the Cabinet if the issue is within its terms of reference or ask a 
question or speak concerning any item contained on this Agenda (Procedure Rule 
9 refers) 
 
Agenda 
  Page Nos.  
1.   Apologies 

 
 

 
2.   Declarations of Interest 

 
1 - 2 

 To declare any interests which fall under the following categories, as 
explained on the attached document: 
 

a) Disclosable Pecuniary Interests (DPI) 
b) Other Significant Interests (OSI) 
c) Voluntary Announcements of Other Interests 
 

See Agenda Item 2 for further details 
 

 

 
3.   Minutes 

 
3 - 6 

 To approve the Minutes of the Meeting of the Cabinet held on 15th 
December 2022. 
 

 

 
4.   To Receive any Petitions 

 
 

 



5.   Leader's Announcements 
 

 
 
6.   Report of the Overview and Scrutiny Planning IT Delivery Task 

Group 
 

7 - 16 

 
7.   Report of the Overview and Scrutiny Budget Task Group 

 
17 - 24 

 
8.   Budget 2023/24 

 
25 - 196 

 
9.   Financial Monitoring - Quarterly Report 

 
197 - 216 

 
10.   Corporate Performance Report 

 
217 - 244 

 
11.   Local Development Scheme 

 
245 - 274 

 
12.   Revenues and Benefits Recommended Write Offs Schedule 

 
275 - 284 

 
13.   Joint Transportation Board - Minutes of 6th December 2022 

 
285 - 292 

 To receive and note. 
 

 
 
14.   Trading and Enterprise Board - Minutes of 31st January 2023 

 
293 - 296 

 To receive and note. 
 

 
 
15.   Civic and Ceremonial Programme Board - Notes of 25th January 

2023 
 

297 - 302 

 To receive and note. 
 

 
 
16.   Compliance and Enforcement Board - Notes of 24th January 2023 

 
303 - 308 

 
17.   Climate Change Advisory Committee - Notes of 17th November 

2022 
 

309 - 314 

 To receive and note. 
 

 
 
18.   Local Plan and Planning Policy Task Group - Notes of 16th 

December 2022 
 

315 - 320 

 To receive and note. 
 

 
 
19.   Schedule of Key Decisions 

 
321 - 328 

 
20.   Items for Future Meetings 

 
 

 
21.   Economic Regeneration and Investment Board - Notes of 14th 

December 2022 
 

329 - 332 



 To receive and note. 
 

 
 
22.   Regeneration, Infrastructure and Improvement Co-ordination 

Board - Notes of 20th January 2023 
 

333 - 338 

 To approve and adopt including additional advice sheet. 
 

 

 
   
15 February 2023 
 
Queries concerning this agenda?  Please contact Member Services 
Telephone: (01233) 330349 E-mail: membersservices@ashford.gov.uk  
Agendas, Reports and Minutes are available on: https://www.ashford.moderngov.co.uk  

 
 

mailto:membersservices@ashford.gov.uk
https://www.ashford.moderngov.co.uk/


This page is intentionally left blank



Declarations of Interest (see also “Advice to Members” below) 
 
(a) Disclosable Pecuniary Interests (DPI) under the Localism Act 2011, relating to items on 

this agenda.  The nature as well as the existence of any such interest must be declared, and 
the agenda item(s) to which it relates must be stated. 
 
A Member who declares a DPI in relation to any item will need to leave the meeting for that 
item (unless a relevant Dispensation has been granted). 

 
(b) Other Significant Interests (OSI) under the Kent Code of Conduct relating to items on this 

agenda.  The nature as well as the existence of any such interest must be declared, and the 
agenda item(s) to which it relates must be stated. 
 
A Member who declares an OSI in relation to any item will need to leave the meeting before 
the debate and vote on that item (unless a relevant Dispensation has been granted).  
However, prior to leaving, the Member may address the Committee in the same way that a 
member of the public may do so. 

 
(c) Voluntary Announcements of Other Interests not required to be disclosed under (a) and 

(b), i.e. announcements made for transparency alone, such as: 
 
• Membership of amenity societies, Town/Community/Parish Councils, residents’ groups or 

other outside bodies that have expressed views or made representations, but the Member 
was not involved in compiling or making those views/representations, or 

 
• Where a Member knows a person involved, but does not have a close association with 

that person, or 
 
• Where an item would affect the well-being of a Member, relative, close associate, 

employer, etc. but not his/her financial position. 
 
 [Note: Where an item would be likely to affect the financial position of a Member, relative, 

close associate, employer, etc.; OR where an item is an application made by a Member, 
relative, close associate, employer, etc., there is likely to be an OSI or in some cases a DPI. 
ALSO, holding a committee position/office within an amenity society or other outside body, or 
having any involvement in compiling/making views/representations by such a body, may give 
rise to a perception of bias and require the Member to take no part in any motion or vote.] 

 
Advice to Members on Declarations of Interest:   
(a) Government Guidance on DPI is available in DCLG’s Guide for Councillors, at 

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/5962/2193362.pdf 
 

(b) The Kent Code of Conduct was adopted by the Full Council on 19 July 2012, 
and a copy can be found in the Constitution alongside the Council’s Good Practice Protocol 
for Councillors dealing with Planning Matters. See  https://www.ashford.gov.uk/media/2098/z-word5-
democratic-services-constitution-2019-constitution-of-abc-may-2019-part-5.pdf  

 
(c) Where a Member declares a committee position or office within, or membership of, an outside 

body that has expressed views or made representations, this will be taken as a statement 
that the Member was not involved in compiling or making them and has retained an open 
mind on the item(s) in question. If this is not the case, the situation must be explained. 

 
If any Member has any doubt about any interest which he/she may have in any item on this 
agenda, he/she should seek advice from the Director of Law and Governance and Monitoring 
Officer, or from other Solicitors in Legal and Democracy as early as possible, and in advance 
of the Meeting. 

Page 1

Agenda Item 2

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/5962/2193362.pdf
https://www.ashford.gov.uk/media/2098/z-word5-democratic-services-constitution-2019-constitution-of-abc-may-2019-part-5.pdf
https://www.ashford.gov.uk/media/2098/z-word5-democratic-services-constitution-2019-constitution-of-abc-may-2019-part-5.pdf


This page is intentionally left blank



CA 
Published 20th December 2022 

Decisions effective from the 30th December 2022 unless they are called in or are 
recommended to the Council for approval 

 

325 

Cabinet 
 
Minutes of a Meeting of the Cabinet held in the Council Chamber, Civic Centre, 
Tannery Lane, Ashford on the 15th December 2022. 
 
Present:  
 
Cllr. Bartlett (Vice-Chairman in the Chair); 
 
Cllrs. Buchanan, Feacey, Forest, Iliffe, Pickering, Shorter. 
 
Apologies: 
 
Cllrs. Bell, Clarkson. 
 
Also Present: 
 
Cllrs. Barrett, Harman, Nilsson, Sparks, Wright. 
 
In attendance: 
 
Chief Executive, Deputy Chief Executive, Director of Place, Space and Leisure, 
Director of Health and Wellbeing, Assistant Director of Planning and Development, 
Assistant Director of Environment, Property and Recreation, Assistant Director of 
Housing, Environmental Contracts and Enforcement Manager, Development 
Partnership Manager, Principal Accountant, Principal Solicitor (Strategic 
Development), Principal Litigator, Communications Officer, Member Services 
Manager. 
 
263 Minutes 
 
Resolved: 
 
That the Minutes of the Meeting of the Cabinet held on the 24th November 2022 
be approved and confirmed as a correct record. 
 
264 Deputy Leader’s Announcements 
 
The Deputy Leader advised that he had recently contacted the Integrated Care 
Partnership following up on the bid for £460m capital funding for East Kent Hospitals. 
They had responded that they were in the process of reviewing expressions of 
interest and were looking to make a final decision by “the end of the year”. They had 
also advised that the programme remained a key priority for the Government. Whilst 
he remained unsure of the exact timeframes, it did sound relatively promising.  
 

Page 3

Agenda Item 3



CA 
151222 

326 

265 Housing Revenue Account Business Plan 2022-2053 
 
The Portfolio Holder introduced the report which was the latest annual report from 
both Housing and Finance, setting out the Business Plan to 2053. It had been 
compiled at against an extremely challenging background of great political and 
economic uncertainty and he thanked Officers for their hard work. 
 
In response to a question, the Assistant Director of Housing advised that the target 
date for the Henwood Scheme was November/December 2023. 
 
Resolved:  
 
That  (i)  the priorities of the HRA, as set out in the Business Plan report, 

 the updated HRA Business Plan, and the financial projections be 
 agreed and it be noted that the HRA Business Plan will be referred 
 to the Overview and Scrutiny Budget Task Group, as part of the 
 budget scrutiny process.  
 
(ii)  dwelling rents be increased to the formula rent value on re-let.   
 
(iii) decisions for acquisitions be taken on a case-by-case basis within 

the existing delegations by the Assistant Director of Housing, 
giving due regard to the HRA Business Plan and its priorities. 

 
(iv) the Solicitor to the Council and Monitoring Officer be authorised 

to negotiate, finalise and complete necessary legal agreements 
and other documents to effect the above.  

 
266 Waste, Recycling and Street Cleansing Service – 

Contract Award 
 
The Portfolio Holder introduced the report which identified the evaluation of the new 
contract, the costs, key changes and benefits that would occur and presented the 
opportunity to further reduce service costs in the longer term beyond this contract 
through the potential development of a Council owned depot. The report also 
recommended the preferred bidder for Members consideration. He directed 
Members attention to the tabled paper which included re-worded recommendation to 
provide clarity and re-iterated that elements of this report would need to remain 
confidential until the standstill period had been completed.  
 
Resolved:  
 
That  (i)  the award of the 8-year waste and recycling collection and street 

 cleansing contract to bidder A (identified in the exempt appendix) 
 be approved, subject to a satisfactory outcome from the 
 application of the standstill period.  
 
(ii)  approval be given to proceed in principle towards the 

development of a depot for service provision, subject to a future 

Page 4



CA 
151222 

327 

decision following the outcome of investigations currently 
underway.  

 
(iii) the Solicitor to the Council and Monitoring Officer be authorised 

to negotiate, finalise and complete all necessary legal agreements 
and other documents to give effect to the above.  

 
Recommended 
 
That capital spend in the region of £6.2m be approved to acquire the fleet for 
the new contract, to be made available to the new contractor on appropriate 
terms.  
 
267 Climate Change Guidance for Development 

Management 
 
The Assistant Director of Planning and Development introduced the report which 
sought approval to publish guidance entitled ‘Climate Change Guidance for 
Development Management’ and to treat it as a material consideration for the purpose 
of decision making for planning decisions. He re-iterated that this was the first step 
on a journey to better recognise and mitigate the impacts of climate change.  
 
Resolved:  
 
That  (i)  the content of the Climate Change Guidance for Development 

 Management, attached at Appendix 1 to the report, be approved, 
 subject to any changes to be made under (ii) below. 
 
(ii)  responsibility for the final contents of the Climate Change 

Guidance for Development Management be delegated to the 
Assistant Director of Planning and Development, in consultation 
with the Portfolio Holder for Planning and Development.  

 
(iii) the final Climate Change Guidance for Development Management 

be adopted as a material consideration for the purpose of making 
planning decisions.  

 
268 Private Sector Housing Strategy 
 
The Portfolio Holder introduced the report which outlined the proposed strategy and 
explained how it outlined the Council’s approach to ensuring that residents across 
the Borough lived in homes that were safe, well maintained and met required 
standards. 
 
Resolved: 
 
That the Private Sector Housing Strategy, as attached at Appendix 1 to the 
report, be approved.  

Page 5



CA 
151222 

328 

 
269 Disabled Facilities Grants and Disabled Adaptations 
 
The Portfolio Holder introduced the report which set out the findings of a review into 
the Council’s processes for administering Disabled Facilities Grants and disabled 
adaptations in the Council housing stock. The review followed a Motion passed at 
Full Council on the 20th October 2022 and focused on the application process. The 
outcome of the review confirmed that the Council was working within the scope of 
the legislation and guidance. However, some best practice recommendations had 
been identified to further improve service delivery, and these would be adopted.  
 
Resolved:  
 
That  (i)  the responses to the issues raised at Full Council on the 20th 

 October 2022, and the outcome of the review into processing 
 applications for Disabled Facilities Grants and adaptations in the 
 Council Housing Stock as set out in the report, be noted.  

 
(ii)  the recommendations set out in the Foundations report, at 

Appendix 3 to the report, be agreed.  
 
270 Local Plan and Planning Policy Task Group – Notes of 

4th November 2022 
 
Resolved:  
 
That the Notes of the Meeting of the Local Plan and Planning Policy Task 
Group held on the 4th November 2022 be received and noted. 
 
271 Schedule of Key Decisions to be Taken 
 
Resolved:  
 
That the latest Schedule of Key Decisions as set out within the report be 
received and noted.  
 
 
__________________________________________________________ 
Queries concerning these minutes?  Please contact Member Services  
Telephone: (01233) 330349 Email: membersservices@ashford.gov.uk 
Agendas, Reports and Minutes are available on: www.ashford.moderngov.co.uk 

Page 6

mailto:membersservices@ashford.gov.uk
http://www.ashford.moderngov.co.uk/


Agenda Item No: 
 

6 

Report To:  
 

Cabinet 

Date of Meeting:  
 

23 February 2022 

Report Title:  
 

Final Report of the O&S Task Group’s Review of the 
Planning IT System Delivery  
 

Report Author: 
Job Title:  

Abi Sheppard 
Policy and Scrutiny Officer  

O&S Task Group 
Chairman 
 

Cllr. N Ovenden 
 
 

 
Summary:  
 

 
The Overview and Scrutiny Committee agreed to form a 
Task Group to review the lessons learnt during the project to 
deliver the new Planning IT System with Arcus Global. The 
Group also wanted to ensure that where issues had been 
experienced they were not repeated for future transformation 
projects. 
 

 
Key Decision:  
 

 
NO  

Significantly 
Affected Wards:  
 

All 

Recommendations: 
 

The Overview and Scrutiny Committee would like to 
endorse the following recommendations to Cabinet: 
 

I. Projects of a certain size or importance require a 
professional project manager and this role should 
not be in addition to normal duties. 
 

II. Unnecessary and historic data should not be 
transferred to new systems and any data 
migration should be considered during the early 
stages of a project. A data retention policy should 
be agreed and adopted for implementation in the 
project. 
 

III. Internal and external user testing should be 
thoroughly scoped, agreed through PMG and 
carried out for any future system implementation 
or upgrade. 
 

IV. Detailed scoping of Officers time should take 
place when considering project resources.  
 

V. Consultation with external customers should take 
place at the outset of a project to inform its 
delivery. 

Page 7

Agenda Item 6



 
VI. PMG should determine the governance 

arrangements of future projects, including 
frequency of highlight reports setting out key 
risks and challenges. 
 

VII. Portfolio Holders should be kept informed of 
project updates for key projects in their Service on 
a regular basis, which is defined from the outset 
of a project. 

 
VIII. System rollouts should foremost be designed to 

improve the customer experience and processes 
need to be mapped with this in mind.  

 
 

Policy Overview:  
Financial 
Implications: 

There are no financial implications resulting from the review. 

Legal Implications: 
 
 

There are no legal implications resulting from the review. 

Equalities Impact 
Assessment: 
 

Not Required  

Data Protection 
Impact 
Assessment: 

Not Required 
 
 
 

Risk Assessment 
(Risk Appetite 
Statement): 
 

Not Required 

Sustainability 
Implications:  
 

Not Required 

Other Material 
Implications:  
 
 

Not Required 

Exempt from 
Publication:  
 

NO 
 

Background 
Papers:  
 
Contact: 

None 
 
 
Abi Sheppard 
Abi.sheppard@ashford.gov.uk – Tel: (01233 330394) 

 

Page 8



 
Agenda Item No. 6 

 
Report Title: Final Report of the O&S Task Group’s 
Review of the Planning IT System Delivery 
 
 
Foreword from the Task Group Chairman  
 
1. In this report, the Overview and Scrutiny Task Group presents its findings and 

recommendations from the review that examined how the new planning IT 
system was delivered at the council.  
 

2. The review has highlighted that there were issues during the delivery of the 
Arcus Global system, some of which could have been avoided. The Witness 
Sessions, conducted during the review,  allowed for in depth discussions over 
each stage of the project and I would like to commend Officers for working 
tirelessly on what was a challenging project and note the endeavours of all 
involved. One of the key lessons learnt was to ensure that enough resources 
are in place for future large scale projects. Although the system did get to the 
‘go live’ stage, the pressure to do this compromised other important aspects 
of the project such as external consultation. Additionally, the Task Group felt 
that the reputational risk of the project was overlooked because the focus of 
the project was not developed with the customer in mind.  

 
3. The findings are a reflection of discussions conducted between Councillors 

and key Officers involved in the project.  I would like to acknowledge the time 
and effort dedicated from Task Group Members, Portfolio Holders and 
Officers to attend meetings and participate in discussions.  

 
 
 
Introduction and Background 
 
 
4. The Overview and Scrutiny Committee identified that there had been issues 

with the delivery of the new planning IT system with Arcus Global. It was 
agreed that a review should be prioritised in the work programme and 
undertaken by a dedicated Task and Finish Group.  
 

5. The aim for the review was to understand what issues had been experienced 
during the project and also what lessons could be taken forward in future 
transformation projects and system rollouts. In particular, Members were 
aware of plans in 2023 to develop the Arcus Global system further with the 
Planning and Development Service and also upgrade the system used by the 
Safety and Wellbeing Service. Therefore, it was important for the Task Group 
to understand the lessons that could be learnt from the delivery of the 
planning IT system project. 

 
 

 

Page 9



Review Scope  
 
 
6. The Task Group assembled 5 Members; Cllr Ovenden (Chair), Cllr. Ledger, 

Cllr. Harman, Cllr. Mulholland and Cllr. Hayward to review the success of the 
project delivery of the new IT system in the Planning and Development 
service  and, if required, make some recommendations to improve the 
process for future system rollouts or projects.  
 

7. A scope was initially compiled for the review to establish where scrutiny could 
be most beneficial. During discussions about the scope, it was important to 
Members that the purpose of the review was not to apportion blame for issues 
that occurred throughout the project, but to understand any lessons that could 
be learnt to inform similar projects in future.  
 

8. The Task Group agreed that speaking to key individuals involved in the 
project would be the best way to understand issues completely. It was 
proposed that three or four ‘Witness Sessions’ would take place for Members 
to have a question and answer style discussion with the; 
 

a. Project Manager 
b. Assistant Director for Planning and Development  
c. Portfolio Holder for Planning and Development   
d. Head of IT 
e. Digital Transformation Manager  
f. External consultant  
g. Main contact from Arcus Global  

 
9. The scope also identified a set of questions which were provided to the 

witnesses in advance to allow them time to prepare and aimed to guide 
discussion with Members at the Task Group meetings.  
 

10. The Task Group identified the following questions for the Witness Sessions: 
 

a. What were downfalls of the old system from an internal and external 
customer Point Of View and what did Arcus do to improve on them? 
 

b. What resources were allocated at the beginning of the project and was 
this sufficient?  

 
c. What have been the main issues during the project delivery of the 

Arcus Global system? 
 

d. How have the issues identified been dealt with and were they easy to 
resolve?  

 
e. What were the benefits and disbenefits of a service-led project 

management approach? 
 

f. Were customers (including parish council’s) consulted during the 
implementation process? 

 
g. What have been the barriers to pulling across more streamlined data? 

Page 10



 
h. What IT support was put in place for the project? 

 
i. What learning has been explored from other councils and how has it 

been implemented? 
 

11. External customer’s direct feedback would not be required for this review as 
there were separate forums for customers to put their view forward. For 
example, Parish Councils had a training session scheduled separately on how 
to use the system. Members of the Task Group would also represent views of 
external users. 

 
 
Review Findings  
 
 
12. A number of key issues during delivery of the new Planning IT System were 

identified by the Task Group during the review. Issues have been categories 
within four main areas;  

13.  
a. Project Team Resourcing 
b. User Testing and Data Migration 
c. External Customer Experience 
d. Governance and Communications 

 
Project Team Resourcing 

 
14. A main concern raised during the Witness Sessions related to the size of the 

project team in comparison to the size of the project. It was found that some 
officers who were key to delivering the project, had multiple work streams and 
it became difficult for them to manage the demands of the project and the 
running of the Planning Service. This indicated that the pressures of multiple 
work streams may have impacted officer’s ability to deliver the project 
successfully, maximising the full benefits of the system. It was noted other 
authorities, that had recently implemented the same system, had dedicated 
teams of Officers in place to implement a project of this scale and this was 
identified as a key lesson to take forward from the review. The suggestion 
was made that better scoping of officer’s time during the initial stages of a 
project should be undertaken to ensure realistic expectations over timings of 
project delivery and manageable workloads for officers.  This would have 
made it evident that dedicated project management support was necessary. 
Overall, the Task Group agreed that more resources should be allocated to 
certain projects undertaken in future at the council.  For example, those of 
particular importance to customers or those with significant financial or 
reputational risk. (Recommendation V) 

 
 

15. Furthermore, Members agreed that the Project Manager should not be an 
additional role to normal duties for large-scale projects and should be 
considered a separate role. The review panel noted there was not a 
requirement for the Project Manager to have any professional project 
management qualifications. Although the hard work and commitment by the 
project team to implement the new system was acknowledged, it may have 

Page 11



been advantageous for the lead Officer to have project management 
qualifications to help move the project forward. (Recommendation I) 

 
 

User Testing and Data Migration  
 

16. The Witness Sessions identified that there were additional pressures on 
Officers to deliver the project and ‘go live’ within a set timeframe. 
 

17. As part of the transition from one system to another, the migration of data was 
anticipated. The Task Group discussed the migration of legacy data and the 
time taken to do this part of the project. Issues arose around what data would 
be taken over and what wouldn’t, for example, historic data. Due to time 
pressures of the project, the decision was made to migrate all of the data 
across.  This went against the advice of the council’s Corporate Information 
Governance Group and caused unexpected delays due to the additional time 
required to transfer the large set of data. The Task Group suggested that 
unnecessary and historic data should be identified during the early stages of a 
project and not migrated. This would avoid time delays, ensure a smoother 
transition process and be in line with the council’s data protection and 
retention policies.  (Recommendation II) 

 
18. Further issues were identified in regards to the User Acceptance Testing 

(UAT) conducted internally by Planning Officers. The purpose of conducting 
UAT was to test how well the system worked, raise any issues and resolve 
them prior to the system going live. It was suggested that there was not 
enough importance placed on the UAT due to the timescale pressures to get 
the system live. Additionally, there may have not been enough responsibility 
assigned to officers involved in user groups to ensure they understood the 
importance of the testing and prioritised it alongside their daily tasks. This 
resulted in incomplete testing and issues not being resolved prior to the go 
live date. Members agreed that explicit testing should be carried out with user 
groups and communicated to the project manager in order for issues to be 
understood and resolved in advance of going live with a new system. 
(Recommendation III, IV) 

 
External Customer Experience 

 
19. The Task Group considered the implementation of the public facing (external 

customer) element of the Arcus Global system in detail. Following the system 
go-live date, a number of issues were identified with the public system and 
this resulted in negative feedback from some members of the public who used 
the system. An external survey was conducted to registered users of the 
Consultee Portal (including Members) of which 29 responses were received. 
The results found that 72% of respondents rated the usability of the system as 
only 1 or 2 out of 5 (1 being bad – 5 being good). When asked to elaborate on 
the scoring, a key issue highlighted by respondents was that the system was 
confusing. 
 

20. Overall, it was felt that the design of the system focussed on the needs of the 
Planning Service in the first instance. Although the back-office element of the 
system was the most significant part to implement, this suggested to the Task 
Group that the project was not designed with the customer in mind.  It also 

Page 12



suggested that the reputational risk associated with the public facing part of 
the system had not been sufficiently considered.  
 

21. The Task Group also found that external consultation may not have been 
prioritised, in light of the pressure to get the system live. Members suggested 
that if effective consultation with customers had taken place, it was likely to 
have reduced the issues that arose following the go live date. However, due 
to the focus on getting the system to the point of go live, customer 
consultation had not been addressed. The group suggested that consultation 
with external customers at the very outset was vital when implementing a new 
system of this size, particularly when the system would be used heavily by 
customers, as was the case with the planning system. The reputational risk to 
the council also needed to be fully understood and mitigated against. It was 
also recommended that external consultation should take place during the 
initial stages of a project and then inform its delivery. In order to achieve this, 
user groups would need to be set up from the outset of a project and their 
feedback incorporated going forward to ensure it is customer focused 
throughout. (Recommendation VI) 

 
Governance and Communications 
 

 
22. The Task Group wanted to understand how project updates were being 

communicated and overseen by the council’s senior management. Project 
updates were received by the Programme Management Group (PMG) at 
multiple points during the project. Members questioned why the decision had 
been made to go live despite issues raised in regards to the data migration 
and UAT. It was found that the issues were advised within project updates to 
PMG, however, assurance had been given that these risks were manageable. 
The Task Group agreed that the decision to go live should be more rigorously 
challenged by PMG when receiving project updates to ensure that timescales 
were deliverable and are not detrimental to the project outcomes.  

 
 
23. The Task Group questioned the governance of the project further and asked 

specifically what arrangements were in place for project reporting. Although 
several project updates were brought forward to PMG by the Project Manager 
throughout the duration of the project, there were no specific arrangements in 
place to ensure the group were updated at milestone points in the project. For 
example, it was suggested that PMG should clarify the frequency of highlight 
reporting to PMG to set out the key risks and challenges of the project at that 
time. (Recommendation VII) 
 

24. Furthermore, the Task Group also discussed how Portfolio Holders were kept 
updated on the progress of the project. It was found that some key issues 
were not communicated effectively to the relevant Portfolio Holder, in 
particular its scope and the impact that a new system could have on the 
council’s customers. Members suggested that regular updates on the status 
of a project should be in place between the lead Service and Portfolio Holder 
to ensure there is Member oversight of project delivery. (Recommendation 
VIII)  

 

Page 13



25. Communications of some project issues relating to the external user 
experience were also not escalated. The Task Group found that these issues 
were not picked up at senior management level due to the lack of focus 
around customer experience. It was proposed that to improve system rollouts 
in future, they should be planned around improving the customer experience 
and the processes be mapped accordingly with this in mind.  
 

26. Furthermore, it was found that a communications plan had been put in place 
initially, however, this was not fully implemented for the duration of the project. 
It was explained to the Task Group that the communications team had been 
involved at an early stage but the plan was not revisited when the ‘go live’ was 
introduced. Members agreed that a strong communications plan was essential 
for helping system users to smoothly transition from one system to another. 
(Recommendation IX) 

 
Conclusion 
 
27. The implementation of the Arcus Global planning system was a challenging 

project which required a lot of work undertaken to get the system live. The 
Witness Sessions found that, ultimately, the time pressure to get the system 
live meant that some important processes were overlooked. The Task Group 
noted that testing and consultation were two areas that were not carried out 
thoroughly and therefore issues were not properly reported or resolved prior 
to the system going live. A key lesson to be learnt from this would be to 
ensure that system rollouts are tested appropriately and are developed with 
the customer in mind.   
 

28. Furthermore, lessons could also be learnt around ensuring that all large scale 
projects in future have a dedicated team to deliver them. This would prevent 
Officers having to balance the workload on top of normal duties in their 
service. The Task Group also concluded that there could have been greater 
challenge on issues at a senior management level and so the lesson to be 
learnt here would be to ensure that governance arrangements of projects are 
clearly outlined by the council’s PMG.   
 

29. The Task Group finalised their conclusions in a Wrap Up meeting. The 
recommendations reflect key points raised from discussions held during 
Witness Sessions over the course of the review. The recommendations aim to 
improve the process for future large scale projects and system roll outs. 
Following approval from Cabinet, it was proposed that the Task Group could 
receive updates on the next phase of system upgrades with Arcus Global in 
the Planning and Development Service and Safety and Wellbeing Service.  

 
 
 
Recommendations 
 
30. The Overview and Scrutiny Committee would like to endorse the following 

recommendations to the Cabinet:  
 

i. Projects of a certain size or importance require a professional 
project manager and this role should not be in addition to normal 
duties. 

Page 14



 
ii. Unnecessary and historic data should not be transferred to new 

systems and any data migration should be considered during 
the early stages of a project. A data retention policy should be 
agreed and adopted for implementation in the project. 
 

iii. Internal and external user testing should be thoroughly scoped, 
agreed through PMG and carried out for any future system 
implementation or upgrade. 
 

iv. Detailed scoping of Officers time should take place when 
considering project resources.  

 
v. Consultation with external customers should take place at the 

outset of a project to inform its delivery. 
 

vi. PMG should determine the governance arrangements of future 
projects, including frequency of highlight reports setting out key 
risks and challenges. 

 
vii. Portfolio Holders should be kept informed of project updates for 

key projects in their Service on a regular basis, which is defined 
from the outset of a project. 

 
 

viii. System rollouts should foremost be designed to improve the 
customer experience and processes need to be mapped with 
this in mind.  
 
 

 
 
 
Contact and Email 
 
31. Abi Sheppard, Policy and Scrutiny Officer 

abi.sheppard@ashford.gov.uk 
Tel: 01233 330394 

 
 
 

Page 15



This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Item No: 
 

7 

Report To:  
 

Cabinet 

Date of Meeting:  
 

23 February 2023 

Report Title:  
 

Report of the Budget Scrutiny Task Group 

Report Author & 
Job Title:  

Abi Sheppard 
Policy and Scrutiny Officer 

Task Group 
Chairman: 
 

Cllr. N Ovenden 
 

 
Summary:  
 

 
The Overview and Scrutiny Budget Scrutiny Task Group has 
scrutinised the council’s draft 2023/24 budget over four 
meetings during December and January. The Task Group 
have made six recommendations for Cabinet to consider 
when making their final budget proposals to recommend to 
Council.   
 
The Overview and Scrutiny Committee made further 
recommendations to Cabinet at their meeting on 14th 
February 2023.  

 
Key Decision:  
 

 
NO 

Significantly 
Affected Wards:  
 

None specifically 

Recommendations: The Overview and Scrutiny Budget Task Group 
recommends to the Cabinet that: 
 

I. The council’s draft budget for 2023/24 is 
sound and deliverable (noting 
recommendation II). 
 

II. The Task Group supports the proposal to 
use reserves to fund the 2023/24 deficit. 
 

III. The Task Group notes that in order to 
mitigate against the challenges presented 
by the current economic climate, a savings 
strategy needs to be developed to bridge 
the budget gap. 
 

IV. The Task Group note that work should be 
undertaken to assess the council’s estates 

Page 17

Agenda Item 7



portfolio to determine whether assets 
should be retained.  

 

 
V. Resources should be allocated to ensure 

the council continues to deliver more than 
the minimum requirement of 10% for fire 
safety checks in homes. 
 

VI. A presentation is provided to the wider 
council regarding the Housing Revenue 
Account. 

 

The Overview and Scrutiny Committee would like to 
make further recommendations to the Cabinet that: 

 

VII. The Committee approve the findings of the 
budget scrutiny task group at the time of 
writing. 
 

VIII. That consideration should be given to 
increasing the council tax levels in line with 
government recommended levels to protect 
service delivery in the coming and future 
years. 
 

IX. The Committee would like to monitor the 
delivery of the proposed savings identified 
on an ongoing and regular basis. 
 

X. £500,000 is earmarked from the Economic 
Resilience Reserve to safeguard against 
expected income from the international 
development company not being 
forthcoming.   

 

Policy Overview: Under the council’s Constitution, the O&S Committee has a 
duty to scrutinise the council’s draft Revenue and Capital 
Budgets. 
 

Financial 
Implications: 

As noted in the report 

Legal Implications As Policy Overview above 

Page 18



 
Equalities Impact 
Assessment 
 

Not required as appended to main budget report 
 

Other Material 
Implications:  
 

As noted in the report 

Exempt from 
Publication:  
 

NO 
 

Background 
Papers:  
 
 
Contact: 

Draft 2023/24 budget, report to Cabinet 24 November 2022 
Minutes of the Budget Scrutiny Task Group meetings are 
included in the Appendix. 
 
 
Abi Sheppard Policy and Scrutiny Officer 
abi.sheppard@ashford.gov.uk – Tel: (01233) 330394 

 
 
  

Page 19

https://ashfordextranet.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s22261/Draft%20Budget%20202324.pdf?$LO$=1


Report Title: Report of Budget Scrutiny Task Group 
Introduction and Background  
1. In accordance with the council’s Constitution, the Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee has a duty to scrutinise the council’s draft Capital and Revenue 
Budgets.  The Committee constituted a Task Group made up of five Members 
to undertake this work, and presents its findings of the draft Budget for 
2023/24 within this report.  

Report of the Chairman of the Budget Scrutiny Task Group 
2. The draft budget documents were considered by the Task Group and detailed 

how the council intends to fund its services and initiatives for the next 
municipal year. Although there may be some financial uncertainties during the 
next year, sufficient reserves were identified to mitigate the potential risks. 
  

3. Members noted that the budget relied on use of reserves to fund the 2023/24 
deficit and reserve levels remained strong despite this. Also, action was 
required to deliver savings in future and the Task Group agreed that work was 
needed to develop a savings strategy to achieve them and bridge the budget 
gap.  
 

4. In relation to the council’s assets, there was a national decline in need for 
rented office space, however, there had been an upshift in light commercial 
units. The Council also had a diverse property portfolio to reduce 
concentration risk which is managed by specialist teams. 
 

5. I would like to thank the Members of the Task Group and all of the Officers 
who were involved with scrutinising the proposed budget for 2023/24. The 
Group were grateful for the hard work and time that officers had taken to 
prepare various presentations and reports regarding their Service. I would 
also like to thank the Portfolio Holders and other Members who attended the 
meetings.  
    

Summary 
6. The budget scrutiny sessions yielded much information on the financial and 

resource challenges facing the authority and the Task Group focused on a 
number of key risks relating to the achievability of next year’s budget. 

7. The draft budget for 2023/24 was presented to the Task Group at its first 
meeting; this included all service budgets and financial risks. The purpose of 
this session was to assist Members in determining which areas to dedicate 
additional scrutiny time, these included the following: 

a. The council’s reserves positions and forecast. 
b. Savings within the budget not yet identified 

Page 20



c. Details on the borrowing portfolio and the expected borrowing interest rate 
increases. 

d. Housing Revenue Account Maintenance Programme 
e. Homelessness provision and housing options  
f. The risks around the maintenance of assets.  
g. Risks linked to the commercial property portfolio. 

 

Consultation  

8. The council’s Management Team have since seen the recommendations 
made by the Task Group and a summary of their advice to the Cabinet has 
been tabled below:  

 

No. Recommendation Summary Management Team 
Advice 

I The council’s draft budget for 
2023/24 is sound and 
deliverable (noting 
recommendation II). 
 
 

The Task Group agreed that at this 
current time the council’s draft budget 
was sound. It was advised that 
increases to borrowing interest rates 
were expected next year and some 
increases were factored into the 
budget.   
 

 
MT noted the 
recommendation.  

II The Task Group supports the 
proposal to use reserves to fund 
the 2023/24 deficit. 

It was proposed to Members that 
reserves would need to be used in this 
the next financial year to fund the 
2023/24 deficit, and Members 
supported this strategy to enable the 
budget to be deliverable. 

MT noted the 
recommendation. 
 
MT accepts the use of 
reserves is for this year’s 
budget only. The budget has 
been managed properly but 
a deficit has been created by 
uncontrollable external 
factors. Reserves have been 
set aside as a contingency 
for circumstances such as 
this. 

III The Task Group notes that in 
order to mitigate against the 
challenges presented by the 
current economic climate, a 
savings strategy needs to be 
developed to bridge the budget 
gap. 

The need for savings was clearly 
apparent to maintain the financial 
strength of the Council.  Proposals 
were currently being developed and 
have been discussed with Directors 
before presentation to Senior 
Management and the current 
administration.  The savings proposals 
were not currently at the stage where 
they could be shared with the Task 
Group.    

MT noted the 
recommendation. 
 
The savings strategy is 
already underway and 
approximately £200k has 
already been identified. 
Details of this would be 
reported to Members soon. 

IV The Task Group note that work 
should be undertaken to assess 
the council’s estates portfolio to 
determine whether assets 
should be retained.  

Overall, Members were confident that 
there was no risk at this stage in time 
for the upcoming budget. However, 
work was required to assess the 
condition of the Council’s assets and 

MT agreed the 
recommendation. 
 
This work would take place 
during the 23/24 financial 
year and would be brought 

Page 21



understand if they should be retained 
within the portfolio or not. 

forward to Members to 
understand priorities. 
 

V Resources should be allocated 
to ensure the council continues 
to deliver more than the 
minimum requirement of 10% 
for fire safety checks in homes. 
 

Members raised concerns over the 
inspection level of just 10% of block 
fire doors per annum. It was confirmed 
that whilst this was the target was set 
under legislation, the service set 
considerably tougher targets in-house. 
The Task Group felt that resources 
should be allocated to this to ensure a 
higher inspection level continued. .  

MT agreed the 
recommendation. 
 
Resources have been 
allocated accordingly and 
the review would set an 
appropriate target. 10% was 
a minimum requirement, but 
the Council would be setting 
targets well in excess of this. 

VI A presentation is provided to 
the wider council regarding the 
HRA. 

Members felt that it had been very 
useful to have greater insight into the 
operation of the Housing team as well 
as to understand the constraints on 
budgets. It was suggested that the 
knowledge was conveyed to other 
Members via subsequent 
presentations.  

MT agreed the 
recommendation. 
 
This was something that 
would be provided for the 
new Administration and as 
part of the new Members 
Induction programme in 
23/24. 

 

 

Wrap Up  
9. To conclude the Budget Scrutiny sessions, the Chairman of the Budget 

Scrutiny Task Group gave the opportunity for Members to discuss any 
outstanding issues regarding the budget and a summary presentation was 
shown to Members to relay some of the key findings of the last few budget 
scrutiny meetings.  

Conclusion 
10. The Budget Scrutiny Task Group have considered the 2023/24 draft budget 

proposals together with the council’s financial risks.  The Task Group have 
made a number of recommendations, for the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee to consider making to the Cabinet.  

 

Further Recommendations  
11. The Overview and Scrutiny Committee considered the report and 

recommendations at their meeting on 14 February 2023. It was noted that the 
recommendations made by the Task Group within the report reflected views 
of Members at the time when they met previously. However, the Committee 
would like to make further recommendations to reflect the changes to the draft 
budget since it was scrutinised. It is additionally recommended that; 
 
VII. The Committee approve the findings of the budget scrutiny task 

group at the time of writing. 

Page 22



VIII. That consideration should be given to increasing the council tax 
levels in line with government recommended levels to protect 
service delivery in the coming and future years. 
 

IX. The Committee would like to monitor the delivery of the proposed 
savings identified on an ongoing and regular basis. 
 

X. £500,000 is earmarked from the Economic Resilience Reserve to 
safeguard against expected income from the international 
development company not being forthcoming.   
 
 
 

Contact and Email 

12. Abi Sheppard, Policy and Scrutiny Officer 
abi.sheppard@ashford.gov.uk – Tel: (01233) 330394 

 

Page 23



This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Item No: 
 

8 

Report To:  
 

Cabinet 

Date of Meeting:  
 

23 February 2023 

Report Title:  
 

Budget 2023/24 

Report Author: 
Job Title:  

Monica Hutanu – Senior Accountant 
Charlie Wanstall – Accountant 
Jo Stocks – Principal Accountant 
Lee Foreman – Service Lead Finance 
 

Portfolio Holder: 
Portfolio Holder for: 
 

Cllr. Shorter  
Finance & IT 
 

 
Summary:  
 

This report is the culmination of a number of financial 
planning reports that have been received by Cabinet over the 
last year.  In October Cabinet received a report updating the 
Council’s Medium Term Financial Plan 2023-2028; this 
informed the draft budget that was presented to Cabinet in 
November, the draft budget was then put forward to the 
Overview and Scrutiny Budget Task Group for review, and 
put out to public consultation. 

This paper provides updates from the draft budget presented 
in November, including funding announcements and 
presents the final budget for 2023/24 for consideration by 
Cabinet.  Cabinet’s recommendations will then be presented 
to full Council. 

The draft budget forecasted a deficit of £2.87m which was to 
be funded from the Economic Growth and Risk Fund, 
however there have been a number movements since the 
draft budget that have reduced the deficit to £1.51m a 
reduction of £1.36m.  

The primary movements resulted from the change in 
Government funding with an additional £526,000 of New 
Homes Bonus received, and an additional £188,060 for the 
3% funding guarantee grant which was introduced.  There 
has also been £200,000 of immediately deliverable savings 
identified, and £500,000 increase in interest receipts from 
Ashford International Development Company as the Council 
looks to deliver significant savings to balance the budget 
moving forward.  

There was a growth item of £61,140 between the draft and 
final budget relating to the proposal to cut the Council Tax 
increase of £5.00 (as per draft budget), down to £3.75 per 
annum to maintain Ashford’s position as having the lowest 
Council Tax in Kent at £181.25 per annum. 

Page 25

Agenda Item 8



Funding the 2023/24 deficit from reserves is a short term 
strategy and the Council and Management team have 
developed a savings plan of £1.42m to close the year’s 
budget gap and to reduce the draw on reserves. These 
savings will be presented separately to the Overview and 
Scrutiny Budget task Group for consideration.  

There is continued uncertainty over the long term 
Government Funding of Local Authorities as the 
Governments fair funding and spending reviews continue to 
be delayed.   

The report covers the Housing Revenue Account, which 
includes an average increase in rents of 7% in line with 
government guidance following a rent consultation exercise.  
Without the consultation and government intervention rents 
would have increased by 11.1%.  While this supports social 
housing tenants it does place unfunded inflation costs upon 
the HRA. 

A number of strategies and framework documents are also 
included within the report for consideration. 

 
Key Decision:  
 

 
YES 

Significantly 
Affected Wards:  
 

All 

Recommendations: 
 

The Cabinet is recommended to:-   
 
Part 1  

I. Note the budget context 
Part 2 

II. Recommend the Revenue Budget 2023/24 
including the net budget requirement of 
£18,642,710 (excluding parish precepts). 

III. Recommend the level of discretionary and 
statutory fees to be levied from 1 April 2023 as 
set out in Appendix D. 

IV. Delegate to the Chief Finance Officer the 
powers to establish local discounts in Business 
Rates in accordance with government policy. 

V. Note the summary of reserves Table 6 and 
Appendix C 

VI. Note the Equality Impact Assessment in 
Appendix E 

Page 26



VII. Recommend the Band D council tax at 
£181.25. 

VIII. Cabinet supports the proposed savings 
schedule attached at Appendix O and 
recommends its presentation to the Overview 
and Scrutiny Budget Task Group for 
consideration. 

Part 3 
IX. Resolve that the Housing Revenue Account 

budget for 2023/24 be approved. 

X. Resolve the rent increase of 7% in accordance 
with government guidelines, and that rent 
setting for the future continues to follow 
government guidelines. 

Part 4 
XI. Capital Plan 2023/24 to 2025/26 in Appendix 

G is approved. 

Part 5 

XII. Recommend to Council that the 2023/24 
Capital Strategy be approved Appendix H 

XIII. Recommend to Council that the MRP Policy as 
set out in Appendix I, the Treasury 
Management Strategy Statement at Appendix 
J, and the Investment Strategy at Appendix K 
are approved. 

Part 6 
XIV. Approve the ABC Exceptional Circumstances 

Policy as outlined in Appendix L 
Part 7 

XV. Note the advice from the Chief Financial Officer 
concerning the robustness of the estimates and 
the adequacy of reserves, Appendix M 

Policy Overview: The council's revenue budget is intended to support the 
priorities set out within the Corporate Plan and flows through 
from the Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP). 
The Corporate Plan is geared to ensuring that priorities are 
delivered and that the council’s service activities are 
managed within the constraints of resources available. 

Page 27



Financial 
Implications: The key implications of this budget are: 

 

• Council Tax rise of £3.75 to £181.25 for a Band D 
property. 

• Housing rents to increase by 7% as per Government 
policy. 

• Revised service fees and charges be agreed. 

• The budget deficit of £1.51m to be funded from the 
Economic Growth and Risk Fund which will be reduced 
if savings are delivered 

• Significant savings need to be made to reduce reliance 
on the Council’s reserves, and to reduce the deficit and 
ensure financial sustainability.  

Legal Implications: 
Text agreed by the 
Monitoring Officer 
03/02/2022 
 

The Council is legally required to set a balanced budget at 
the start of every year to meet our financial responsibilities. 

Equalities Impact 
Assessment: 
 

See Attached in Appendix E 

Data Protection 
Impact 
Assessment: 

NA 
 
 
 

Risk Assessment 
(Risk Appetite 
Statement): 
 

See body of report 

Sustainability 
Implications:  
 

NA 

Other Material 
Implications:  
 
 

This budget has been developed during a time of economic 
uncertainty and a time when inflation and interest rates have 
risen sharply creating an environment of financial 
uncertainty. 

Exempt from 
Publication:  
 

No 
 

Background 
Papers:  
 
Contact: 

None 
 
 
Monica.Hutanu@ashford.gov.uk – Tel: (01233) 330520 

  

Page 28



Agenda Item No. 8 
 
Report Title: Budget 2023/24 
 
Introduction and Background 
 
1. This report presents the final 2023/24 budget for approval and 

recommendation to full Council.  The draft budget was approved by Cabinet in 
November 2022. 

2. This budget has been built with regard to Sections 3 and 4 of CIPFA’s 
Financial Management Code which has been introduced to demonstrate good 
financial management within the public sector.  The full code which contains 
seven crosscutting sections will be fully embedded throughout 2023/24. 

3. This budget supports the 2022/24 corporate plan and covers; the general fund 
revenue budget; discretionary fees; the housing revenue account; the capital 
programme; the capital strategy; minimum revenue provision statement, the 
treasury management and annual investment strategies; and the investment 
strategy. 

4. The draft budget has been scrutinised by the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee’s Budget Task Group.  Public consultation has been sought 
through the council’s website and other communication channels which 
commenced in December. 

5. The budget for 2023/24 has been balanced by funding the £1.51m deficit from 
the Economic Growth and Risk Fund (a Council reserve). Although the current 
net deficit includes £200,000 of immediately deliverable savings, The Cabinet 
together with the Management team have been working on identifying savings 
to bridge the MTFP deficit. An initial proposal for £1.42m of savings to reduce 
the budget deficit and the overall reliance on reserves is shown at Appendix 
O once the savings are delivered.  These savings will be further developed 
and delivered during 2023/24.  The savings proposed within this budget will 
be presented separately to Overview and Scrutiny Budget Task Group for 
consideration.  

6. The strategy of funding the deficit from reserves is appropriate to manage the 
immediate pressure and financial challenges faced by the Council, however it 
should be noted, and understood, that this is not a sustainable long term 
solution, and appropriate savings need to be made to reduce the budget 
deficit. As mentioned in the paragraph above, the management team in 
conjunction with the Cabinet, to looking to identify long term savings through 
delivering services differently or reducing services (notably non-statutory 
functions where the Council is not the responsible authority for delivery) in 
order to save £2m per annum, resulting in a balanced Medium Term Financial 
Plan position for the Council. 

7. This budget has been developed during a period of high inflation, rising 
interest rates, cost of living crises and forecast national recession, these are 
key influences within this budget.  There is also continued uncertainty over 
long term government funding with funding reform further delayed. 

Page 29



8. Full details of the revenue budget, HRA budget and capital programme will be 
contained in the 'Budget Book 2023/24’ which will be published once the 
budget has been approved by Full Council. 

9. This report is presented in seven parts: 

 Part One - Context and Government Grant 

 Part Two - General Fund Revenue Budget 

 Part Three - Housing Revenue Account 

 Part Four - Capital Programme 

Part Five       - Capital Strategy, MRP Policy, Treasury Management 
Strategy statement and the Investment Strategy 

 Part Six         - Exceptional Circumstances Policies 

 Part Seven - Robustness of the Estimates and Adequacy of Reserves 
  

Page 30



PART ONE – CONTEXT AND GOVERNMENT GRANT 
The Corporate Plan 

2. This is the second budget of the Corporate Plan 2022/24 which was adopted 
(late 2021) and includes three priority themes: 

I. Green Pioneer – Where businesses, communities and the public and 
third sector have come together to become carbon neutral, respect the 
local environment and ecology, and embrace a more sustainable way 
of living. 

II. Caring Ashford – A caring and supportive place to live, with rich 
heritage; thriving towns, villages and rural communities; great schools; 
high-quality housing; a plethora of cultural activities and events; and a 
strong sense of civic pride. 

III. Targeted Growth – A place where productive, innovative, responsible 
town and rural business communities offer good quality work to an 
agile and skilled local workforce who have embraced a culture of 
lifelong learning. 

3. The corporate plan was also framed ‘The Ashford Ambition’ “To be a thriving, 
productive and inclusive borough in 2030 and beyond; a vital part of Kent and 
the South East where local businesses, social enterprises, communities and 
the public sector provide collective leadership to promote shared prosperity, 
happiness and wellbeing”. 

4. The Corporate Plan includes the ‘Super 6’ which are strategic projects; 
Project Green, South Ashford Garden Community, Ashford College Phase 2, 
Newtown Works, Stodmarsh, and the Town Centre Reset. 

5. The council has a Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP) which was presented 
to Cabinet in October 2022 and covers a rolling five year period.  The MTFP is 
reviewed regularly and updated to reflect economic changes, corporate 
priorities and incorporates new projects/information into the plan.  

6. The MTFP presented in October shows a cumulative deficit of £10m over the 
5 year period.  Although the Council has sufficient reserves to fund this deficit, 
it is not a prudent or sustainable long term solution, therefore savings will 
need to be identified. 

7. With such a significant change in economic and financial conditions since the 
inception of the 2022/24 Corporate Plan, both as it is now, but also 
considering a possible recession, the Council will need to re-focus on 
delivering essential services to stakeholders and need to question the delivery 
of the strategic projects under the Corporate Plan, only taking forward the key 
strategic priorities.   

8. In delivering these services the Council need to ensure stakeholders are 
receiving value for money services, but also understand the service level 
which is affordable, and what is, and is not a statutory function. 

Page 31



9. The budget included in this report has been built in accordance with the 
strategy adopted.  

Local Government Finance Settlement 

10. The local government finance settlement is the annual determination of 
funding to local government from central government and was published on 
23 December 2022, this was debated and laid before Parliament on 
Wednesday 8 February 2023. 

11. The settlement was positive for Ashford with the announcement of a 3% 
funding guarantee adding to the Councils Core Spending Power (CSP), 
compared to the prior year when Ashford was one of 34 Councils that did not 
receive any increase in CSP, and that was largely anticipated for 2023/24. 

12. While the new 3% funding guarantee grant was valued at £400,680, the net 
increase in general grant was £188,060 as a number of grants previously 
awarded were rolled up into this award, the rural services delivery grant also 
increased by £10,250. 

13. The allocation for New Homes Bonus (NHB) for 2023/24 is £1.66m, this was 
higher than originally forecast by £526,000, largely due to an increase in the 
number of empty properties being brought back into use, and it is proposed 
that this is used to support the base budget pressure.  

14. There have been no further announcements regarding the reforms to New 
Homes Bonus following the consultation in July 2021 with the Government 
persisting to award one year settlement only with no legacy payment 
attached.   

15. The other significant announcement coming out of the financial settlement 
was government’s recognition of pressure being faced by local Councils, and 
the increase in the Council Tax cap from 1.99% to 2.99% to support emerging 
pressures.  The £5 limit did not increase and many commentators have 
questioned this as it does not support the narrowing of the gap between low 
and high precepting authorities.  There has been feedback to Government 
that the upper limit should have been extended to £10. 

16. For Ashford, and while this announcement was welcomed, as a lower taxing 
authority we already had provision for a £5, 2.9% uplift in the draft budget.  If 
the Council was mindful to increase to 2.99% (which is anticipated by 
Government) the precept could increase by £5.31, generating additional 
income of £15,160 for the council, and additional 31 pence per annum charge 
for an average Band D property. 

17. It should be noted that due to the capping arrangements in place over Council 
Tax increases, without triggering a referendum requirement, if increases are 
not maximised annually then that element of increase cannot be recovered, 
therefore the £15,160 per annum is equal to £75,800 (excluding property 
growth) over the MTFP, and continues to extrapolate upwards unless capping 
regulations are changed. 

Page 32



18. A full list of movements between the draft and final budget reports are 
covered in part two of this report and it is recommended that the additional 
funding is used to reduce the 2023/24 deficit and pressure on reserves. 

Formula Grant 

19. For the last few years the concept of a Negative RSG has been discussed 
which would see the Council paying Government £240,000 redistributing 
Local Council Tax funds.  In the face of strong opposition, the Government 
has confirmed that negative RSG will be eliminated again for 2023/24.  

Business Rates 

20. The calculation for business rates takes into account a number of factors 
(tariff, yield and Small Business Rate Relief) that affect the budget. The 
valuation methodology of business premises rateable value and the multiplier 
is set by the Valuation Office and Central Government.  The multiplier has 
been frozen by Central Government for 2023/24 and the Council is 
compensated for the under-indexation. 

21. The budget requires the sum of Business Rate income and Section 31 grant 
to achieve £7.502m.  The statutory business rates forecast return (called the 
NNDR1) has been submitted and is broadly in line with this target.    

22. The elements of these estimates are discussed below. 

Yield  

23. The NNDR1 calculates a yield for Ashford Borough Council (40%) of 
£21.216m (£19.731m 2022/23). This includes changes made to transitional 
relief, an allowance for costs of collection and amounts retain for renewable 
energy schemes within the Borough. 

24. The yield has increase between years due to the VOA (Valuation Office 
Agency) having issued a new valuation listing for 2023 and a number of 
transitional arrangements put in place. 

25. In relation to the new valuation list the increase for Ashford is an increase of 
5% (£136.75m to £143.523m) which compares to 10.9% increase across the 
south east.  This movement below average is due to the composition of the 
businesses within the borough, with industrial sites generally increasing and 
retail operators seeing a reduction. 

26. Having a lower % movement overall could be positive for Ashford, with many 
businesses seeing lower increases than other districts, which could also result 
in lower future appeals to the new valuation listing . 

Tariff 

27. For 2023/24 Government have set the tariff level for Ashford at £16.282m 
(£16.118m in 2022/23) and is broadly in line with expectations.  The tariff is 
the amount that Council has to pay back to Central Government above the 
business rates baseline for re-distribution, to those in a top-up position where 
their rate is below their business rates baseline. 

Page 33



 Levy 

28. This is a charge against income received over the government’s baseline and 
charged at a rate of 50%.  The Council has reduced this by being a member 
of the Kent Business rates pool and in reality will pay a lower levy rate, 
expected to be 0% in 2022/23 and also forecast to be 0% in 2023/24. 

Section 31 Grant 

29. To compensate Local Government for changes that have been imposed on 
the Business Rates Retention scheme by central government a grant is paid. 

30. Government has for some time doubled the level of Small Business Rate 
relief offered. This is outside the business rate retention scheme and a 
compensatory grant is paid to the council in the form of a S31 Grant, 
alongside additional grant for other categories of relief specified by 
Government.  The 2023/24 NNDR1 shows this figure as £8.012m (£5.841m in 
2022/23).  This increase in grant income compensates for the reduction in net 
rates payable, which is a direct result of reliefs given by Government to 
businesses, and the freeze to the business rates multiplier. 

31. At times these amounts need to be held in reserves to off-set deficits in the 
Collection Fund that are recovered over subsequent years. 

Deficit/surplus 

32. The total business rates element of the collection fund is forecasting a surplus 
of approximately £920,000, this includes the previous year’s surplus of £3.5m, 
there has been an in-year movement of £2.5m due to additional reliefs the will 
be funded from S31 Grant and large appeals that have been settled with 
supermarkets, this will be funded from the provision at years end.  Ashford’s 
share of the surplus in 2022/23 is expected to be £368,000 (40%). 

Council Tax 

33. As referred to in the Local Government Finance settlement section of this 
report, the referendum limit for Council Tax was increased by Government 
from 1.99% to 2.99% to recognise funding pressures within the sector and 
would have meant Ashford could have increased Council Tax to £5.31 for an 
Average Band D property generating an additional income of £15,160. 

34. The draft budget assumed a £5.00 (2.9%) increase in Council Tax bringing in 
the band D payment to £182.50 (£177.50 in 2022/23), as the Council could 
opt to raise the Council Tax by up to the higher of 2% or £5, pre financial 
settlement announcement.  

35. However, following approval of the draft budget, the current administration 
has amended the Council Tax proposal in the final budget report to limit the 
increase to £3.75 (2.11%), making the average Band D property £181.25 for 
2023/24.  This recommendation is aimed at maintaining the Council’s position 
as having the lowest Council Tax in Kent.  

 

Page 34



36. The financial implication of this recommendation is that the Council will 
have a pressure of £61,140 between the draft and final budget which will 
need to be funded from reserves, and be added to the future savings 
requirement.  Add in the £15,160 forgone by the increase to 2.99% that is 
a loss of resource of £76,300 per annum.   

37. As referenced previously, Government expects Councils to raise Council Tax 
by the maximum amount permitted (as forecast in core spending settlement 
figures) to support public services.  The net impact of the Council charging 
£3.75 rather that the £5.31 permitted will cost the Council £76,000 in 2023/24, 
and £380,000 across the life of the MTFP.  

38. The Cabinet had weighed up the loss of resource and consequential 
impact on our savings requirement over the saving to our residents.  
Given that a savings package has been identified to bridge the budget 
gap Cabinet are recommending a reduced increase in council tax. 

39. The table below shows the anticipated (not approved) Council Tax increases 
across other Kent Districts where with the exception of Dartford and Ashford 
maximum Increases are forecast to be applied. The table also shows the 
impact of Government not increasing the £5 cap and how a widening gap will 
develop between higher and lower taxing districts.  Table 1 shows that 
Ashford will marginally still be the lowest Council Tax in Kent by 10 pence, 
taking into account special allowances at other authorities. 

Table 1 – Anticipated Council Tax increases 2023/24 
  

District 

2022/23 
Council 
Tax £ 

Anticipated 
Increase % 

Anticipated 
Increase £ 

Forecast 
2023/24 
Council 
Tax £ 

Ashford 177.50  2.11% 3.75  181.25  
Dartford 181.35  0.00% 0.00  181.35  
Swale 189.27  2.99% 5.66  194.93  
Tunbridge Wells 193.75  2.99% 5.79  199.54  
Tunbridge Wells – excluding 
Special Expenses** 137.83 2.99% 4.12 141.95 
Dover 202.14  2.99% 6.04  208.18  
Gravesham 217.98  2.99% 6.52  224.50  
Average*** 220.50  2.67% 6.01  226.51  
Tonbridge & Malling 224.50  2.99% 6.71  231.21  
Canterbury 226.17  2.99% 6.76  232.93  
Sevenoaks 229.86  2.99% 6.87  236.73  
Thanet 248.13  2.99% 7.42  255.55  
Maidstone 276.30  2.99% 8.26  284.56  
Folkestone &  Hythe 279.09  2.99% 8.34  287.43  

 
*source:- Live tables on Council Tax - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk) – exc PPs tab 
**source:- https://tunbridgewells.gov.uk/council-tax/your-council-tax 
*** The Average calculation excludes the “Tunbridge Wells – excluding Special Expenses” line 

 

Page 35

https://www.gov.uk/government/statistical-data-sets/live-tables-on-council-tax
https://tunbridgewells.gov.uk/council-tax/your-council-tax


40. To add further context of the Council Tax increase at a local level, Table 2 
shows the charges and increases from the main preceptors since 2012/13, it 
is evident that Kent County Council have received additional funding for Adult 
Social Care and Kent Police (Police and Crime Commissioner) have received 
additional funding with average increases of £14.80 over the last 5 years, 
£4.75 for Ashford over the same period.  

 
Table 2 - Annual increase by Preceptors and proposed 2023/24 increase 

 

 

Medium Term Financial Plan 

41. A review of the Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP), which was presented to 
Cabinet in October 2023, has been undertaken following confirmation of the 
financial settlement and Ashford has received additional Government Grant 
and New Homes Bonus of £720,000.  Furthermore savings of £200,000 have 
been identified as immediately deliverable with a pressure of £61,140 being 
added from the proposed Council Tax reduction.  There is an additional 
£500,000 identified for interest payments from Ashford International 
Development Company in 2023/24, and while this is welcomed it is only for 
the development period and will drop away post 2024/25.  It is recommended 
that all the additional funds are used to reduce the 2023/24 deficit within 
2023/24 Budget. 

42. There is continued uncertainty over reforms to NHB, the fair funding review 
and changes to business rates, this means that forecasting assumptions 
beyond 2023/24 remains uncertain.  As information becomes available 
finance will update the MTFP accordingly for future presentation. 

43. There are still considerable risks to the MTFP going forward especially if 
inflation does not come down as anticipated, which would be of concern to the 
Bank of England and could give way to further interest rate rises.  

 

 

 

Financial Ashford Borough Council Kent County Council Kent Police Kent Fire

Year
Annual 
Charge

Annual 
Charge

Annual 
Charge

Annual 
Charge

£ £ % £ £ % £ £ % £ £ %
2023/24 181.25 3.75 2.11% 1,534.23 72.99 5.00% 243.15 15.00 6.57% 87.35 5.00 6.07%
2022/23 177.50 5.00 2.90% 1,461.24 42.48 2.99% 228.15 10.00 4.58% 82.35 1.53 1.89%
2021/22 172.50 5.00 2.99% 1,418.76 67.50 5.00% 218.15 15.00 7.38% 80.82 1.53 1.93%
2020/21 167.50 5.00 3.08% 1,351.26 51.84 3.99% 203.15 10.00 5.18% 79.29 1.53 1.97%
2019/20 162.50 5.00 3.17% 1,299.42 61.74 4.99% 193.15 24.00 14.19% 77.76 2.25 2.98%
2018/19 157.50 3.50 2.27% 1,237.68 58.86 4.99% 169.15 12.00 7.64% 75.51 2.16 2.94%
2017/18 154.00 4.00 2.67% 1,178.82 45.27 3.99% 157.15 5.00 3.29% 73.35 1.35 1.87%
2016/17 150.00 4.55 3.13% 1,133.55 43.56 4.00% 152.15 5.00 3.40% 72.00 1.35 1.91%
2015/16 145.45 0.00 0.00% 1,089.99 21.33 2.00% 147.15 2.87 1.99% 70.65 1.35 1.95%
2014/15 145.45 0.00 0.00% 1,068.66 20.88 1.99% 144.28 2.81 1.99% 69.30 1.35 1.99%
2013/14 145.45 4.78 3.40% 1,047.78 0.00 0.00% 141.47 2.79 2.01% 67.95 0.00 0.00%
2012/13 140.67 0.00 0.00% 1,047.78 0.00 0.00% 138.68 0.00 0.00% 67.95 0.00 0.00%

Increase from 
previous year

Increase from 
previous year

Increase from 
previous year

Increase from 
previous year

Page 36



44. Officers will need to fully review and update the MTFP in the coming months 
factoring in changes identified within the financial settlement, savings already 
identified, saving proposals once developed, as well as updating inflation and 
interest rate forecasts.  This exercise will enable Officers and Members to 
make a judgement on the saving proposals being developed and the 
adequacy of such proposals in closing the budget gap identified within the 
2023/24 MTFP. 

Recommendations (Part One) 

45. The Cabinet is asked to: 

I. Note the budget context, Government Grant and MTFP positions 

  

Page 37



PART TWO – GENERAL FUND REVENUE BUDGET  
46. A summary of the General Fund budget, including a forecast of outturn for 

2022/23 as at 30 September 2022, is shown at Table 3 below.  It is worth 
highlighting that since quarter two there has been significant progress made in 
reducing the 2022/23 deficit and the revised forecast is a deficit of circa 
£1.4m, this will be reported to Cabinet on the same agenda as this report. 

47. The Overview and Scrutiny Budget Task Group scrutinised the budget during 
December 2022 and January 2023 and made six recommendations to 
Cabinet. 

48. Overall the Overview and Scrutiny Budget Task group found the draft budget 
to be sound and deliverable, noting that this opinion is based on the deficit 
position being funded from reserves while savings are identified.   To that 
point the Task Group made a specific recommendation to Cabinet that “in 
order to mitigate against the challenges presented by the current economic 
climate, a savings strategy needs to be developed to bridge the budget gap”. 

49. The changes between the draft and final budget which were finalised after the 
task group concluded, were presented to the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee before its meeting on the 14 February 2023 to ensure that the 
changes could be considered when reporting the Task Groups findings at the 
same meeting. 

50. The revised general fund summary is shown below with details of the 
movement explained further on in this section of the report. 

Table 3 - General Fund Summary 
 

 
 
 
51. A summary of service expenditure is provided at Appendix A at service level, 

and Appendix B at a budget page level.  Detailed budget pages will be 
available in the budget book for 2023/24 which will be published online 
following approval of the Final Budget by Full Council.  

Projected 
Outturn Detail

2021/22 2022/23 2022/23 2023/24
£ £ £ £

17,520,105 16,021,440 17,683,537 Service Expenditure 19,763,060
(2,620,776) (2,153,740) (1,653,740) Capital Charges & Net Interest (734,500)

139,740 0 0 Revenue Funding of Capital Expenditure 0
275,964 282,000 282,000 Levies 325,000
601,292 1,944,200 1,856,320 Contribution to/(from) Balances (710,850)

(3,699,900) (4,685,000) (4,685,000) Retained Business Rates (7,502,000)
(1,908,222) (1,886,050) (1,886,050) New Homes Bonus (1,662,000)
(7,755,310) (9,037,850) (9,037,850) Council Tax (8,864,210)

(39,241) 0 2,074,217 0

Actuals Budget Budget

Page 38



52. Table 4 below details the contributions to and (from) reserves which form part 
of the proposed 2023/24 Final Budget.   

Table 4 - Analysis of Contributions to/(from) Balances 
 

 

Principal changes to draft budget 

53. Following government announcements, additional work identifying savings, 
and consultation on the draft budget, the following changes to the draft budget 
have been made:- 

a) The final settlement for the New Homes Bonus was circa £526,000 
higher than anticipated due to an increase in empty home being 
brought back into use. 

b) A new government grant guaranteeing a rise of 3% in core spending 
power has been awarded for £400,680. 

c) The Lower Tier Funding Grant has been rolled into the 3% funding 
guarantee grant reducing our forecast by £131,000. 

d) The services grant reduced by £81,620 from £198,000 to £116,380. 
e) Savings immediately deliverable form 1 April 2023 have been identified 

totalling £200,000. 
f) Interest on financing for Ashford international Development Company 

will generate additional investment income of £500,000 in 2023/24. 
g) The Rural services delivery grant increase by £10,250. 
h) The Council tax increase has been reduced from £5 to £3.75, which is 

a reduction from £182.50 to £181.25 for a Band D property. The net 
effect for the budget is a reduction in funds of £61,140.  

i) The net surplus in grant and other adjustments detailed above totalling 
£1,363,170 have been used to reduce the 2023/24 contribution from 
the Economic Growth and Risk Fund. 

 
 
  

Comments

£'000
General Fund Reserves 200 Service contingency for 2023/24
Provide for Maintenance of Assets 600 £100,000 for Playgrounds
Economic Growth and Risk Fund (1,511) To cover budget deficit in the year
Total to/(from) reserve movement (711)

General Fund Revenue Reserve Budget 2023/24

Page 39



These movements are summarised in the table below: 

Table 5 – movement from draft budget 

Description Movement 

  £ 
Increase New Homes Bonus (NHB) receipt (526,000) 
New 3% Funding Guarantee scheme (400,680) 
Immediately identifiable savings (200,000) 
Increase in Rural Services Delivery Grant (10,250) 
Ashford International Development Company interest (500,000) 
Decrease Lower Tier Services Grant 131,000 
Decrease Services Grant 81,620 
Decrease Council tax 61,140 
Decrease in transfer to Economic Growth and Risk 
Fund 1,363,170 

Total movement from draft budget 0 

 

Council Tax 

54. The Final Budget summarised in Table 3 includes a Council Tax increase of 
3.75 (2.11%) which would result in an annual Council Tax charge of £181.25 
for a band D property.  The tax base setting report presented to Cabinet in 
October determined that the Council had 48,906 equivalent Band D 
properties. 

55. This reduction in Council tax adds a pressure of £61,140 to the 2023/24 
budget. 

Council Tax Reduction (CTR)  

56. In January 2020 Cabinet approved a new CTR scheme. The main feature of 
the new scheme was that it was to become a banded discount scheme from 
April 2020. The aim of the change was to simplify the scheme for residents as 
well as making the administration of the scheme simpler. The scheme has run 
smoothly for the past three years without any problems or challenges.  

57. When the scheme was approved in January 2020, it was agreed that the 
income bands used in the scheme would uprate every year in line with the 
National Living Wage (NLW) rise. From April 2023 the NLW will increase from 
£9.50 per hour to £10.42 per hour, and the income bands used in the CTR 
scheme will rise accordingly. 

 Business Rate Relief 

58. Due to the nature of the business rates system there are two ways that reliefs 
can be granted, either through the introduction of legislation or to allow 
authorities to do this locally under powers included in the localism act.  Where 
government announce new schemes the Council is compensated. 

Page 40



59. In terms of the wider policy concerning discretionary rate reliefs, there was an 
intention during 2021/22 to review the discretionary rate relief policy 
introduced from April 2013.  This was due to be undertaken in 2020/21 
although it has been delayed due to Covid19 and pressures placed on the 
service and it is now anticipated for the review to happen during 2023/24 with 
a view to implementing a revised policy from April 2024.  

60. Therefore, in view of all the above points, it is recommended that powers to 
establish local reliefs/discounts within the localism act are delegated to the 
Chief Finance Officer (Deputy Chief Executive), as in previous years. 

Discretionary Fees 

61. The MTFP makes an assumption that discretionary fees should be increased 
by an average of 16%, this is to allow for inflationary increases not built into 
the 2022/23 discretionary fees to be recovered.  It should also be noted that 
some of the Council’s charges, i.e. parking are not increased annually but on 
a triennial basis and reported separately when increased. Fees and charges 
proposed from 1 April 2023 at a service level are shown at Appendix D. 

62. Although 16% might be considered a big increase, only a small percentage of 
fees and charges are being affected.  Additionally some of the services 
provided by the Council are reliant on external providers and their price 
increases need to be passed on to ensure the sustainability of the service. 

63. The Licence fees for Hackney Carriage/Private Hire is proposed to increase 
by around 35% from 1 April 2023 due to additional regulation and checks.  

64. Building Control, Local Land Charges and the Ashford Port Health charges 
are retained in ring fenced accounts that aim to break even in accordance 
with individual regulations.  

65. The budget has been built with this level of fees and charges. 

Savings 
66. The MTFP presented in October highlighted that the Council faced a £10m 

deficit over the 5 year period with a £2.6m pressure in 2023/24.  The draft 
budget detailed a deficit of £2.9m  Since then there have been the following 
changes: 

 

67. To address the budget deficit and ensure a strong financial position is 
maintained the Council will need to make considerable savings to bridge the 
immediate and long term budget gap, and deliver the priorities within the 
Corporate Plan, accepting a much narrower, affordable programme   

Draw on Reserves for Deficit £'000
2,874
(200)
(725)
(500)

61
1,510

Draft Budget
Initial savings identified
Final Government Settlement 
Ashford International Development Company

Total
Decrease in Council Tax (£5 to £3.75) 

Page 41



68. As covered in the draft budget report it will be the responsibility of the Cabinet 
and the Management team to ensure savings are identified and delivered in a 
timely manner.  Management need to ensure robust monitoring arrangements 
are in place verify the delivery of agreed savings. 

69. Immediate deliverable savings of £200,000 have already been included in the 
budget with further savings proposals of £1.42m being identified and 
proposed to be delivered in 2023/24 as you can see in Appendix O.   

70. These savings will be further developed and delivered during 2023/24 to 
reduce the draw on the Council’s reserves.  The savings proposed within 
Appendix O will be presented separately to Overview and Scrutiny Budget 
Task Group for consideration. 

71. These saving proposals need to be developed and this was highlighted as a 
recommendation by the Overview and Scrutiny Budget Task Group who 
provided the following summary “The need for savings was clearly apparent to 
maintain the financial strength of the Council. Proposals were currently being 
developed and have been discussed with Directors before presentation to 
Senior Management and the current administration. The savings proposals 
were not currently at the stage where they could be shared with the Task 
Group” 

72. The deficit for 2023/24 budget will be funded from the Economic Growth and 
Risk Fund, however, relying on reserves to close the budget gap is not a 
sustainable long term option for the Council.  This draw from reserves will be 
reduced as savings come through. 

Reserves 
73. The Council has a good level of reserves and currently these are being held 

for the following purposes: 

I. General Fund balance, at least 15% of the Net Budget Require to 
balance in year risks to the operational budget 

II. Recovery Project reserve is to be allocated at the discretion of 
members and is used to support projects coming forward that do not fit 
the criteria of other reserves – this reserve is forecast to be fully utilised 
at the end of 2022/23. 

III. Climate Change Delivery Fund will be used to support projects the 
support the reduction of Carbon within the Borough. 

IV. Improvement Delivery Fund will be used to focus on delivering 
projects in the more deprived areas, and those further afield in the 
Borough. 

V. Economic Growth and Risk Fund, this fund is held to support short 
and medium term risk that may arise as a result of the current 
economic conditions.  As risks dissipate then these reserves can be 
redistributed.  Economic risks have now materialised and this fund will 
be used to support the deficit within the 2022/23 financial year, and the 
forecast deficit within the 2023/24 budget.  These funding requirements 
see the fund reduce from £8.4m to £4.6m at March 2024 and highlights 

Page 42



the unsustainable path of using reserves to balance the medium/long 
financial position of the Council. 

VI. Fund Future Expenditure (Risks, Legislation and Transformation), 
this reserve is to manage unforeseen risk that may come from 
legislative changes that could impact on the activities of the Council or 
funding streams, such as the New Homes Bonus and Fair Funding 
review.  Circa £900,000 of an original £1m will remain at 2023/24 for 
the allocation to Transformational projects that look to make 
information more accessible and efficient, to absorb future capacity and 
improve services.  This may also be a means of delivering savings 
within the organisation. 

VII. Provide for the Maintenance of Assets – The Council has a 
significant number of general fund assets that need to be maintained to 
ensure they are fit for purpose and last into the future.  This reserve in 
addition to the annual allocations and will enable appropriate 
maintenance of these assets. 

74. A schedule of reserves is attached at Appendix C and a summary is shown 
at Table 6 below which estimates revenue reserves of £25.4m at 31 March 
2023.  

75. The reserve movements only look to deal with known project expenditure and 
those already underway, or amounts that are committed within the 2022/23, 
2023/24 budgets. 

76. The reserves table below does not allow for delivery of the savings reported at 
Appendix O, therefore if the savings are delivered the call on reserves will be 
reduced. 

 
Table 6 - Summary of Reserves 

 
  

Analysis of Revenue Reserves (non ring-fenced)
Balance at 31 
March 2022

Balance at 31 
March 2023

Balance at 31 
March 2024

Un-earmarked General Fund Reserve 2,562,000 2,812,000 2,812,000

Earmarked Reserves
Recovery Project Reserve (now including Victoria Park) 1,093,000 0 0
Climate Change Delivery Fund 2,000,000 1,920,000 840,000
Improvement Delivery Fund 3,000,000 3,586,050 3,586,050
Economic Growth and Risk Fund 8,345,000 6,506,060 4,561,060
Fund Future Expenditure (Risk, Legislation, Transformation) 6,104,000 5,769,500 5,769,500
Provide for Maintenance of Assets 4,932,000 4,782,000 4,882,000
Provision for Discretionary Spend 25,474,000 22,563,610 19,638,610

Total reserves available 28,036,000 25,375,610 22,450,610

Page 43



77. CIPFA (the principal accounting body that provides statutory advice and 
guidance on accounting and financial management to local government chief 
finance officers) issues guidance (last updated in 2014) covering the relevant 
legal background and importantly emphasises that Authorities should make 
their own judgements on such matters taking into account all the relevant 
local circumstances.  The advice goes on to say that a well-managed 
authority, for example, with a prudent approach to budgeting, should be able 
to operate with a level of general reserves appropriate for the risks (both 
internal and external) to which it is exposed.  CIPFA does not consider it 
necessary or appropriate to quantify a minimum level of reserves; this is for 
Chief Finance Officers and councils to consider. The government retains a 
power to impose a minimum, but is only intended to be used in circumstances 
where it is apparent to government that a council is not acting prudently and 
not following advice.  

78. The Council has a policy that the general fund balance should be no less than 
15% of net budget requirement, for 2023/24 this will be £2,796,407.  To 
ensure this policy is maintained the General Fund reserve balance has been 
increased from the Fund Future Expenditure (Risk, Legislation, 
Transformation) reserve. 

79. The Council’s ambition was for it to be self-sufficient over the life of the MTFP. 
This reserve strategy supports the Council’s Corporate Plan and the risks 
highlighted in the recent financial reports, including this one which are detailed 
at Appendix M.  

Page 44



Budget Scrutiny and Risk  
80. The Overview and Scrutiny Committee Budget Task Group has examined the 

detailed budget proposals and reported it findings back to the full Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee on 14 February 2023.  The Task Group made a 
number of recommendations including that:-  
 

• Recommendation 1: The council’s draft budget for 2023/24 is sound and 
deliverable (noting recommendation 2). 
 

• Recommendation 2: The Task Group supports the proposal to use reserves 
to fund the 2023/24 deficit. 

 
• Recommendation 3: The Task Group notes that in order to mitigate against 

the challenges presented by the current economic climate, a savings strategy 
needs to be developed to bridge the budget gap. 

  
81. A commentary of the risks associated with the budget is included as part of 

the statutory advice needed on ‘budget robustness and the adequacy of 
reserves and is attached at Appendix M 

Equalities Impact Assessment 

82. The equality impact assessment (EIA) screening tool has been completed to 
identify whether the budget policy treats any group differently.  The EIA 
assumes that individual policies and initiatives will have separate impact 
assessments completed by the services concerned.  Therefore whilst the 
assessment does highlight that some areas will need further examination as 
these will be covered individually and overall the budget does not discriminate 
against any group in society.   

83. Members are referred to the attached Assessment at Appendix E.  

Recommendations (Part Two) 

84. The Cabinet is asked to: 

II. Recommend the Revenue Budget 2023/24 including the net budget 
requirement of £18,642,710 (excluding parish precepts)  

III. Recommend the level of Discretionary Fees to be levied from 1st April 
2023 (as set out in Appendix D) 

IV. Delegate to the Chief Finance Officer the powers to establish local 
discounts in Business Rates in accordance with government policy 

V. Note the summary of reserves Table 6 and Appendix C 

VI. Note the Equality Impact Assessment in Appendix E 

VII. Recommend the Band D council tax at £181.25. 

VIII. Cabinet support the savings schedule attached at Appendix O and 
recommends its presentation to the Overview and Scrutiny Budget 
Task Group for consideration. 

Page 45



PART THREE – HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT 
Housing Revenue Account Budget 

85. The 2023/24 position is broadly in line with the position reported to Members 
in the 30 year HRA business plan which was presented to Cabinet in 
December “Housing Revenue Account Business Plan 2022-2053. 

86. Table 7 shows an overspend of £1.1m in the HRA for 2023/24.  This amount 
will be funded from HRA reserves at year end or loan repayments will be 
refinanced accordingly to maintain the minimum reserves balance of £1m as 
outlined in the business plan.  The capital works to maintain decent homes 
includes de-carbonisation of existing stock to improve EPC (Energy 
Performance Certificate) ratings to C.   

87. The HRA business plan presented to Cabinet in December forecast that the 
current plan remains affordable over the life of the plan, however the de-
carbonisation programme and Governments decision to cap rents at 7% for 
2023/24 does add some pressure on the HRA finances.  The rental decision 
imposed by Government to increase rents below inflation reduced HRA rents 
by £1.065m in 2023/24, while costs have risen in line with, or in some 
instance above inflation, certainly around repairs and maintenance where 
material shortages and supply chains are still being re-establishes post Covid.  

88. The HRA Business Plan is ambitious, with its focus to increase housing 
provision, this requires a significant amount of investment, not only in new 
builds but also acquiring existing properties and block developments, 
information on schemes currently being considered are covered within the 
capital programme shown at Appendix G. 

89. This increase in affordable housing supply is designed to not only reduce the 
waiting list but also to reduce the pressure on temporary accommodation by 
providing homeless families with a long-term, affordable housing solution as 
highlighted in the HRA Business Plan presented to Cabinet in December 
2022. 

90. The 2023/24 budget in Table 7 is shown in more detail, analysed to subjective 
level, at Appendix F 

  

Page 46



Table 7 – Housing Revenue Account Budget 2023/24 
 

 

Housing Revenue Account - Rents 

91. In 2017 Government announced that for five years, from 2020, rents setting 
would be limited to CPI+1%. For 2023/24 this would mean a rent increase of 
11.1%. However, as part of the Autumn Statement the Chancellor announced 
that the increase on rents would be capped at 7% and this has been applied 
for 2023/24.  

92. For 2023/24 this means that the average weekly rent, for social housing, will 
be £102.28 (£95.16 for 2022/23).  For tenants receiving housing benefit the 
increase will not have any cash impact as new rent levels are reviewed to 
ensure that they remain with the Local Housing Allowance rates.  This 
increase will add pressure to household budgets (although supported by the 
7% cap) where people are not in receipt of full benefit however the Council 
will continue to apply for government grants to help support those where 
necessary, although some council tenants could be affected by other aspects 
of the government’s welfare reforms. 

93. These HRA Business Plan includes retrofitting existing stock with more 
efficient and effective products to help reduce the carbon foot print of the 
stock.  Although it is acknowledged that this is a long term replacement 
programme, and therefore not a benefit to all immediately, it is anticipated that 
these measures will help reduce the utility usage of our residents, to help 
reduce costs. 

94. The rent increase also applies to those tenants in affordable housing, 
although it should be noted that affordable rents are re-based to 80% of 
market rent each time a new tenancy agreement is made (i.e. upon vacancy) 
and will be increased in line with the Government formula each year.  The 
average rent for 2023/24 will be £158.21 (£145.35 in 2022/23). 

Projected 
Outturn Detail

2021/22 2022/23 2022/23 2023/24

£ £ £ £
(27,332,130) (28,775,130) (28,781,500) Income (30,346,700)

10,727,336 6,731,860 6,661,920 Supervision and Management 6,531,770
5,271,859 4,347,100 4,390,235 Repairs and Maintenance 5,333,360

491,658 200,610 29,260 New Builds 105,340
15,911,189 15,959,600 15,676,800 Other 19,520,830

5,069,912 (1,535,960) (2,023,285) Service Expenditure 1,144,600

2,081,484 6,142,000 5,223,070 Capital Works - Decent Homes 4,906,100
Financed By:

(2,081,484) (6,142,000) (5,223,070) Contribution from Major Repairs Reserve (4,906,100)
0 0 0 Net Capital Expenditure 0

5,069,912 (1,535,960) (2,023,285) Total Net Expenditure 1,144,600

Revenue Budget 

Housing Revenue Account

Actuals Budget Budget

Page 47



Recommendations (Part Three) 

95. The Cabinet is asked to: 

IX. Resolve that the Housing Revenue Account budget for 2023/24 be 
approved 

X. Resolve the estimated average rent increase of 7%, in accordance with 
government guidelines, and that rent setting for the future continues to 
follow guidance, set by government.  

  

Page 48



PART FOUR – CAPITAL PROGRAMME 
Capital Resources and New Allocations to Projects 

96. This section gives consideration to the level of capital resources that are 
potentially available to support priorities including the business plan and other 
requirements 

97. Capital investment currently may be funded from: 

a) Internal resources such as capital receipts and revenue reserves. 

b) New Homes Bonus 

c) Prudential (external) borrowing.   

• The 2023/24 budget provides specific support to borrow £500,000 for 
general fund property works, with a further £2m for strategic 
acquisitions that must be supported by a business plan.  

• Decisions on additional borrowing will be subject to an affordability 
test. 

d) Third party grants and contributions from government, other local authorities or 
private organisations. 

e) Section 106 developer contributions – currently we hold contributions 
amounting to circa £6.9m (capital & revenue), £3.1m of section 106 has 
been identified to support projects in the current capital programme and is 
expected to be spent over the next few years on community assets such 
as community buildings, open space and play areas throughout the 
borough. 

Housing Revenue Account 

98. The HRA has continued to invest in both building and buying new stock, it is 
hoped that even with the loss of a number of properties through Right to Buy 
that stock numbers will continue to increase.  The Capital Plan has been 
updated to reflect the projects presented to Cabinet as part of the HRA 
Business Plan Report (December 2022).  

99. In addition to borrowing, HRA funding sources include: 

• External contributions from Homes England  

• Capital receipts, including retained ‘Right to Buy’ capital receipts for ‘one for 
one replacement’  

• Surpluses within the revenue budget  
  

Page 49



Capital Expenditure 2023/24 
100. The information below is an update on the significant items detailed in the 

Capital Programme.  Major projects which have not already been approved 
will be reported for approval in accordance with the Council Policies.  A full list 
and financing of the Corporate Plan is shown at Appendix G.  

Property Portfolio 
101. Included in the capital programme is an amount set aside annually for the 

maintenance of property assets and the purchase of replacement IT 
equipment, this is to enable the required works to lengthen the lives of the 
assets saving future replacement costs.  

102. There has been £2m set aside for strategic acquisitions which was approved 
in January 2014.  All projects will be supported with a business plan ensuring 
all investments are viable. 

Regeneration Projects 

Vicarage Lane Car Park Redevelopment 

103. Following the acquisition of the Mecca bingo hall in March 2018, the Council 
is still developing plans to regenerate the lower high street and the wider town 
centre. Phase 1 to redevelop the former Odeon building and surrounding 
areas has been approved to spend £8m over the next 2 years.  

Newtown Works  

Phase 1 
104. The development has commenced with phase 1 for the conversion of the 

engine shed to create the education facility for the college and develop circa 
300 residential units. 

 Phase 2 
105. Works are due to commence in 2023/24 for the TV and film studios, work 

shop and multi storey carpark, subject to the detailed report to Cabinet. The 
studios will bring significant benefits to Ashford in terms of investment and job 
creation and will play a key role in our economy’s future recovery. See 
Appendix N for further details. 

 

Project Green 
106. The facility is seeking to be as sustainable as possible through utilising heat 

from the ground, natural light, wind and solar power and be innovative in 
embracing sustainable travel plans – matching the ambitions of this Council 
as set out in our carbon pledge and Corporate Plan.  

107. This will see the development of a 60 acre wetland park as part of this 
development, providing a bio diversity net gain for the scheme, carbon 
sequestration, enhanced flood attenuation, and nutrient neutrality credits, 
which will help with the wider Stodmarsh mitigation challenges the Council 
faces. 

  

Page 50



Corporate Projects 

Carbon Neutrality 
108. As part of the Council’s commitment to becoming carbon neutral by 2030, a 

provisional amount of £10.8m has been included for the installation of solar 
photovoltaic systems (PV). This project underpins the Carbon Neutral 
Strategy in generating income from investing in carbon neutrality 
opportunities. Carlton Road has approval to spend £401,000 to design and 
build solar installation on site utilising roof space, and will be paid back 
through savings on electricity in approximately 7-8 years. The Stour Centre 
carpark has completed feasibility stage and procurement should commence 
April 2023.   

109. The Council already has 114 PV panels in operation on domestic properties 
within the Housing Service, and within the Corporate Property and Projects 
portfolio. There are currently various sites still under review and a business 
case will be produced to support any bids to release of these funds at a later 
date. 

Property Company – A Better Choice for Property  
110. The Council’s wholly owned subsidiary, A Better Choice for Property Limited 

requires financing to purchase its assets. The company’s business plan is 
looking to develop a portfolio of 300 - 400 properties over the next 5 years. 
The Budget of £173m represents the total facility available to the Company 
with each acquisition requiring approval through the Council’s Trading and 
Enterprise Board. 

111. Currently the company has 105 units within the portfolio, made up of a mix of 
flats and houses of varying sizes. A Better Choice for Development Ltd. is a 
subsidiary of A Better Choice for Property Ltd. and has a number of strategic 
sites that it is looking to develop, unfortunately these have not been able to 
progress in the past few years due to the Stodmarsh issues and will 
commence at pace once mitigation can be provided. 

General Fund Housing 

Henwood Temporary Accommodation 

112. This project is to deliver 23 units manufactured by Zedpods and be used for 
temporary accommodation which will be owned and managed by the Council.   
This development will help reduce the cost of putting homeless residents in 
expensive short-term accommodation which is putting a pressure on the 
General Fund. 

Rough Sleepers Accommodation Programme 
113. The Rough Sleepers Accommodation Programme (RSAP) is a scheme 

supported by Government Grant which originally meant the Council could 
purchase 20 units of accommodation for supporting rough sleepers with a 
variety of complex needs (including mental and physical health, those with 
addiction issues and others who could have offending histories). Due to 
difficulties in procuring suitable homes for this project the number of dwellings 
to be purchased has gone from 20 to 15. 

114. The scheme has the opportunity to purchase properties in the right location 
with good proximity to support services for individuals – to ensure the best 

Page 51



outcomes for highly complex cases. It provides the intermediate supported 
accommodation within an existing rough sleeper framework to tackle levels of 
single homelessness and will effect real changes in the lives of individuals. 

Culture and the Environment 

Victoria Park  
115. The budget for this project was first calculated in 2018, however costs have 

risen since this time, and therefore the increase in costs of £700,000 is to be 
expected.  To offset this an allowance of £196,000 has been approved by 
Management Team, with a further £300,000 awarded by the National Lottery 
Heritage Fund, as well as £34,000 by the Contain Outbreak Management 
Fund (COMF).  The remaining £170,000 will be funded from reserves. 

Conningbrook Country Park 
116. The plans for the country park went to Cabinet in February 2020.  However, 

due to Covid the project was placed on hold, a number of stakeholders in the 
masterplan subsequently pulled out (e.g. the Shepherd Neame Pub).  The 
project has now been re-commenced, therefore the masterplan is being 
reviewed and updated, following which a delivery programme will be 
established. 

Housing Revenue Account Capital Programme 
117. The issues at Stodmarsh continue to delay the HRA building programme, in 

addition to this, the current economic climate is affecting the feasibility of 
some projects, causing delays.   

118. There are a number of Housing Revenue Account projects currently underway 
as well as a number of projects due to commence during 2023/24, brief 
outlines are below with more information contained within the HRA Business 
Plan which was presented to Cabinet in December:- 

• The Halstow Way development (known as Brickworks) delivered 17 
units of general needs accommodation in May 2022.The site was 
awarded just over £1m in grant from Homes England (£60,000 per unit) 
enabling a social rent to be set and deliver genuinely affordable homes. 

• 55 Mabledon Avenue (the former Piper Joinery site) is a site the 
Council acquired in 2019/20. It is proposed that 20 units of general 
need accommodation will form the development for the site, subject to 
planning permission. This project is experiencing significant delays due 
to Stodmarsh and now due to commence in 2025/26.This development 
is being supported by 1-4-1 monies which are generated from right to 
buy receipts. 

• The redevelopment of Oakleigh is experiencing significant delays as a 
result of the difficulties obtaining planning consent. Works were 
expected to start by the end 2022/23, but now delayed until 2023/24.,  

• Tile Kiln Road is the site of a derelict cottage and (now demolished) 
agricultural barn purchased by the Council in 2019/20. Pre-planning 
application is being sought for 14 units of general needs 
accommodation.  

Page 52



• Monypenny & Vicarage - The vicarage and land was purchased in 
2021/22 for £1.2m.  This site is to be developed into providing 33 
specialised and 14 general housing needs. 

119. Decarbonisation – The HRA has identified all dwellings that do not currently 
achieve an EPC rating of C.  To bring these dwellings up to the required 
standard is expected to cost around £22m.  Grant funding of £5m, from the 
Department of Business, Energy and Industry Strategy has been secured, 
further funding for the next tranche of works is being applied for.  This piece of 
work and anticipated funding has led to a saving of around £63m, compared 
to the original estimates.  Works are expected to commence in March 2023. 
Street Purchases is a way the Council uses 1-4-1 receipts to buy additional 
HRA stock, the number of acquisitions has slowed considerably as receipts 
from RTB sales have reduced.  The Council are not expecting to purchase 
any properties in 2023/24. 

 
Recommendations (Part Four) 
120. The Cabinet is asked to: 

XI. Recommend to Council that the Capital Plan for 2023/24 – 2025/26 in 
Appendix G is approved. 

  

Page 53



PART FIVE – CAPITAL STRATEGY, TREASURY 
MANAGEMENT STRATEGY STATEMENT INVESTMENT 
STRATEGY, AND MRP POLICY  
 

Capital Strategy 

121. The Capital Strategy demonstrates that the authority takes capital expenditure 
and investment decisions in line with service objectives. Providing a high-level 
overview of how capital expenditure, capital financing and treasury 
management activity contribute to the provision of local public services along 
with an overview of how associated risk is managed and the implications for 
future financial sustainability.  

122. The Capital Strategy also incorporates the prudential indicators which are 
updated on an annual basis.  They are set to a level that will allow the council 
to meet its Medium Term Financial Plan, accommodate the debt for HRA 
reform and make provision for the Council’s Capital Programme ensuring it is 
affordable, prudent and sustainable.  

123. This informs the recommended “Affordable Borrowing Limit” as shown under 
the heading ‘Authorised Limit for External Debt’.  The council must have 
regard to the prudential code when setting the Affordable Borrowing Limit. 
This essentially ensures that our total capital investment remains within 
sustainable limits as defined by the Council, and in particular, that the impact 
upon its future council tax and council rent levels is ‘acceptable’. 

124. The Capital Strategy recommended for 2023/24 is attached at Appendix H.  

Treasury Management Strategy 

125. The Council adopted the CIPFA Code of Treasury Management 2017 which 
requires the Authority to approve a treasury management strategy before the 
start of each financial year.   

126. The code provides a framework to ensure that the Council gives appropriate 
consideration to its Borrowing and investment activities and sets appropriate 
controls commensurate with the Council’s risk appetite.  

127. A Treasury Management In The Public Services: Code of Practice and Cross-
sectoral Guidance Notes (2021 Edition) was soft launched in December 2021 
and the Council will adopt the guidance before for 2023/24. 

128. As part of a proactive approach to treasury management officers consider 
both investment opportunities and also the opportunities for debt restructuring 
to benefit from discounts offered on existing debt and lower interest rates.  As 
at 31 December 2022 the Council had £112.9m of borrowing exclusively 
relating to HRA and £91m relating to general fund capital investment, 
however it should be noted that some of the debt currently within the general 
fund is for HRA internal borrowing and a recharge of borrowing costs will be 
made at year end accordingly.  The Council had investments with a fair value 
of £40.4m at this time, of which £30.7m were strategic long term investments.  

Page 54



129. In 2023/24 the Council’s General Fund Net Interest on Borrowing and 
Investments is forecast to have a net deficit of circa £535,000, in 2022/23 a 
net surplus of £1.684m was reported.  The movement of £2.2m relates to 
significant increases in the costs of debt to the Council that has increased 
from 0.10% to 4% within the year, an increase of 3,900%. 

130. Behind the headline numbers there has been an increase in investments 
income of circa £856,000, this is largely due to £500,000 of investment 
income from funding to Ashford International Development Company for the 
New Town Works Development, and £175,000 increase in interest on cash 
balance due to increased interest rates, although this only marginally supports 
the increased costs of borrowing.   

131. The external interest payable budget has increased by circa £3.08m 
representing the increase in interest rates.  It was intended that further long 
term placements would be taken in 2022/23 (similar to those taken in July 
2021) but the market was incredibly volatile during the year, especially around 
the changes to political leadership at Government level and the opportunity 
did not emerge. 

132. The Council’s long held strategy of borrowing short term to maximise 
opportunities from incredibly low interest rates, has now switch and the 
strategy will be to keep borrowing short until interest start to fall in 2024.  The 
Council in the meantime will further reduce average borrowing duration, and 
in some instance only borrow for period of one week where appropriate.  This 
strategy has been developed in 2022/23 and has help manage increasing 
borrowing costs.   Officers are continually evaluating opportunities to reduce 
borrowing and take advice on all investment and borrowing decisions with its 
external advisors Arlingclose. 

133. The proposed Treasury Management Strategy Statement for 2023/24 is 
attached at Appendix J (it is a requirement to review this annually).  

Investment Strategy 

134. The Investment Strategy focuses on the Council’s support for local services 
by lending to or buying shares in other organisations and service investments 
(commercial investments) where the generation of income is the main 
purpose, although the Department of Levelling up, Housing and Communities 
(DLUCH) defines property to be an investment that is held primarily or 
partially to generate a profit.  

135. The Investment Strategy for 2023/24 is attached at Appendix K 

HRA Debt Pools 

136. The regulations allow councils to determine the number of debt pools (one, two 
or three) it wishes to operate.  A ‘two-pool’ approach has been adopted; loans 
are split between the HRA & GF and new loans are added to each pool as 
required.  Interest expenditure on external borrowing attributed to the HRA is 
charged directly to the HRA.  Interest expenditure on external borrowing 
attributed to the General Fund will be charged to the General Fund. 

  

Page 55



 
137. Where the HRA or GF has a surplus cash balance which allow either account 

to have external borrowing below its level of CFR (internal borrowing), the rate 
charged on this internal borrowing will be based on the average rate of interest 
earned on cash balances for the financial year. 

Annual Minimum Revenue Provision Policy Statement  
138. Each year the council must agree a statement on its policy for making a 

minimum revenue provision (MRP) (set aside for debt repayment).  

139. There are four options available to the council as set out below:  

• Option 1: Regulatory Method (4% borrowing requirement) 

• Option 2: Capital Financing Requirement (CFR) Method (4% of non-housing 
borrowing requirement ) 

• Option 3: Asset Life Method (based on an annuity with an annual interest rate 
equal to an appropriate PWLB rate for the year of expenditure) 

• Option 4: Depreciation Method (dependent on depreciation policy) 

Proposed MRP Policy 

140. Only options 3 and 4 can be applied to new capital expenditure, with Option 3 
the most practical to adopt and a better fit for the Council’s borrowing 
requirements. 

141. In relation to option 3 there are two methods under this option for estimating the 
MRP requirement are,  

a) based on equal instalments over the useful life of the asset, and  

b) based on an annuity repayment based on an appropriate annual interest 
rate.   

142. The Council has previously adopted option ‘a’, (pre 2017/18) but now uses 
option ‘b’ as this more appropriately matches the MRP expense with the cash 
flows of the assets going forward.  

143. No MRP is payable on the Loans to wholly owned Council companies as these 
are made on an annuity basis where the principal element of the loan is used to 
repay the debt in lieu of MRP (if the Property Company sells assets a voluntary 
MRP contribution to the value outstanding will be made).  

144. MRP in respect of PFI (Private Financing Initiative) and leases brought on to 
the balance sheet will match the annual principal repayment for the associated 
deferred liability. This is a mandatory requirement, although in this instance 
does not affect the council’s net expenditure. 

Page 56



145. The Council had the ability to use bespoke MRP policies where they are 
deemed prudent, any bespoke MRP policies considered will be reported 
through Council as necessary.  

146. The MRP Policy for 2023/24 is attached at Appendix I. 

Recommendations (Part Five) 
147. The Cabinet is asked to: 

XII. Recommend the Capital Strategy is approved as set out in Appendix 
H. 

XIII. Recommend that the MRP Policy Appendix I and the Treasury 
Management Strategy Statement at Appendix J and the Investment 
Strategy at Appendix K 

  

Page 57



PART SIX – 
Exceptional Circumstances Policy 

148. An Exceptional circumstances Policy has been created by Ashford Borough 
Council to assist persons who have applied for Council Tax Reduction and 
who are facing ‘exceptional circumstances’. This is to provide further 
assistance where an applicant has made a claim for Council Tax Reduction 
but do not qualify for support or even with support are unable to meet their 
Council Tax liability.  

149. Exceptional circumstances falls within S13(A)(1a) of the Local Government 
Finance Act 1992 and forms part of the Council Tax Reduction scheme. 

150. The full policy can be found in Appendix L 

Recommendations (Part Six) 
151. The Cabinet is asked to: 

XIV. Approve the ABC Exceptional Circumstances Policy as outlined in 
Appendix L 

 

  

Page 58



PART SEVEN –ROBUSTNESS OF THE ESTIMATES AND 
ADEQUACY OF RESERVES 
Background 

152. The council has a legal duty to set a balanced budget and must take all 
reasonable factors into account when doing so. Under Section 25 of the 
Local Government Act 2003 the Chief Financial Officer (the Deputy Chief 
Executive) has a duty to advise the council about the robustness of the 
budget and the adequacy of the council’s reserves.  This section 
contains that advice.  

153. This section needs to be read against the wider context contained in the 
budget.  Cost pressures are not being offset by increased government funding 
or by relaxing controls on council tax setting or on statutory fees and charges.  
Therefore the Council is faced with using reserves in the short term but cutting 
costs and ultimately services in the medium term to bring expenditure back in 
line with resources.  

154. The report above contains a savings schedule with proposals to reduce the 
cost base by £1.5m closing the budget gap.  These savings proposals present 
a significant shift in the medium term financial plan outlook, and whilst do not 
completely bridge the forecast gap they are a material step in the right 
direction.  

155. It will take time to deliver these savings, and the budget has been drafted 
drawing on reserves to close the gap with the expectation that the savings will 
reduce the amount drawn from reserves at the end of the year.  This will 
require a degree of focus to ensure that these initiatives are delivered and 
these will need to be reported through to members to ensure that there is 
transparency and accountability in the delivery process.  

156. As Chief Financial Officer I support this approach, reserves were established 
for just such a purpose; but the Councils reserves are a finite amount and can 
only be used once. 

157. One area where the pressures are still to be understood are in two major 
income streams, Council Tax and Business Rates.  As Government support 
from Covid fully unwinds for businesses, and rising energy prices and high 
inflation generally start to hurt both businesses and residents alike, there is a 
risk that we will see increase level of non-payment and hardship which will 
affect the level of funding that the Council Receives. 

158. Business rates has a significant risk (as well as those highlighted above) in 
that the Government review which has been ongoing since 2016 has now 
been scrapped.  As part of a future review there will need to be a reset of the 
Business Rates baseline that will see Ashford lose growth made over recent 
years this could be in the region of £5m.  

159. Other risks to budget are around contracted services and capital works, the 
Council is already seeing increases in capital contracts as a result of 
increasing raw material costs, supply issues, increased energy costs, and 
shortages in the labour market which is resulting in cost pressures being 
passed on.  This will also flow through into more operational contracts such as 

Page 59



software licences and consultancy services.  With inflation not expected to 
return to target until the end of 2023, suppliers will seek to pass these costs 
through to the authority and price these rises into new contracts.   

160. For the remainder of this parliament there will be single year financial 
settlement from Government using the current methodology.  The information 
drawn from the 2023/24 provisional settlement leaves considerable 
uncertainty around funding moving beyond 2024/25.  There is a strong 
expectation that government will launch a consultation process on funding 
allocations within the sector and Ashford does not represent a priority area for 
funding, therefore we can expect a challenging outlook for funding in the 
medium term. 

161. The planned reforms of New Homes Bonus funding continue to be delayed 
and with no further legacy payment to be received there is a possibility that 
this could be abolished after 2023/24, and this has been reflected in the 
MTFP accordingly. The Council will monitor future developments and will 
actively participate in any consultation.  NHB funds previously funded 
corporate projects, an alternative means to funding projects will need to be 
found. 

162. For prudence the Council’s Medium Term Financial Plan continues to reflect 
government formula grants to be zero, although in future years the Council 
may need to incorporate a negative revenue support grant (a payment to 
Government) although this is likely to be scrapped as part of the 
comprehensive spending review.  The MTFP also makes no further provision 
for NHB or any perceived replacement.  The plan relies on the council 
growing its income base from other sources including: 

I. growing retention of business rates under the government’s local 
retention scheme  

II. new revenue from targeted housing and property investments.   

III. Inflationary increases in fees and charges 

163. The Plan also assumes increases in Council Tax at the maximum of £5 or 2% 
per annum whichever is the maximum.  The latter assumption to increase 
Council Tax by the maximum amount permitted is in keeping with 
Government’s expectations when setting the Council’s base line need for 
funding. 

164. Financial modelling will continue to assume that Council will increase Council 
tax by the maximum permitted from 2024/25 which is now a maximum of 
2.99% or £5 (which is the current cap) as increased within the Government 
financial statement. 

165. For 2023/24 the Current Administration has recommended an increase of 
£3.75, a reduction of £1.56 from the maximum permitted which will mean 
foregoing additional income of £76,000 for 2023/24, and £380,000 over the 
life of the MTFP.   

  

Page 60



166. As the Chief Financial Officer I am obliged to highlight that given the Councils 
financial deficit, this recommendation is detrimental to the financial strength of 
the Council and will place additional pressure on reserves moving forward or 
increase the need for savings.  Members will need to balance the wider 
implications this reduction in resources will have to services against the 
benefit £1.56 will give the people of the borough. 

167. The financial planning has been comprehensive leading up to this point and 
reports have been presented at various Cabinet meetings on the HRA 
Business Plan, Medium Term Financial Plan and Draft Budget which has 
allowed members to comment and engage in the financial planning of the 
organisation.  The latter of these reports was the basis for a comprehensive 
review by the Council’s Overview and Scrutiny Committee and its Task Group 
who reported in summary through its recommendations that “The council’s 
draft budget for 2023/24 is sound and deliverable (noting recommendation II)” 
Recommendation 2 “The Task Group supports the proposal to use reserves 
to fund the 2023/24 deficit”.  The task group also commented on the need to 
develop a savings strategy going forward to bridge the budget gap.  The 
budget has also been put out to public consultation and received a number of 
responses from the public. 

168. The Overview and Scrutiny Budget Task Group were not aware at the time of 
their reviews that the recommended increase in Council Tax would reduce to 
£3.75, therefore a special briefing session before full overview and scrutiny 
committee will highlight this change, and other changes between the draft and 
final budget recommendation. 

169. Working with Cabinet the Management Team have developed a savings plan 
to balance the budget, if agreed this will reduce the use of reserves in the 
2023/24 budget and in the MTFP.  At the time of writing the O&S Budget Task 
Group have not been involved in development of these proposals and it is 
recommended that these proposals, once agreed by the Cabinet are 
presented to the Task Group for scrutiny.  

170. This evidence clearly demonstrates that the council and its management team 
give serious regard to financial planning, to the management of resources, 
and to assessments of financial and operational risk.  

Robustness 

171. Robustness involves three considerations:  

I. consideration of the context in which the budget is set and how that 
context is understood, may develop, and therefore influence budgetary 
issues, 

II. consideration of the various components of the budget, and 

III. weighing-up all factors and taking a balanced view. 

  

Page 61



Context 

172. This is the second budget that has been set to deliver the Council’s new 
corporate plan.  This outlines an ambitious vision for the Borough and 
includes an action plan with a number of commitments that the Council will 
seek to deliver.  Not all of the projects within the plan are costed and 
resourced and overall resourcing this agenda will be a challenge to the 
Council to achieve this whilst staying within budgeted resources.   

173. Choices will need to be made and areas prioritised for resource over another 
to either maintain service delivery or corporate plan delivery.  This is not a 
new challenge and something that all Councils do, but it needs to be 
recognised that the events of the last few years and especially this past year 
have significantly reduced our organisational capacity.   

174. Comprehensive advice has been provided to members concerning our 
financial forecasts and their underlying assumptions. Final assumptions are 
the results of reviews with the cabinet over the summer, and a review by the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee’s budget task group.  

175. As with any budget, and particularly in the current climate there are 
uncertainties as no budget can capture all future risks, however there is a 
corporate contingency of £200,000 within the budget for general unforeseen 
pressures. 

176. This budget is set in a continued period of uncertainty in geopolitical events.  
High inflation, and interest rate policy to counter this, has taken centre stage 
with significant increases in utility costs which are now feeding into everyday 
consumables leading to a cost of living crises for organisations and 
individuals.   

177. The new higher level of borrowing costs will flow into future MTFP 
assumptions.  Equally, this rise in rates and economic recovery will 
conversely, but to a lesser extent, increase returns on treasury investments. 

178. The current economic conditions are having a mixed impact on the council 
property portfolio, the industrial units and Ellingham and Carlton Road 
continue to have good demand, but we have already seen units vacated at 
Elwick Place as the hospitality sector is put under pressure.   

179. The Housing team is working on solutions to ease temporary accommodation 
pressures as there has been an increase in the number of people presenting 
as homeless, especially single applicants.  The Housing Team is also looking 
to develop more Social Housing stock to free capacity for move on 
accommodation and reduce the housing waiting list.  Ultimately the 
Stodmarsh issue casts a shadow on this issue as it limits the supply of new 
housing being delivered , intensifying competition for the existing stock. 

  

Page 62



180. The continued interruption in awarding Planning Permissions due to water 
quality issues at Stodmarsh Nature Reserve has led to considerable work is 
being undertaken by the Council and Developers to identify mitigation 
strategies to overcome this problem and a solution is anticipated within 
2023/24. 

181. With risks to manage within this budget (and the associated Medium Term 
Financial Plan) a considered view is taken of both.  The Council has 
previously re-profiled reserves to create two distinct reserves which look to 
address the economic in year risks to budgets, the Fund future expenditure 
(Risk, Legislation, and Transformation) reserve, and the Economic Growth 
and Risk fund which is to support the MTFP over the medium term and the 
budget deficit for 2023/24.  These reserves are forecast to be £5.8 and £6.5m 
respectively as at 31 March 2023.  As previously referenced though reserves 
are limited and should only be used in in exceptional circumstances to 
balance budget the budget while longer term plans/savings are developed. 

182. It also recognises the support reserves play in supporting the Council’s 
commercialisation agenda as it matures and is susceptible to economic 
conditions.  Given the pending reform of New Homes Bonus scheme, and the 
need for it to be used to support the base budget, the previous  policy of not 
budgeting to use new homes bonus income for new projects until income is 
confirmed is to be maintained. 

183. The inclusion of the Port Health Authority (although much reduced) in this 
budget needs to be considered, whilst this presents an opportunity for the 
borough in terms of its own budget and the local economy, in the short term 
the uncertainty in terms of understanding commencement date of checks and 
their nature, levels of demand, and consequently the resources necessary to 
service this demand is a risk.   

184. Government have funded the set-up costs and have provided additional grant 
to support losses in 2022/23 due to delays in opening the facility, but continue 
to resist calls to underwrite the business during the first years of operation as 
demand settles and the trading relationship with the EU settles. Officers have 
held discussions with Officials on this matter and receive assurances that the 
Government will support these risks, and our planning continues on that 
assumption.  

185. Government is proposing to set out a new Target Operating Model for border 
checks in March which will provide a new basis for our planning. 

186. During 2023/24 the Council will continue to review the effects arising from the 
expanded use of the council’s prudential borrowing to support asset 
purchases in light of the new interest rate environment, including the 
expansion of the HRA and other investments, including further lending to the 
council’s subsidiary companies. Appropriate business planning and 
governance arrangements are in place to ensure that opportunities and 
associated risks are evaluated as part of the decision-making processes. It is 
important these processes be maintained. 

  

Page 63



187. With the 2023/24 budget being balanced from the use of the Economic 
Risk and Growth fund, it is imperative that Officers, Management and 
Members fully understand and support the need to make savings to 
balance the MTFP going forward.  This will require tough decisions to be 
made around what the Council can, and cannot deliver and may need to 
assess what is a statutory, and what is a non-statutory services.  
Equally the Council will have to consider the viability of projects 
especially where they are not income generating or at least self-
financing, unless there is a compelling social, economic or regenerative 
benefit.    

188. The need to make significant savings and uncertain funding streams have 
reduced the Council’s budgetary flexibility and ability to respond to sudden 
changes in spending power.  This is a particular threat when we consider 
regulatory changes that could be imposed upon the Council with short notice, 
for example the Fair Funding review, Spending Review, further guidance on 
borrowing and investment regulations, and reform of New Homes Bonus etc.  
To manage these risks the Council will need to continue to be actively 
involved in consulting with government on policy changes. 

Key components of the budget 

189. Detailed advice is set out in Appendix M, which considers the budget across 
a number of key components.  Additionally, members have received advice 
and recommendations from the Overview and Scrutiny Committee Budget 
Task Group which were presented to the Overview and Scrutiny committee on 
the 14 February 2023, after considerable work scrutinising the draft budget it 
was found to be sound and deliverable, noting the need to use reserves to 
balance the budget, and the  

190. The Overview and Scrutiny Budget Task Group focused on a number of key 
themes in forming their opinion which are identified below:- 

I. The council’s reserves positions and forecast 
II. Details on the borrowing portfolio and the expected borrowing interest 

rate increases  
III. Housing Revenue Account Maintenance Programme 
IV. Homelessness provision and housing options 
V. The risks around the maintenance of assets. 
VI. Risks linked to the commercial property portfolio. 

  

Page 64



191. From the above areas of coverage listed above cabinet were asked to note, 
and be advised of a number of matters arising although none of the formal 
recommendations have direct financial implications.  It was also felt that 
presentation such as the one provided around Housing Maintenance would be 
of benefit to wider members to help provide greater insight into the operation 
of the Housing Team.  

192. The full report on the review of the Draft Budget was reported to, and can be 
found at Agenda item 4d of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee dated 14 
February 2023. 

Adequacy of Reserves  

193. Section Two covers the reserves position with a detailed forecast included in 
Appendix C.  

194. The proposed policy position is that reserves need to be maintained at 
adequate levels, with the un-earmarked general fund reserve maintained at 
15% of net general fund revenue spending.  

195. For 2023/24 this amounts to a minimum unallocated reserve requirement of 
circa £2.796m which is in the reserve.  In addition to the General Fund 
Reserve, the Council also has reserves with two significant reserves focusing 
on economic pressures to in year budgets but also to address the risk in the 
MTFP.  These reserves were covered in the context section of Part 7 of this 
report. 

196. Earmarked reserves (excluding section 106 developer contributions and S31 
funding for the collection fund deficit), after planned drawings are expected to 
be in the region of £22.5m as at 31 March 2023, a reduction of circa £3m 
since 31 March 2022, this is largely due to the need to fund the 2022/23 
deficit from reserves, Support for Tenterden Leisure Centre, and a draw on 
the Maintenance of assets reserve.  

197. Overall the advice is the council has adequate levels of reserves to 
support the budget deficit for 2023/24 other requirements for the coming 
year and future liabilities.  However this is not an appropriate long term 
strategy.   

198. As ever reserve levels need close management to ensure they remain 
adequate and that longer term MTFP plans for resilience are sustainable.  At 
the heart of this is a simple equation, the more spent balancing the budget 
deficit reduces resources available to deliver corporate projects.  

  

Page 65



199. At the moment the level of risk and uncertainty leads me to the conclusion 
that we need to immediately develop and plan implementation of savings to 
balance the MTFP, and then adopt a prudent approach to allocating reserves 
for spending, keeping this position under review whilst we develop a clearer 
understanding of how the longer implication of the current economic will 
impact corporate resources, especially if we enter into recession.  

Monitoring and Review  

200. Our budget monitoring will continue to highlight to Cabinet and Management 
Team approved movements in the use of reserve, equally savings proposals 
will be reported as and when appropriate to provide confidence and 
demonstrate that action to bridge the budget gap is being taken.  

Capital Resources 

201. On the capital side General Fund capital receipts (cash from asset disposals) 
remain fairly limited with reduced scope for new general fund commitments 
that are unsupported by income returns to offset the borrowing costs.  

202. Officers will continue to focus on optimising the value of our assets, though 
some priority will be given to achieving greater revenue returns where 
achievable as an alternative to outright sales. The council is also intending to 
continue to make use of its prudential borrowing power to pursue 
opportunities that add economic and regenerative benefits to the Borough, 
although the returns need to support financing costs.  Projects were 
previously supported by New Homes Bonus Receipts, however, as this 
scheme has no further legacy payments due, and no alternative scheme is yet 
to be introduced, new ways to fund projects will need to be identified. 

Weighing-up 

203. This budget is developed with substantial external influences in flux, there 
was political leadership changes, rising inflation which has remained high for 
longer than forecast, interest rates increasing from record lows to 4% within a 
year of war in Europe following Russia’s invasion of Ukraine. This is on the 
back of dealing with the global pandemic in which Government spent 
considerable sums to support the economy which have now turned into 
significate debts, before considering the costs of any further cost of living 
support schemes, and more recently settling ongoing disputes around public 
pay.  Overall this creates uncertainty over the future of government funding 
which needs to start saving/raising money to repay this increased level of 
national debt.  Appendix M and the Overview and Scrutiny Committee’s 
endorsement, highlight that the approach to use the Economic Growth and 
Risk Fund is appropriate as a short tem measure while robust savings 
proposals are developed.  

204. The Council does have an ambitious agenda to deliver and a limited capacity 
which will mean that choices will need to be made and work areas prioritised 
or reserves used to buy in additional capacity, equally some projects may 
need to be delayed.  

  

Page 66



205. Supported by our strong governance of financial management and the 
council’s commitment to deliver sustainable longer-term savings to balance 
the deficit with the MTFP, and utilising reserves to fund the deficit in 2023/24, 
members can be confident this budget is robust. 

206. Appendix M and the Overview and Scrutiny Committee’s review highlight 
risks should be manageable through this proposed budget and the decision-
making processes in place.  The Council’s reserves remain reasonably 
healthy although known drawdowns to support 2022/23 and 2023/24 weaken 
this position and limit the Councils ability to cushion unexpected future 
shocks.   

207. Supported by our strong processes of financial management and the council’s 
commitment to deliver sustainable longer-term positions, members can be 
confident this budget is robust. 

Recommendations (Part Seven): 

208. The Cabinet is asked to: 

XV. Note the advice from the Chief Financial Officer concerning the 
robustness of the estimates and the adequacy of reserves, as set out in 
Appendix M 

 
  

Page 67



Equalities Impact Assessment 
 
209. Members are referred to the attached Assessment at Appendix E. 
 
Consultation Undertaken 
 
210. A summary of the budget proposals were available for consultation from the 

end of December through to 17 February 2023.  The consultation was 
promoted through the Council’s online media platforms and posted on the 
council's website for general access. 

211. Consultation with the public and the business community has taken place and 
the results will be reported to this meeting. 

 
Other Options Considered 
 
212. The Council has a statutory responsibility to deliver a balanced budget and 

this report sets out how that can be delivered.  The composition of the budget 
can be ‘changed’; and that is why the draft budget is consulted upon through 
the Overview and Scrutiny Budget Task Group and wider stakeholders. 

213. There are no other options than to deliver a balanced budget. 
 
Reasons for Supporting Option Recommended 
 
214. This budget has been built within the financial parameters as determined 

affordable and sustainable as per the MTFP presented to Cabinet in October 
which were carried through into the draft budget. 

215. The draft budget has been approved by Cabinet and following comprehensive 
scrutiny by the Overview and Scrutiny Budget Task Group is to be considered 
sound. 

 
Next Steps in Process 
 
216. If supported the Budget for 2023/24 will be presented to Full Council for 

approval. 
 

Portfolio Holder’s Views  
 
217. There has been a significant change in the economic landscape over the past 

year which has resulting in high inflation, increasing interest rates and a cost 
of living crisis.  This is a time of increased cost for businesses within the 
borough, residents, and the Council which is not protected from these external 
factors. 

218. As a consequence of the rapidly changing environment, the Council’s 
previous financial strength has been stressed with the MTFP forecasting a 
£10m shortfall over the next 5 years, with £2.6 in 2023/24.   

Page 68



219. The deficit for 2022/23 has been managed down to £1.4m through new 
commercial income streams (although this are time limited) and increased 
Government Funding.  However, as identified in this, and other reports it is 
imperative that the Council’s Administration, in conjunction with Management 
Team deliver savings over the next few year to close the financial deficit 
within the MTFP. 

220. While I support the use of reserves to fund the 2023/24 deficit, this is not a 
sustainable long term option.  I acknowledge the work done by the Overview 
and Scrutiny Budget Task Group who concluded that the budget was sound 
and deliverable, using the Economic Growth and Risk Fund, but as with 
myself note that this can only be a short term measure while savings are 
identified and delivered. 

221. The Council has a proven track record of delivering, and through digitalisation, 
transformation and new projects that bring growth to the borough, and 
financial returns to the Council, I am comfortable that this budget is 
deliverable, and more importantly the savings required will be identified, 
programmed in a timely manner, and delivered. 

 
Contact and Email 
 
222. Monica Hutanu – Monica.Hutanu@ashford.gov.uk 
 

Page 69

mailto:lee.foreman@ashford.gov.uk


LIST OF APPENDICES 
 
Part Two  A Summary of Expenditure 

B Service Expenditure 
  C Analysis of Reserves 
  D Discretionary Fees 
  E  Equality Impact Assessment 

O  Proposed Budget Savings for the 2023/24 financial year 
 
Part Three F HRA Budget, analysed to subjective level 
 
Part Four G Capital Programme 

N Newtown Works 
 
Part Five H Capital Strategy 

I Minimum Revenue Provision 
J Treasury Management Strategy Statement  
K   Investment Strategy 

 
Part Six  L Exceptional Circumstances Policy 
 
Part Seven M Robustness of Estimates and Adequacy of Reserves  
 

Page 70



Appendix A 

 
 

  

Projected 
Outturn Service 

2021/22 2022/23 2022/23 2023/24
£ £ £ £
2,401,462 2,330,930 2,185,675 Finance and IT 3,097,440

459,471 630,340 611,330 HR, Customer Services, Comms and Digitalisation 660,810
1,230,828 1,258,790 1,658,174 Housing 1,531,120
1,100,645 761,160 940,876 Safety Wellbeing and Port 1,379,940
6,519,565 5,266,170 5,792,898 Environment, Property and Recreation 6,757,090
2,782,453 2,356,110 2,682,144 Planning and Development 2,636,170

568,344 935,400 1,388,660 Corporate Management Costs 833,600
656,187 629,790 675,321 Head of Economic Development 776,190

1,387,271 1,442,240 1,421,519 Head of Performance and Policy 1,677,140
413,879 410,510 326,940 Solicitor to The Council and Monitoring Officer 413,560

17,520,105 16,021,440 17,683,537 Service Expenditure 19,763,060

(2,620,776) (2,153,740) (1,653,740) Capital Charges & Net Interest (734,500)
139,740 0 0 Revenue Funding of Capital Expenditure 0
275,964 282,000 282,000 Levies 325,000
601,292 1,944,200 1,856,320 Contribution to/(from) Balances (710,850)

15,916,325 16,093,900 18,168,117 ABC Budget Requirement 18,642,710
Income

(2,592,133) (485,000) (485,000) Government Grant (614,500)
(3,699,900) (4,685,000) (4,685,000) Retained Business Rates (7,502,000)
(1,908,222) (1,886,050) (1,886,050) New Homes Bonus (1,662,000)
(7,755,310) (9,037,850) (9,037,850) Council Tax (8,864,210)

(39,242) 0 2,074,217 0

 SERVICE SUMMARY 

Actuals Budget Budget

REVENUE BUDGET  

Page 71



Appendix B 

   

Projected 
Outturn Department

2021/22 2022/23 2022/23 2023/24
£ £ £ £

Assistant Director of Finance and IT

(131,434) 74,680 (37,690) Accountancy 46,860

730,063 836,890 824,980 Benefits Administration 942,560

77,245 327,130 334,340 Council Tax Collection 410,220

653,291 (275,000) (275,000) Housing Benefits Payments (250,000)

(150,748) 29,380 29,380 Miscellaneous Expenditure 28,840

(106,125) (78,620) (72,860) Nndr Collection (69,110)

974,028 1,221,100 1,221,100 Non-Distributed Costs 1,345,280

91,475 80,790 68,210 Exchequer 97,980

11,443 1,900 1,560 Debtors/Debt Recovery (6,290)

90,392 26,650 (16,410) Ict 32,470

8,108 50 13,050 Telephony 20

229,225 169,950 180,580 Corporate Management 210,660

(75,502) (83,970) (85,565) Contracts & Procurement 307,950
2,401,462 2,330,930 2,185,675 3,097,440

Assistant Director of HR, Customer 
Service and Communications

(24,163) 18,710 6,250 Visitor & Call Centre 10

9,867 158,100 149,130 Human Resources 142,760

473,767 453,530 455,950 Communications & Marketing 518,040
459,471 630,340 611,330 660,810

Assistant Director of Housing

49,715 (30,360) (21,860) Project Delivery Team 130

25,452 17,330 16,540 Gypsy Site - Chilmington 33,710

869,713 963,460 1,368,094 Housing Options 1,209,820

181,419 184,590 180,120 Private Sector Housing 197,290

104,529 121,790 115,280 Housing Strategy And Enabling 90,170

0 1,980 0 Refugee Project 0
1,230,828 1,258,790 1,658,174 1,531,120

Assistant Director of Safety Wellbeing 
and Port Services

0 0 (120,000) Ashford Port Health 0

(455) (10) (10) Insurance (10)

(162,265) (574,450) (412,310) Parking & Engineering (372,180)

534,879 547,930 632,351 Environmental Health 688,870

728,486 787,690 840,845 Community Safety,Amc,Licencing 1,063,260
1,100,645 761,160 940,876 1,379,940

Assistant Director of Environment, 
Property and Recreation

(49,029) (20,150) 91,491 Facilities Management 73,740

321,745 50,910 57,624 Property Building Services 28,660

75,166 172,720 203,475 Commercial Projects 187,180

92,704 125,590 (31,230) Street Scene 95,170

3,207,322 3,155,960 3,601,840 Refuse,Recycling,Street Clean 5,109,090

1,764,521 2,018,720 2,069,445 Grounds Maintenance 2,054,530

(1,775,730) (2,069,470) (1,916,201) Estates (2,078,210)

2,882,866 1,831,890 1,716,454 Recreation 1,286,930
6,519,565 5,266,170 5,792,898 6,757,090

General Fund Draft Budget 2023/24

Actuals Budget Budget

Page 72



Appendix B 

 
 

Projected 
Outturn Department

2021/22 2022/23 2022/23 2023/24
£ £ £ £

Assistant Director of Planning and 
Development

60,289 114,890 95,206 Building Control 143,080
1,634,251 1,025,180 1,452,815 Development Manager 1,280,760

(1,763) 3,060 4,039 Land Charges 0
13,988 12,550 13,836 Planning Administration (16,700)

1,075,688 1,200,430 1,116,248 Strategic Planning 1,229,030
2,782,453 2,356,110 2,682,144 2,636,170

Corporate Management Costs

(52,407) 70 70 Audit Partnership (30)

552,797 848,040 1,302,530 Strategic Corporate Costs 833,630

67,954 87,290 86,060 Office Of The Leader 0
568,344 935,400 1,388,660 833,600

Head of Economic Development

185,153 162,590 160,750 Tourism & Heritage 176,010

8,505 0 0 Cultural Projects 0
462,529 467,200 514,571 Economic Development 600,180
656,187 629,790 675,321 776,190

Head of Performance and Policy
0 1,890 (161) Climate Change 108,570

335,051 345,860 345,860 Single Grants Gateway 345,610
745,065 787,170 828,430 Democratic Representation 914,240

59,322 64,630 65,970 Mayor 61,970
247,834 242,690 181,420 Policy And Performance 246,750

1,387,271 1,442,240 1,421,519 1,677,140

Solicitor To The Council And 
Monitoring Officer

401,321 417,240 408,390 Electoral Services 457,630

12,558 (6,730) (81,450) Legal (44,070)
413,879 410,510 326,940 413,560

17,520,105 16,021,440 17,683,537 Net expenditure on Services 19,763,060
Other Items

(2,620,776) (2,153,740) (1,653,740) Capital Charges & Net Interest (734,500)

139,740 0 0 Revenue Funding of Capital Expenditure 0

275,964 282,000 282,000 Levies & Precepts 325,000

601,292 1,944,200 1,856,320 Contributions to/(from) Reserves (710,850)
15,916,325 16,093,900 18,168,117 ABC Budget Requirements 18,642,710

General Fund Draft Budget 2023/24

Actuals Budget Budget

Page 73



Appendix C 
Analysis of Estimated Reserves 

 
 

Analysis of Revenue Reserves (non ring-fenced)
Balance at 31 
March 2022 2022/23 Movement

Balance at 31 
March 2023 2023/24 Movement

Balance at 31 
March 2024

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Un-earmarked General Fund Reserve 2,562 250 2,812 2,812

Earmarked Reserves From Reserve To Reserve From Reserve To Reserve
Recovery Project Reserve (now including Victoria Park) 1,093 (1,093) 0 0 0 0 0
Climate Change Delivery Fund 2,000 (80) 0 1,920 (1,080) 0 840
Improvement Delivery Fund 3,000 (1,300) 1,886 3,586 0 0 3,586
Economic Growth and Risk Fund 8,345 (2,639) 800 6,506 (2,145) 200 4,561
Fund Future Expenditure (Risk, Legislation, Transformation) 6,104 (335) 0 5,770 0 0 5,770
Provide for Maintenance of Assets 4,932 (750) 600 4,782 (500) 600 4,882
Provision for Discretionary Spend 25,474 (6,196) 3,286 22,564 (3,725) 800 19,639

Total reserves available 28,036 (6,196) 3,536 25,376 (3,725) 800 22,451

P
age 74



Appendix D 
 

 
 
 

 

Charge 
2021/22

Charge 
2022/23

Charge 
2023/24

Increase / 
Decrease 
on 2022/23

£ £ £ %
All Products
Up to 6 tonnes NB 52.12 54.00 63.00 16.67%

7-45 tonnes (cost per tonnes) NB 8.53 9.00 10.00 11.11%

46 tonnes and over NB 397.87 410.00 476.00 16.10%

All Products from New Zealand
Up to 6 tonnes NB 40.39 47.00 55.00 17.02%

7-45 tonnes (cost per tonnes) NB 6.60 8.00 9.00 12.50%

46 tonnes and over NB 308.84 358.00 415.00 15.92%

Bulk fishery products and feed of animal origin or by-products
Up to 500 tonnes NB 568.40 585.00 679.00 16.07%

Up to 1,000 tonnes NB 1,136.79 1,171.00 1,358.00 15.97%

Up to 2,000 tonnes NB 2,273.59 2,342.00 2,717.00 16.01%

More than 2,000 tonnes NB 3,410.36 3,513.00 4,075.00 16.00%

Intensified Official Controls, Enhanced Checks (i.e Brazil meat) and
Protective Measures
Risk category II producsts (30%) NB 60.96 63.00 73.00 15.87%

Risk category III producsts (15%) NB 74.02 76.00 88.00 15.79%

Risk category IV producsts (5%) NB 82.72 85.00 99.00 16.47%

Risk category V producsts (1%) NB 86.20 89.00 103.00 15.73%

If sampled
Admin Fee NB 87.08 90.00 104.00 15.56%

Lab Fee - Assigned by Lab NB AT COST AT COST AT COST

Common Health Entry Document (CHED-P) -
Products of Animal Origin

DISCRETIONARY & STATUTORY FEES 2023/24

Charge for the Port Health Services Border Control Post Sevington

Item Description/Comments

VAT
Indicator

P
age 75



Appendix D 
 

 

Charge 
2021/22

Charge 
2022/23

Charge 
2023/24

Increase / 
Decrease 
on 2022/23

£ £ £ %
Transits through the community
Minimum Fee NB 87.08 90.00 104.00 15.56%

Per additional quarter hour NB 21.76 22.00 26.00 18.18%

Admin for CHED's not presented on IPAFF's
Per CHED entered NB 10.30 11.00 13.00 18.18%

Photocopy document NB 1.03 1.00 1.00 0.00%

Late notification fee
Per CHED not submitted before the arrival of the cargo NB 86.52 89.00 103.00 15.73%

Non compliance charge
Per rejected consignment NB 126.89 131.00 152.00 16.03%

Documentary check NB 55.72 57.00 66.00 15.79%

Sampling less than 10 sub-samples NB 85.45 88.00 102.00 15.91%

Sampling 10-59 sub-samples NB 107.21 110.00 128.00 16.36%

Sampling 60 or more sub-samples NB 150.76 155.00 180.00 16.13%

Non - compliance charge NB 126.89 131.00 152.00 16.03%

supervisory fee for disposals NB 174.15 179.00 208.00 16.20%

Late notification fee NB 86.52 89.00 103.00 15.73%

Analysts fee - assigned by Lab NB AT COST AT COST AT COST

Products of Animal Origin NB 208.06 214.00 248.00 15.89%

Non animal origin NB 55.72 57.00 66.00 15.79%

Sampled non-animal origin
Identity and sampling NB 85.45 88.00 102.00 15.91%

Analysis - assigned by Lab NB AT COST AT COST AT COST

Non compliance NB 126.89 131.00 152.00 16.03%

Supervisory Fee for Disposal NB 174.15 179.00 208.00 16.20%

Late notification fee NB 86.52 89.00 103.00 15.73%

Common Health Entry Document (CHED-D) - 
High Risk Non Animal Origin

Radiation - Japanese Control Measures

DISCRETIONARY & STATUTORY FEES 2023/24

Charge for the Port Health Services Border Control Post Sevington

Item Description/Comments

VAT
Indicator

P
age 76



Appendix D 
 

 

Charge 
2021/22

Charge 
2022/23

Charge 
2023/24

Increase / 
Decrease 
on 2022/23

£ £ £ %
Documentary check (CHED) NB 55.72 57.00 66.00 15.79%

Sampling analysis NB 85.45 88.00 102.00 15.91%

Analytical cost - Assigned by lab NB AT COST AT COST AT COST

Non-compliance NB 126.89 131.00 152.00 16.03%

Supervisory fee for disposal NB 174.15 179.00 208.00 16.20%

Late notification fee NB 86.52 89.00 103.00 15.73%

1-5 Certificates NB 46.00 53.00 15.22%

6-10 Certificates NB 64.22 66.00 77.00 16.67%

11-20 Certificates NB 89.01 92.00 107.00 16.30%

21+  Certificates NB 113.79 117.00 136.00 16.24%

Identy, Physical Check and Sampling NB 68.72 71.00 82.00 15.49%

Analytical cost - Assigned by Lab NB AT COST AT COST AT COST

Confirmatory test for nylon - Assigned by Lab NB AT COST AT COST AT COST

Non - compliance NB 126.89 131.00 152.00 16.03%

Late notification fee NB 86.52 89.00 103.00 15.73%

High Risk 1-5 NB        45.06           46.00 53.00 15.22%
High Risk 6-10 NB        67.60           70.00 81.00 15.71%
High Risk 11-20 NB        78.87           81.00 94.00 16.05%
High Risk 21+ NB        90.14           93.00 108.00 16.13%
Low Risk  1-5 NB        22.54           23.00 27.00 17.39%
Low Risk 6-10 NB        39.43           41.00 48.00 17.07%
Low Risk 11-20 NB        50.70           52.00 60.00 15.38%
Low Risk 21+ NB        61.96           64.00 74.00 15.63%
Formal Verification/Movement Control Notice NB        87.08           90.00 104.00 15.56%
 Per quarter hour NB        21.76           22.00 26.00 18.18%
Non-compliance NB      126.89          131.00 152.00 16.03%
Late notification fee NB        86.52           89.00 103.00 15.73%

Guar Gum from India

Plastic Kitchenware - China and Hong Kong 
control measures

Illegal, Unreported and Unregulated Fishing 
(IUU)
Ashford Port Health uses a per consignment basis 
for its charges. Where multiple catch certificates 
are submitted for the same consignment which 
include high and low risk country certificates, the 
higher risk charge is applied

DISCRETIONARY & STATUTORY FEES 2023/24

Charge for the Port Health Services Border Control Post Sevington

Item Description/Comments

VAT
Indicator

P
age 77



Appendix D 
 

 

Charge 
2021/22

Charge 
2022/23

Charge 
2023/24

Increase / 
Decrease 
on 2022/23

£ £ £ %
Organic Import Controls Current national flat rate NB        55.62           57.00 66.00 15.79%

Late notification fee NB        86.52           89.00 103.00 15.73%

Movement control NB      126.89          131.00 152.00 16.03%
Non compliance charge NB      126.89          131.00 152.00 16.03%

Docummentary Check NB           57.00 66.00 15.79%

Identity checks, physical check and sampling NB 55.72 57.00 66.00 15.79%
Analyst Fee NB        85.45           88.00 102.00 15.91%

Reduced sample (processed product) - Assigned by lab Non-compliance NB      126.89          131.00 152.00 16.03%
Supervisory fee for disposal NB      174.15          179.00 208.00 16.20%

Export Health Certificates Export Health Certificate £100 for preparation and first hour. Subsequent 
hours charged at Officer Rate

NB 100.00 100.00 116.00 16.00%

Animal Feed Import, £54 document checking, £100 officer time sampling and 
Lab sampling recharged at cost

NB 154.00 154.00 179.00 16.23%

APHA Certificate recharged at cost NB AT COST AT COST AT COST
Other Charges Disposal collection fee:

Up to 0.9 tonnes in 3.5T Lorry NB      236.32          243.00 282.00 16.05%

 Lorry Up to 1.5 tonnes in 7.5T Lorry NB 236.32 243.00 282.00 16.05%

Lorry Up to 10 tonnes in 18T NB      287.83          296.00 343.00 15.88%

Lorry Up to 20 tonnes in artic NB      386.25          398.00 462.00 16.08%

Refund of PHILIS deposit NB        28.00           29.00 34.00 17.24%

Disposal by incineration NOA per kg NB         0.26             0.26 0.26 0.00%

Disposal by incineration POAO per kg NB         0.35             0.35 0.35 0.00%

Staff hourly rate NB        87.08           90.00 104.00 15.56%

Certificate of destruction NB        25.75           27.00 31.00 14.81%

Non compliance charge for all products without an official import declaration NB      126.89          131.00 152.00 16.03%

VAT Indicator:
NB = Non Business no VAT 
VT = Exclusive of VAT
EX = Exempt from VAT

Genetically Modified (GN) Controls in rice and 
Rice
Products from China
Documentary Check

DISCRETIONARY & STATUTORY FEES 2023/24

Charge for the Port Health Services Border Control Post Sevington

Item Description/Comments

VAT
Indicator

P
age 78



Appendix D 
 

 
 

Item Description/Comments VAT 
Indicator

Charge 
2021/22

Charge 
2022/23

Charge 
2023/24 

Increase / 
Decrease 

on 2022/23

£ £ £ %
Interments
Interments in a new unpurchased grave

Single grave depth NB 1,240.00 1,275.00 1,479.00 16.00%

Single grave depth with boarding (excludes Tenterden 
cemetery and woodland graves)

NB 1,467.00 1,510.00 1,752.00 16.03%

Double grave depth (excludes Tenterden) NB 1,360.00 1,400.00 1,624.00 16.00%
Triple grave depth (excludes Tenterden) NB 1,580.00 1,625.00 1,885.00 16.00%

Single grave depth NB 4,960.00 5,100.00 5,916.00 16.00%
Single grave depth with boarding (excludes Tenterden 
cemetery and woodland graves)

NB 5,868.00 6,040.00 7,008.00 16.03%

Double grave depth (excludes Tenterden) NB 5,440.00 5,600.00 6,496.00 16.00%
Triple grave depth (excludes Tenterden) NB 6,320.00 6,500.00 7,540.00 16.00%

Single grave depth: under 3 months NB 85.00 87.00 99.00 13.79%
Single grave depth: 3 - 5 years NB 85.00 87.00 99.00 13.79%
Single grave depth: 6 - 18 years NB 275.00 283.00 328.00 15.90%

DISCRETIONARY & STATUTORY FEES 2023/24

Cemetery Charges

(1) Interment of standard sized coffin in new 
grave -  includes digging, purchase of right 
of burial for 30 years and temporary 
wooden marker with plaque

ADULT (Resident):

ADULT (Non-resident):

CHILD (Non-resident):

P
age 79



Appendix D 
 

 

Item Description/Comments VAT 
Indicator

Charge 
2021/22

Charge 
2022/23

Charge 
2023/24 

Increase / 
Decrease 

on 2022/23

£ £ £ %
Interments
Interments in a new unpurchased grave

Single grave depth NB 2,420.00 2,485.00 2,883.00 16.02%
Single grave depth with boarding (excludes Tenterden) NB 2,874.00 2,955.00 3,428.00 16.01%
Double grave depth (excludes Tenterden) NB 2,660.00 2,735.00 3,173.00 16.01%
Triple grave depth (excludes Tenterden) NB 3,100.00 3,185.00 3,695.00 16.01%

Single grave depth NB 9,680.00 9,940.00 11,532.00 16.02%
Single grave depth with boarding (excludes Tenterden) NB 11,496.00 11,820.00 13,712.00 16.01%
Double grave depth (excludes Tenterden) NB 10,640.00 10,940.00 12,692.00 16.01%
Triple grave depth (excludes Tenterden) NB 12,400.00 12,740.00 14,780.00 16.01%

Single grave depth NB 640.00 657.00 762.00 15.98%
Single grave depth with boarding (excludes Tenterden) * NB 867.00 892.00 1,035.00 16.03%
Double grave depth (excludes Tenterden) NB 760.00 782.00 907.00 15.98%
Triple grave depth (excludes Tenterden) NB 980.00 1,007.00 1,168.00 15.99%

Single grave depth NB 2,560.00 2,628.00 1,524.00 -42.01%
Single grave depth with boarding (excludes Tenterden) * NB 3,468.00 3,568.00 2,070.00 -41.98%
Double grave depth (excludes Tenterden) NB 3,400.00 3,128.00 1,814.00 -42.01%
Triple grave depth (excludes Tenterden) NB 4,280.00 4,028.00 2,336.00 -42.01%
Under 5 years * NB 85.00 87.00 101.00 16.09%
6 - 18 years * NB 275.00 283.00 328.00 15.90%

(2) Interment of casket style or oversized 
coffin (<30") in new grave -  includes 
digging, purchase of right of burial for 30 
years and temporary wooden marker with 
plaque.
NOTE: Oversized coffins or caskets require 
two grave spaces

ADULT (Resident):

ADULT (Non-resident):

Interments in a reopen grave or grave that has been pre-purchased
(3) Reopen of existing grave or pre-
purchased grave for interment of standard 
coffin - includes digging but excludes 
temporary wooden marker with plaque

ADULT: (Resident):

ADULT (Non Resident):

DISCRETIONARY & STATUTORY FEES 2023/24

Cemetery Charges

P
age 80



Appendix D 
 

 

Item Description/Comments VAT 
Indicator

Charge 
2021/22

Charge 
2022/23

Charge 
2023/24 

Increase / 
Decrease 

on 2022/23

£ £ £ %
Interments
Interments in a new unpurchased grave

Single grave depth * NB 1,280.00 1,310.00 1,520.00 16.03%
Single grave depth with boarding (excludes Tenterden) * NB 1,734.00 1,780.00 2,065.00 16.01%
Double grave depth (excludes Tenterden) * NB 1,520.00 1,560.00 1,810.00 16.03%
Triple grave depth (excludes Tenterden) * NB 1,960.00 2,010.00 2,332.00 16.02%

Single grave depth * NB 5,120.00 5,240.00 3,040.00 -41.98%
Single grave depth with boarding (excludes Tenterden) * NB 6,936.00 7,120.00 4,130.00 -41.99%
Double grave depth (excludes Tenterden) * NB 6,080.00 6,240.00 3,620.00 -41.99%
Triple grave depth (excludes Tenterden) * NB 7,840.00 8,040.00 4,664.00 -41.99%

Large plot (capacity for upto 4 interment of ashes) NB 500.00 515.00 597.00 15.92%
Small plot (capacity for up to 2 interment of ashes) NB 365.00 375.00 435.00 16.00%

Large plot (capacity for upto 4 intement of ashes) NB 2,000.00 2,060.00 2,388.00 15.92%
Small plot (capacity for upto 2 interment of ashes) NB 1,460.00 1,500.00 1,740.00 16.00%

(Resident):
For one set of ashes. Further sets of ashes at same time 
will be charged as per item (7)

NB 139.00 143.00 166.00 16.08%

For one set of ashes. Further sets of ashes at same time 
will be charge as per item (7)

NB 556.00 572.00 332.00 -41.96%

(4) Reopen of existing grave or pre-
purchased grave for interment of casket or 
oversized coffin (<30") where possible.  
Includes digging but excludes temporary 
wooden marked with plaque
NOTE: Oversized coffins or caskets require 
two grave spaces, can only be dug if space 
is available and does not encroach on 
another purchased grave

ADULT (Resident):

ADULT (Non-resident):

Interment of Ashes in new unpurchased cremation plot
(5) Interment of ashes in new cremation 
plot - includes digging, purchase of right of 
burial for 30 years and temporary wooden 
marker with plaque

(Resident):

(Non Resident):

Interment of Ashes in an existing grave or ashes plot or a grave or ashes plot that has been pre-purchased 
(6) Reopen of burial plot for interment of 
ashes

(Non Resident):

DISCRETIONARY & STATUTORY FEES 2023/24

Cemetery Charges

P
age 81



Appendix D 
 

 

Item Description/Comments VAT 
Indicator

Charge 
2021/22

Charge 
2022/23

Charge 
2023/24 

Increase / 
Decrease 

on 2022/23

£ £ £ %
Interments

Per set of ashes * NB 70.00 72.00 84.00 16.67%

(Non Resident):
Per set of ashes * NB 280.00 288.00 168.00 -41.67%

Memorial permit giving permission to erect a memorial

Headstone or tablet including inscriptions NB 200.00 205.00 238.00 16.10%
Kerbstone including cover slab and inscriptions NB 200.00 205.00 238.00 16.10%
Placement of standalone vase including inscriptions NB 85.00 87.00 101.00 16.09%
Replacement/renovation/reinstatement of memorial** NB 50.00

Headstone or tablet including inscriptions NB 800.00 820.00 951.00 15.98%
Kerbstone including cover slab and inscriptions NB 800.00 820.00 951.00 15.98%
Placement of a vase including inscriptions NB 340.00 348.00 404.00 16.09%
Replacement/renovation/reinstatement of memorial** NB 50.00

Headstone or tablet including inscriptions NB 200.00 205.00 238.00 16.10%
Kerbstone including cover slab and inscriptions NB 200.00 205.00 238.00 16.10%
Placement of a standalone vase including inscriptions NB 85.00 87.00 101.00 16.09%
Replacement/renovation/reinstatement of memorial** NB 50.00

New inscription on an existing memorial VT 85.00 87.00 101.00 16.09%
(Non Resident):
New inscription on an existing memorial VT 340.00 348.00 404.00 16.09%

(8) Application for a memorials for graves in 
all cemeteries excluding Woodland 
Sections where memorials are not 
permitted.  One application required per 
element of memorial required.

NOTE: Not all sections of the cemtery are 
permitted kerbstones, these sections are 
detailed in the rules and regulations

Adult (Resident)

Adult (Non Resident):

Child - up to 18 years (Non Resident):

Inscription Application
(9) Application for additional inscription on 
existing memorial.

(Resident):

Memorials

Interment of ashes interred at same time of another burial in same grave or ashes plot
(7) Interment of single set ashes buried 
same time as a coffin burial or another set 
of ashes in same grave or burial plot.  Fee 
charged for each additional set

DISCRETIONARY & STATUTORY FEES 2023/24

Cemetery Charges

P
age 82



Appendix D 
 

 
 
 

Item Description/Comments VAT 
Indicator

Charge 
2021/22

Charge 
2022/23

Charge 
2023/24 

Increase / 
Decrease 

on 2022/23

£ £ £ %

One grave space NB 540.00 556.00 645.00 16.01%
Large cremation plot NB 301.00 310.00 360.00 16.13%
Small cremation plot NB 166.00 170.00 197.00 15.88%

One grave space NB 2,160.00 2,224.00 2,580.00 16.01%
Large cremation plot NB 1,204.00 1,240.00 1,438.00 15.97%
Small cremation plot NB 664.00 680.00 789.00 16.03%

One grave space EX 90.00 92.50 107.00 15.68%
Large cremation plot EX 50.00 51.50 60.00 16.50%
Small cremation plot EX 28.00 28.50 33.00 15.79%

One grave space EX 360.00 370.00 429.00 15.95%

Large cremation plot EX 200.00 206.00 239.00 16.02%

Small cremation plot EX 112.00 114.00 132.00 15.79%

(Resident)
Per transfer completed EX 90.00 92.00 107.00 16.30%
Per transfer completed EX 360.00 368.00 0.00 -100.00%

(12) Transfer of a right of burial

(11) Extension of a right of burial for period 
of 5 years

(Resident)

(Non Resident)

Exclusive Right of Burial
Purchase of Exclusive Right of Burial
(10) Purchase of right of burial for 30 years 
(applies to pre-purchase of graves and 
where burial rights that were not purchaed 
prior to introduction of the composite fee)

(Resident)

(Non Resident)

DISCRETIONARY & STATUTORY FEES 2023/24

Cemetery Charges

P
age 83



Appendix D 
 

  
 
 

Item Description/Comments VAT 
Indicator

Charge 
2021/22

Charge 
2022/23

Proposed 
Charge 
2023/24 

Increase / 
Decrease 

on 2022/23

£ £ £ %

(13) Exhumation and reinterment in same 
grave

VT AT COST AT COST AT COST

(14) Exhumation and reinterment in another 
grave in ABC cemetery

EX AT COST AT COST AT COST

(15) Exhumation for transportation to non 
ABC cemetery

EX AT COST AT COST AT COST

(16) Selection of grave space by customer 
instead of using next available space

EX 105.00 108.00 125.00 15.74%

(17) Incorrect arrival time in excess of 30 
mins at cemetery

NB 105.00 108.00 125.00 15.74%

Up to 1 names in single application VT 30.00 30.00 35.00 16.67%

2 - 5 names in same application (per name) VT 5.00 6.00 20.00%
6 to 9 names in same application (per name) VT 2.50 3.00 20.00%
Wooden cross VT 60.00 62.00 72.00 16.13%
Wooden plaque holder VT 50.00 51.50 60.00 16.50%

(20) Additional memorial plaque for 
woodland grave or wooden marker

Additional plaque for reopen burial or interment in a pre-
purchased grave, or replacement of existing plaque

VT 45.00 46.25 54.00 16.76%

(22) Tree Replacement in woodland section 
(Bybrook or Tenterden cemetery). Includes 
purchase and planting. Excludes a tree 
planting ceremony

Replacement of tree that has failed after being planted for 
more than 12 months.  

VT 100.00 103.00 119.00 15.53%

(18) Family history search for geneaology 
purposes

(19) Temporary Marker with plaque for 
reopened graves or new graves that were 
prepurchased  - Excludes woodland graves

Exhumations

Other Cemetery Charges

DISCRETIONARY & STATUTORY FEES 2023/24

Cemetery Charges

P
age 84



Appendix D 
 

 

Item Description/Comments VAT 
Indicator

Charge 
2021/22

Charge 
2022/23

Proposed 
Charge 
2023/24 

Increase / 
Decrease 

on 2022/23

£ £ £ %

(23) Cancellation of service Fee chargeable if grave has been dug and date is 
rescheduled or interment has repeat rescheduling

NB 105.00 108.00 125.00 15.74%

One grave space NB 108.00 111.00 129.00 16.22%
Large cremation plot NB 60.00 62.00 72.00 16.13%
Small cremation plot NB 33.00 34.00 39.00 14.71%

(Non Resident)
One grave space NB 432.00 444.00 515.00 15.99%
Large cremation plot NB 240.00 248.00 288.00 16.13%
Small cremation plot NB 132.00 136.00 156.00 14.71%

** new fee being charged 

VAT Indicator:
NB = Non Business no VAT

VT = Inclusive of VAT

(24) Reservation Fee to secure burial plot 
for a six month period.  Amount payable is 
deducted from total cost when paid in full.  
No refund if burial plot is not fully 
purchased within six months.

(Resident)

EX = Exempt from VAT

Exhumations
Other Cemetery Charges

DISCRETIONARY & STATUTORY FEES 2023/24

Cemetery Charges

P
age 85



Appendix D 
 

 
 

Monitoring Centre

Item Description/Comments VAT 
Indicator

Charge 
2021/22

Charge 
2022/23

Proposed 
Charge 
2023/24

Increase / 
Decrease on 

2022/23
£ £ £ %

Telecare/Lifeline
Telecare Lifeline/Addition 
Installation 
(Within Kent)

One Off Payment per client VT 82.00 82.00 82.00 0.00%

Telecare Lifeline/addition Postage 
and self install - Nation Wide

One off payment per client VT 15.00 15.00 17.36 15.73%

Telecare Lifeline Monitoring and 
Equipment Hire

Annual Fee per client VT 165.00 165.00 170.00 3.03%

NEW - Additional sensor 
monitoring annual fee

VT 108.00

Supply of Second Pendant sensor One off payment per client VT 57.00 57.00 60.00 5.26%

Supply of Key safe - new style One Off Payment per client VT 72.00 72.00 75.00 4.17%

Supply of Key release Door Chain - 
new style

One Off Payment per client VT 65.00 65.00 65.00 0.00%

Telecare/Lifeline Equipment Replacement of Equipment due to Damage/Non Return VT 211.00 211.00 240.00 13.74%

Purchase of Safe Socket One off payment per safe socket required VT 26.00 26.00 30.00 15.38%

Purchase of BT Cable for Lifeline One off payment per BT cable required VT 15.00 15.00 17.00 13.33%

Purchase of Fall Detector One off payment per fall detector VT 113.00 113.00 120.00 6.19%

Purchase of Carbon Monoxide 
Detector

One off payment per Carbon Monoxide Detector VT 125.00 125.00 125.00 0.00%

DISCRETIONARY & STATUTORY FEES 2023/24

P
age 86



Appendix D 
 

 

Monitoring Centre

Item Description/Comments VAT 
Indicator

Charge 
2021/22

Charge 
2022/23

Proposed 
Charge 
2023/24

Increase / 
Decrease on 

2022/23
£ £ £ %

Telecare/Lifeline
Purchase of Flood Detector One off payment per Flood Detector VT 113.00 113.00 113.00 0.00%

Purchase of Pendant Easy Press One off payment per Pendant Easy Press VT 10.00 10.00 12.00 20.00%

Purchase of Smoke Alarm 
Detector

One off payment per Smoke Alarm Detector VT 113.00 113.00 113.00 0.00%

Purchase of Power Cable One off payment per Power Cable VT 36.00 36.00 36.00 0.00%

Insurance CCTV review/download One off payment for a data protection request from an 
insurance company

VT 125.00 125.00 125.00 0.00%

VAT Indicator:
NB = Non Business no VAT
EX = Exempt from VAT
VT = Exclusive of VAT

DISCRETIONARY & STATUTORY FEES 2023/24

P
age 87



Appendix D 
 

 
 

Other Charges

Item Description/Comments VAT Indicator Charge 
2021/22

Charge 
2022/23

Charge 
2023/24

Increase / 
Decrease on 

2022/23
£ £ £ %

Land Charges
Domestic Properties NB
Non-Domestic Properties NB

Extra Questions NB
NB All Land Charges Fees are to be set at on full cost 
recovery Basis - these need to be reviewed periodically 
throughout the year to ensure that this is achieved.

Street Administration
1 Unit NB 57.00 59.00 68.00 15.25%
2-10 units NB 46.00 47.00 55.00 17.02%
Over 10 units NB 42.00 43.00 50.00 16.28%

New Street Name NB 136.00 140.00 162.00 15.71%
Rename Existing Street NB 289.00 298.00 346.00 16.11%
Address Change per property NB 57.00 59.00 68.00 15.25%

Building Control
Discretionary Works Including Party Wall surveying, Fire Risk assessments, 

Access audits, SBEM, SAP ratings and other surveying 
activities

VT

Street Naming and numbering

Cost Recovery

DISCRETIONARY & STATUTORY FEES 2023/24

Standard Search Fee Cost Recovery
Cost Recovery
Cost Recovery

P
age 88



Appendix D 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Other Charges

Item Description/Comments VAT Indicator Charge 
2021/22

Charge 
2022/23

Charge 
2023/24

Increase / 
Decrease on 

2022/23
£ £ £ %

Charge for the Supply of Information and Photocopies of Documents 
Notices and Extracts Authenticated Building Control Regulation Approval or 

Completion Certificate (photocopy - copying charge only)
VT 11.32 11.66 13.53 16.04%

Architects Plans (A3 & A4) VT 0.41 0.42 0.49 16.67%
Architects Plans (A2+) VT 7.08 7.29 8.46 16.05%

Fact sheets Major Development Proposals in Ashford (per page) VT 1.93 1.99 2.31 16.08%
All other fact sheets (per page) VT 0.41 0.42 0.49 16.67%

VT 61.04 62.87 72.93 16.00%

VT 61.04 62.87 72.93 16.00%

VT 61.04 62.87 72.93 16.00%

VT 7.63 7.86 9.12 16.03%

VT 1.06 1.09 1.26 15.60%

*Fee for additional work on information that is freely available on website

VAT Indicator:
NB = Non Business no VAT
EX = Exempt from VAT
VT = Exclusive of VAT

Postage and Packing

Requests for Planning Information*

Requests for Building Control Information*

Inspection of approved Building Regulation Plans*

Gas and Pipeline Extracts*

DISCRETIONARY & STATUTORY FEES 2023/24

P
age 89



Appendix D 
 

 
 
 

Other Charges

Item Description/Comments VAT Indicator Charge 
2021/22

Charge 
2022/23

Charge 
2023/24

Increase / 
Decrease on 

2022/23
£ £ £ %

Council Tax Collection
Court costs Summons costs NB 60.00 60.00 60.00 0.00%

Liability orders NB 65.00 65.00 65.00 0.00%

Business Rates
Court costs Liability orders NB 180.00 180.00 180.00 0.00%

VAT Indicator:
NB = Non Business no VAT
EX = Exempt from VAT
VT = Exclusive of VAT

DISCRETIONARY & STATUTORY FEES 23/24

P
age 90



Appendix D 
 

 
 
 

Other Charges

Item Description/Comments VAT Indicator Charge 
2021/22

Charge 
2022/23

Charge 
2023/24

Increase / 
Decrease on 

2022/23
£ £ £ %

Rent Charge per week NB 50.43 51.94 60.25 16.00%
Service Charge Charge per week NB 39.25 40.43 46.90 16.00%

Annual monitoring fee *  * The charge per pitch is worked out retrospectively on an 
annual basis and covers costs such as officer time, petrol, 
paper etc. Therefore the cost fluctuates yearly depending on 
how many visits there were and is set in  July each year as 
per the Park Home Policy. The fee quoted here is the hourly 
rate used for the calculations

NB 30.00 30.00 30.00 0.00%

Check & Depositing Site Rules NB 69.00 71.00 82.00 15.49%
Site Licence Application Fees Band 1 - 1-10 pitches NB 392.00 404.00 469.00 16.09%

Band 2 - 11-50 pitches NB 438.00 451.00 523.00 15.96%
Band 3 - 51-99 pitches NB 579.00 596.00 691.00 15.94%
Band 4 - 100-199 pitches NB 718.00 740.00 858.00 15.95%
Band 5 - 200+ pitches NB 880.00 906.00 1051.00 16.00%

Application to transfer a site licence Band 1 - 1-10 pitches NB 78.00 80.00 93.00 16.25%
Band 2 - 11-50 pitches NB 88.00 91.00 106.00 16.48%
Band 3 - 51-99 pitches NB 116.00 119.00 138.00 15.97%
Band 4 - 100-199 pitches NB 144.00 148.00 172.00 16.22%
Band 5 - 200+ pitches NB 176.00 181.00 210.00 16.02%

Application to amend a site licence Band 1 - 1-10 pitches NB 129.00 133.00 154.00 15.79%
Band 2 - 11-50 pitches NB 145.00 149.00 173.00 16.11%
Band 3 - 51-99 pitches NB 191.00 197.00 229.00 16.24%
Band 4 - 100-199 pitches NB 237.00 244.00 283.00 15.98%
Band 5 - 200+ pitches NB 290.00 299.00 347.00 16.05%

DISCRETIONARY & STATUTORY FEES 2023/24

Chilmington Road Travellers Site

Mobile Homes

P
age 91



Appendix D 
 

 

Other Charges

Item Description/Comments VAT Indicator Charge 
2021/22

Charge 
2022/23

Charge 
2023/24

Increase / 
Decrease on 

2022/23
£ £ £ %

Homelessness
Copy of File VT 10.00 10.00 10.00 0.00%

Private Sector Housing
Charge for service of enforcement 
notices Housing Act 2004 (per 
notice)

Incorporating  improvement notices, prohibition orders, 
emergency remedial action, emergency prohibition orders, 
demolition orders

NB 309.00 318.00 369.00 16.04%

Charge to carry out inspections in 
respect of a UK entry application 

NB 124.00 128.00 148.00 15.63%

Making a prohibition notice 
(Housing Act 2004 sec 20 or 21

Discretion regarding matters relating to over-crowding,but 
other issues which require a notice to be charged at £300

NB 350.00 361.00 419.00 16.07%

Charge for making an emergency 
prohibition order - Housing Act 2004

NB 233.00 240.00 278.00 15.83%

Charge for undertaking emergency 
remedial action (Housing Act 2004)

Charge between £100 - £500,depending on the extent of 
emergency works carried out

VT 100 - 500 100 - 500 100 - 500 N/A

First Offence £5,000,an early payment will attract a discount 
of 50% making it £2,500

NB 2,575.00 2,652.00 3,076.00 15.99%

For subsequent offences the penalty will be £5,000 to deter 
continued non-compliance.No early payment discount would 
apply

NB 5,150.00 5,305.00 6,154.00 16.00%

Five Year Licence - 1st property NB 581.00 802.00 802.00 0.00%
Five Year Licence - subsequent properties NB 581.00 802.00 802.00 0.00%

ABC Lettings
Management charge Agreed with landlord VT 10% -12.5% 10% -12.5% 10% 0.00%

Landlords one-off set up fee VT 250.00 250.00 250.00 0.00%

Repairs Service VT Cost +10% Cost +10% Cost +10% 0.00%

VAT Indicator:
NB = Non Business no VAT
EX = Exempt from VAT
VT = Exclusive of VAT

DISCRETIONARY & STATUTORY FEES 2023/24

Penalty Charge notices - the 
smoke and carbon monoxide alarm 
regulations 2015

House in Multiple Occupation 
Licence Fee

P
age 92



Appendix D 
 

 

 
 
 

Charges for Room Hire

Item Description/Comments VAT 
Indicator

Charge 
2021/22

 Charge 
2022/23

Charge 
2023/24

Increase / 
Decrease 

on 2022/23

£ £ £ %
Room Hire Council Chamber                                                - Up to 4 hours VT 164.00 164.00 164.00 0.00%

                                                                         - Full Day VT 288.00 288.00 288.00 0.00%
                                                                         - Evening after 5pm VT 264.00 264.00 264.00 0.00%

Committee Rooms                                               - Up to 4 hours VT 86.00 86.00 86.00 0.00%
                                                                         - Full Day VT 155.00 155.00 155.00 0.00%
                                                                        `- Evening after 5pm VT 149.00 149.00 149.00 0.00%

VAT Indicator:
VT = Inclusive of VAT

DISCRETIONARY & STATUTORY FEES 2023/24

P
age 93



Appendix D 
 

 

Item Description/Comments
VAT 

Indicato
r

Charge 
2021/22

Charge 
2022/23

Proposed 
Charge 
2023/24

Increase / 
Decrease on 

2022/23
£ £ £ %

Licences - valuation 
If external valuers are appointed, the charge will be the 
amount invoiced by the valuer.

EX at cost 
recovery

at cost 
recovery

at cost 
recovery

n/a

Licences - 
inspection/administration

The fee may depend upon whether a new boundary fence 
needs to be erected.

VT 250.00 250.00 290.0 16.00%

Land sales - valuation 
If external valuers are appointed, the charge will be the 
amount invoiced by the valuer.Intial payment of £500 is 
requested 

EX at cost 
recovery

at cost 
recovery

at cost 
recovery

n/a

Land sales - 
inspection/administration

Cost of the site inspection £324 up to sales value of £2500, 
where sales value exceeds £2500 cost will be £334 + 1% 
of sales value. Reflects more approparite charge.

VT 324.00 334.00 387.00 15.87%

Easements - valuation If external valuers are appointed, the charge will be the 
amount invoiced by the valuer.

EX at cost 
recovery

at cost 
recovery

at cost 
recovery

n/a

Easements - administration VT 200.00 200.00 232.00 16.00%

Release of covenant - valuation If external valuers are appointed, the charge will be the 
amount invoiced by the valuer.

EX at cost 
recovery

at cost 
recovery

at cost 
recovery

n/a

Release of covenant - 
administration

VT 300.00 300.00 348.00 16.00%

Boundary disputes 
Charge only applies if unlawful encroachment on Council 
land is found to have occurred.  Final cost will depend upon 
complexity of dispute.

EX 211.00 217.00 252.00 16.13%

Development Administration Fee To cover overheads in relation to officer time for processing, 
site visits for monitoring purposes for duration of works, 
insurance checks, review of method statements and risk 
assessments.

VT 449.00 462.00 536.00 16.02%

AutoCAD plan production fee Production of drawings for the purpose of ABC legal 
agreements

VT 112.00 115.00 133.00 15.65%

Wayleaves - 
inspection/administration

VT 250.00 250.00 290.00 16.00%

DISCRETIONARY & STATUTORY FEES 2023/24

Property Services

P
age 94



Appendix D 
 

 

Item Description/Comments
VAT 

Indicato
r

Charge 
2021/22

Charge 
2022/23

Proposed 
Charge 
2023/24

Increase / 
Decrease on 

2022/23
£ £ £ %

Commerical Transactions / 
Dealings 

New letting/lease agreements                        £250 + 
Consent to assign, sublet, underlet             £250 + 
Consent for alteration  £250 + 
Retrospective Consent for alteration £400 +
Licences and Tenancies at Will  £250 + 
Easements and surrenders                                          £250 + 
Acquisition and disposal  £250 + 
Charity, non-profit organisations upon evidence of
accounts

£0 - £50

Council Tenant Low  per week EX 11.00 11.50 13.00 13.04%
Council Tenant High per week EX 11.00 11.50 13.00 13.04%
Non Council Tenant Low (plus VAT) per week VT 13.20 13.80 16.00 15.94%
Non Council Tenant High (plus VAT) per week VT 13.20 13.80 16.00 15.94%
Charge for lock changes following loss of keys etc. 150.00

Deposit for all new Garage Tenancies (new charge) EX One months 
rent

One months 
rent

Parking Spaces (on garage sites only) per year in advance 
(new charge in 20/21 as we will be demolishing a number 
of garage sites and creating parking spaces, this will then 
be in place going forward) 

VT 210.00 220.00 255.00 15.91%

VAT Indicator:
NB = Non Business no VAT
EX = Exempt from VAT
VT = Exclusive of VAT

In line with the agreed Garage Commercialisation Strategy all profit of monies received for the sale of garage sites into the General 
Fund be allocated into the Garage budget to enable the investment for renovation and upgrade of existing let sites in order to maintain 
the highest level of revenue into the General Fund going forward.

Minimum Charges shown that will 
be applicable subject to time / 

complexity 

DISCRETIONARY & STATUTORY FEES 2023/24

Property Services

Garage and Parking Space Fees and Charges 
Garage and Parking Space Fees 
and Charges 

P
age 95



Appendix D 
 

 
 
 

 

Other Charges

Item Description/Comments VAT Indicator Charge 
2021/22

Charge 
2022/23

Proposed 
Charge 
2023/24

Increase / 
Decrease on 

2022/23
£ £ £ %

Waste Collection
Bulky Collection - General approved items Base Charge (1 to four items excluding white 

goods)
NB 26.00 27.00 35.00 29.63%

Bulky Collection - White goods White goods - for each item (each for televisions, 
computer monitors and white goods, including 
microwaves, washing machines and tumble dryers)

NB 25.00

Garden Waste Bins Wheelie Bin for Garden Waste - Previously agreed 
by Cabinet

NB 40.00 42.50 45.00 5.88%

Full household bin set (new developments) Set of one recycle (240L) one refuse (180L) one 
food caddy (23L) and one silver kitchen caddy (5L)

NB 80.00 80.00 95.00 18.75%

Recycle bin (New development) Green (240L) NB 41.00 42.00 49.00 16.67%
Refuse bin (New development) Black (180L) NB 41.00 42.00 49.00 16.67%
Food caddy (New development) Orange & black (23L) NB 10.00 10.00 14.00 40.00%
Kitchen food caddy (New development) Silver (5L) NB 8.00 8.00 10.00 25.00%
Food bin Black with food signage wrap (180L) NB 36.00 37.00 45.00 21.62%
Replacement resident refuse bin Black (180L) NB 25.00 25.00 30.00 20.00%
Replacement resident recycle bin Green (240L) NB 25.00 25.00 30.00 20.00%
Bulk refuse bin (New or replacement) (Includes 
signage on bins )

1100L steel/black lid NB 355.00 366.00 380.00 3.83%

Bulk refuse bin (New or replacement) (Includes 
signage on bins )

1100L steel/black lid (each additional bulk refuse 
bin in same delivery)

NB 309.00 318.00 365.00 14.78%

DISCRETIONARY & STATUTORY FEES 2023/24

P
age 96



Appendix D 
 

 
 
 
 

Other Charges

Item Description/Comments VAT Indicator Charge 
2021/22

Charge 
2022/23

Proposed 
Charge 
2023/24

Increase / 
Decrease on 

2022/23
£ £ £ %

Waste Collection
Bulk recycle bin (New or replacement) (Includes 
signage on bins )

1100L full green NB 381.00 392.00 395.00 0.77%
Bulk recycle bin (New or replacement) (Includes 
signage on bins )

1100L full green (each additional bulk recycle bin in 
same delivery)

NB 340.00 350.00 380.00 8.57%

Bin store/compound recycle information sign (A2) Colour signage on diabond board per sign - Bin use 
improvement

NB 40.00 50.00 25.00%

Dog Warden Fees
Stray Dogs Statutory fee for dog not being on lead NB 25.00 25.00 25.00 0.00%

Dog Control Costs Collection/delivery of dog NB 45.00 50.00 70.00 40.00%

Kennelling costs Per 24 hour period, day one due on admission NB 11.00 12.00 15.00 25.00%

Office Hours NB 16.00 18.00 20.88 16.00%

Outside Office Hours NB 35.00 36.00 41.76 16.00%

Vetinary Treatment As required NB

Non compliance of micro chip for a dog * NB 500.00 500.00 500.00 0.00%

Dog fouling * NB 50.00 50.00 50.00 0.00%

Littering * NB 75.00 75.00 75.00 0.00%

Flytipping * NB 400.00 400.00 400.00 0.00%

Failure to fulfil duty of care (Domestic Waste) * Fixed penalty reduces to £300 if paid within 14 
days.

NB 400.00 400.00 400.00 0.00%

Failure to comply with a Community Protection Notice * NB 100.00 100.00 100.00 0.00%

Failure to comply with a Public Space Protection Order * NB 100.00 100.00 100.00 0.00%

DISCRETIONARY & STATUTORY FEES 2023/24

Administration charge

Cost Recovery

Fixed Penalty Notices

P
age 97



Appendix D 
 

 
 

 
 
 

Other Charges

Item Description/Comments VAT Indicator Charge 
2021/22

Charge 
2022/23

Proposed 
Charge 
2023/24

Increase / 
Decrease on 

2022/23
£ £ £ %

Allotment Rents
Plot rent (per perch) EX 7.20 7.50 10.00 33.33%

Concessionary rate rent - (for the first 3 perch only) EX 3.60 3.75 5.00 33.33%

VAT Indicator:
NB = Non Business no VAT
EX = Exempt from VAT
VT = Exclusive of VAT

Other Notes

DISCRETIONARY & STATUTORY FEES 2023/24

*** New fee introduced

Fees where an * has been placed in the description/comments box were not detailed in the fees and charges prior to last year. 
** VAT rate depends whether relates to a cemetery or other open space.  Cemeteries are NB rate and other are VT standard rate

P
age 98



Appendix D 
 

 
 

 
 

Other Charges

Item Description/Comments VAT Indicator Charge 
2021/22

Charge 
2022/23

Proposed 
Charge 
2023/24

Increase / 
Decrease on 

2022/23
£ £ £ %

Memorial Benches 
Hereford Seat or similar style 15 year lease plus supply and Installation of bench NB/VT** 780.74 804.16 932.83 16.00%
Georgian Seat or similar style 15 year lease plus supply and Installation of bench NB/VT** 1016.61 1047.11 1214.65 16.00%
Cavendish Seat or similar style 15 year lease plus supply and Installation of bench NB/VT** 924.94 952.69 1105.12 16.00%
Montseny 1800 bench in Victoria Park 10 year lease plus supply and Installation of plaque NB/VT** 1250.00 0.00%
Recasting of memorial plaque Changing the inscription for example, adding an additional 

name
NB/VT** 257.50 265.23 307.66 16.00%

Extending the lease of a bench Extending the lease of the bench at the end of the initial 
15/10 year period for a period of 5 years (subject to 
condition)

NB/VT** 309.00 318.27 369.19 16.00%

Lower end of price scale NB/VT** 198.90 204.87 237.65 16.00%
Higher end of price scale NB/VT** 244.80 252.15 292.49 16.00%

Sponsor a tree NB/VT** 99.96 102.96 119.43 16.00%
Plant a woodland tree NB/VT** 25.50 26.26 30.46 15.99%

VAT Indicator:
NB = Non Business no VAT
EX = Exempt from VAT
VT = Exclusive of VAT

Other Notes

DISCRETIONARY & STATUTORY FEES 2023/24

Tree Planting 
Dedicate a tree

*** New fee introduced
** VAT rate depends whether relates to a cemetery or other open space.  Cemeteries are NB rate and other are VT standard rate
Fees where an * has been placed in the description/comments box were not detailed in the fees and charges prior to last year. 

P
age 99



Appendix D 
 

 

Item Description/Comments VAT Indicator Charge 
2021/22

Charge 
2022/23

Proposed 
Charge 
2023/24 

Increase / 
Decrease on 

2022/23
£ %

Courtside and Pitchside

use of 1 court VT 7.50 7.50 8.00 6.67%
use of 2 courts VT 15.00 15.00 16.00 6.67%
use of 3 courts VT 21.00 21.00 24.00 14.29%
use of 4 courts VT 30.00 30.00 32.00 6.67%
use of 5 and 6 courts VT 70.00 70.00 74.75 6.79%

use of 1 court VT 17.00 19.00 22.00 15.79%
use of 2 courts VT 23.00 25.00 29.00 16.00%
Use of courts 3,4 &5 VT 34.50 38.00 44.00 15.79%
use of all courts VT 70.00 79.00 91.75 16.14%

Football (3g) Football (3g) prices adult (full) VT 100.00 108.00 125.25 15.97%
Football (3g) prices junior (full) VT 80.00 84.00 97.50 16.07%
Football (3g) prices adult (one third) VT 33.33 33.33 38.75 16.26%
Football (3g) prices junior (one third) VT 26.67 26.67 31.00 16.24%
Football (3g) prices adult (half) VT 50.00 53.95 62.50 15.85%
Football (3g) prices junior (half) VT 40.00 42.00 48.70 15.95%
Match price adult (2hrs) VT n/a n/a 188.00
Match price junior (2hrs) VT n/a n/a 146.00

Football (grass) (per hour) Football (grass) pitches prices adult (Full) VT 60.00 66.00 76.50 15.91%
Football (grass) pitches prices junior (full) VT 50.00 55.00 64.00 16.36%
Football (grass) pitches prices juniors (half) VT 30.00 32.00 37.25 16.41%
Season matches (10) VT 600.00 660.00 765.50 15.98%

Meeting Room prices (per hour) VT n/a 22.00 25.50 15.91%
Notes

VAT Indicator:
NB = Non Business no VAT
EX = Exempt from VAT
VT = Exclusive of VAT

* inc floodlight use added prices for Sept 2021 

Other Charges

Football prices (per hour)

Meeting Room

Netball prices (per hour)

Tennis courts prices (per hour)

P
age 100



Appendix D 
 

 

Planning Services

Item Description/Comments VAT 
Indicator

Charge 
2021/22

Charge 
2022/23

Proposed 
Charge 
2023/24

Increase / 
Decrease on 

2022/23
£ £ £ %

Compliance Check For domestic Development VT 93.00 96.00 111.00 15.63%

( Confirmation that a development has been built in 
accordance with the approved plans)

For a Domestic proposal that requires a site visit VT 180.00 185.00 215.00 16.22%

Research of Planning History To confirm whether or not permitted development rights have 
been removed from a dwelling

VT 47.00 48.00 56.00 16.67%

Formal Complaint under High Hedges Legalisation VT 512.00 527.00 611.00 15.94%

Householder extensions, alterations and others Written advice only VT 140.00

1st meeting & written advice VT 280.00
Minor developments 1-4 dwellings Written advice only VT 400.00

1st meeting & written advice VT 600.00
Minor developments 1-4 dwellings Written advice only VT 700.00

1st meeting & written advice VT 1,000.00
Small major developments 10-49 dwellings Written advice only VT 1,500.00

1st meeting & written advice VT 2,500.00
Large major developments 50+ dwellings 1st meeting & written advice VT 4,000.00
Follow up advice 50% of original fee VT 50%
Strategic developments in excess of 250 dwellings 
including mixed uses

1st meeting & written advice - 5000 plus PPA with 75% follow up 
fees  to be agreed on a case by case basis

VT 5000+ (see description)

DISCRETIONARY & STATUTORY FEES 2023/24

Pre-Application Planning & Policy Advice - Agreed by Cabinet November 2022

P
age 101



Appendix D 
 

 
 
 

Planning Services

Item Description/Comments VAT 
Indicator

Charge 
2021/22

Charge 
2022/23

Proposed 
Charge 
2023/24

Increase / 
Decrease on 

2022/23
£ £ £ %

PPAs 1st meeting & written advice - Negotiable depending on what 
service the applicant demands, such as a dedicated resource 

VT Negotiable

Commerical up to 250sqm Written advice only VT 150.00

1st meeting & written advice VT 300.00
Commerical 250 to 500sqm Written advice only VT 300.00

1st meeting & written advice VT 500.00
Commerical 500 to 1000sqm Written advice only VT 900.00

1st meeting & written advice VT 1,200.00
Commerical over 1000sqm 1st meeting & written advice VT 1200 + 500 per 500sqm

Follow up advice Written advice only - 50% of original fee VT 50%

1st meeting & written advice - 50% of original fee VT 50%
Charities Written advice only  - Half the fee VT Half

1st meeting & written advice  - Half the fee VT Half
Tree works advice Written advice only VT 100.00

1st meeting & written advice VT 200.00
Written advice only -  Half the relevant pre-application fee VT Half

1st meeting & written advice -  Half the relevant pre-application 
fee

VT Half

All other Statutory charges apply 

VAT Indicator:
NB = Non Business no VAT
EX = Exempt from VAT
VT = Inclusive of VAT

DISCRETIONARY & STATUTORY FEES 2023/24

Pre-Application Planning & Policy Advice - Agreed by Cabinet November 2022

P
age 102



Appendix D 
 

 
 
 

Item Statutory or 
Discretionary Description/Comments VAT 

Indicator Charge 2021/22 Charge 2022/23 Charge 
2023/24

Increase / 
Decrease on 

2022/23
£ £ £ %

Licensing Act 
Statutory Fee band - A

NB
100.00 100.00 100.00 0.00%

Fee band - B
NB

190.00 190.00 190.00 0.00%

Fee band - C
NB

315.00 315.00 315.00 0.00%

Fee band - D - if exclusively or primarily for supply, 
sale or consumption of alcohol double the fee

NB

450.00 450.00 450.00 0.00%

Fee band - E - if exclusively or primarily for supply, 
sale or consumption of alcohol triple the fee

NB

635.00 635.00 635.00 0.00%

Premises allowing 5000+ people attract additional 
fees

Premises where only licensable activity is regulated 
entertainment & premises is education, church hall, 
village hall or similar

Statutory Fee band - A NB 70.00 70.00 70.00 0.00%

Fee band - B NB 180.00 180.00 180.00 0.00%

Fee band - C NB 295.00 295.00 295.00 0.00%

Fee band - D - if exclusively or primarily for supply, 
sale or consumption of alcohol double the fee

NB 320.00 320.00 320.00 0.00%

Fee band - E - if exclusively or primarily for supply, 
sale or consumption of alcohol triple the fee

NB 350.00 350.00 350.00 0.00%

Premises allowing 5000+ people attract additional 
fees

DISCRETIONARY & STATUTORY FEES 2023/24

LICENSING FEES

Premises - new application

See regulation for detail

No fee payable

Premises - annual fee

See regulation for detail

P
age 103



Appendix D 
 

 
 

Item Statutory or 
Discretionary Description/Comments VAT 

Indicator Charge 2021/22 Charge 2022/23 Charge 
2023/24

Increase / 
Decrease on 

2022/23
£ £ £ %

Licensing Act 
Personal Statutory NB 37.00 37.00 37.00 0.00%

Temporary Event Notice Statutory NB 21.00 21.00 21.00 0.00%

Change of address notification Statutory NB 10.50 10.50 10.50 0.00%

Replacement licence etc (due to loss/theft etc) Statutory NB 10.50 10.50 10.50 0.00%

Designated premises supervisor variation Statutory NB 23.00 23.00 23.00 0.00%

Premises licence transfer Statutory NB 23.00 23.00 23.00 0.00%

Club registration change Statutory NB 10.50 10.50 10.50 0.00%

Club name or rules notification Statutory NB 10.50 10.50 10.50 0.00%

Interim Authority Notice Statutory NB 23.00 23.00 23.00 0.00%

Provisional Statement Statutory NB 315.00 315.00 315.00 0.00%

Freeholder notification of licensing matters Statutory NB 21.00 21.00 21.00 0.00%

Minor Variation Statutory NB 89.00 89.00 89.00 0.00%

Check & send (pre-app) service Discretionary VT 120.00 120.00 120.00 0.00%

Discretionary New Licence (2 year licence)
NB

977.00 977.00 977.00 0.00%

Discretionary Renewal (2 year licence)
NB

669.00 669.00 669.00 0.00%

Discretionary Variation
NB

344.00 344.00 344.00 0.00%

Discretionary Concurrent 2nd application 
NB

87.00 87.00 87.00 0.00%

Discretionary Consideration
NB

1,218.00 1,218.00 1,218.00 0.00%

Discretionary Licence (4 year licence)
NB

2,008.00 2,008.00 2,008.00 0.00%

Discretionary Renewal (6 year licence)
NB

3,013.00 3,013.00 3,013.00 0.00%

Discretionary Dispensation - 14(1)(a)
NB

491.00 491.00 491.00 0.00%

DISCRETIONARY & STATUTORY FEES 2023/24

LICENSING FEES

Animal Welfare and Public Health Licences
Dangerous Wild Animals

Zoos 

P
age 104



Appendix D 
 

 
 
 

Item Statutory or 
Discretionary Description/Comments VAT 

Indicator Charge 2021/22 Charge 2022/23 Charge 
2023/24

Increase / 
Decrease on 

2022/23
£ £ £ %

Boarding of animals Discretionary (New app) Application fee - up to 50 animals

NB

260.00 260.00 260.00 0.00%

Discretionary (New app) Grant fee - up to 50 animals

NB

200.00 200.00 200.00 0.00%

Discretionary (New app) Application fee - 51 or more animals
NB

295.00 295.00 295.00 0.00%

Discretionary (New app) Grant fee - 51 or more animals

NB

230.00 230.00 230.00 0.00%

Discretionary (Renewal) Application fee - up to 50 animals

NB

225.00 225.00 225.00 0.00%

Discretionary (Renewal) Grant fee - up to 50 animals

NB

200.00 200.00 200.00 0.00%

Discretionary (Renewal) Application fee - 51 or more animals

NB

255.00 255.00 255.00 0.00%

Discretionary (Renewal) Grant fee - 51 or more animals

NB

230.00 230.00 230.00 0.00%

Selling of Animals Discretionary (New app) Application fee

NB

280.00 280.00 280.00 0.00%

Discretionary (New app) Grant fee 

NB

215.00 215.00 215.00 0.00%

Discretionary (Renewal) Application fee

NB

240.00 240.00 240.00 0.00%

Discretionary (Renewal) Grant fee
NB

215.00 215.00 215.00 0.00%

DISCRETIONARY & STATUTORY FEES 2023/24

LICENSING FEES

Animal Welfare and Public Health Licences

P
age 105



Appendix D 
 

 
 
 

Item Statutory or 
Discretionary Description/Comments VAT 

Indicator Charge 2021/22 Charge 2022/23 Charge 
2023/24

Increase / 
Decrease on 

2022/23
£ £ £ %

Home boarding or day care Discretionary (New app) Application fee
NB

245.00 245.00 245.00 0.00%

Discretionary (New app) Grant fee 
NB

180.00 180.00 180.00 0.00%

Discretionary (Renewal) Application fee
NB

210.00 210.00 210.00 0.00%

Discretionary (Renewal) Grant fee
NB

180.00 180.00 180.00 0.00%

Riding Establishments Discretionary (New app) Application fee - up to 10 horses

NB

280.00 280.00 280.00 0.00%

Discretionary (New app) Grant fee - up to 10 horses
NB

215.00 215.00 215.00 0.00%

Discretionary (New app) Application fee - 11 or more horses

NB

310.00 310.00 310.00 0.00%

Discretionary (New app) Grant fee - 11 or more horses
NB

245.00 245.00 245.00 0.00%

Discretionary (Renewal) Application fee - up to 10 horses

NB

240.00 240.00 240.00 0.00%

Discretionary (Renewal) Grant fee - up to 10 horses
NB

215.00 215.00 215.00 0.00%

Discretionary (Renewal) Application fee - 11 or more horses
NB

270.00 270.00 270.00 0.00%

Discretionary (Renewal) Grant fee - 11 or more horses
NB

245.00 245.00 245.00 0.00%

Keeping animals for exhibition Discretionary (New app) Application fee
NB

230.00 230.00 230.00 0.00%

Discretionary (New app) Grant fee 
NB

165.00 165.00 165.00 0.00%

Discretionary (Renewal) Application fee
NB

190.00 190.00 190.00 0.00%

Discretionary (Renewal) Grant fee
NB

165.00 165.00 165.00 0.00%

DISCRETIONARY & STATUTORY FEES 2023/24

LICENSING FEES

Animal Welfare and Public Health Licences

P
age 106



Appendix D 
 

 
 

Item Statutory or 
Discretionary Description/Comments VAT 

Indicator Charge 2021/22 Charge 2022/23 Charge 
2023/24

Increase / 
Decrease on 

2022/23
£ £ £ %

Breeding Establishments Discretionary (New app) Application fee - up to 5 dogs
NB

230.00 230.00 230.00 0.00%

Discretionary (New app) Grant fee - up to 5 dogs
NB

165.00 165.00 165.00 0.00%

Discretionary (New app) Application fee - 6-10 dogs
NB

245.00 245.00 245.00 0.00%

Discretionary (New app) Grant fee - 6-10 dogs
NB

180.00 180.00 180.00 0.00%

Discretionary (New app) Application fee - 11+ dogs
NB

260.00 260.00 260.00 0.00%

Discretionary (New app) Grant fee - 11+ dogs
NB

200.00 200.00 200.00 0.00%

Discretionary (Renewal) Application fee - up to 5 dogs
NB

190.00 190.00 190.00 0.00%

Discretionary (Renewal) Grant fee - up to 5 dogs
NB

165.00 165.00 165.00 0.00%

Discretionary (Renewal) Application fee - 6-10 dogs
NB

210.00 210.00 210.00 0.00%

Discretionary (Renewal) Grant fee - 6-10 dogs
NB

180.00 180.00 180.00 0.00%

Discretionary (Renewal) Application fee - 11+ dogs
NB

225.00 225.00 225.00 0.00%

Discretionary (Renewal) Grant fee - 11+ dogs
NB

200.00 200.00 200.00 0.00%

Variation to increase animals or activities Discretionary Application fee
NB

90.00 90.00 90.00 0.00%

Discretionary Grant fee
NB

40.00 40.00 40.00 0.00%

Variation to reduce animals or activities Discretionary Grant fee
NB

40.00 40.00 40.00 0.00%

DISCRETIONARY & STATUTORY FEES 2023/24

LICENSING FEES

Animal Welfare and Public Health Licences

P
age 107



Appendix D 
 

 
 

Item Statutory or 
Discretionary Description/Comments VAT 

Indicator Charge 2021/22 Charge 2022/23 Charge 
2023/24

Increase / 
Decrease on 

2022/23
£ £ £ %

Request for re-rating inspection
Discretionary Application fee

NB
90.00 90.00 90.00 0.00%

Discretionary Grant fee
NB

40.00 40.00 40.00 0.00%

Public Health Licences *
Discretionary Initial registration practitioner/premises NB 177.00 150.00 150.00 0.00%

Discretionary Additional practitioner/premises NB 109.00 70.00 70.00 0.00%

Discretionary Minor variation
NB

30.00 30.50 30.50 0.00%

Discretionary Initial registration practitioner/premises
NB

200.00 150.00 150.00 0.00%

Discretionary Additional practitioner/premises
NB

109.00 70.00 70.00 0.00%

Discretionary Minor variation
NB

30.50 30.50 30.50 0.00%

Electrolysis Discretionary Initial registration practitioner/premises
NB

200.00 150.00 150.00 0.00%

Discretionary Additional practitioner/premises
NB

109.00 70.00 70.00 0.00%

Discretionary Minor variation
NB

30.50 30.50 30.50 0.00%

Discretionary Initial registration practitioner/premises
NB

200.00 150.00 150.00 0.00%

Discretionary Additional practitioner/premises
NB

109.00 70.00 70.00 0.00%

Discretionary Minor variation
NB

30.50 30.50 30.50 0.00%

Discretionary Initial registration practitioner/premises
NB

200.00 150.00 150.00 0.00%

Discretionary Additional practitioner/premises
NB

30.50 70.00 70.00 0.00%

Discretionary Minor variation
NB

30.50 30.50 30.50 0.00%

Cosmetic Piercing (excluding ear piercing)

DISCRETIONARY & STATUTORY FEES 2023/24

LICENSING FEES

Animal Welfare and Public Health Licences

Acupuncture

Tattooing (including semi-permanent skin-colouring)

Ear Piercing

P
age 108



Appendix D 
 

 
 

Item Statutory or 
Discretionary Description/Comments VAT 

Indicator Charge 2021/22 Charge 2022/23 Charge 
2023/24

Increase / 
Decrease on 

2022/23
£ £ £ %

Public Health Licences *
One You Shop Hire Fee - general Discretionary Any space subject to availability and a refundable 

deposit may be requested. To be introduced from 
April 2023: the venue is free for registered charities, 
commissioned services, the public sector and those 
organisations with a demonstrable public benefit in 
line with Ashford Borough Council’s corporate plans. 
Donations from this group are welcome.

Discretionary Downstairs - full space - full day
NB

35.00

Discretionary Downstairs - full space - half day
NB

17.50

Discretionary Consultation room/space small - full day NB
10.00

Discretionary Consultation room/space small - half day NB
5.00

Discretionary Consultation room/space large - full day NB
15.00

Discretionary Consultation room/space large - half day NB
7.50

Discretionary Downstairs kitchen - full day NB
20.00

Discretionary Downstairs kitchen - half day NB
10.00

Discretionary Upstairs (full space) - full day NB
35.00

Discretionary Upstairs (full space) - half day NB
17.50

Discretionary Upstairs (activity space) - full day NB
20.00

Discretionary Upstairs (activity space) - half day NB
10.00

Discretionary Upstairs (meeting space) - full day NB
17.50

Discretionary Upstairs (meeting space) - half day NB
8.75

Discretionary Entire facility (Mondays, weekday evenings, 
Saturday afternoon and Sundays only) - full day NB

70.00

Discretionary Entire facility (Mondays, weekday evenings, 
Saturday afternoon and Sundays only) - part day NB

35.00

DISCRETIONARY & STATUTORY FEES 2023/24

LICENSING FEES

P
age 109



Appendix D 
 

 

Item Statutory or 
Discretionary Description/Comments VAT 

Indicator Charge 2021/22 Charge 2022/23 Charge 
2023/24

Increase / 
Decrease on 

2022/23
£ £ £ %

Sex Establishments Licence
Discretionary Grant

NB
3,499.00 3,499.00 3,499.00 0.00%

Discretionary Renewal
NB

334.00 334.00 387.00 15.87%

Discretionary Transfer
NB

334.00 334.00 387.00 15.87%

Street Trading and Consents
Street Trading Licence Discretionary Yearly NB 81.00 83.00 96.00 15.66%

Ashford Town Market pitch fee (per ft) Discretionary Collected by DD NB 1.10 1.10 1.30 18.18%

Casual Street Trading Licence/Consent For One Off 
Event (per stall)

Discretionary Grant NB 21.00 21.50 25.00 16.28%

Casual Street Trading Licence for Market Discretionary Monthly NB 31.00 32.00 37.00 15.63%

Street Trading Consent Discretionary Yearly NB 81.00 83.00 96.00 15.66%

New Site Street Trading Consent - static Discretionary Grant NB 113.00 116.00 135.00 16.38%

New Site Street Trading Consent - short term static Discretionary Grant - 1 site £100 (£25 extra for each additional 
site, i.e. £125 for 2 sites, £150 for 3 sites

NB £106 per site plus 
£28 per additional 

site

£106 per site plus 
£28 per additional 

site

£135 per site 
plus £35 per 

additional site

Hawker Street Trading Consent Discretionary Yearly NB 81.00 83.00 96.00 15.66%

Town Centre Commercial Booking Discretionary Daily (Monday - Friday, Sunday).For 4 consecutive 
days deduct £100 from total cost 5 consecutive days 
deduct £150, and for 6 consecutive days deduct 
£200)

NB 156.00 156.00 181.00 16.03%

Town Centre Commercial Booking Discretionary Small, local businesses (and charity collections by 
professional canvassing companies) 1-7 day block 
(flat fee)

NB 40.00 40.00 47.00 17.50%

Town Centre Commercial Booking Discretionary 1 day (Saturday) NB 205.00 205.00 238.00 16.10%

DISCRETIONARY & STATUTORY FEES 2023/24

LICENSING FEES

Sex Shops, Sex Cinemas and Sexual Entertainment 
Venue Licences

P
age 110



Appendix D 
 

 
 

Item Statutory or 
Discretionary Description/Comments VAT 

Indicator Charge 2021/22 Charge 2022/23 Charge 
2023/24

Increase / 
Decrease on 

2022/23
£ £ £ %

Street Trading Consent Rents 
Furners Wood Lay-by - cherry stall Discretionary Monthly rents NB 163.00 168.00 195.00 16.07%

Furners Wood Lay-by - hot food Discretionary Monthly rents NB 244.00 251.00 291.00 15.94%

Great Chart - A28 Tenterden bound - Food Discretionary Monthly rents NB 244.00 251.00 291.00 15.94%

Great Chart - A28 Tenterden bound - Non Food Discretionary Monthly rents NB 163.00 168.00 295.00 75.60%

Great Chart - A28 Ashford bound - Food Discretionary Monthly rents NB 244.00 251.00 291.00 15.94%

Great Chart - A28 Ashford bound Non Food Discretionary Monthly rents NB 163.00 168.00 195.00 16.07%

Hothfield - A20 Maidstone bound - Non Food Discretionary Monthly rents NB 163.00 168.00 195.00 16.07%

Hothfield - A20 Maidstone bound - Food Discretionary Monthly rents NB 244.00 251.00 291.00 15.94%

Hothfield - A20 Ashford bound - Non Food Discretionary Monthly rents NB 163.00 168.00 195.00 16.07%

Hothfield - A20 Ashford bound - Food Discretionary Monthly rents NB 244.00 251.00 291.00 15.94%

Henwood Discretionary Monthly rents NB 224.00 231.00 270.00 16.88%

Recreation Ground Road car park Discretionary Monthly rents NB 413.00 420.00 420.00 0.00%

Potters Corner, Hothfield Discretionary Monthly rents NB 244.00 251.00 291.00 15.94%

Hall Avenue, Sevington Discretionary Max 28 days use per year NB 261.00 269.00 312.00 15.99%

Chilham Mill Discretionary NB 244.00 251.00 291.00 15.94%

DISCRETIONARY & STATUTORY FEES 2023/24

LICENSING FEES

P
age 111



Appendix D 
 

 

Item Statutory or 
Discretionary Description/Comments VAT 

Indicator Charge 2021/22 Charge 2022/23 Charge 
2023/24

Increase / 
Decrease on 

2022/23
£ £ £ %

Council Land
Event application fee for charity and community on 
Council land

Discretionary It should be noted that there are a number of funds 
and grants available to support charities and 
community events to potentially offset relevant fees, 
details will be provided on the council website 

NB 40.00 40.00 40.00 0.00%

Event application fee for commercial events on Council 
land

Discretionary per application NB 40.00 40.00 40.00 0.00%

Commercial: Small Discretionary per operating day NB 292.00 292.00 358.00 22.60%

Discretionary per non-operating day NB 200.00 200.00 252.00 26.00%

Commercial: Medium Discretionary per operating day NB 600.00 600.00 716.00 19.33%

Discretionary per non-operating day NB 200.00 200.00 252.00 26.00%

Commercial: Large Discretionary per operating day NB 1,200.00 1,200.00 1,412.00 17.67%

Discretionary per non-operating day NB 200.00 200.00 252.00 26.00%

Safety Advisory Group
Road closure application s21 TPCA 1847 Discretionary per application NB 25.00 25.00 75.00 0.00%

Event application fee for charity and community not on 
Council land

Discretionary It should be noted that there are a number of funds 
and grants available to support charities and 
community events to potentially offset relevant fees, 
details will be provided on the council website 

NB 40.00 40.00 20.00 -50.00%

Event application fee for commercial events not on 
Council land

Discretionary per application NB 40.00 40.00 40.00 0.00%

Food Hygiene
Level 1 course Discretionary EX 35.00 35.00 35.00 0.00%

Level 2 course Discretionary EX 48.00 48.00 48.00 0.00%

Re-sit (at time of next course) Discretionary EX 18.00 18.00 18.00 0.00%

Re-sit (oral) Discretionary EX 42.00 42.00 42.00 0.00%

Food Safety Charges
Food surrender inspection and issuing of certificate Discretionary Set fee for first hour, then officers hourly rate 

thereafter. 
NB 100.00 106.00 123.00 16%

Disposal/tipping costs charge at cost Charged by tip NB Cost recovery Cost recovery Cost recovery N/A

Food Hygiene Rating Scheme (FHRS) re-inspection to 
rescore following request from the food business 
operator

Discretionary NB 90.00 90.00 105.00 17%

Food safety advisory visits - to include a 2 hour 
consultation, follow up reports and supporting 
documentation.

Discretionary NB 120.00 120.00 120.00 N/A

Food Export - confirmation enforcement / compliance. 
(Not EHC) 

Discretionary Original with seal NB 75.00 75.00 75.00 0.00%

DISCRETIONARY & STATUTORY FEES 2023/24

LICENSING FEES

P
age 112



Appendix D 
 

 

Item Statutory or 
Discretionary Description/Comments VAT 

Indicator Charge 2021/22 Charge 2022/23 Charge 
2023/24

Increase / 
Decrease on 

2022/23
£ £ £ %

Private Water Supplies
Private Water Supplies
(England) Regulations 2018 Risk assessment

Statutory Time taken to carry out the risk assessment 
(including travel and administration) at the officers 
hourly rate. This must be carried out at least every 
five years for each supply.

NB Up to £500 Up to £500 Cost recovery

N/A
Private Water Supplies
(England) Regulations 2018 Sampling visit

Statutory Time taken to carry out the sampling (including travel 
and administration) at the (sampling and 
administration) officers' hourly rate. Charge for a visit 
and to take a sample + administrative costs 
(including arranging with laboratory and invoicing).

NB Up to £100 Up to £100 Cost recovery

N/A
Private Water Supplies
(England) Regulations 2018 Investigation e.g. of a 
complaint or a breach of a regulatory standard

Statutory Time taken to carry out the investigation (including 
travel and administration) at the officers hourly rate.

NB Up to £100 Up to £100 Cost recovery

N/A
Private Water Supplies
(England) Regulations 2018 Granting an authorisation

Statutory Time taken to carry out the work involved in granting 
an authorisation at the officers and administrative 
officers hourly rates. This follows an application by 
the owner of a supply for permission to breach a 
standard temporarily whilst remedial work is carried 
out

NB Up to £100 Up to £100 Cost recovery

N/A
Private Water Supplies
(England) Regulations 2018 Sample analysis at a 
laboratory

Statutory Actual charge levied by the laboratory up to the 
maximum. Check monitoring is carried out to ensure 
that water complies with standards. Where possible 
it is carried out at the same time as any requirement 
for audit monitoring, to keep cost down. Single/small 
supply rates £25 and large/commercial supplies 
£100.

NB Up to £100 Up to £100 Cost recovery

N/A
Miscellaneous
Scrap Metal Site Licence Discretionary NB 344.00 354.00 411.00 16.10%

Scrap Metal Collectors Licence Discretionary NB 231.00 237.00 275.00 16.03%

Scrap Metal Site Licence - Renewal Discretionary NB 231.00 237.00 275.00 16.03%

Scrap Metal Collectors Licence - Renewal Discretionary NB 115.00 118.00 137.00 16.10%

Scrap Metal Variations Discretionary NB 87.00 89.00 103.00 15.73%

Scrap Metal Replacement Licence Discretionary NB 12.50 12.50 14.50 16.00%

Distribution of free printer material - week permit Discretionary NB 30.00 31.00 36.00 16.13%

Distribution of free printer material - month permit Discretionary NB 55.00 57.00 66.00 15.79%

Distribution of free printer material - year permit Discretionary NB 100.00 103.00 119.00 15.53%

DISCRETIONARY & STATUTORY FEES 2023/24

LICENSING FEES

P
age 113



Appendix D 
 

 

Item Statutory or 
Discretionary Description/Comments VAT 

Indicator Charge 2021/22 Charge 2022/23 Charge 
2023/24

Increase / 
Decrease on 

2022/23
£ £ £ %

Gambling Act 
New small casino Statutory 

Maximum
New application NB 7,316.00 7,535.00 8,000.00 6.17%

Annual fee NB 4,153.00 4,277.00 4,962.00 16.02%

Variation NB 2,995.00 3,084.00 3,578.00 16.02%

Transfer NB 1,741.00 1,794.00 1,800.00 0.33%

Re-instatement NB 1,463.00 1,507.00 1,749.00 16.06%

Provisional statement NB 7,316.00 7,536.00 8,000.00 6.16%

Provisional statement holders NB 2,599.00 2,677.00 3,000.00 12.07%

Copy licence NB 25.00 25.00 25.00 0.00%

Notification of change NB 50.00 50.00 50.00 0.00%

New application NB 8,704.00 8,966.00 10,000.00 11.53%

Annual fee NB 8,374.00 8,626.00 10,000.00 15.93%

Variation NB 3,958.00 4,077.00 4,730.00 16.02%

Transfer NB 2,044.00 2,106.00 2,150.00 2.09%

Re-instatement NB 2,150.00 2,150.00 2,150.00 0.00%

Provisional statement NB 8,753.00 9,016.00 10,000.00 10.91%

Provisional statement holders NB 4,299.00 4,428.00 5,000.00 12.92%

Copy licence NB 25.00 25.00 25.00 0.00%

Notification of change NB 50.00 50.00 50.00 0.00%

New application NB 13,787.00 14,201.00 15,000.00 5.63%

Annual fee NB 12,929.00 13,317.00 15,000.00 12.64%

Variation NB 6,458.00 6,652.00 7,500.00 12.75%

Transfer NB 4,710.00 4,852.00 5,629.00 16.01%

Re-instatement NB 4,710.00 4,852.00 5,629.00 16.01%

Provisional statement NB 13,787.00 14,201.00 15,000.00 5.63%

Provisional statement holders NB 6,713.00 6,915.00 8,000.00 15.69%

Copy licence NB 25.00 25.00 25.00 0.00%

Notification of change NB 50.00 50.00 50.00 0.00%

DISCRETIONARY & STATUTORY FEES 2023/24

LICENSING FEES

New large casino Statutory 
Maximum

Regional casino Statutory 
Maximum

P
age 114



Appendix D 
 

 

Item Statutory or 
Discretionary Description/Comments VAT 

Indicator Charge 2021/22 Charge 2022/23 Charge 
2023/24

Increase / 
Decrease on 

2022/23
£ £ £ %

Gambling Act 
New application NB 2,505.00 2,581.00 2,994.00 16.00%

Annual fee NB 780.00 804.00 933.00 16.04%

Variation NB 1,715.00 1,750.00 1,750.00 0.00%

Transfer NB 952.00 981.00 1,138.00 16.00%

Re-instatement NB 952.00 981.00 1,138.00 16.00%

Provisional statement NB 2,505.00 2,581.00 2,994.00 16.00%

Provisional statement holders NB 1,035.00 1,067.00 1,200.00 12.46%

Copy licence NB 25.00 25.00 25.00 0.00%

Notification of change NB 50.00 50.00 50.00 0.00%

Betting Premises (excluding tracks) Statutory 
Maximum

New application NB 2,549.00 2,626.00 3,000.00 14.24%

Annual fee NB 506.00 522.00 600.00 14.94%

Variation NB 1,448.00 1,492.00 1,500.00 0.54%

Transfer NB 952.00 981.00 1,138.00 16.00%

Re-instatement NB 952.00 981.00 1,138.00 16.00%

Provisional statement NB 2,505.00 2,581.00 2,994.00 16.00%

Provisional statement holders NB 1,035.00 1,067.00 1,200.00 12.46%

Copy licence NB 25.00 25.00 25.00 0.00%

Notification of change NB 50.00 50.00 50.00 0.00%

New application NB 1,959.00 2,018.00 2,341.00 16.01%

Annual fee NB 780.00 804.00 933.00 16.04%

Variation NB 1,250.00 1,250.00 1,250.00 0.00%

Transfer NB 950.00 950.00 950.00 0.00%

Re-instatement NB 950.00 979.00 950.00 -2.96%

Provisional statement NB 1,959.00 2,018.00 2,341.00 16.01%

Provisional statement holders NB 950.00 950.00 950.00 0.00%

Copy licence NB 25.00 25.00 25.00 0.00%

Notification of change NB 50.00 50.00 50.00 0.00%

DISCRETIONARY & STATUTORY FEES 2023/24

LICENSING FEES

Bingo club Statutory 
Maximum

Tracks Statutory 
Maximum

P
age 115



Appendix D 
 

 

Item Statutory or 
Discretionary Description/Comments VAT 

Indicator Charge 2021/22 Charge 2022/23 Charge 
2023/24

Increase / 
Decrease on 

2022/23
£ £ £ %

Gambling Act 
Family Entertainment Centres New application NB 1,959.00 2,000.00 2,000.00 0.00%

Annual fee NB 674.00 695.00 750.00 7.91%

Variation NB 886.00 913.00 1,000.00 9.53%

Transfer NB 950.00 950.00 950.00 0.00%

Re-instatement NB 950.00 950.00 950.00 0.00%

Provisional statement NB 1,959.00 2,000.00 2,000.00 0.00%

Provisional statement holders NB 857.00 883.00 950.00 7.59%

Copy licence NB 25.00 25.00 25.00 0.00%

Notification of change NB 50.00 50.00 50.00 0.00%

New application NB 1,959.00 2,000.00 2,000.00 0.00%

Annual fee NB 785.00 809.00 939.00 16.07%

Variation NB 886.00 913.00 1,000.00 9.53%

Transfer NB 952.00 981.00 1,138.00 16.00%

Re-instatement NB 952.00 981.00 1,138.00 16.00%

Provisional statement NB 1,959.00 2,000.00 2,000.00 0.00%

Provisional statement holders NB 1,032.00 1,063.00 1,200.00 12.89%

Copy licence NB 25.00 25.00 25.00 0.00%

Notification of change NB 50.00 50.00 50.00 0.00%

New application NB 216.00 223.00 259.00 16.14%

Copy licence NB 25.00 25.00 25.00 0.00%

Licensed Premises Gaming Machine Permit Statutory 
Maximum

Grant NB 150.00 150.00 150.00 0.00%

Existing operator grant NB 100.00 100.00 100.00 0.00%

Variation NB 100.00 100.00 100.00 0.00%

Transfer NB 25.00 25.00 25.00 0.00%

Annual Fee NB 50.00 50.00 50.00 0.00%

Change of name NB 25.00 25.00 25.00 0.00%

Copy of permit NB 15.00 15.00 15.00 0.00%

DISCRETIONARY & STATUTORY FEES 2023/24

LICENSING FEES

Adult Gaming Centre Statutory 
Maximum

Statutory 
Maximum

Temporary Use Notices Statutory 
Maximum

P
age 116



Appendix D 
 

 

Item Statutory or 
Discretionary Description/Comments VAT 

Indicator Charge 2021/22 Charge 2022/23 Charge 
2023/24

Increase / 
Decrease on 

2022/23
£ £ £ %

Gambling Act 
New Application NB 40.00 40.00 40.00 0.00%

Renewal NB 20.00 20.00 20.00 0.00%

Licensed Premises Automatic Notification Process Statutory 
Maximum

Notification NB 50.00 50.00 50.00 0.00%

Grant NB 200.00 200.00 200.00 0.00%

Grant (Club Premises Certificate holder) NB 100.00 100.00 100.00 0.00%

Existing operator grant NB 100.00 100.00 100.00 0.00%

Variation NB 100.00 100.00 100.00 0.00%

Renewal NB 200.00 200.00 200.00 0.00%

Renewal (Club Premises Certificate holder) NB 100.00 100.00 100.00 0.00%

Annual Fee NB 50.00 50.00 50.00 0.00%

Copy of permit NB 15.00 15.00 15.00 0.00%

Grant NB 200.00 200.00 200.00 0.00%

Grant (Club Premises Certificate holder) NB 100.00 100.00 100.00 0.00%

Existing operator grant NB 100.00 100.00 100.00 0.00%

Variation NB 100.00 100.00 100.00 0.00%

Renewal NB 200.00 200.00 200.00 0.00%

Renewal (Club Premises Certificate holder) NB 100.00 100.00 100.00 0.00%

Annual Fee NB 50.00 50.00 50.00 0.00%

Copy of permit NB 15.00 15.00 15.00 0.00%

Grant NB 300.00 300.00 300.00 0.00%

Renewal NB 300.00 300.00 300.00 0.00%

Existing operator grant NB 100.00 100.00 100.00 0.00%

Change of name NB 25.00 25.00 25.00 0.00%

Copy of permit NB 15.00 15.00 15.00 0.00%

DISCRETIONARY & STATUTORY FEES 2023/24

LICENSING FEES

Lottery Registration Statutory 
Maximum

Club Gaming Permits Statutory 
Maximum

Club Machine Permits Statutory 
Maximum

Family Entertainment Centre Gaming Machine Permit Statutory 
Maximum

P
age 117



Appendix D 
 

 

Item Statutory or 
Discretionary Description/Comments VAT 

Indicator Charge 2021/22 Charge 2022/23 Charge 
2023/24

Increase / 
Decrease on 

2022/23
£ £ £ %

Gambling Act 
Grant NB 300.00 300.00 300.00 0.00%

Renewal NB 300.00 300.00 300.00 0.00%

Existing operator grant NB 100.00 100.00 100.00 0.00%

Change of name NB 25.00 25.00 25.00 0.00%

Copy of permit NB 15.00 15.00 15.00 0.00%

Annual Fee NB 20.00 20.00 20.00 0.00%

Hackney Carriage/Private Hire *
For 1 year NB 72.00 75.00 92.00 22.67%

For 3 years NB 149.00 154.00 190.00 23.38%

Vehicle Licence Discretionary New
NB

335.00 346.00 346.00 0.00%

Renewal 
NB

300.00 305.00 305.00 0.00%

Additional Hackney Carriage & Private Hire Drivers 
licence 

Discretionary NB 31.00 32.00 37.00 15.63%

1-3 Vehicles NB 143.00 148.00 200.00 35.14%

4-10 Vehicles NB 474.00 483.00 590.00 22.15%

11-20 Vehicles NB 947.00 960.00 1,114.00 16.04%

Drivers Badge (replacement) Discretionary NB 12.50 13.00 15.00 15.38%

Fee for Returned (Bounced) Cheques Discretionary NB 17.50 19.00 22.00 15.79%

Transfer of vehicle licence (including plate) Discretionary NB 35.00 38.00 46.00 21.05%

Replacement Plate (internal/external) Discretionary NB 21.00 22.00 26.00 18.18%

Discretionary Category 1-3 NB 141.00 146.00 200.00 36.99%

Discretionary Category 4-10 NB 328.00 334.00 415.00 24.25%

Discretionary Category 11-20 NB 475.00 483.00 560.00 15.94%

Replacement Licence Discretionary NB 12.50 13.00 15.00 15.38%

Hackney carriage knowledge test Discretionary NB 59.00 61.00 71.00 16.39%

DBS Set by Home 
Office

NB 40.00 38.00 38.00 0.00%

DISCRETIONARY & STATUTORY FEES 2023/24

LICENSING FEES

Prize Gaming Permits Statutory 
Maximum

Hackney Carriage & Private Hire Drivers Licence Discretionary

Private Hire Operators Discretionary

Additional Vehicle under an Operators Licence

P
age 118



Appendix D 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 

Item Statutory or 
Discretionary Description/Comments VAT 

Indicator Charge 2021/22 Charge 2022/23 Charge 
2023/24

Increase / 
Decrease on 

2022/23
£ £ £ %

Environmental Protection

Contaminated land conveyance searches Discretionary NB 25.00 25.00 25.00 0.00%

VAT Indicator:
NB = Non Business no VAT
EX = Exempt from VAT
VT = Exclusive of VAT

*  Last year saw a large overhaul of charges hence the variances on some fees. 

DISCRETIONARY & STATUTORY FEES 2023/24

LICENSING FEES

P
age 119



Appendix D 
 

 

Item Description/Comments VAT 
Indicator

Charge 
2021/22

 Charge 
2022/23

Proposed 
Charge 
2023/24

Increase / 
Decrease 

on 2022/23
£ £ £ %

Season Tickets (Ashford)
Flour Mills car park 1 month VT

74.00 74.00 74.00 0.00%
Flour Mills car park 3 months VT

210.00 210.00 210.00 0.00%
Flour Mills car park 6 months VT

396.00 396.00 396.00 0.00%
Flour Mills car park 12 months VT

742.00 742.00 742.00 0.00%
Town Centre 1 month VT

83.00 83.00 83.00 0.00%
Town Centre 3 Months VT

236.00 236.00 236.00 0.00%
Town Centre 6 Months VT

445.00 445.00 445.00 0.00%
Town Centre 12 Months VT

836.00 836.00 836.00 0.00%
Henwood Parking Area 1 month VT

59.00 59.00 59.00 0.00%
Henwood Parking Area 3 months VT

168.00 168.00 168.00 0.00%
Henwood Parking Area 6 months VT

316.00 316.00 316.00 0.00%
Henwood Parking Area 12 months VT

594.00 594.00 594.00 0.00%
Henwood Business Permit 12 months VT

360.00 360.00 360.00 0.00%
Season Tickets (Tenterden)

Bridewell Lane car park 1 month VT 83.00 83.00 83.00 0.00%
Bridewell Lane car park 3 months VT 236.00 236.00 236.00 0.00%
Bridewell Lane car park 6 months VT 445.00 445.00 445.00 0.00%
Bridewell Lane car park 12 months VT 863.00 863.00 863.00 0.00%
Bridewell Lane Reserved 12 months VT 1,672.00 1,672.00 1,672.00 0.00%
*Season Tickets issued for Bridewell Lane car park  are also valid in the rear car park  at Tenterden 
Leisure Centre
Admin Charge for loss of season ticket VT 10.00 10.00 10.00 0.00%
Admin Charge for refund of Season ticket VT 10.00 10.00 10.00 0.00%

DISCRETIONARY & STATUTORY FEES 2023/24

Parking Charges

P
age 120



Appendix D 
 

 

Item Description/Comments VAT 
Indicator

Charge 
2021/22

 Charge 
2022/23

Proposed 
Charge 
2023/24

Increase / 
Decrease 

on 2022/23
£ £ £ %

Residents Permits
Zone A Annual NB 125.00 125.00 125.00 0.00%
Zone B Annual NB 55.00 55.00 55.00 0.00%
Zone B Annual - Off Street Residents Parking Permit VT 135.00 135.00 135.00 0.00%
Zone D Annual NB 35.00 35.00 35.00 0.00%
Zone E Annual NB 35.00 35.00 35.00 0.00%
Zone F Annual NB 35.00 35.00 35.00 0.00%
Zone G Annual NB 35.00 35.00 35.00 0.00%

Other Permits
Visitor's permits each EX

1.00 1.00 1.00 0.00%
HPA parking permit annual VT

760.00 760.00 760.00 0.00%
DSA parking permit annual VT

760.00 760.00 760.00 0.00%
International House permit discounted 12 months VT

380.00 380.00 380.00 0.00%
International House permit full price 12 months VT

760.00 760.00 760.00 0.00%
Misc Charges

Waivers/Dispensations - per week or part week VT 30.00 30.00 30.00 0.00%
Waivers/Dispensations - Additional Charge for occupying on street pay and display bay, per bay per day 
(only applies for individual days if fully week £30 charge applies effectively 2 days free)  

VT

10.00 10.00 10.00 0.00%
Waivers/Dispensations - Additional Charge for occupying on street pay and display bay, per bay per 
week 

VT

30.00 30.00 30.00 0.00%
Bay Suspensions per week VT

50.00 50.00 50.00 0.00%
Replacement of lost cones per cone VT

20.00 20.00 20.00 0.00%
Locked car park-vehicle release fee VT

55.00 55.00 55.00 0.00%
Clamping release fee - Day VT

40.00 40.00 40.00 0.00%
Clamping release fee - Night VT

150.00 150.00 150.00 0.00%
Printing Charges Up to 5 pages per page VT

0.50 0.50 0.50 0.00%
Printing Charges more than 5 pages per page VT

0.10 0.10 0.10 0.00%

DISCRETIONARY & STATUTORY FEES 2023/24

Parking Charges

P
age 121



Appendix D 
 

 

Item Description/Comments VAT 
Indicator

Charge 
2021/22

 Charge 
2022/23

Proposed 
Charge 
2023/24

Increase / 
Decrease 

on 2022/23
£ £ £ %

Car Park Charges (Ashford)

Civic Centre and Stour Centre car park per hour over 2 hours. Linear Charge in 5p increments VT 1.20 1.20 1.20 0.00%

Civic Centre and Stour Centre car park charge over 4 hours Mon-Fri VT 12.00 12.00 12.00 0.00%

Civic Centre and Stour Centre car park charge over 4 hours Sat and Sun VT 5.50 5.50 5.50 0.00%

Civic Centre and Stour Centre car park per hour Coach Charge (Linear Charge in 5p increments) VT 1.85 1.85 1.85 0.00%

Civic Centre and Stour Centre car park  Coach charge over 4 hours VT 12.00 12.00 12.00 0.00%
Dover Place car park per hour VT 1.20 1.20 1.20 0.00%
Dover Place car park over 4 hours VT 5.50 5.50 5.50 0.00%
Elwick Road car park per hour VT 1.20 1.20 1.20 0.00%
Elwick Road car park over 4 hours VT 5.50 5.50 5.50 0.00%
Elwick Place car park up to 2 hours VT 2.40 2.40 2.40 0.00%
Elwick Place car park up to 3 hours VT 3.60 3.60 3.60 0.00%
Elwick Place car park up to 4 hours VT 4.80 4.80 4.80 0.00%
Elwick Place car park up to 5 hours VT 6.00 6.00 6.00 0.00%
Elwick Place car park over 5 hours VT 12.00 12.00 12.00 0.00%
Elwick Place car park Travelodge VT 7.50 7.50 7.50 0.00%
Edinburgh Road car park per hour VT 1.20 1.20 1.20 0.00%
Edinburgh Road car park charge over 4 hours VT 5.50 5.50 5.50 0.00%
Flour Mills car park per hour VT 1.20 1.20 1.20 0.00%
Flour Mills car park charge over 4 hours VT 4.80 4.80 4.80

0.00%
Henwood car park per hour VT 1.00 1.00 1.00

0.00%
Henwood car park charge over 4 hours VT 4.00 4.00 4.00 0.00%
Station Road Ashford car park per hour VT 1.20 1.20 1.20 0.00%
Station Road Ashford car park charge over 4 hours VT 5.50 5.50 5.50 0.00%
Vicarage Lane car park per hour VT 1.20 1.20 1.20 0.00%
Vicarage Lane car park charge over 4 hours VT 12.00 12.00 12.00 0.00%
Victoria Road car park per hour ** (new car park) VT n/a 1.20 1.20 0.00%
Victoria Road car park charge over 4 hours ** (new car park) VT n/a 5.50 5.50 0.00%

DISCRETIONARY & STATUTORY FEES 2023/24

Parking Charges

P
age 122



Appendix D 
 

 
 

Item Description/Comments VAT 
Indicator

Charge 
2021/22

 Charge 
2022/23

Proposed 
Charge 
2023/24

Increase / 
Decrease 

on 2022/23
£ £ £ %

Car Park Charges (Tenterden)
Bridewell Lane car park per hour VT 1.20 1.20 1.20

0.00%
Bridewell Lane car park over 4 hours VT 5.50 5.50 5.50

0.00%
Recreation Ground Road car park per hour VT 1.20 1.20 1.20

0.00%
Recreation Ground Road car park over 4 hours VT 12.00 12.00 12.00

0.00%
Station Road car park Tenterden per hour VT 1.20 1.20 1.20

0.00%
Station Road car park Tenterden over 4 hours VT 12.00 12.00 12.00

0.00%
Station Road car park Tenterden per hour Coach charge VT 1.85 1.85 1.85

0.00%
Station Road car park Tenterden over 4 hours coach charge VT 12.00 12.00 12.00

0.00%
Tenterden Leisure Centre car park per hour VT 1.20 1.20 1.20 0.00%

Tenterden Leisure Centre car park over 4 hours VT 12.00 12.00 12.00 0.00%

Tenterden Leisure Centre car park Coach charge per hour VT 1.85 1.85 1.85 0.00%

Tenterden Leisure Centre car park Coach charge over 4 hours VT 12.00 12.00 12.00 0.00%
On Street Parking Charges

Charge per hour before 6pm NB 1.20 1.20 1.20 0.00%
Charge after 6pm for parking up to 1 hour NB 1.20 1.20 1.20 0.00%
Charge after 6pm for parking over one hour NB 3.30 3.30 3.30 0.00%

Penalty Charge Notices
Lower level NB 50.00 50.00 50.00 0.00%
Higher level NB 70.00 70.00 70.00 0.00%

VAT Indicator:
EX = Exempt from VAT
VT = Inclusive of VAT
NB = Non Business no VAT

DISCRETIONARY & STATUTORY FEES 2023/24

Parking Charges

Where an actual recharge (based on hours worked) exceeds minimum figures above, the actual charge is to be levied unless commercial in which case an uplift of a minimum of 50% should be 
considered with Team Leader or Head of Service.

P
age 123



Appendix D 
 

 

 
 

Legal Fees

Item Description/Comments VAT 
Indicator Charge 2021/22 Charge 

2022/23
Charge 
2023/24

Increase / 
Decrease on 

2022/23
£ £ £ %

S9 Agreements (including caution/note on Register) ** This is a minimum level of charge 
(see note below)

NB 330.00 340.00 394.00 15.88%

S9 Transfers Plus Land Registry Fees. ** This is a minimum level of charge (see note 
below)

NB 330.00 340.00 394.00 15.88%

S106 (and supplementary) deeds ** This is a minimum level of charge (see note below) NB 961.00 990.00 1,148.00 15.96%

Grazing Licences NB 121.00 125.00 145.00 16.00%

Licences to Assign ** This is a minimum level of charge (see note below) NB 220.00 227.00 263.00 15.86%

Sales or Easements Up to £2,500 in value. ** This is a minimum level of charge (see note below) NB 315.00 324.00 376.00 16.05%

Sales or Easements over £2,500 in value - Basic Fee Charge as listed plus 1% of actual sale 
price. ** This is a minimum level of charge (see note below)

NB 354.00 365.00 423.00 15.89%

Commercial Leases ** This is a minimum level of charge (see note below) NB 343.00 353.00 409.00 15.86%

Commercial lease renewals ** This is a minimum level of charge (see note below) NB 232.00 239.00 277.00 15.90%

Surrenders ** This is a minimum level of charge (see note below) NB 210.00 216.00 251.00 16.20%

Landlord consent etc ** This is a minimum level of charge (see note below) NB 111.00 114.00 132.00 15.79%

Transfer of Equity (mortgage) ** This is a minimum level of charge (see note below) NB 233.00 240.00 278.00 15.83%

Redemptions ** This is a minimum level of charge (see note below) NB 121.00 125.00 145.00 16.00%

Mortgagees Enquiries ** This is a minimum level of charge (see note below) NB 219.00 226.00 262.00 15.93%

Deed of Postponement ** This is a minimum level of charge (see note below) NB 100.00 103.00 119.00 15.53%

Release of expired Statutory Charge ** This is a minimum level of charge (see note below) NB 107.00 110.00 128.00 16.36%

DISCRETIONARY & STATUTORY FEES 2023/24

LEGAL & ELECTORAL SERVICES

P
age 124



Appendix D 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Legal Fees

Item Description/Comments VAT 
Indicator Charge 2021/22 Charge 

2022/23
Charge 
2023/24

Increase / 
Decrease on 

2022/23
£ £ £ %

Waiver (Improvement Grant) ** This is a minimum level of charge (see note below) NB 107.00 110.00 128.00 16.36%

Notice of Charge ** This is a minimum level of charge (see note below) NB 77.00 79.00 92.00 16.46%

Counterpart Lease ** This is a minimum level of charge (see note below) NB 77.00 79.00 92.00 16.46%

Engross Transfer/conveyance ** This is a minimum level of charge (see note below) NB 56.00 58.00 67.00 15.52%

Notice to Assign ** This is a minimum level of charge (see note below) NB 77.00 79.00 92.00 16.46%

Wayleaves ** This is a minimum level of charge (see note below) NB 193.00 199.00 231.00 16.08%

** IMPORTANT NOTE: The above represent a minimum level of charge, not a fixed level of charge.

Electoral Services
Postal votes pack Postal votes pack (Charge to Parish Councils for by-elections) VT Actual Actual Actual

Poll Cards Poll card (Charge to Parish Councils for by-elections) VT Actual Actual Actual
Statutory Charges (restricted availability for full register and overseas 
lists)

Sales of full and edited register Data £20 plus £1.50 per 1,000 entries or part of 1,000 NB 21.50 21.50 21.50 0.00%

Sales of full and edited register Printed £10 plus £5 per 1,000 or part of 1,000 NB 15.00 15.00 15.00 0.00%

Overseas electors List Data £20 plus £1.50 per 100 entries or part of 100 NB 21.50 21.50 21.50 0.00%

Overseas electors List Printed £10 plus £1.50 per 100 or part of 100 NB 11.50 11.50 11.50 0.00%

VAT Indicator:
NB = Non Business no VAT
EX = Exempt from VAT
VT = Inclusive of VAT

DISCRETIONARY & STATUTORY FEES 2023/24

LEGAL & ELECTORAL SERVICES

Where the commercial value of the time worked on a matter exceeds the minimum charge stated above, the commercial value of the time (at a fair and reasonable hourly rate reflecting the skill and 
knowledge applied by the fee-earner; the urgency, importance, complexity and novelty of the work; the value involved; and all other relevant circumstances) will be charged unless it is deemed by the 
The Solicitor to the Council  (or, in his absence, a Principal Solicitor) to be inappropriate or unreasonable to charge the full commercial value.

P
age 125



Appendix E 

Equality Impact Assessment 
 
Lead officer: Head of Finance and IT 
Decision maker: Full Council 
Decision: 
• Policy, project, service, 

contract 

• Review, change, new, stop 

 
The report contains the annual budget for 
2023/24 which supports the new Corporate Plan 
(including the medium term financial plan) and 
individual service plans 

Date of decision: 
The date when the final 
decision is made. The EIA 
must be complete before this 
point and inform the final 
decision.  

Approved annually (February each year) 

Summary of the proposed 
decision: 
• Aims and objectives 

• Key actions 

• Expected outcomes 

• Who will be affected and 
how? 

• How many people will be 
affected? 

The budgets role is to set council tax and rent 
levels, providing a framework to measure 
performance and to allocate resources to match 
the priorities established within the Corporate 
Plan.   
The Members are asked to approve the revenue 
and capital budgets for both the General Fund 
and the Housing Revenue Account for 2023/24 
and associated recommendations. 
Approve the capital strategy, investment strategy 
treasury strategy, investment policy and fees and 
charges for 2023/24. 
The budget affects the whole borough and its 
population. 

Information and research: 
• Outline the information and 

research that has informed 
the decision. 

• Include sources and key 
findings. 
 

Budget Monitoring reports for the current year 
2022/23 –September/November/February 
Cabinet reports. 
MTFP Cabinet report – October Cabinet 
Draft Budget report – November Cabinet 
HRA Business Plan – December Cabinet 
Budget Scrutiny (O&S) task group – throughout 
December and January, each service and budget 
area scrutinised with further focus on key areas 
of risk. 
Public consultation December to mid February 
JCC – staff consultation January 

  

Page 126



Appendix E 

Consultation: 
• What specific consultation 

has occurred on this 
decision? 

• What were the results of 
the consultation? 

• Did the consultation 
analysis reveal any 
difference in views across 
the protected 
characteristics? 

• What conclusions can be 
drawn from the analysis on 
how the decision will affect 
people with different 
protected characteristics? 

Budget Scrutiny (O&S) task group – throughout 
December and January, each service budget 
area scrutinised, a report from the task group is 
referenced within this report.  Full report to full 
meeting of O&S in February 2023. 
 
JCC – staff consultation January 2023.  
 
Public consultation late December to mid-
February – Borough wide consultation, 
communicated via website and appropriate 
media channels. 
 
Responses to public consultation will be 
published at February 2023 Cabinet. 
 
 

Assess the relevance of the decision to people with different protected 
characteristics and assess the impact of the decision on people with 
different protected characteristics. 
When assessing relevance and impact, make it clear who the assessment applies 
to within the protected characteristic category. For example, a decision may have 
high relevance for young people but low relevance for older people; it may have a 
positive impact on women but a neutral impact on men.   

Protected characteristic Relevance to Decision 
High/Medium/Low/None 

Impact of Decision 
Positive (Major/Minor)  
Negative (Major/Minor) 

Neutral 

AGE 

Elderly 

Low/Medium Positive Minor– No 
contribution required 
through Council Tax 
support 

 

Middle age Low Negative Minor – 
Increased level of 
contribution through 
Council Tax Support 
Scheme.  

  

Page 127



Appendix E 

Young adult Low Negative Minor - The 
provision of some 
services is not even 
across the borough (rural 
areas). 

Negative Minor – 
Increased level of 
contribution through 
Council Tax Support 
Scheme. 

Children None  

DISABILITY 

Physical 

Low/Medium Positive - The Council 
Tax Support Scheme will 
impact upon this group 
however additional 
protection has been built 
into the scheme for 
disabled people 

Negative – Disabled 
Facility grants budgets 
are usually lower than 
demand 

Mental Low Positive - The Council 
Tax Support Scheme will 
impact upon this group 
however additional 
protection has been built 
into the scheme for 
disabled people 

 

Sensory Low Positive - The Council 
Tax Support Scheme will 
impact upon this group 
however additional 
protection has been built 
into the scheme for 
disabled people 

 

GENDER RE- 
ASSIGNMENT 

None  

MARRIAGE/CIVIL 
PARTNERSHIP 

None  

Page 128



Appendix E 

PREGNANCY/MATERNITY None  

RACE None  

RELIGION OR BELIEF  None  

SEX 

Men 

None  

Women None  

SEXUAL ORIENTATION None  

Mitigating negative impact: 
Where any negative impact 
has been identified, outline 
the measures taken to 
mitigate against it.  

 
The negative impacts relate to the Council Tax 
Support scheme which was introduced in 2017/18 
and requires middle aged and young adults to 
contribute to Council Tax when in receipt of 
benefit.  This was an agreed policy following 
consultation and therefore no mitigation is 
recommended.  

 
Is the decision relevant to the aims of the equality duty? 
Guidance on the aims can be found in the EHRC’s Essential Guide, alongside 
fuller PSED Technical Guidance. 
 

Aim Yes / No / N/A 

1) Eliminate discrimination, harassment and victimisation n/a 

2) Advance equality of opportunity between persons who 
share a relevant protected characteristic and persons who 
do not share it 

n/a 

3) Foster good relations between persons who share a 
relevant protected characteristic and persons who do not 
share it 

n/a 

 
  

Page 129

https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/sites/default/files/psed_essential_guide_-_guidance_for_english_public_bodies.pdf
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/sites/default/files/technical_guidance_on_the_psed_england.pdf


Appendix E 

Conclusion: 

• Consider how due 
regard has been had to 
the equality duty, from 
start to finish. 

• There should be no 
unlawful discrimination 
arising from the 
decision (see guidance 
above). 

• Advise on whether the 
proposal meets the 
aims of the equality 
duty or whether 
adjustments have been 
made or need to be 
made or whether any 
residual impacts are 
justified. 

• How will monitoring of 
the policy, procedure or 
decision and its 
implementation be 
undertaken and 
reported? 

 
 
There has been a full consultation process and 
Equalities Impact Assessment for the local council 
tax reduction scheme.   
 
Individual Services will look at discrimination for 
service provision, if a regular theme of those reviews 
suggests that financial resources are the key factor 
baring minorities from accessing our services then 
perhaps we need to elevate this higher. 

EIA completion date: 23 January 2023 

 

Page 130



Appendix F 

Budget Housing Revenue Account 2023/24 
 

  
 

 Supervision & 
Management 

 Income   New Builds  Other  Repairs & 
Maintenance 

 Total 

EXPENDITURE
Employees 2,480,470 - 5,500 - 862,020 3,347,990
Premises 1,232,310 - - - 4,352,800 5,585,110
Supplies and Services 801,830 - 101,830 210,000 26,500 1,140,160
Transport 125,190 - - - 31,890 157,080
TOTAL EXPENDITURE 4,639,800 - 107,330 210,000 5,273,210 10,230,340
INCOME
Grants - - - (  2,999,850) - (  2,999,850)
Fees & Charges (  48,970) (  30,346,700) (  8,000) - (  37,000) (  30,440,670)
TOTAL INCOME (  48,970) (  30,346,700) (  8,000) (  2,999,850) (  37,000) (  33,440,520)

NET CONTROLLABLE EXPENDITURE 4,590,830 (  30,346,700) 99,330 (  2,789,850) 5,236,210 (  23,210,180)
NON CONTROLLABLE ITEMS
Support Services 2,065,560 - 6,010 828,220 97,150 2,996,940
Capital Charges - - - 21,576,540 - 21,576,540
Recharges (  124,620) - - (  94,080) - (  218,700)
Transfers to/from Reserves - - - - - -
TOTAL NON-CONTROLLABLE ITEMS 1,940,940 - 6,010 22,310,680 97,150 24,354,780

NET EXPENDITURE 6,531,770 (  30,346,700) 105,340 19,520,830 5,333,360 1,144,600

SUBJECTIVE ANALYSIS - 2023/24 ESTIMATE
Housing Revenue Account

P
age 131



Appendix G 

 

Current 
budget

Previous 
Exp

2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Corporate Property and Projects
Planned Minor Capital Works for General Fund Assets 2,000 0 500 500 500 500
Ellingham Roof 800 0 22 778 0 0
Victoria Park Fountain & Carpark 510 0 0 510 0 0
Provisional for Economic Investment & Regeneration Board 8,000 0 2,000 2,000 2,000 2,000
Property Company Acquisitions - based on current business plan 172,755 37,755 23,000 16,000 26,000 35,000
International House Works 2,050 0 65 1,985 0 0
Solar PV (various sites) 10,800 46 50 3,100 7,028 577
Stodmarsh 24,705 5 200 12,250 12,250 0
Newtown Works Phase 1 72,499 0 9,300 32,000 31,199 0
Newtown Works Phase 2 58,000 0 0 29,000 29,000 0
Newtown Works Levelling Up Fund 14,774 0 4,856 6,636 3,282 0
Project Green 70,009 9 2,000 34,000 34,000 0
Street Lighting Replacement 1,100 811 289 0 0 0
Vicarage Lane redevelopment - Phase 1 10,664 4,362 1,302 5,000 0 0
Total - Corporate Property and Projects 448,666 42,988 43,584 143,759 145,259 38,077

Community & Housing
Henwood Temporary Accommodation 6,200 90 300 5,810 0 0
Rough Sleepers Accommodation Programme 3,287 379 1,172 1,736 0 0
External Funding (1,029) (251) (459) (319) 0 0

2,258 128 713 1,417 0 0
Mandatory Disabled Facility Grants

Expenditure 4,068 0 984 1,028 1,028 1,028
External Funding (3,708) 0 (894) (938) (938) (938)

360 0 90 90 90 90

Total - Community & Housing 13,555 469 2,456 8,574 1,028 1,028

Information Technology
Digital Transformation 650 119 320 211 0 0
Council Chamber AV Replacement & Hybrid Meetings 151 0 0 151 0 0
Total - Information Technology 801 119 320 362 0 0
Culture & the Environment
Single Grants Gateway Fund 300 0 75 75 75 75
Victoria Park Rejuvenation Project 4,169 231 2,438 1,500 0 0
Courtside Pitchside Replacement 3G & Lighting 300 36 264 0 0 0
Conningbrook Lakes Country Park development 2,353 26 432 890 1,006 0
Tenterden Decarbonisation Works 2,476 0 2,476 0 0 0
Play Parks 1,100 0 1,100 0 0 0

External Funding (7,752) (257) (5,144) (1,346) (1,006) 0
2,946 36 (1,935) 1,119 75 75

Total Culture & the Environment 10,698 293 6,785 2,465 1,081 75
Community Safety and Wellbeing
Automatic Number Plate Recognition 320 95 0 225 0 0
Total Community Safety and Wellbeing 320 95 0 225 0 0

General Fund Total 474,040 43,964 53,145 155,385 147,368 39,180

HRA Capital Works - as current business plan
Programmed Works 26,662 Ongoing 4,054 4,406 3,572 8,000
Adaptions to Disabled Properties 3,076 0 1,076 500 500 500
Play Areas 298 178 62 58 0 0
Street Purchases 29,490 28,790 700 0 0 0
Digitalisation 60 0 20 20 20 0
Decarbonisation 18,400 0 0 6,000 6,000 1,600
Lifeline 274 0 52 54 56 56
Court Wurtin 275 0 166 109 0 0
55 Mabledon (Piper Joinery) 7,552 2,052 0 0 0 700
Oakleigh House 15,257 257 200 0 0 5,000
Coneybeare 7,700 0 0 1,700 1,500 1,500
Tile Kiln 6,924 1,124 0 0 500 2,650
Infill Sites 5,100 0 0 0 0 0
Monypenny & Vicarage 10,500 0 0 0 4,000 5,000
Millview 800 0 0 200 600 0
Pym House 8,500 0 0 0 0 0
Repton Medical Centre 6,000 0 0 0 500 3,000
Hope House AR - High Halden s106 3,200 0 0 0 3,200 0
Hope House SO - High Halden s106 914 0 0 0 914 0

150,982 32,401 6,330 13,047 21,362 28,006

Total HRA 150,982 32,401 6,330 13,047 21,362 28,006

Total Capital Spend 625,022 76,365 59,475 168,432 168,730 67,186

Capital Programme 2023/24 - 2025/26

Page 132



Appendix G 

  

 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Current 
budget

Previous 
Exp 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
CAPITAL SUMMARY
Corporate Property and Projects 448,666 42,988 43,584 143,759 145,259 38,077
Community & Housing 13,555 469 2,456 8,574 1,028 1,028
Information Technology 801 119 320 362 0 0
Culture & the Environment 10,698 293 6,785 2,465 1,081 75
Community Safety and Wellbeing 320 95 0 225 0 0
GENERAL FUND 474,040 43,964 53,145 155,385 147,368 39,180

0 0 0 0 0 0
HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT 150,982 32,401 6,330 13,047 21,362 28,006

0 0 0 0 0 0
TOTAL CAPITAL PROGRAMME 625,022 76,365 59,475 168,432 168,730 67,186

Current 
budget

Previous 
Exp 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Funding Source
Capital Receipts - HRA 40,940 28,790 1,140 2,654 2,001 2,333
Capital Receipts - GF 1,050 90 465 165 165 165
Borrowing HRA 68,395 3,433 0 2,488 11,771 14,203
Borrowing GF 442,280 43,211 39,441 144,573 141,977 38,077
External grants & contributions HRA 11,875 143 62 3,000 3,518 2,970
External grants & contributions GF 27,300 544 11,352 9,239 5,226 938
Major Repairs Reserve HRA 29,738 0 5,130 4,906 4,072 8,500
Other Reserve HRA 34 34 0 0 0 0
Other Reserve GF 3,411 119 1,886 1,406 0 0

625,022 76,365 59,475 168,432 168,730 67,186
External Grants
Homes & Communities Agency (HCA) 6,699 251 459 319 518 2,970
Section 106 3,176 62 762 1,346 1,006 0
Heritage Lottery fund 2,540 231 2,308 0 0 0
Better Care Fund - Disabled Facility Grants 3,708 0 894 938 938 938
Public Sector Decarbonisation Scheme Grant 8,011 0 2,011 3,000 3,000 0
KCC - Contain Outbreak Management Fund (COMF) 177 143 34 0 0 0
Changing Places 90 0 90 0 0 0
Department for Levelling Up 14,774 0 4,856 6,636 3,282 0

39,175 687 11,414 12,239 8,744 3,908

Capital Programme 2023/24 - 2025/26

Funding Statement 2023/24 - 2024/25

Page 133



Appendix H 

 
 

Capital Strategy Report 2023/24 

 

Introduction 

The capital strategy was a new requirement introduced in 2019/20 under the revised 
CIPFA Prudential code 2018.  CIPFA published their updated 2021 edition of the 
Prudential Code on 20 December 2021. Although the principles of the updated Code 
apply with immediate effect, however due to the late publication date Local 
Authorities are permitted to defer introducing the revised reporting requirements until 
the 2023/24 financial year. The main updates surround investments, risks, absorbing 
losses and using prudential indicators. Further inclusions were capital expenditure 
plans and investment plans to ensure that they are affordable and proportionate; and 
that all external borrowing and other long-term liabilities are within prudent and 
sustainable levels; that the risks associated with investments for commercial 
purposes are proportionate to their financial capacity and that treasury management 
decisions are taken in accordance with good professional practice. Reporting on and 
clearly distinguishing investments for treasury management, service, and 
commercial purposes, providing a high-level overview of how capital expenditure, 
capital financing and treasury management activity contribute to the provision of 
local public services along with an overview of how associated risk is managed and 
the implications for future financial sustainability.  

Decisions made this year on capital and treasury management activity will have 
financial consequences for the Authority for many years into the future. They are 
therefore subject to both a national regulatory framework and to local policy 
framework, summarised in this report.  

Capital Expenditure and Financing 

Capital expenditure is where the Council spends money on assets, such as property 
or vehicles that will be used for more than one year. In local government, this 
includes spending on assets owned by other bodies, and loans and grants to other 
bodies enabling them to buy assets.  

In 2023/24, the Council is planning capital expenditure of just under £169m as 
summarised below: 

 

 

 

 

Page 134



Appendix H 

Table 1. Capital Expenditure 

2022/23 
Revised 

2023/24 
Estimate 

2024/25 
Estimate 

2025/26 
 Estimate   

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 
General Fund services 53,415  155,385 147,368 39,180  
Council Housing (HRA) 6,330  13,047  21,362 28,006  
Total Expenditure 59,475 168,432  168,730  67,186  

The main General Fund capital projects included for 2023/24 are listed below: 

• £16m of loans to the Council’s subsidiary A Better Choice for Property Ltd 
• £68m Newtown Works 
• £34m Project Green 
• £12m Stodmarsh 
• £1.9m International House 
• £5.8m Henwood  

The Housing Revenue Account (HRA) is a ring-fenced account which ensures that 
council housing does not subsidise, or is itself subsidised, by other local services. 
HRA capital expenditure is therefore recorded separately. 

The capital expenditure for the HRA is significant over the next few years and 
supports the ambition of the HRA in delivering its business plan which was 
presented to Cabinet in December 2022, and looks to significantly increase its 
housing stock numbers through new developments, and the purchase of old housing 
stock from the open market.  

Governance 

Service managers prepare Project Initial Documents (PID’s) throughout the year. 
The PID’s are supported by input from relevant professional colleagues such as 
Accountants, Planners and Legal specialists before presentation to Management 
Team. The Management Team will appraise all projects based on a comparison of 
service priorities, value for money, affordability and sustainability. Projects that meet 
an acceptable risk and return criteria will be included in the authorities capital 
programme.  Some projects will be included as provisional figures awaiting further 
work to determine the final cost, but are included to give an idea of the overall level 
of resource commitment by the Council.  The final capital programme is then 
presented to Cabinet in February each year in the final budget report. 

➢ Full details of the Council’s capital programme were reported to Cabinet on 
the 23 February 2023 as part of the 2023/24 budget report. 

All capital expenditure must be financed, either from external sources (government 
grants and other contributions), the Council’s own resources (revenue, reserves and 
capital receipts) or debt (borrowing, leasing). The planned financing of the above 
expenditure is as follows: 

 

Page 135



Appendix H 

Table 2: Capital financing  

  2022/23 
Revised 

2023/24 
Estimate 

2024/25 
Estimate 

2025/26 
Estimate 

  £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 
Capital Receipts 1,605  2,819 2,166 2,498  
Reserves 7,016 6,312  4,072  8,500 
Borrowing 39,441 471,061 153,748  42,280  
External Grants 11,414 12,239  8,744  3,908  
Total Financing 59,475 168,432  168,730  67,186  

 

Borrowing is only a temporary source of finance, since loans and leases must be 
repaid, and this is therefore replaced over time by other financing, usually from 
revenue which is known as minimum revenue provision (MRP).  Alternatively, 
proceeds from selling capital assets (known as capital receipts) may be used to 
replace debt finance, the £73m shown in 2025/26 relates to the forecast disposal of 
the New Town Works Development. Planned MRP, capital and housing contributions 
are as follows: 

Table 3: Replacement of debt finance  

  2022/23 
Estimate 

2023/24 
Estimate 

2024/25 
Estimate 

2025/26 
Estimate 

  £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 
MRP 1,483  1,719  1,974  2,032  
Capital Receipts 0  0  0  73,000  
GF Debt Repayment 750  750  750  750  
HRA Debt Repayment 2,850  3,850  3,850  1,850  
HRA PFI Repayment 1,089  1,039  1,026  950  
Total Repayment 6,172  7,358  7,600  78,582  

 
The Council’s minimum revenue provision was reported to Cabinet on the 23 

February 2023 as part of the 2023/24 budget report. 
The Council’s cumulative outstanding amount of debt finance is measured by the 
capital financing requirement (CFR). This increases with new debt-financed capital 
expenditure and reduces with MRP and capital receipts used to replace debt. The 
CFR is forecast to be circa £310m as at the 31 March 2023.  Based on the above 
figures for expenditure and financing, the Council’s estimated CFR is as follows: 

 

 

 

 

Page 136



Appendix H 

Table 4: Prudential Indicator: Estimates of Capital Financing Requirement  

31.03.23 
Revised 

31.03.24 
Estimate 

31.03.25 
Estimate 

31.03.26 
Estimate   

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 
General Fund 151,294  293,398  432,651  467,946  
HRA 158,460  156,059  162,954  174,357  
Total CFR 309,754  449,457  595,605  642,303  

 

Asset management:  

To ensure that capital assets continue to be of long-term use, the Council has an 
asset management strategy. The strategy recognises the critical role that real estate 
plays both in service delivery and in supporting the delivery of the Recovery Plan 
and future Corporate Plans and seeks to align property management in the wider 
sense to the corporate vision, plan and policies. 

➢ The Council’s Corporate Property Asset Management Strategy 2020-2024 
was approved by Cabinet on the 25 June 2020.  

Asset disposals:  

When a capital asset is no longer needed, it may be sold so that the proceeds, 
known as capital receipts, can be spent on new assets or to repay debt. Repayments 
of capital grants, loans and investments also generate capital receipts.  

Property is identified for disposal on the following criteria: 

➢ It makes no contribution to the delivery of the Council’s services or Corporate 
priorities nor generates any income and it has no potential for the future 
service delivery or strategic, regeneration, redevelopment purposes or 

➢ Property or land site has been identified which would achieve a more cost 
effective service delivery and the existing site has no potential for future 
alternative service delivery or strategic, regeneration, redevelopment 
purposes. 

➢ The Council’s Property Acquisition and Disposal Strategy can be made 
available upon request. 

 
Treasury Management 

Treasury management is concerned with keeping sufficient but not excessive cash 
available to meet the Council’s spending needs, while managing the risks involved. 
Surplus cash is invested until required, while a shortage of cash will be met by 
borrowing, to avoid excessive credit balances or overdrafts in the bank current 
account.  

Page 137



Appendix H 

Where the Council has cash injections through the year from income and grants, 
these surpluses are offset against capital cash shortfalls to reduce overall level of 
borrowing in year. 

Due to decisions taken in the past, the Council currently (as at 31 December 2022) 
has £91m of short term borrowing at an average interest rate of circa 2.97% and 
long term borrowing of £126m. £98m relates to the HRA buy out, this debt is largely 
fixed with an average rate of around 3%. £13.5m relates to GF borrowing and a 
further £15.3m of HRA borrowing, with the interest rate for both loans being 1.56%. 
The Council as at the 31 December 2022 also had £39m of investments which had 
an average rate of circa 3.9%. 

Borrowing strategy: The Council’s current strategy is to take short term borrowing 
to minimise the impact of the rapid increases in interest rates that have occurred 
throughout 2022/23.  It is anticipates that there will be a further rate increase to 
4.25% although interest rates are then anticipated to start reducing towards Spring 
2024, although only back to 3/3.5%.  The Council will monitor PWLB and other long 
term debt financing option and if an opportunity presents then a decision will be 
made accordingly in conjunction with external advisors.  Current rates for short term 
borrowing rate are in the region of 4% (0.07% in 2021/22) whereas 25 year fixed rate 
maturity borrowing from the PWLB is circa 4.7% (including certainty rate as at 13 
February 2023. 

Projected levels of the Council’s total outstanding debt shown below, compared with 
the capital financing requirement as shown at Table 4 above. 

Table 5: Prudential Indicator: Gross Debt and the Capital Financing 
Requirement  

31.03.23 
Estimate 

31.03.24 
Estimate 

31.03.25 
Estimate 

31.03.26 
Estimate   

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 
Total Debt (285,700) (424,666) (561,131) (603,252) 
Total CFR 309,754  449,457  595,605  642,303  

Statutory guidance is that debt should remain below the capital financing 
requirement and compliance with this requirement can be seen above in Table 5. 

Affordable borrowing limit: The Council is legally obliged to set an affordable 
borrowing limit (also termed the authorised limit for external debt) each. In line with 
statutory guidance, a lower “operational boundary” is also set as a warning level 
should debt approach the limit. 

 

 

Page 138



Appendix H 

Table 6: Prudential Indicators: Authorised limit and operational boundary for 
external debt. 

2022/23 
Limit 

2023/24 
Limit 

2024/25 
Limit 

2025/26 
Limit Authorised Limit for 

Borrowing 
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

Borrowing 600,000  880,000  1,154,000  1,240,000  
Other long-term 
liabilities 23,000  23,000  23,000  23,000  

Total Debt 623,000  903,000  1,177,000  1,263,000  
          

2022/23 
Limit 

2023/24 
Limit 

2024/25 
Limit 

2025/26 
Limit Operational Boundary 

for Borrowing 
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

Borrowing 275,000  415,000  552,000  595,000  
Other long-term 
liabilities 17,000  16,000  15,000  14,000  

Total Debt 292,000  431,000  567,000  609,000  

 

Investment strategy: Treasury investments arise from receiving cash before it is 
paid out again. Investments made for service reasons or for pure financial gain are 
not generally considered to be part of treasury management.  

The Council’s policy on treasury investments is to strike the balance between 
security, liquidity and yield.  Cash that is likely to be spent in the near term is 
invested securely through money market funds which diversify investments 
extensively through secondary investments.  Money that will be held for longer terms 
is invested more widely, including in bonds, shares and property, to balance the risk 
of loss against the risk of receiving returns below inflation. Both near-term and 
longer-term investments may be held in pooled funds, where an external fund 
manager makes decisions on which particular investments to buy and the Council 
may request its money back at short notice. 

➢ Further details on treasury investments are in treasury management strategy 
which was reported to Cabinet on the 23 February 2023 as part of the 
2023/24 budget report. 

Governance: Decisions on treasury management investment and borrowing are 
made daily and are therefore delegated to the Deputy Chief Executive and staff, who 
must act in line with the treasury management strategy approved by council.  
Quarterly updates on treasury management activity are presented to Cabinet as part 
of the quarterly budget monitoring report. 

 

Page 139



Appendix H 

Investments for Service Purposes 

The Council on occasion makes investments to assist local public services, including 
making loans to local organisations to promote economic growth.  In light of the 
public service objective, the Council is willing to take more risk than with treasury 
investments. 

Governance: Decisions on service investments are made by the relevant service 
manager in consultation with the Deputy Chief Executive and will be reported to full 
Council for approval where appropriate. 

Commercial Activities 

With central government financial support for local public services declining, the 
Council invests in commercial property primarily for Social, economic and 
regenerative purposes although financial gain can be a consequence of such 
investments.  The Council lends to its wholly owned subsidiary A Better Choice for 
Property Ltd and new part owned subsidiary Ashford international Development 
Company for the same reason. 

With consideration to the factors above, the Council accepts higher risk on 
commercial investment than with treasury investments. The principal risk exposures 
include general decline in the economy or decline in sectors of the economy, 
possible long void periods, fall in property values. These risks are managed by 
diversification of the commercial portfolio, between retail, industrial and office 
accommodation. This portfolio mix ensures the Council is not over exposed in one 
sector of the economy if a down turn occurs. The Council also has leases with strong 
covenants in terms of length of lease, which ensures the council can budget with a 
measure of surety to manage debt repayments. The portfolio is monitored closely 
and lease renewal negotiations are started at an early stage to enable officers to 
engage in early marketing of units if they are to become void. The Council has a 
history of investing in and holding its commercial assets for a long period of time, 
therefore over coming any short term fluctuations in real estate values. 

Governance:  

Property and most other commercial investments are capital expenditure and 
purchases will therefore also be approved as part of the capital programme. As such 
they are subject to the same due diligence and Project Initiation Documentation as 
other projects. 

➢ Details of the Council’s Acquisition Strategy can be made available upon 
request.  

 

 

 

Page 140



Appendix H 

 

 

Liabilities 

In addition to debt of £286m detailed above, the Council is committed to making 
future payments to cover its pension fund deficit (valued at £1.4m) per annum 
although this will reduce over the long term. 

Governance: Decisions on incurring new discretional liabilities are taken by the 
Deputy Chief Executive and will be approved accordingly through the appropriate 
reporting channels including Cabinet/Council where necessary. The risk of liabilities 
crystallising and requiring payment is monitored by the Accountancy Team.  

Revenue Budget Implications (general fund) 

Although capital expenditure is not charged directly to the revenue budget, interest 
payable on loans and MRP are charged to revenue, offset by any investment income 
receivable. The net annual charge is known as financing costs; this is compared to 
the net revenue stream i.e. the amount funded from Council Tax, business rates and 
general government grants. 

Table 7: Prudential Indicator: Proportion of financing costs to net revenue 
stream 

  2022/23 
Revised 

2023/24 
Budget 

2024/25 
Budget 

2025/26 
Budget 

Financing costs 
(£,000) (176) 1,306 (728) 774 
Proportion of net 
revenue stream (1.08%) 7.14 % (4.16%) 4.34 % 

The net financing costs as a percentage of revenue increases fluctuates over the 
forecast period.  Debt costs (including MRP) have significantly increased as interest 
rate have risen over the past year which has increased borrowing costs, especially 
as the  as the current strategy of short term borrowing has been more susceptible to 
interest rate fluctuations.  Interest receipts are anticipated to increase significantly as 
further loans are made to subsidiary companies where rates are above that of cost of 
borrowing.  The revenues streams are also reducing with New Homes Bonus income 
totally removed from 2024/25 onwards.  This strategy will be continually reviewed as 
per the treasury management strategy.  It is worth highlighting that the increase 
proportion of net revenue stream does not take account of the increasing rental 
inflows of the assets which goes to revenue. 

Sustainability: Due to the very long-term nature of capital expenditure and 
financing, the revenue budget implications of expenditure incurred in the next few 
years will extend for up to 50 years into the future. The Deputy Chief Executive is 
satisfied that the proposed capital programme is prudent, affordable and sustainable 
and the Council has adequate controls to review investment decisions should the 

Page 141



Appendix H 

funding outlook adversely change.  The projects planned are supported by robust 
business cases that generate positive cash in-flows to the Council, the capital plan 
supports the growth and prosperity of the Borough which will underpin other income 
streams to the Council such as business rates and fees and charges income.  

 

Knowledge and Skills 

The Council employs professionally qualified and experienced staff in senior 
positions with responsibility for making capital expenditure, borrowing and 
investment decisions. For example, the Deputy Chief Executive is an experienced 
CIPFA qualified accountant.  

The Council’s also identifies and supports staff training needs through the staff 
appraisal process, and when the responsibilities of individual members of staff change. 

Officers attend training courses, seminars and conferences provided by Arlingclose 
and CIPFA. Relevant Officers are also encouraged to study for relevant professional 
qualifications. 

Where Council staff do not have the knowledge and skills required, use is made of 
external advisers and consultants that are specialists in their field. The Council 
currently employs Arlingclose Limited as treasury management advisers, and a variety 
of property consultants which are identified to ensure their strengths reflect the 
requirements of the council. This approach is more cost effective than employing such 
staff directly, and ensures that the Council has access to knowledge and skills 
commensurate with its risk appetite. 

 

Page 142



Appendix I 

 

Annual Minimum Revenue Provision Statement 2023/24 

Where the Authority finances capital expenditure by debt, it must put aside resources 
to repay that debt in later years.  The amount charged to the revenue budget for the 
repayment of debt is known as Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP), although there 
has been no statutory minimum since 2008. The Local Government Act 2003 
requires the Authority to have regard to the former Ministry of Housing, Communities 
and Local Government’s (MHCLG) Guidance on Minimum Revenue Provision most 
recently issued in 2018. 

The broad aim of the MHCLG Guidance is to ensure that capital expenditure is 
financed over a period that is either reasonably commensurate with that over which 
the capital expenditure provides benefits, or, in the case of borrowing supported by 
the Government Revenue Support Grant, reasonably commensurate with the period 
implicit in the determination of that grant 

The MHCLG Guidance requires the Authority to approve an Annual MRP Statement 
each year, and recommends a number of options for calculating a prudent amount of 
MRP.  The following statement incorporates options recommended in the Guidance 
as well as locally determined prudent methods. 

For unsupported capital expenditure incurred after 31st March 2008, MRP will be 
determined by charging the expenditure over the expected useful life of the relevant 
assets as the principal repayment on an annuity with an interest rate in line with 
PWLB rates for the year of expenditure, starting in the year after the asset becomes 
operational.  MRP on purchases of freehold land will be charged over 50 years. MRP 
on expenditure not related to fixed assets but which has been capitalised by 
regulation or direction will be charged over 20 years, unless a bespoke MRP policy is 
more appropriate, bespoke MRP policies will be reported to Council accordingly. 

For assets acquired by leases or the Private Finance Initiative, MRP will be 
determined as being equal to the element of the rent or charge that goes to write 
down the balance sheet liability.  
Where former operating leases have been brought onto the balance sheet due to the 
adoption of the IFRS 16 Leases accounting standard, and the asset values have 
been adjusted for accruals, prepayments, premiums and/or incentives, then the 
annual MRP charges will be adjusted so that the total charge to revenue remains 
unaffected by the new standard. 
There is no MRP provision for Loans made to the Council’s subsidiary companies, 
however the capital receipt that arises on the repayment of principal amount will be 
applied on an annual basis used to reduce the CFR instead.   

No MRP will be charged in respect of assets held within the Housing Revenue 
Account. 

MRP in respect of the £119m payment made in 2012 to exit the Housing Revenue 
Account subsidy system will be determined as being equal to the principal amount 
repaid on the loans borrowed to finance that payment.  The outstanding balance in 
relation to the HRA subsidy will be £95.7m as at 1 April 2023. 

Page 143



Appendix I 

Capital expenditure incurred during 2023/24 will not be subject to a MRP charge until 
2024/25 or later as it is not applied until the year following completion/acquisition. 

Based on the Authority’s latest estimate of its Capital Financing Requirement on 31 
March 2023, the budget for MRP has been set as follows: 

 

* Forecast capital receipts from repayment of principal 

** Annual payment to reduce CFR liability 

*** Repayment of loans that reach maturity 

Unsupported capital expenditure after 31.03.2008 (MRP) 116,194 1,483 
PWLB Debt Repayment (annuity loans) 0 750 
Loans to wholly owned companies * 35,100 330
Total General Fund 151,294 2,563
Assets in the Housing Revenue Account 45,020 0
Private Finance Initiative ** 17,776 1,039 
PWLB Debt Repayment (annuity loans) 0 850 
HRA subsidy reform payment *** 95,664 3,000
Total Housing Revenue Account 158,460 4,889
Total 309,754 7,452

Page 144



Appendix J 

Treasury Management Strategy Statement 2023/24 

Introduction 

Treasury management is the management of the Authority’s cash flows, borrowing 
and investments, and the associated risks. The Authority has borrowed and invested 
substantial sums of money and is therefore exposed to financial risks including the 
potential loss of invested funds and the revenue effect of changing interest rates.  
The successful identification, monitoring and control of financial risk are therefore 
central to the Authority’s prudent financial management.  

Treasury risk management is conducted within the framework of the Chartered 
Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy’s Treasury Management in the Public 
Services: Code of Practice 2021 Edition (the CIPFA Code) which requires the 
Authority to approve a treasury management strategy before the start of each 
financial year. This report fulfils the Authority’s legal obligation under the Local 
Government Act 2003 to have regard to the CIPFA Code. 

Investments held for service purposes or for commercial profit are considered in the 
Investment Strategy which was presented to Cabinet on the 23 February 2023. 

External Context 

External context covers the following areas and is detailed at Appendix A with 
supporting tables. 

• Economic Background 

• Credit Outlook 

• Interest Rate Forecast 

Local Context 

On 31 December 2022 the Authority held £217m borrowing, of which £91m related 
to short term borrowing, £13.5m long-term borrowing to the General Fund and 
£126.4m to the Housing Revenue Account. The Council also had investments of 
£38.9m. This is set out in further detail at Appendix B.  Forecast changes in these 
sums are shown in the balance sheet analysis in Table 1 below. 

 

Page 145



Appendix J 

Table 1: Balance Sheet Summary and Forecast 

 

* finance leases, PFI liabilities and transferred debt that form part of the Council’s 
total debt. 

** A significant proportion of this debt relates to the HRA stock acquisition, for the 31 
March 23 estimate it will be £95.7m. 

The underlying need to borrow for capital purposes is measured by the Capital 
Financing Requirement (CFR), while balance sheet resources are the underlying 
sums available for investment.  The Council will consider the best financing options 
available at the time of investments/acquisitions; currently the Council is taking 
retaining a short term borrowing strategy as it is anticipated that rates will start to fall 
in Spring 2024.  A consideration emerging is a that borrowing cost are getting closer 
to long term strategic investment returns, however, the strategic portfolio is largely in 
a capital loss position at present and therefore retaining current positions is 
recommended.  The best approach will be considered ‘as always’ and placements 
made accordingly throughout if prudent to do so.  

The Council has an increasing CFR due to the capital programme, which includes 
loans to A Better Choice for Property Ltd, Newtown Works phase 1 and 2 and 
Project Green as well as supporting the HRA business plan and the growth of the 
Council’s Housing Stock (the full capital plan can be seen at Appendix G of the 
Revenue Budget which was presented to Cabinet on 23 February 2023).  To cover 
off this capital investment, external borrowing of circa £468m for the general fund 
and £121m for the HRA is assumed over the forecasted period and is reflected in the 
table above.  However, this is only planned at present and decisions on individual 
investments will be reported and fully considered at the time of 
investment/acquisition to best benefit the Council.  Balance sheet resources are 

31.3.22 31.3.23 31.3.24 31.3.25 31.3.26
Actual Estimate Forecast Forecast Forecast
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

General Fund CFR 114,086 151,294 293,398 432,651 467,946
HRA CFR 162,399 158,460 156,059 162,954 174,357
Total CFR 276,485 309,754 449,457 595,605 642,303
Less: Other debt 
liabilities * (17,776) (16,687) (15,648) (14,622) (13,672)

Loans CFR 258,709 293,067 433,809 580,983 628,631
Less: External 
borrowing (112,125) (151,294) (293,398) (432,651) (467,946)

Less: HRA External 
borrowing** (114,239) (117,719) (115,620) (113,858) (121,634)

Internal borrowing 32,345 24,054 24,791 34,474 39,051

Less: Balance sheet 
resources (72,727) (70,067) (67,142) (67,142) (67,142)

Investments (40,382) (46,013) (42,351) (32,668) (28,091)

Page 146



Appendix J 

forecast to drop as reserves are earmarked to support the 2022/23 forecast deficit 
and balance the budget deficit within the 2023/24 budget while savings are identified. 

CIPFA’s Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities recommends that 
the Authority’s total debt should be lower than its highest forecast CFR over the next 
three years.  Table 1 shows that the Authority expects to comply with this 
recommendation. 

Liability benchmark 

To compare the Council’s actual borrowing against an alternative strategy, a liability 
benchmark has been calculated showing the lowest risk level of borrowing. This 
assumes the same forecasts as table 1 above, but that cash and investment 
balances are kept to a minimum level of £10m at each year-end to maintain sufficient 
liquidity but minimise credit risk.  The Council also holds pooled funds of £30m which 
do not factor into the liquidity allowance, these are held as part of the wider strategy 
to manage inflation risk. 

The liability benchmark is an important tool to help establish whether the Council is 
likely to be a long-term borrower or long-term investor in the future, and so shape its 
strategic focus and decision making. The liability benchmark itself represents an 
estimate of the cumulative amount of external borrowing the Council must hold to 
fund its current capital and revenue plans while keeping treasury investments at the 
minimum level required to manage day-to-day cash flow. 

Table 2: Prudential Indicator: Liability benchmark 

 

31.3.22 31.3.23 31.3.24 31.3.25 31.3.26 
Actual Estimate Forecast Forecast Forecast   

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 
Loans CFR  258,709 293,067 433,809 580,983  628,631  
Less: Balance 
sheet resources   (72,727)   (70,067)   (67,142) (67,142) (67,142) 

Net loans 
requirement 185,982 223,000 366,667 513,841 561,489 

Plus: Liquidity 
allowance 10,000  10,000  10,000  10,000  10,000  

Liability 
benchmark 195,982 233,000 376,667 523,841 571,489 

 

Following on from the medium-term forecasts in table 2 above, the long-term liability 
benchmark assumes capital expenditure funded by borrowing of £20m a year, 
minimum revenue provision on new capital expenditure based on a 50 year asset life 
and income, expenditure and reserves all increasing by inflation of 2.5% a year. This 
is shown in the chart below together with the maturity profile of the Authority’s existing 
borrowing: 

Page 147



Appendix J 

 
Borrowing Strategy 

The Council currently (December 2022) holds £217m of loans, £126.4m represent 
loans to the HRA and £91m of general fund loans which are being used to fund 
previous capital expenditure.  The balance sheet forecast in table 1 shows the 
Council expects to have borrowing of up to £269m by the end of 2022/23.  The 
Council may also borrow additional sums to pre-fund future years’ requirements, 
providing this does not exceed the authorised limit for borrowing of £623m. 

Objectives: The Council’s chief objective when borrowing money is to strike an 
appropriately low risk balance between securing low interest costs and achieving 
certainty of those costs over the period for which funds are required.  The flexibility to 
renegotiate loans should the Authority’s long-term plans change is a secondary 
objective.  The Council monitors interest rate forecasts and takes advices where 
appropriate to determine when/if rates should be fixed. 

Strategy: Given the significant cuts to public expenditure and in particular to local 
government funding, the Authority’s borrowing strategy continues to address the key 
issue of affordability without compromising the longer-term stability of the debt 
portfolio. With short-term interest rates currently much lower than long-term rates, it 
is likely to be more cost effective in the short-term to either use internal resources, or 
to borrow short-term loans; again decisions will be made accordingly at the time of 
investment/acquisition.  

The Council is currently favouring the use of short term borrowing which enables the 
Council to pay interest below that forecasted in business plans.   By using borrowing 
rather than internal resources this has enabled long term investments funded from 
reserves to remain in place which support the borrowing costs and provides a return 

Page 148



Appendix J 

to the Council.  The benefits of changing strategy will be monitored regularly 
considering interest rate forecasts and try to capture the moment when fixing 
borrowing long term will be advantageous over short term funds.  Arlingclose will 
assist the Authority with this ‘cost of carry’ and breakeven analysis. Its output may 
determine whether the Council borrows additional sums at long-term fixed rates in 
2022/23 with a view to keeping future interest costs low, even if this causes 
additional cost in the short-term. 

The Council has previously raised all of its long-term borrowing from the PWLB but 
will consider long-term loans from other sources including banks, pensions and local 
authorities, and will investigate the possibility of issuing bonds and similar 
instruments, in order to lower interest costs and reduce over-reliance on one source 
of funding in line with the CIPFA Code. PWLB loans are no longer available to local 
authorities planning to buy investment assets primarily for yield; the Council intends 
to avoid this activity in order to retain its access to PWLB loans.  

Alternatively, the Council may arrange forward starting loans, where the interest rate 
is fixed in advance, but the cash is received in later years. This would enable 
certainty of cost to be achieved without suffering a cost of carry in the intervening 
period. 

In addition, the Council may borrow further short-term loans (normally for up to one 
month) to cover unplanned cash flow shortages. 

Sources: The approved sources of long-term and short-term borrowing are: 

• HM Treasury PWLB lending facility (formerly Public Works Loan Board) 

• any institution approved for investments (see below) 

• any other bank or building society authorised to operate in the UK 

• any other UK public sector body 

• UK public and private sector pension funds (except Kent County Council 
Pension Fund) 

• capital market bond investors 

• UK Municipal Bonds Agency plc and other special purpose companies 
created to enable local authority bond issues 

In addition, capital finance may be raised by the following methods that are not 
borrowing, but may be classed as other debt liabilities: 

• leases 

• hire purchase 

• Private Finance Initiative  

Page 149



Appendix J 

• sale and leaseback 

Municipal Bond Agency: UK Municipal Bonds Agency plc was established in 2014 
by the Local Government Association as an alternative to the PWLB.  It issues bonds 
on the capital markets and lends the proceeds to local authorities.  This is a more 
complicated source of finance than the PWLB for two reasons: borrowing authorities 
may be required to provide bond investors with a guarantee to refund their 
investment in the event that the agency is unable to for any reason; and there will be 
a lead time of several months between committing to borrow and knowing the 
interest rate payable. Any decision to borrow from the Agency will therefore be the 
subject of a separate report to Cabinet. 

Short-term and Variable Rate loans: These loans leave the Council exposed to the 
risk of short-term interest rate rises and are therefore subject to the interest rate 
exposure limits in the treasury management indicators below. Financial derivatives 
may be used to manage this interest rate risk (see section below). 

Debt Rescheduling: The PWLB allows authorities to repay loans before maturity 
and either pay a premium or receive a discount according to a set formula based on 
current interest rates. Other lenders may also be prepared to negotiate premature 
redemption terms. The Council may take advantage of this and replace some loans 
with new loans, or repay loans without replacement, where this is expected to lead to 
an overall cost saving or a reduction in risk.  The recent rise in interest rates means 
that more favourable debt rescheduling opportunities should arise than in previous 
years. 

Treasury Investment Strategy 

The Council holds significant invested funds, representing income received in 
advance of expenditure plus balances and reserves held.  In the past 9 months, the 
Council’s treasury investment balance of circa £45m although levels fluctuate with 
cash flows, these levels are expected to slowly reduce over the coming years as 
reserves are used to support the MTFP, General Fund and HRA capital 
programmes.  Further reductions could be incurred if internal borrowing is used to 
support capital acquisitions rather the external borrowing. 

Objectives: The CIPFA Code requires the Council to invest its treasury funds 
prudently, and to have regard to the security and liquidity of its investments before 
seeking the highest rate of return, or yield.  The Council’s objective when investing 
money is to strike an appropriate balance between risk and return, minimising the 
risk of incurring losses from defaults and the risk receiving unsuitably low investment 
income.  Where balances are expected to be invested for more than one year, the 
Authority will aim to achieve a total return that is equal or higher than the prevailing 
rate of inflation, in order to maintain the spending power of the sum invested.  The 
Authority aims to be a responsible investor and will consider environmental, social 
and governance (ESG) issues when investing. 

Page 150



Appendix J 

Strategy: Given the increasing risk and very low returns from short-term unsecured 
bank investments, the Council will continue to use money market funds for liquidity 
which provide higher returns and stronger diversification, and will use pooled funds 
for strategic investments. The Council will work closely with its treasury management 
advisors ‘Arlingclose’ to explore new investment opportunities which will complement 
the portfolio including Tri-Repo’s and Alternatives. This overall approach represents 
a continuation of the strategies which have been adopted over the last few years. 

Approved Counterparties: The Council may invest its surplus funds with any of the 
counterparty types in table 2 below, subject to the cash limits (per counterparty) and 
the time limits shown. 

  

Page 151



Appendix J 

Table 3: Approved Investment Counterparties and Limits 

Sector Time limit Counterparty 
limit Sector limit 

The UK Government 50 years Unlimited n/a 
Subsidiary Companies 50 Years £280m £280m 
Local authorities & 
other government 
entities 

25 years £15m Unlimited 

Secured investments * 25 years £5m Unlimited 
Banks (unsecured) * 13 months £5m Unlimited 
Building societies 
(unsecured) * 13 months £5m £5m 

Registered providers 
(unsecured) * 3 years £10m £10m 

Money market funds * n/a £10m £60m 
Strategic pooled funds n/a £15m £60m 
Real estate investment 
trusts n/a £15m £15m 

Other investments * 3 years £1.5m £5m 

This table must be read in conjunction with the notes below 

* Minimum credit rating: Treasury investments in the sectors marked with an 
asterisk will only be made with entities whose lowest published long-term credit 
rating is no lower than A-. Where available, the credit rating relevant to the specific 
investment or class of investment is used, otherwise the counterparty credit rating is 
used. However, investment decisions are never made solely based on credit ratings, 
and all other relevant factors including external advice will be taken into account.  
 
For entities without published credit ratings, investments may be made either (a) 
where external advice indicates the entity to be of similar credit quality; or (b) to a 
maximum of £1.5m per counterparty where appropriate due diligence and checks 
are complete and an appropriate security is in place. 
Government: Loans, bonds and bills issued or guaranteed by national governments, 
regional and local authorities and multilateral development banks.  These 
investments are not subject to bail-in, and there is generally a lower risk of 
insolvency, although they are not zero risk.  Investments with the UK Central 
Government are deemed to be zero credit risk due to its ability to create additional 
currency and therefore may be made in unlimited amounts for up to 50 years. 

Banks and building society (unsecured): Accounts, deposits, certificates of 
deposit and senior unsecured bonds with banks and building societies, other than 
multilateral development banks.  These investments are subject to the risk of credit 
loss via a bail-in should the regulator determine that the bank is failing or likely to fail. 
See below for arrangements relating to operational bank accounts. 

Secured investments: Investments secured on the borrower’s assets, which limits 
the potential losses in the event of insolvency. The amount and quality of the security 

Page 152



Appendix J 

will be a key factor in the investment decision. Covered bonds and reverse 
repurchase agreements with banks and building societies are exempt from bail-in. 
Where there is no investment specific credit rating, but the collateral upon which the 
investment is secured has a credit rating, the higher of the collateral credit rating and 
the counterparty credit rating will be used. The combined secured and unsecured 
investments with any one counterparty will not exceed the cash limit for secured 
investments 

Registered providers (unsecured): Loans and bonds issued by, guaranteed by 
registered providers of social housing or registered social landlords, formerly known 
as housing associations.  These bodies are tightly regulated by the Regulator of 
Social Housing (in England), the Scottish Housing Regulator, the Welsh Government 
and the Department for Communities (in Northern Ireland). As providers of public 
services, they retain the likelihood of receiving government support if needed.   

Money market funds: Pooled funds that offer same-day or short notice liquidity and 
very low or no price volatility by investing in short-term money markets. They have 
the advantage over bank accounts of providing wide diversification of investment 
risks, coupled with the services of a professional fund manager in return for a small 
fee. Although no sector limit applies to money market funds, the Authority will take 
care to diversify its liquid investments over a variety of providers to ensure access to 
cash at all times.  
Strategic Pooled Funds: Bond, equity and property funds offer enhanced returns 
over the longer term, but are more volatile in the short term.  These allow the Council 
to diversify into asset classes other than cash without the need to own and manage 
the underlying investments. Because these funds have no defined maturity date, but 
are available for withdrawal after a notice period, their performance and continued 
suitability in meeting the Council’s investment objectives will be monitored regularly. 

Real estate investment trusts: Shares in companies that invest mainly in real 
estate and pay the majority of their rental income to investors in a similar manner to 
pooled property funds. As with property funds, REITs offer enhanced returns over 
the longer term, but are more volatile especially as the share price reflects changing 
demand for the shares as well as changes in the value of the underlying properties.  

Other investments: This category covers treasury investments not listed above, for 
example unsecured corporate bonds and company loans. Non-bank companies 
cannot be bailed-in but can become insolvent placing the Council’s investment at 
risk. 

Operational bank accounts: The Council may incur operational exposures, for 
example though current accounts, collection accounts and merchant acquiring 
services, to any UK bank with credit ratings no lower than BBB- and with assets 
greater than £25 billion. These are not classed as investments, but are still subject to 
the risk of a bank bail-in, and balances will therefore be kept below £1m per bank. 
The Bank of England has stated that in the event of failure, banks with assets 
greater than £25 billion are more likely to be bailed-in than made insolvent, 
increasing the chance of the Authority maintaining operational continuity 

Page 153



Appendix J 

Risk Assessment and Credit Ratings: Credit ratings are obtained and monitored 
by the Council’s treasury advisers, who will notify changes in ratings as they occur. 
The credit rating agencies in current use are listed in the Treasury Management 
Practices document. Where an entity has its credit rating downgraded so that it fails 
to meet the approved investment criteria then: 

• no new investments will be made, 
• any existing investments that can be recalled or sold at no cost will be, and 

• full consideration will be given to the recall or sale of all other existing 
investments with the affected counterparty. 

Where a credit rating agency announces that a credit rating is on review for possible 
downgrade (also known as “negative watch”) so that it may fall below the approved 
rating criteria, then only investments that can be withdrawn on the next working day 
will be made with that organisation until the outcome of the review is announced.  
This policy will not apply to negative outlooks, which indicate a long-term direction of 
travel rather than an imminent change of rating. 

Other Information on the Security of Investments: The Council understands that 
credit ratings are good, but not perfect, predictors of investment default.  Full regard 
will therefore be given to other available information on the credit quality of the 
organisations in which it invests, including credit default swap prices, financial 
statements, information on potential government support and reports in the quality 
financial press and analysis and advice from the Authority’s treasury management 
adviser.  No investments will be made with an organisation if there are substantive 
doubts about its credit quality, even though it may otherwise meet the above criteria. 

When deteriorating financial market conditions affect the creditworthiness of all 
organisations, as happened in 2008 and 2020, this is not generally reflected in credit 
ratings, but can be seen in other market measures. In these circumstances, the 
Council will restrict its investments to those organisations of higher credit quality and 
reduce the maximum duration of its investments to maintain the required level of 
security. The extent of these restrictions will be in line with prevailing financial market 
conditions. If these restrictions mean that insufficient commercial organisations of 
high credit quality are available to invest the Council’s cash balances, then the 
surplus will be deposited with the UK Government, or with other local authorities.  
This will cause investment returns to fall but will protect the principal sum invested. 

Investment Limits: The Council’s revenue reserves available to cover investment 
losses are forecast to be £25.3m on 31st March 2023 and £22.4m on 31st March 
2024. In order to limit the Council’s risk no fund shall have more than the reserve 
balance available.  However with the exception of the UK Government and the 
Council’s subsidiary Companies, a maximum of £15m will be deposited with a single 
organisation.  A group of entities under the same ownership will be treated as a 
single organisation for limit purposes.   

Page 154



Appendix J 

Credit risk exposures arising from non-treasury investments, financial derivatives and 
balances greater than £500,000 in operational bank accounts count against the 
relevant investment limits. 
Limits will also be placed on fund managers, investments in brokers’ nominee 
accounts, foreign countries and industry sectors as below. Investments in pooled 
funds and multilateral development banks do not count against the limit for any 
single foreign country, since the risk is diversified over many countries. 

Table 3: Investment Limits 

 Cash limit 

Any single organisation, except the UK Central 
Government and Subsidiaries £15m each 

UK Central Government unlimited 

Any group of organisations under the same 
ownership** £10m per group 

Any group of pooled funds under the same 
management *  £15m per manager 

Foreign countries £5m per country 

Registered providers and registered social 
landlords £10m in total 

Unsecured investments with Building Societies £5m in total 

Loans to unrated corporates £5m in total 

Loans to Council subsidiaries £280m in total 

Money Market Funds £60m in total 

Real estate investment trusts £15m in total 

* Where investments are subject to capital appreciation/depreciation, the initial value 
of the investment is considered in relation to the table above. 

** Except where significant segregation of assets is confirmed which would stop any 
cross subsidising of investments in the event of default. 

Liquidity Management: The Council uses cash flow forecasting to determine the 
maximum period for which funds may prudently be committed.  The forecast is 
compiled on a pessimistic basis to minimise the risk of the Council being forced to 
borrow on unfavourable terms to meet its financial commitments. Limits on long-term 
investments are set by reference to the Council’s medium term financial plan and 
cash flow forecast. 

Page 155



Appendix J 

The Authority will spread its liquid cash over at least three providers (e.g. bank 
accounts and money market funds) to ensure that access to cash is maintained in 
the event of operational difficulties at any one provider. 
 
Treasury Management Indicators 

The Council measures and manages its exposures to treasury management risks 
using the following indicators. 

Security: The Council has adopted a voluntary measure of its exposure to credit risk 
by monitoring the value-weighted average credit score of its investment portfolio.  
This is calculated by applying a score to each investment (AAA=1, AA+=2, etc.) and 
taking the arithmetic average, weighted by the size of each investment.  Unrated 
investments are assigned a score based on their perceived risk. 

 Target 

Portfolio average credit score 6 

Maturity Structure of Borrowing: This indicator is set to control the Council’s 
exposure to refinancing risk. The upper and lower limits on the maturity structure of 
borrowing will be: 

 Upper Lower 

Under 12 months 100% 0% 

12 months and within 24 months 100% 0% 

24 months and within 5 years 100% 0% 

5 years and within 10 years 100% 0% 

10 years and above 100% 0% 

Time periods start on the first day of each financial year.  The maturity date of 
borrowing is the earliest date on which the lender can demand repayment. 

Long-term treasury management investments: The purpose of this indicator is to 
control the Council’s exposure to the risk of incurring losses by seeking early 
repayment of its investments.  The prudential limits on the long-term treasury 
management investments will be: 

 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 

Limit on principal invested beyond year 
end £15m £15m £15m 

 

Page 156



Appendix J 

Related Matters 

The CIPFA Code requires the Authority to include the following in its treasury 
management strategy 

Financial Derivatives: Local authorities have previously made use of financial 
derivatives embedded into loans and investments both to reduce interest rate risk 
(e.g. interest rate collars and forward deals) and to reduce costs or increase income 
at the expense of greater risk (e.g. LOBO loans and callable deposits).  The general 
power of competence in Section 1 of the Localism Act 2011 removes much of the 
uncertainty over local authorities’ use of standalone financial derivatives (i.e. those 
that are not embedded into a loan or investment).  

The Council will only use standalone financial derivatives (such as swaps, forwards, 
futures and options) where they can be clearly demonstrated to reduce the overall 
level of the financial risks that the Council is exposed to. Additional risks presented, 
such as credit exposure to derivative counterparties, will be taken into account when 
determining the overall level of risk. Embedded derivatives, including those present 
in pooled funds, will not be subject to this policy, although the risks they present will 
be managed in line with the overall treasury risk management strategy. 

Financial derivative transactions may be arranged with any organisation that meets 
the approved investment criteria, assessed sing the appropriate credit rating for 
derivative exposure. An allowance for credit risk calculated using the methodology in 
the Treasury Management Practices document will count against the counterparty 
credit limit and the relevant foreign country limit. 

In line with the CIPFA Code, the Authority will seek external advice and will consider 
that advice before entering into financial derivatives to ensure that it fully 
understands the implications. 

Housing Revenue Account: On 1st April 2012, the Council notionally split each of 
its existing long-term loans into General Fund and HRA pools.  

In the future, new long-term loans borrowed will be assigned in their entirety to one 
pool or the other. Interest payable and other costs/income arising from long-term 
loans (e.g. premiums and discounts on early redemption) will be charged/ credited to 
the respective revenue account. Differences between the value of the HRA loans 
pool and the HRA’s underlying need to borrow (adjusted for HRA balance sheet 
resources available for investment) will result in a notional cash balance which may 
be positive or negative. This balance will be measured annually and interest 
transferred between the General Fund and HRA at the Authority’s average interest 
rate on investments, adjusted for credit risk.   

Markets in Financial Instruments Directive: The Authority has opted up to 
professional client status with its providers of financial services, including advisers, 
banks, brokers and fund managers, allowing it access to a greater range of services 
but without the greater regulatory protections afforded to individuals and small 

Page 157



Appendix J 

companies. Given the size and range of the Authority’s treasury management 
activities, the Chief Financial Officer believes this to be the most appropriate status 

Investment Advisers: The Council has appointed Arlingclose Limited as treasury 
management advisers and receives specific advice on investment, debt and capital 
finance issues. The quality of this service is controlled by the need to justify the 
ongoing appointment of Arlingclose through the completion of a ‘Use of Consultant’ 
pro-forma as stipulated in contract procedure rules.  The Authority’s Treasury 
Management Function is also periodically reviewed by Internal and External audit. 

Financial Implications 

The general fund budget for net investment interest for 2023/24 is £309,000m, this 
represents a debt expenses of £3.36m and interest of £3.68m which includes £2.1m 
from the Council’s subsidiary companies. The remaining £1.58m is based on an 
investment portfolio of around £30m which is anticipated to provide an average 
return of 5%.  

The budget for debt interest payable in 2023/24 of £3.36m is based on an average 
debt portfolio of £84m at an average interest rate of 4%.   

In relation to the HRA, the interest on investment income for 2023/24 is forecast at 
£110,000 which represents interest payable on their reserves.  The budget for debt 
interest paid in the HRA for 2023/24 is forecast at £4.2m, based on an average long 
debt portfolio of £113m and internal borrowing charges from the GF with an overall 
average interest rate of 3.7%. HRA balances are invested with general fund 
balances and an apportionment of interest is made at the end of the year through the 
item 8 calculation, this was covered previously in this report under ‘Policy on 
Apportioning Interest to the HRA’. 

If actual levels of investments and borrowing, and actual interest rates differ from 
those forecast, performance against budget will be correspondingly different.  The 
actual position against budget is monitored through the Council’s budget monitoring 
processes and reported to management on a quarterly basis accordingly. 

  

Page 158



Appendix J 

Other Options Considered 

The CIPFA Code do not prescribe any particular treasury management strategy for 
local authorities to adopt.  The Chief Finance Officer has consulted the Portfolio 
Holder for Finance & IT, believes that the above strategy represents an appropriate 
balance between risk management and cost effectiveness.  Some alternative 
strategies, with their financial and risk management implications, are listed below. 

Alternative Impact on income and 
expenditure 

Impact on risk 
management 

Invest in a narrower range 
of counterparties and/or 
for shorter times 

Interest income will be 
lower 

Lower chance of losses 
from credit related 
defaults, but any such 
losses may be greater 

Invest in a wider range of 
counterparties and/or for 
longer times 

Interest income will be 
higher 

Increased risk of losses 
from credit related 
defaults, but any such 
losses may be smaller 

Borrow additional sums at 
long-term fixed interest 
rates 

Debt interest costs will 
rise; this is unlikely to be 
offset by higher 
investment income 

Higher investment 
balance leading to a 
higher impact in the event 
of a default; however 
long-term interest costs 
may be more certain 

Borrow short-term or 
variable loans instead of 
long-term fixed rates 

Debt interest costs will 
initially be lower 

Increases in debt interest 
costs will be broadly 
offset by rising investment 
income in the medium 
term, but long term costs 
may be less certain  

Reduce level of borrowing  Saving on debt interest is 
likely to exceed lost 
investment income 

Reduced investment 
balance leading to a lower 
impact in the event of a 
default; however long-
term interest costs may 
be less certain 

 
 

Page 159



Appendix J 

Appendix A – Arlingclose Economic & Interest Rate Forecast December 2021 

External Context 

Economic background: The ongoing impact on the UK from the war in Ukraine, 
together with higher inflation, higher interest rates, uncertain government policy, and 
a deteriorating economic outlook, will be major influences on the Authority’s treasury 
management strategy for 2023/24. 
 
The Bank of England (BoE) increased Bank Rate by 0.5% to 3.5% in December 2022. 
This followed a 0.75% rise in November which was the largest single rate hike since 
1989 and the ninth successive rise since December 2021. The December decision 
was voted for by a 6-3 majority of the Monetary Policy Committee (MPC), with two 
dissenters voting for a no-change at 3% and one for a larger rise of 0.75%. 

The November quarterly Monetary Policy Report (MPR) forecast a prolonged but 
shallow recession in the UK with CPI inflation remaining elevated at over 10% in the 
near-term. While the projected peak of inflation is lower than in the August report, due 
in part to the government’s support package for household energy costs, inflation is 
expected remain higher for longer over the forecast horizon and the economic outlook 
remains weak, with unemployment projected to start rising. 

The UK economy contracted by 0.3% between July and September 2022 according 
to the Office for National Statistics, and the BoE forecasts Gross Domestic Product 
(GDP) will decline 0.75% in the second half of the calendar year due to the squeeze 
on household income from higher energy costs and goods prices. Growth is then 
expected to continue to fall throughout 2023 and the first half of 2024. 

CPI inflation is expected to have peaked at around 11% in the last calendar quarter of 
2022 and then fall sharply to 1.4%, below the 2% target, in two years’ time and to 0% 
in three years’ time if Bank Rate follows the path implied by financial markets at the 
time of the November MPR (a peak of 5.25%). However, the BoE stated it considered 
this path to be too high, suggesting that the peak in interest rates will be lower, 
reducing the risk of inflation falling too far below target. Market rates have fallen since 
the time of the November MPR. 

The labour market remains tight for now, with the most recent statistics showing the 
unemployment rate was 3.7%. Earnings were up strongly in nominal terms by 6.1% 
for both total pay and for regular pay but factoring in inflation means real pay for both 
measures was -2.7%. Looking forward, the November MPR shows the labour market 
weakening in response to the deteriorating outlook for growth, leading to the 
unemployment rate rising to around 6.5% in 2025. 

Interest rates have also been rising sharply in the US, with the Federal Reserve 
increasing the range on its key interest rate by 0.5% in December 2022 to 4.25%-
4.5%. This rise follows four successive 0.75% rises in a pace of tightening that has 
seen rates increase from 0.25%-0.50% in March 2022. Annual inflation has been 
slowing in the US but remains above 7%. GDP grew at an annualised rate of 3.2% 
(revised up from 2.9%) between July and September 2022, but with official interest 

Page 160



Appendix J 

rates expected to rise even further in the coming months, a recession in the region is 
widely expected at some point during 2023. 
 
Inflation rose consistently in the Euro Zone since the start of the year, hitting a peak 
annual rate of 10.6% in October 2022, before declining to 10.1% in November. 
Economic growth has been weakening with an upwardly revised expansion of 0.3% 
(from 0.2%) in the three months to September 2022. As with the UK and US, the 
European Central Bank has been on an interest rate tightening cycle, pushing up its 
three key interest rates by 0.50% in December, following two consecutive 0.75% rises, 
taking its main refinancing rate to 2.5% and deposit facility rate to 2.0%. 

 
Credit outlook: Credit default swap (CDS) prices have generally followed an upward 
trend throughout 2022, indicating higher credit risk. They have been boosted by the 
war in Ukraine, increasing economic and political uncertainty and a weaker global and 
UK outlook, but remain well below the levels seen at the beginning of the Covid-19 
pandemic. 
CDS price volatility was higher in 2022 compared to 2021 and the divergence in prices 
between ringfenced (retail) and non-ringfenced (investment) banking entities has 
emerged once again. 

The weakening economic picture during 2022 led the credit rating agencies to reflect 
this in their assessment of the outlook for the UK sovereign as well as several local 
authorities and financial institutions, revising them from to negative from stable. 

There are competing tensions in the banking sector which could impact bank balance 
sheet strength going forward. The weakening economic outlook and likely recessions 
in many regions increase the possibility of a deterioration in the quality of banks’ 
assets, while higher interest rates provide a boost to net income and profitability. 

However, the institutions on our adviser Arlingclose’s counterparty list remain well-
capitalised and their counterparty advice on both recommended institutions and 
maximum duration remain under constant review and will continue to reflect economic 
conditions and the credit outlook. 

Interest rate forecast: The Authority’s treasury management adviser Arlingclose 
forecasts that Bank Rate will continue to rise in 2022 and 2023 as the Bank of England 
attempts to subdue inflation which is significantly above its 2% target. 
 
While interest rate expectations reduced during October and November 2022, multiple 
interest rate rises are still expected over the forecast horizon despite looming 
recession. Arlingclose expects Bank Rate to rise to 4.25% by June 2023 under its 
central case, with the risks in the near- and medium-term to the upside should inflation 
not evolve as the Bank forecasts and remains persistently higher. 

Yields are expected to remain broadly at current levels over the medium-term, with 5-, 
10- and 20-year gilt yields expected to average around 3.5%, 3.5%, and 3.85% 
respectively over the 3-year period to December 2025. The risks for short, medium 
and longer-term yields are judged to be broadly balanced over the forecast horizon. 

Page 161



Appendix J 

As ever, there will undoubtedly be short-term volatility due to economic and political 
uncertainty and events. 

Underlying assumptions:  
 
• The influence of the mini-budget on rates and yields continues to wane following 

the more responsible approach shown by the new incumbents of Downing Street.  
• Volatility in global markets continues, however, as investors seek the extent to 

which central banks are willing to tighten policy, as evidence of recessionary 
conditions builds. Investors have been more willing to price in the downturn in 
growth, easing financial conditions, to the displeasure of policymakers. This raises 
the risk that central banks will incur a policy error by tightening too much. 

• The UK economy is already experiencing recessionary conditions and recent GDP 
and PMI data suggests the economy entered a technical recession in Q3 2022. The 
resilience shown by the economy has been surprising, despite the downturn in 
business activity and household spending. Lower demand should bear down on 
business pricing power – recent data suggests the UK has passed peak inflation. 

• The lagged effect of the sharp tightening of monetary policy, and the lingering 
effects of the mini-budget on the housing market, widespread strike action, 
alongside high inflation, will continue to put pressure on household disposable 
income and wealth. The short- to medium-term outlook for the UK economy remains 
bleak. 

• Demand for labour appears to be ebbing, but not quickly enough in the official data 
for most MPC policymakers. The labour market remains the bright spot in the 
economy and persisting employment strength may support activity, although there 
is a feeling of borrowed time. The MPC focus is on nominal wage growth, despite 
the huge real term pay cuts being experienced by the vast majority. Bank Rate will 
remain relatively high(er) until both inflation and wage growth declines. 

• Global bond yields remain volatile as investors price in recessions even as central 
bankers push back on expectations for rate cuts in 2023. The US labour market 
remains tight and the Fed wants to see persistently higher policy rates, but the 
lagged effects of past hikes will depress activity more significantly to test the Fed’s 
resolve. 

• While the BoE appears to be somewhat more dovish given the weak outlook for the 
UK economy, the ECB seems to harbour (worryingly) few doubts about the short 
term direction of policy. Gilt yields will be broadly supported by both significant new 
bond supply and global rates expectations due to hawkish central bankers, 
offsetting the effects of declining inflation and growth. 

 
Forecast:  
 
• The MPC raised Bank Rate by 50bps to 3.5% in December as expected, with signs 

that some members believe that 3% is restrictive enough. However, a majority of 
members think further increases in Bank Rate might be required. Arlingclose 
continues to expect Bank Rate to peak at 4.25%, with further 25bps rises February, 
March and May 2023.  

Page 162



Appendix J 

• The MPC will cut rates in the medium term to stimulate a stuttering UK economy, 
but will be reluctant to do so until wage growth eases. We see rate cuts in the first 
half of 2024. 

• Arlingclose expects gilt yields to remain broadly steady over the medium term, 
although with continued volatility across shorter time periods.  

• Gilt yields face pressures to both sides from hawkish US/EZ central bank policy on 
one hand to the weak global economic outlook on the other. BoE bond sales and 
high government borrowing will provide further underlying support for yields. 

 
A more detailed economic and interest rate forecast provided by Arlingclose is 
shown below: 
 

 
PWLB Standard Rate (Maturity Loans) = Gilt yield + 1.00% 
PWLB Certainty Rate (Maturity Loans) = Gilt yield + 0.80% 

UKIB Rate (Maturity Loans) = Gilt yield + 0.60% 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 163



Appendix J 

Appendix B – Existing Investment & Debt Portfolio Position as at 31/12/2022 

Detail of investment balances held as at 31 December 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Counter Party Deal Date Rate Amount Fair Value
% £ £

Investment Accounts
Goldman Sachs Various 0.05% 54,117 54,117
ICD Portal - BNP Various 2.75% 6,860,000 6,860,000
Payden Global MMF Various 3.00% 3,000,000 2,918,950

Total Investment Accounts 9,914,117 9,833,067

Long Term Investments

Property Investment
A Better Choice of Property Ltd.*** Various 0.00% 789,060 1,096,036
CCLA Local Authority Property Fund Various 3.69% 11,000,000 11,792,644
Equity Funds**
CCLA Diversified Income Fund Various 2.54% 3,000,000 2,791,269
Ninety One Diversified Income Fund 28/03/2019 3.73% 2,500,000 2,208,493
Aegon Diversified Income Fund 13/05/2019 5.05% 5,500,000 4,799,363
Schroder Income Maximiser Various 7.32% 3,500,000 2,981,421
UBS Multi Asset Income Fund Various 5.29% 3,000,000 2,260,050
UBS Global Income Equity Fund 29/07/2019 9.21% 1,500,000 1,235,924

Total Long Term Investments 30,789,060 29,165,200

Total Investment Portfolio 40,703,177 38,998,267

*  Money Market Fund (MMF) are AAA rated deposit facilities which have variable rates of 
interest but have constant net asset values.   Interest rates are shown at the time of producing 
this report.
**  Equity funds and the Property fund have variable rates of interest and also have fluctuating 
capital values, the amount stated is the current fair value.

*** A Better Choice Of Property Ltd. is a solely owned subsidiary of ABC.

Page 164



Appendix J 

 

 

Note: the loans made to ABCFP Ltd are not shown in the investment portfolio above, 
for completeness though the total draw down value of loans to the company as at 31 
December 20221 was £35m 

 

 

 

Debt Portfolio as at 31 December 2022

Counterparty Deal Date Rate Amount Maturity Date

% £
Temporary Borrowing
Northern Ireland Housing Executive 19/10/2021 0.20% 7,000,000 23/01/2023
Barnsley MBC 23/11/2021 0.25% 5,000,000 27/01/2023
Cambridgeshire & Peterboro Combined 
Authoirty 23/11/2021 0.25% 5,000,000 30/01/2023

Cambridgeshire & Peterboro Combined 
Authoirty 08/12/2021 0.20% 5,000,000 23/02/2023

Barnsley MBC 27/05/2022 1.20% 5,000,000 11/01/2023
Salford City Council 26/05/2022 1.20% 5,000,000 04/01/2023
Warwickshire County Council 27/05/2022 1.20% 10,000,000 05/01/2023
West Yorkshire Combined Authority 06/06/2022 1.25% 8,000,000 25/04/2023
West Yorkshire Combined Authority 08/06/2022 1.25% 4,000,000 24/05/2023
West Yorkshire Combined Authority 08/06/2022 1.25% 3,000,000 22/05/2023
London Borough of Newham 08/06/2022 1.30% 10,000,000 03/04/2023
Wokingham Borough Council 10/10/2022 2.85% 10,000,000 24/01/2023
Bedford Borough Council 19/12/2022 3.20% 3,000,000 19/06/2023
Blaenau Gwent County Borough Council 30/12/2022 3.05% 5,000,000 30/03/2023
North East Derbyshire District Council 16/12/2022 3.75% 5,000,000 15/12/2023
South Cambridgeshire District Council 22/02/2022 3.50% 1,000,000 05/01/2023
Total Temporary Borrowing 91,000,000
Long Term Borrowing
Public Works Loan Board - HRA various various 112,964,150 various
Public Works Loan Board - GF 13/07/2021 1.56% 13,500,000 13/07/2041

Total Long Term Borrowing 126,464,150

Grand Total Borrowing 217,464,150

Page 165



Appendix J 

 

 

Page 166



Appendix K 

 
Investment Strategy Report 2023/24 

Introduction 

The Authority invests its money for three broad purposes: 

• because it has surplus cash as a result of its day-to-day activities, for example 
when income is received in advance of expenditure (known as treasury 
management investments), 

• to support local public services by lending to or buying shares in other 
organisations (service investments), and 

• to earn investment income (known as commercial investments where this is 
the main purpose). 

This investment strategy meet the requirements of statutory guidance issued by the 
government in January 2018, and focuses on the second and third of these 
categories.  

Treasury Management Investments  

The Authority typically receives its income in cash (e.g. from taxes and grants) 
before it pays for its expenditure in cash (e.g. through payroll and invoices). It also 
holds reserves for future expenditure and collects local taxes on behalf of other local 
authorities and central government. These activities, plus the timing of borrowing 
decisions, lead to a cash surplus which is invested in accordance with guidance from 
the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA). The balance of 
treasury management investments is expected to average around £42m during the 
2023/24 financial year. 

Contribution: The contribution that these investments make to the objectives of the 
Authority is to support effective treasury management activities.  

Further details: Full details of the Authority’s policies and its plan for 2023/24 for 
treasury management investments are covered in a separate document, the treasury 
management strategy which was reported to Cabinet on the 23 February 2023 as 
part of the Budget Setting Report. 

Service Investments: Loans 

Contribution: The Council lends money to local businesses, parish councils and its 
employees to support local public services and stimulate local economic growth. 
These service investments include loans to Councils subsidiary which is supporting 
the local economy as a high quality private landlord for privately rented residential 
units in addition supporting council services over a long term when dividends are 
payable.  Other examples include temporary loans to businesses to enable/facilitate 

Page 167



Appendix K 

development and investment within the borough, and small loans to Parish councils 
to support urgent local issues in advance of raising precepts to fund the expenditure.  

Security: The main risk when making service loans is that the borrower will be 
unable to repay the principal lent and/or the interest due. In order to limit this risk, 
and ensure that total exposure to service loans remains proportionate to the size of 
the Authority, upper limits on the outstanding loans to each category of borrower 
have been set as follows:  

Table 1: Loans for service purposes 

31.3.2022 
actual 

2023/24 Category of 
borrower 

Net 
figure in 
accounts 

Approved 
Limit 

 

 £’000 £’000 

Subsidiaries 42,843 280,000 

Parish Councils 0 200 

Suppliers 0 10,000 

Local businesses 50 1,500 

Employees 0 100 

TOTAL 42,893 291,800 

Accounting standards require the Authority to set aside loss allowance for loans, 
reflecting the likelihood of non-payment. The figures for loans in the Authority’s 
statement of accounts are shown net of this loss allowance. However, the Authority 
makes every reasonable effort to collect the full sum lent and has appropriate credit 
control arrangements in place to recover overdue repayments. 

Risk assessment: The Authority assesses the risk of loss before entering into and 
whilst holding service loans by:- 

Subsidiaries: The Council loans money to it subsidiary A Better Choice for Property 
Ltd. (the Property Company) to enable it to make acquisitions in support of its 
business plan.  The council also has made loans and has a funding agreement in 
place for loans to Ashford International Development Company Ltd. for the 
development of New Town Works.  The development of subsidiary companies is in 
response to government funding cuts and the ambition of the Council to be self-
sufficient of government grant through it entrepreneurial approach and commercial 
mind-set.  It also encourage economic growth and prosperity within the Borough. 

Page 168



Appendix K 

The original concept of the property company was subject to legal and professional 
advice and a full business model developed and approved by full council.  The 
company became operational in November 2014 and made it first acquisitions.  

With the Council being the sole shareholder of the property company it has good 
oversight and awareness of the ongoing obligations of the Company and receives 
reports to its Trading and Enterprise Board (TEB) which was established to oversee 
the Council’s subsidiary companies. 

TEB approved the Business Plans of the Property Company and recommends to 
Council any increases in the facilities agreement which provide the framework under 
which the property company can borrow money form the Council.  The £150m 
approved limit recommended is included at Table 1 and is the current value 
approved by the Council.  However, for the money to be drawn down, business 
models of proposed acquisitions have to be presented to the TEB, and Full Council 
where appropriate for sign off before borrowing is approved.   

In relation to monitoring risk of default, the loan facilities agreement has a number of 
financial covenants, one of which is the loan to current value (total borrowings 
outstanding to value of assets) which is monitored and reported to TEB on an annual 
basis. 

 The facilities agreement also ensures that the Council has appropriate security over 
sums borrowed with first charge, or an appropriate form of security over the assets of 
the Company.  Should the property market move against the property Company then 
the Council will review and consider it options accordingly. 

The residual amount of limit for subsidiaries includes funding for Ashford 
International Development Company (AIDC) and future provision for Project Green.  

Parish Councils: The Council has made a number of loans in recent years to 
support parish councils with liquidity issues and to help fund costs associated with 
locally defending planning applications. 

Where the council makes these loans appropriate loan agreements are in place to 
ensure that the money is recovered in a timely manner.  In relation to risk the loans 
to Parish Councils are effectively underwritten by the ability of the Parish Council to 
raise precept accordingly to repay borrowed amounts.  

Suppliers/Local Businesses/Employees: the Council as at 31/03/2022 the Council 
had £50,000 loan with the Chilmington Management Organisation which was a 
project originally supported by the Council.  The provision makes further provision 
available should any further requirements arise in 2023/24. 

As with the examples of lending as outlined above, any decision to lend within the 
limit stipulated within this report would require further approval at an appropriate 
level, with appropriate supporting material before funds were released. 

  

Page 169



Appendix K 

Service Investments: Shares 

Contribution: The Council invests in the shares for its subsidiary so that it can 
develop and high quality private landlord function as aforementioned under service 
investment loans.  The Council also purchased shares in AIDC to secure a 65% 
stake in the Company. 

Security: One of the risks of investing in shares is that they fall in value meaning 
that the initial outlay may not be recovered. In order to limit this risk, upper limits on 
the sum invested in each category of shares have been set as follows, the approval 
limit is comparable to the amount investment and not the current fair value:- 

Table 2: Shares held for service purposes 

31.3.2022 actual 2023/24 Category of 
company 

Amounts 
invested 

Gains or 
losses 

Value in 
accounts 

Approved 
Limit 

 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Subsidiary – A 
Better Choice for 
Property Ltd. 

789 1,501 2,290 1,000 

Subsidiary – 
Ashford 
International 
Development 
Company Ltd.* 

0 0 0 1,500 

* AIDC been included as shares with a value of £1.427m were acquired in May 2022. 

Risk assessment: Shares in the Council’s subsidiary property company have been 
made to enable the property company to have an element of working capital which 
enable it to explore investment opportunities.  

The investment in Council subsidiary is not purely for financial return but to enable 
the development of a high quality landlord in the local area with a view to changing 
the offerings available through private renting, such as longer tenancy terms. 

As the sole shareholder of the Property Company the council would have to consider 
the shares in this company in the wider context to encompass the loans as outlined 
earlier in this strategy. 

As with all company related matters, any concerns the council or company have 
would be reported through the TEB accordingly.  

Page 170



Appendix K 

Liquidity: In relation to the property company the Council views this as a long term 
investment and has therefore not defined a maximum period for which the funds are 
deposited. 

If the Council made acquisitions of shares in other entities, it would consider the 
business model and set an initial investment period in conjunction with professional 
advisors. Where investment periods are for a long period they would still be regularly 
reviews and the investment time frame re-set accordingly based on the prevailing 
circumstances at the time.  Longer term investments would generally be placed with 
a 5 year outlook subject to review.  

Non-specified Investments: Shares are the only investment type that the Authority 
has identified that meets the definition of a non-specified investment in the 
government guidance. The limits above on share investments are therefore also the 
Authority’s upper limits on non-specified investments. The Authority has not adopted 
any procedures for determining further categories of non-specified investment since 
none are likely to meet the definition. 

Commercial Investments: Property 

Contribution: The Council invests in local, commercial property with the intention of 
making a contribution to the local economy through regeneration and a profit that will 
be spent on local public services.  

The most recent example of this would will be the New Town Works Development 
which will transform an empty space into a vibrant facility containing 302 residential 
units, educational facilities and studios.  This site will also generate income through 
additional business rates to the council in addition to capital receipts following 
disposal of the site.  

Previous examples include light industrial units constructed at Carlton Road. These 
units have been developed to support small businesses expand in the local area and 
provide more units to support the Council existing offering at Ellingham industrial 
estate.  Again, in addition to the economic benefits of Carlton Road it is expected to 
provide an income stream to the Council which can be used to maintain the current 
level of public services in Ashford as government support is cut.  

All commercial investments carry an element of risk and will react differently to 
changing economic conditions.  Carlton road is performing well in the current 
conditions although Elwick is seeing voids in the hospitality units where conditions 
are challenging. 

  

Page 171



Appendix K 

Table 3: Property held for investment purposes 

Actual 31.3.2022 actual 31.3.2023 forecast Property 

Purchase 
cost 

Gains 
or 

(losses) 

Value in 
accounts 

Gains or 
(losses) 

Value in 
accounts 

 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Ellingham 
Industrial 
estate units  

2,780* 4,014 6,794 0 6,794 

Park Mall 
(retail units) 
purchase  

4,404 2,340 6,744 0 6,744 

International 
House 
(Offices) 

7,731 2,297 10,028 0 10,028 

Carlton Road 
light industrial 
units  

6,823 -698 6,125 0 6,125 

Elwick – 
Restaurants, 
Cinema, Hotel  

38,893 

(as at 
31/03/2022) 

(24,005) 

 

14,888 

 

0 14,888 

 

Matalan  5,031 (442) 

 

4,589 

 

0 4,589 

 

TOTAL 65,662 (16,494) 49,168 0 49,168 

* Historical value as at 2007 – Acquisition of site was purchased between 1935 and 
1980 as it was acquired in stages. 

Given the current market volatility and sentiment, a forecast in movement in capital 
values for 22/23 has not be made.  Valuations are due to be completed by qualified 
valuers in March for the 2022/23 accounts and the Strategy will be updated 
accordingly. 

Security: In accordance with government guidance, the Authority considers a 
property investment to be secure if its accounting valuation is at or higher than its 
purchase cost including taxes and transaction costs.  

Page 172



Appendix K 

The Council’s budget setting and budget reporting arrangements will highlight and 
manage any impacts arising from this reduction in security. 

Risk assessment: The Authority assesses the risk of loss before entering into and 
whilst holding property investments by engaging professional consultants to ensure 
the existing valuation of the acquisition is fair, and also provide commentary on the 
market the assert will be competing with.  As a council though it is accepted that 
these assets are not purely acquired for financial gain and therefore the return on 
investment required will not be as high as for a private investor when considering an 
acquisition.  That being said the Council will not pay above a fair valuation unless it 
had a significant strategic purpose to the Authority. 

As part of the business plan the council will consider the ongoing requirements of the 
investment in terms of repairs and maintenance and future capital costs, it will also 
understand the requirement to tenant commercial property and consider who tenants 
will be attracted and lease renewals conducted where incumbent tenants are in 
place.  As part of this process the Council will carry out due diligence on any new 
tenant to ensure that they are financially sound and able to meet the lease 
obligations. 

The ongoing monitoring of tenants is performed by Council as part of its budget 
monitoring arrangements, the Council’s Corporate Property Team deal with lease 
events and the repairs and maintenance of assets.   

This report currently reflects a neutral position on revaluation due to the volatile 
nature of valuation in the current climate.  It is accepted that capital values rise and 
fall and therefore significant consideration is also given to the income streams of the 
assets to ensure that the cash inflows are sufficient to meet related expenditure, i.e. 
borrowing, repairs and maintenance costs. 

Liquidity: Compared with other investment types, property is relatively difficult to sell 
and convert to cash at short notice, and can take a considerable period to sell in 
certain market conditions.  When making acquisitions the Council takes a long term 
view and anticipates the borrowing requirement accordingly.  In terms of liquidity the 
Council has the ability to borrow form a number of sources and therefore it is unlikely 
that an event occurred where the Council would be required to sell assets to re-pay 
the linked debt.  This long term view is more prevalent now than ever as property 
values decline and any asset disposals could lead to losses real losses. 

Loan Commitments and Financial Guarantees 

Although not strictly counted as investments, since no money has exchanged hands 
yet, loan commitments and financial guarantees carry similar risks to the Authority 
and are included here for completeness.  

The Authority has contractually committed to make up to £150m of loans to its 
Subsidiary A Better Choice for Property Ltd. as part of the facilities agreement, 

Page 173



Appendix K 

should it request it and it is supported by an approved business plan.  This is 
covered under service loans.  

The Council also has entered into a £73m funding agreement with Ashford 
International Development Company for the Development of New Town Works.  The 
loan has appropriate milestone in place to release funding in phases. 

Capacity, Skills and Culture 

Elected members and statutory officers:  

The Council has treasury management advisors that are contracted to provide 
training and support to both officers and members. This includes regular strategy 
meetings which statutory officers and the responsible portfolio holder attend. The 
CFO has to be a member of professional accountancy body and participate in its 
Continual Professional Development scheme so that their skills are maintained and 
current. 

Commercial deals: On the occasions that he Council undertakes to make a 
commercial deal the statutory officers are required to ensure that Members have 
appropriate information to make an informed decision. This requires the Council to 
seek appropriate professional advice to inform decisions from properly qualified 
advisors. This advice is then reported to members to support the decision making 
process. As mentioned previously the Council has contracts Treasury Management 
advisors, Valuers and other specialists to ensure that there is ready access to 
support. 
 
Corporate governance: The Councils Constitution outlines the decision making 
process that has been put in place and the governance arrangements to ensure 
transparency and openness in decision making. Investment decisions are taken in 
the context of the Council’s Corporate Plan and medium term financial plans. 
 
Investment Indicators 
The Authority has set the following quantitative indicators to allow elected members 
and the public to assess the Authority’s total risk exposure as a result of its 
investment decisions. 

Total risk exposure: The first indicator shows the Authority’s total exposure to 
potential investment losses. This includes amounts the Authority is contractually 
committed to lend but have yet to be drawn down.  

 

 

 

 

 

Page 174



Appendix K 

 

Table 5: Total investment exposure 

Total investment exposure 31.03.2022 
Actual 

31.03.2023 
Forecast 

31.03.2024 
Forecast 

 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Treasury management 
investments 

30,000 30,000 30,000 

Service investments: Loans 42,843 47,000 82,000 

Service investments: Shares 605 789 2,216 

Commercial investments: 
Property 

65,662 49,168 49,168 

TOTAL INVESTMENTS 139,110 126,957 163,384 

Commitments to lend 107,157 233,000 198,000 

TOTAL EXPOSURE 246,267 359,957 361,384 

 

How investments are funded: Government guidance is that these indicators should 
include how investments are funded. Since the Authority does not normally associate 
particular assets with particular liabilities, this guidance is difficult to comply with. 
However, the following investments could be described as being funded by 
borrowing. The remainder of the Authority’s investments are funded by usable 
reserves and income received in advance of expenditure. 

  

Page 175



Appendix K 

Table 6: Investments funded by borrowing 

Investments funded by 
borrowing 

31.03.2022 
Actual 

31.03.2023 
Forecast 

31.03.2024 
Forecast 

 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Service investments: Loans 42,387 46,100 81,700 

Commercial investments: 
Property 

59,578 59,290 58,800 

TOTAL FUNDED BY 
BORROWING 

101,965 105,390 140,500 

 

Rate of return received: This indicator shows the investment income received less 
the associated costs, including the cost of borrowing where appropriate, as a 
proportion of the sum initially invested. Note that due to the complex local 
government accounting framework, not all recorded gains and losses affect the 
revenue account in the year they are incurred. 

The investment forecast for 2023/24 shows a negative return overall, this is due to 
significantly higher borrowing costs that were prevalent in 2022/23 and are forecast 
to increase on average within 2023/24, and there are also a number of void units 
within the investment portfolio.  It is worth noting the figures include MRP (Minimum 
revenue provision) which contributes the repayment of capital debt. 

Table 7: Investment rate of return (net of all costs) 

Investments net rate of return 2021/22 
Actual 

2022/23 
Forecast 

2023/24 
Forecast 

Service investments: Loans 2.34% 2.43% 0.58% 

Service investments: Shares 0% 0% 0% 

Commercial investments: Property 0.91% (1.95%) (2.45%) 

ALL INVESTMENTS 1.68% 0.47% (0.81%) 

 

Page 176



Appendix L 

 

 
Ashford Borough Council 

Council Tax Reduction 
 
 
 
 

Exceptional Circumstances Policy 
2023/24 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 177



Appendix L 

1 Background  
 
1.1 An Exceptional circumstances Policy has been created by Ashford Borough 
Council to assist persons who have applied for Council Tax Reduction and who are 
facing ‘exceptional circumstances’. This is to provide further assistance where an 
applicant has made a claim for Council Tax Reduction but do not qualify for support 
or even with support are unable to meet their Council Tax liability.  
 
1.2 The main features of the policy are as follows:  
 
* The operation of the policy will be at the total discretion of the Council;  
* The policy will be applied by the Revenues and Benefits section on behalf of 

the Council;  
* Exceptional circumstances falls within S13(A)(1a) of the Local Government 

Finance Act 1992 and forms part of the Council Tax Reduction scheme;  
* Exceptional circumstances awards will only be available for a Council Tax 

liability from 1 April 2023 onwards and will not be available for any other debt 
other than outstanding Council Tax;  

* To receive an award, an application for a Council Tax Reduction will need to be 
made, unless there are exceptional circumstances which would preclude any 
entitlement to a Council Tax Reduction.   

* Where an Exceptional circumstances award is requested for a previous period, 
Exceptional circumstances must have been proven to have existed throughout 
the whole of the period requested and will only be backdated to the start of the 
financial year in which the claim is made;  

* Exceptional circumstances awards are designed as short-term help to the 
applicant only; and  

* All applicants will be expected to engage with the Council and undertake the 
full application process. Failure to do so may mean that no payment will be 
made.  

 
 
2 Exceptional circumstances and Equalities  
 
2.1 The creation of an Exceptional Circumstances Policy facility meets the Council’s 
obligations under the Equality Act 2010.  
 
2.2 The Council recognises the impact the changes to our Council Tax Reduction 
Scheme will have on our most vulnerable residents and therefore the importance this 
policy has in protecting those applicants most in need. It should be noted that an 
Exceptional Circumstances Policy is intended to help in cases of extreme financial 
difficulty and not support a lifestyle or lifestyle choice. 
 
 
3 Purpose of this policy  
 
3.1 The purpose of this policy document is to specify how Ashford Borough Council 
will operate the scheme, to detail the application process and indicate a number of 
factors, which will be considered when deciding if an Exceptional circumstances 
payment can be made.  
 

Page 178



Appendix L 

3.2 Each case will be treated on its own merits and all applicants will be treated fairly 
and equally in both accessibility and also decisions made.  
 
 
4 The Exceptional circumstances process  
 
4.1 As part of the process of applying for additional support, all applicants must be 
willing to undertake all of the following:  
 
* Make a separate application in writing for assistance;  
* Provide full details of their income and expenditure;  
* Where a person is self-employed or a director of a private limited company, 

provide details of their business including supplying business accounts;  
* Accept assistance from either the Council or third parties where applicable 

(such as Citizens Advice Bureau and Money Advice Service) to enable them to 
manage their finances more effectively - including the termination of non-
essential expenditure and assessment of the potential for additional paid 
employment where applicable;  

* Identify potential changes in payment methods and arrangements to assist 
them;  

* Assist the Council to minimise liability by ensuring that all discounts, 
exemptions and reductions are properly granted; and  

* Maximise their income through the application for other welfare benefits, 
cancellation of non-essential contracts and outgoings and by identifying the 
most economical tariffs for the supply of utilities and services generally.  

 
4.2 Through the operation of this policy the Council will look to:  
 
* Allow a short period of time for someone to adjust to unforeseen short-term 

circumstances and to enable them to “bridge the gap” during this time, whilst 
the applicant seeks alternative solutions;  

* Help applicants through personal crises and difficult events that affect their 
finances;  

* Help those applicants who are trying to help themselves financially; and  
* Encourage applicants to contact the Job Centre Plus or the Job Club to obtain 

and sustain employment, where applicable.  
 
4.3 An Exceptional circumstances award will not be considered in the following 
circumstances:  
 
* Where the full Council Tax liability is being met by Council Tax Reduction;  
* For any other reason, other than to reduce Council Tax liability;  
* Where the Council considers that there are unnecessary expenses/debts etc 

and that the applicant has not taken reasonable steps to reduce them; or 
* To cover previous years Council Tax arrears. 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 179



Appendix L 

5 Exceptional circumstances award  
 
5.1 The Council will decide whether or not to make an Exceptional circumstances 
award, and how much any award might be.  
 
5.2 When making this decision the Council will consider:  
 
* The shortfall between Council Tax Reduction and Council Tax liability;  
* Whether the applicant has engaged with the Exceptional circumstances 

process;  
* The personal circumstances, age and medical circumstances (including ill 

health and disabilities) of the applicant, their partner any dependants and any 
other occupants of the applicant’s home;  

* The difficulty experienced by the applicant, which prohibits them from being 
able to meet their Council Tax liability, and the length of time this difficulty will 
exist;  

* The income and expenditure of the applicant, their partner and any dependants 
or other occupants of the applicant’s home;  

* All income received by the applicant, their partner and any member of their 
household irrespective of whether the income may fall to be disregarded under 
the Council Tax Reduction scheme;  

* Any savings or capital that might be held by the applicant, their partner and any 
member of their household irrespective of whether the capital may fall to be 
disregarded under the Council Tax Reduction scheme;  

* Other debts outstanding for the applicant and their partner;  
* The exceptional nature of the applicant and/or their family’s circumstances that 

impact on finances, and  
* The length of time they have lived in the property;  
 
5.3 The above list is not exhaustive and other relevant factors and special 
circumstances will be considered.  
 
5.4 An Exceptional circumstances award does not guarantee that a further award will 
be made at a later date, even if the applicant’s circumstances have not changed.  
 
5.5 An Exceptional circumstances award may be less than the difference between the 
Council Tax liability and the amount of Council Tax Reduction paid. The application 
may be refused if the authority feels that, in its opinion, the applicant is not suffering 
‘exceptional circumstances or where the applicant has failed to comply with the 
Exceptional circumstances process.  
 
 
6 Publicity  
 
6.1 The Council will make a copy of this policy available for inspection and will be 
published on the Council’s website.  
 
 
 
 
 

Page 180



Appendix L 

7 Claiming an Exceptional circumstances award  
 
7.1 An applicant must make a claim for an Exceptional circumstances award by 
submitting an online application to the Council via the Council’s website.  
 
7.2 Applicants can get assistance with the completion of the form from the Revenues 
and Benefits Service or Customer Services at the Council.  
 
7.3 The application form must be fully completed and supporting information or 
evidence provided, as reasonably requested by the Council.  
 
7.4 In most cases the person who claims the Exceptional circumstances award will be 
the person entitled to Council Tax Reduction. However, a claim can be accepted from 
someone acting on another’s behalf, such as an appointee, if it is considered 
reasonable.  
 
 
8 Changes in circumstances  
 
8.1 The Council may revise an Exceptional circumstances award where the applicant’s 
circumstances have changed which either increases or reduces their Council Tax 
Reduction entitlement. The Exceptional circumstances award may be increased or 
decreased. 
 
 
9 Duties of the applicant and the applicant’s household  
 
9.1 A person claiming an Exceptional circumstances payment is required to:  
 
* Provide the Council with such information as it may require to make a decision; 

and  
* Tell the Council of any changes in circumstances that may be relevant to their 

ongoing claim within 21 days of the change  
 
 
10 The award and duration of an Exceptional circumstances award 
  
10.1 Both the amount and the duration of the award are determined at the discretion 
of the Council, and will be done so on the basis of the evidence supplied and the 
circumstances of the claim.  
 
10.2 The start date and duration of any award will be determined by the Council. The 
maximum length of the award will be limited to the financial year in which the claim is 
received.  
 
 
11 Payment  
 
11.1 Any Exceptional circumstances award will be made direct onto the taxpayer’s 
Council Tax account, thereby reducing the amount of Council Tax payable.  
 
 
 

Page 181



Appendix L 

12 Overpaid Exceptional circumstances payments  
 
12.1 Overpaid Exceptional circumstances payments will generally be recovered 
directly from the applicant’s council tax account, thus increasing the amount of council 
tax due and payable.  
 
 
13 Notification of an award  
 
13.1 The Council will notify the resident of the outcome of their application for an 
Exceptional circumstances award.  
 
 
14 Appeals  
 
14.1 Exceptional circumstances awards are granted under S13A(1a) of the Local 
Government Finance Act 1992 as part of the Council Tax Reduction scheme, as such 
the normal Council Tax appeal process applies and an appeal can be made at any 
time. The initial appeal should be made to the Council who will review any decision. 
Ultimately any decision can be considered by an independent Valuation Tribunal.  
 
 
15 Fraud  
 
15.1 The Council is committed to protect public funds and ensure funds are awarded 
to the people who are rightfully eligible to them.  
 
15.2 An applicant who tries to fraudulently claim an Exceptional circumstances 
payment by falsely declaring their circumstances, providing a false statement or 
evidence in support of their application, may have committed an offence under The 
Fraud Act 2006.  
 
15.3 Where the Council suspects that such a fraud may have been committed, this 
matter will be investigated as appropriate and may lead to criminal proceedings being 
instigated.  
 
 
16 Complaints  
 
16.1 The Council’s ‘Complaints Procedure’ (available on the Councils website) will be 
applied in the event of any complaint received about the application of this policy.  
 
 
17 Policy Review  
 
17.1 This policy will be reviewed on an annual basis and updated as appropriate to 
ensure it remains fit for purpose. However, a review may take place sooner should 
there be any significant changes in legislation.  
 
18 Benchmarking 
 
18.1 Ashford Borough Council will monitor overall Exceptional circumstances 
expenditure annually and will benchmark against the other Kent Local Authorities

Page 182



Appendix M 

 
 

2023/24 Budget Report 
The following table represents risks to the 2023/24 budget at both a service 
and economic level.  These risks were presented with the draft budget and 

have been updated where appropriate to support the final budget. 

Page 183



Appendix M 

Budget Component Financial standing and management 

1. Stodmarsh Natural England issued its Advice in the Summer of 2020 and 
since then planning approvals in the Stour Catchment have been 
subject to an appropriate assessment demonstrating that the 
development is nutrient neutral.  This has effectively stopped new 
development in the catchment area. 

The Council and Developers are working on solutions with the 
Council seeking to deliver a strategic wetland and developers 
looking for alternative strategies.   

This block on development has had a considerable impact on the 
local economy reducing the construction sector.  In addition it has 
reduced the supply of accommodation in the borough, increasing 
the competition for properties.  This has seen impacts on rental 
levels, availability of temporary accommodation and the demand 
for temporary accommodation. 

This risk impacts upon the Councils House building program. 

The cost of a strategic solution will also form a significant financial 
risk to the Councils budget as it will have to forward fund 
considerable costs and seek to recover these from developers 
over the life of the local plan.  

2. Ashford Port 
Health Authority 

In September 2020 DEFRA (Department for the Environment, 
Food and Rural Affairs) informed the Council that the Sevington 
Inland Border Facility (IBF) was being designated a Border 
Control Post and the Council would become responsible for 
carrying out various port health controls on behalf of the 
Government. 

The Council recruited 125 Officers to deliver the Ashford Port 
Health Facility at Sevington. However the Council has now been 
advised that only 54 Officers will be necessary to fulfil the checks 
required.  DEFRA are expected to Publish a new Target operating 
Model for the facility in March 2023. 
Although the costs are currently being underwritten by 
Government, structural changes have been necessary to 
accommodate the proposed changes and central overheads were 
allocated accordingly. 

The changes have already increased recharges back to the 
general fund and there is a risk that any further changes will result 
in more costs being transferred back to the general fund.  Once 
the service is up and running it is anticipated to be self-funding 
through the charging of fees. 

Ashford Port Health is expected to become fully operational at the 
end of 2023. In the meantime the exiting teams have been 
repurposed for work required by DEFRA and by APHA for a six 
month secondment. 

Page 184



Appendix M 

Budget Component Financial standing and management 

3. Government 
Spending Review In the Autumn statement the government committed to raising 

core spending power by a minimum of 3% and a new funding 
guarantee grant. The increase is well below the level of inflation 
meaning that the Council will have to absorb the costs of inflation.  

Like in prior years the Government has not provided any updates 
when the reforms relating to the New Homes Bonus, fair funding 
or business rates will be implemented. 

 

Page 185



Appendix M 

4. Pressure on the 
2022/23 Budget 
and impact going 
forward. 

The ongoing impact of Covid19, as well as the war in Ukraine, and 
the UK’s decision to leave the European Union are all having an 
impact on the economy, and as a Council Ashford is not protected 
from these pressures.  The cost of living crisis is affecting both the 
Council finances and the finances of its residents who will need 
more support as a result.   

Homelessness – This area has been under increasing pressure 
for a number of years, the pressure was exacerbated by the 
pandemic as well as the financial pressures households are now 
facing, due to the increase in costs the position is not expected to 
improve.   

The 2022/23 budget was built on the assumption that there would 
be an average of 100 cases in Temporary Accommodation at any 
one time, however at the end of September there were 140 in 
Temporary Accommodation, leading to a significant increase in 
costs  

To address the long term issues in this area the Rough Sleepers 
Accommodation Programme is underway, although the number of 
properties to be purchased has been reduced due to a lack of 
available properties that meet the required specifications.   

In addition, the team are focussing more on prevention and are 
investigating a number of options for developing further bespoke 
homeless accommodation.   

The modular units at Henwood have been delayed due to the 
constraints at Stodmarsh, these are now due for completion in 
November 2023.    

The 2023/24 budget has been developed using the most up to 
date information, with the assumption that the current crisis will 
likely increase pressure on this area.  An average of 135 monthly 
cases has used as a basis of the 2023/24 calculation, however 
this area is still a risk to the budget, therefore officers will be 
keeping it under constant review and ensuring that prevention 
work becomes the most important tool to keeping these numbers 
down. 

Parking Income 

The 2022/23 budget has continued to be impacted as people’s 
habits and lifestyles have changed with working from home and 
internet shopping becoming more prevalent.  It was anticipated 
that the move to cashless parking would create savings from 
reduced cash collection, however, it led to an increase in 
transaction costs, officers are currently investigating ways that 
these transaction costs can be reduced going forward.   

This budget will continue to be a risk in 2023/24, as the economic 
crisis impacts shopping and travelling decisions for individuals.   

Page 186



Appendix M 

Budget Component Financial standing and management 

Planning And Development 

The service is in the process of terminating consultancy support 
for day to day operations however there may be some need for 
consultants to support the service for specialist work such as 
planning appeals, for which additional counsel fees are also 
required. 

There is also a reduction in anticipated income from pre-
application advice as the scheme is not yet live, in part due to the 
Stodmarsh issues and the current economic climate which are 
both having an impact on developers.  

Environment, Property and Recreation  

The waste contract has seen a significant increase in 2022/23, 
due to the contracted inflationary increase of 13%, which was a lot 
higher than anticipated.  If inflation continues to be high this will be 
a risk to the 2023/24 budget, and the MTFP.  The existing contract 
will also expires and the new contract will not commence until 
April 2024 due to a shortage of new fleet vehicles being available.  
Additional costs for extending the contract to April 2024 have 
been factored into the 2023/24 budget.  

There are a number of vehicles in use in the service, including 
Aspire, the increase in fuel costs has had an impact on the 
budget, as has the increase in fleet hire costs.   

Building Maintenance costs, such as Edinburgh Road car park, 
the leisure centres and copper beech tree at Repton, are also 
higher than anticipated, with inflation playing its part in increasing 
the cost of materials.  This will be funded from reserves in 
2022/23, however any unanticipated spend in 2023/24 will be a 
risk to the budget. 

Rent income at Park Mall and Elwick are lower than anticipated, 
and with the increase in the home working trend it is possible that 
the office rentals may also be affected.  Officers are continuing to 
monitor this and will keep members informed accordingly. 

Recreation has seen an increase in costs, due to the closure of 
3G facilities, as well as an increase in security costs and cleaning 
costs at the Pitch side and Courtside facility. 

 

Page 187



Appendix M 

Budget Component Financial standing and management 

5. Commercialisation The Council’s commercialisation agenda has progressed a 
number of areas including Garden waste and the Electrical 
Services Division in recent years. 

This is seen as an area to promote continued improvement in 
what we do going into 2023/24 and a budget of £60,000, funded 
from the additional income achieved is available to support 
existing and new ideas.  However, options will be considered as to 
where commercialisation best sits with it strong links to 
Transformation and digital projects. 

6. Transformation 
and digitalisation  

Digitalisation continues to be a key priority for the organisation to 
ensure systems work effectively and efficiently to deliver excellent 
services for our external stakeholders.  The digitalisation 
programme is targeting systems to ensure efficiencies through 
digitalisation can be maximised to create staffing capacity to 
manage business growth within existing resources. 
One of the most significant areas under review will be the 
implementation of a new database for the Community Safety and 
Wellbeing service. 

7. Assumptions 
about increases in 
service income. 

For budget setting purposes income has been increased by an 
average of 16.0%, for legislative reasons or demand some charges 
will be lower of higher than this.   
The proposed fees and charges are presented in detail as part of 
the budget report.  Any amendments to the proposals may involve 
a slight risk to the budget. 
A full review of the Council’s income streams will be undertaken in 
2023/24 to ensure fees and charges are appropriately set.  One 
area to be reviewed is around statutory charges where costs of 
delivery are increasing annually but charges have been frozen for 
many years.   

8. Housing Revenue 
Account  

The HRA Business Plan has a number of priorities including 
decarbonisation and a number of projects to build more homes in 
the borough.  The 30 year Business Plan will be fully presented at 
December Cabinet.   

The business plan is affordable although the current economic 
climate is impacting borrowing costs and development costs.  This 
pressure would normally be partly offset by an inflationary increase 
in rents, however in the Autumn Statement the Government 
recommended capping the rent increases to 7%, although this is 
2% higher than what was anticipated, it is still below the inflation 
rate limiting the HRA’s ability to keep up with the increasing cost of 
running the service as well as improving the choice available to 
tenants.  This will also impact the General Fund as the lack of 
affordable rented properties in the borough means a lack of move 
on accommodation for those families that find themselves 
homeless.  Regular updating of the HRA business plan to include 
new projects and financial monitoring will occur during 2023/24. 

Page 188



Appendix M 

Budget Component Financial standing and management 

9. Estimates of the 
level and timing of 
capital receipts. 

Capital receipts are low in the General Fund, the budgets and 
financing of the capital plan reflects this. 

The Housing Revenue Account capital receipts have reduced   
over the last couple of years as right to buy sales have reduced 
considerably due to Covid and the current economic conditions. 

The majority of RTB receipts need to be held to fund affordable 
housing (funds 30% of the total cost) within the Borough, and this 
Council took the opportunity to retain these receipts for this 
purpose, these receipts are called 1-4-1 capital receipts.  

The receipts and capital plans are being closely monitored and 
ensure these receipts are used to avoid repayment which would 
attract interest of 4% above base.  These funds are currently 
being spent well in advance of need as the on street purchasing 
programme was really strong, this scheme is now being reviewed 
to determine the best use of resources moving forward. 

10. Major Capital 
Projects 

There is a risk to projects of a capital nature at present as supply 
chain and economic conditions are significantly increasing tender 
prices that can challenge the affordability of self-funding schemes, 
or reduce that amount of work that can be undertaken for asset 
repairs and maintenance as we only have limited amount of 
capital resource. 
To maintain financial stability Members and Officers need to 
thoroughly assess new projects to ensure that they will not 
increase annual revenue costs to the Council, by way of additional 
unfunded borrowing costs or maintenance liabilities. 
It is acknowledged that some capital projects are delivered for 
more wider social and economic reasons, and that these schemes 
will need to be judged on their individual merits and the cost 
implications to the Council fully understood. 

11. Business Rates Changes to the council’s business rates yield is a major risk to the 
budget as the revaluation of rates and the level of appeals against 
new valuations could affect the overall level of rateable value 
within the borough, however Ashford’s movement is below the 
national and regional average so it is anticipated we should get 
less appeals. 
Government underwent a consultation exercise for a technical 
adjustment in the distribution of Business Rates between councils 
and Government.  It is the Government’s intention that Local 
authorities either gain or lose from the proposals, but with the 
detail not yet available it is unknown how it will affect Ashford.   
In the Autumn Statement the Government announced that they 
are freezing the business rates multiplier for another year (2023-
24), however business rates revaluation will go ahead with 
business rates bills updated from 1 April 2023 to reflect changes 
in property values since 2017. 

Page 189



Appendix M 

12. Inflation, Interest 
Rate and Pay 
Award 

In November 2022 the inflation rate stood at 10.7%, well above 
the 2% target mandated to the Bank of England.  However, it is 
gradually decreasing, December inflation was 10.5%, and is 
expected to decrease sharply from mid-2023 as a UK recession 
and increased interest rates slow the economy.   
 
Inflation rose as oil and gas prices increased because they were 
in greater demand as life got back to normal after Covid. Further 
pressure on prices was added after the war in Ukraine started and 
the countries have imposed sanctions on Russia and started 
using less Russian oil and gas. 
 
The war in Ukraine also led to food prices going up, by reducing 
the amount of grain available within Europe. 
 
The high inflation has created a costs of living crises that has 
needed the Government to introduce a cap on energy bills 
although prices continue to squeeze household incomes across 
the board. 
 
Rising inflation for the Council means: 
 
Less income collected through Council tax and rent demands as 
the residents of the borough will in some instances have to make 
decisions over heating homes, or paying monies owed to the 
Council. 

Less income through business rates if shops fail as consumers 
look to cut back, especially within the Food and Beverage industry 
which was still recovering from the Pandemic. 

Reduced demand for Council statutory and discretionary services, 
such as parking income and environmental services such as 
garden waste bins and bulky refuse collections, the Council is 
already experiencing a decline in garage occupancy levels as 
people look to reduce costs. 

In response to the high inflation rate the Bank of England had to 
increase the interest rate aggressively. The latest interest rate 
increase was in February 2023 where the interest rate increased 
by 0.5 percentage point, from 3.5% to 4%.  Further increases are 
expected with the peak interest rate expected to be 4.25%. 

Inflation is a factor that needs to be managed carefully within any 
financial planning regime. Inflation has been gradually climbing 
over the last few years and is now well above the Bank of 
England’s (BOE) 2% target as spikes in energy prices and supply 
chain issues have driven up costs.  Inflation rates are expected to 
have reached their peak and are forecasted to drop back to below 
target gradually by 1st Quarter 2024.  

Interest rates have been forecast at 3.75% (to represent the 
annual equated borrowing rate) although forecasting is incredibly 
difficult with current market uncertainty and presents a risk to 
forecast.  As a net borrower the Council is exposed to interest rate 

Page 190



Appendix M 

Budget Component Financial standing and management 

risk on its borrowing portfolio, which is in line with its strategy.  
The MTFP is assuming rate rises but if they rise more quickly than 
anticipated then this budget could be subject to interest rate 
pressures. 

Inflation is also a major driver in capital works and many of the 
council contracts are inflation linked, or inflationary rises will be 
applied.  Some allowance has been built into the MTFP and 
bespoke increases have been applied to the largest contracts and 
utility costs. 

Pay – the draft budget has made an overall allowance of circa 
9.8% for pay, this is 5% cost of living, 4.8% for increments.   

Increments were forecast to be 0.7% in the MTPF which is in line 
with historical averages, however due to a high turnover of staff 
and a number of regrading’s across the organisation, the number 
of people incrementing moving into 2023/24 is exceptionally high.  

This is on the back of the work that was undertaken last year to 
review our pay structure to ensure that pay levels were 
comparable for lower paid members of staff and as part of the 
settlement for 2021/22 pay awards were geared towards the lower 
paid. 

At the time of writing this report, a pay award has not been agreed 
and therefore any movement away from this expectation will have 
a positive or negative influence on the budget.   

 
 

 

Page 191



Appendix N 

NEWTOWN WORKS 
 
 
 
Newtown Summary 
 
Ashford Borough Council has a strong track record in making positive interventions to 
stimulate inward investment, for example at Elwick Place and the Commercial Quarter. 
 
Despite the challenges posed by the coronavirus pandemic, Ashford is still very much 
leading the way for inward investment and regeneration, and this project has the 
potential to become a catalyst for kick-starting the next exciting phase in this journey.  
 
The TV and film studios will bring significant benefits to Ashford in terms of investment 
and job creation and will play a key role in our economy’s future recovery as we come 
out from the pandemic.  
 
This development will be one of the most important economic drivers for the borough 
in the next few years and demonstrates the ongoing confidence that investors continue 
to have in Ashford.  
 
These exciting proposals involve finding a new use for one of the longest listed 
buildings in the country, which is of significant historical value but have been left to 
decay.  
 
This development will sensitively ensure our proud railway heritage is recognised, 
while transforming a brownfield site which has laid dormant for many years into a Film 
and TV Studio hub together with a hotel, serviced apartments and commercial units. 
 
Not only will this development put Ashford on the map nationally and internationally, it 
will also create sought after film studio space, provide thousands of jobs and make the 
town a hub for the creative arts industry, which is set to grow significantly in the future. 
 
Newtown Works Studio Operator 
 
As part of the Ashford International Development Company business have actively 
been in dialogue with a Global International Studio Operator for the last two months 
to pursue their interest in the Newtown Works Development. The proposal currently 
under consideration is around 120,169 sq ft of Studio, Workshop and office and 
ancillary space. Although smaller than the original proposal which planning 
permission has previously been granted 202,846 sq ft. It is expected that the 
proposal provides an enhancement on the studio operation albeit within a smaller 
space delivering similar economic benefits. 
 
The proposed terms subject to the completion of the due diligence of the transaction 
is the Ashford International Development Company will enter into arrangement with 
the studio operator for the studio and workshop space at a cost of £48,000,000 
which will be repaid at the time of the completion of the works together with a rental 
income of £400,000 per annum for 294 car parking spaces with the 999 year virtual 
free hold transferring to the operator on the expiry of the term. In addition, there is a 
requirement to provide 511 no spaces for a multi storey car park at a cost of 
£10,000,000 which in part will be used by the studio operator and by the Hotel, 
commercial operators and occupiers of the serviced apartments. 

Page 192



Appendix N 

 
The proposal for the Studio facility will provide the additional benefits as articulated 
below: - 
 
Wider Economic Benefits  
 
A high-quality film/TV production will employ 150-200 FTE’s in production 
management, art, costume, and make-up departments. The locations, catering, 
special effects and construction teams will also employ 100-150 FTE’s during the 
production. With current spending on productions being in the region of £8m per 
episode with each production delivering 8-10 episodes per annum, the total spend 
per production can range from £60m to £80m per annum. The consequential local 
spend on suppliers, studio facilities and local labour could be £15-£25m per 
production.  
 
The construction phase of the project (circa £48m) would look to engage the local 
supply chain, potentially returning in excess of £30m to the local economy and 
employing an average of 130 FTE’s for the period.  
 
Education and Training  
 
The proposed operator has already developed a training campus within their other 
Studios, , equipped with the latest technologies and integrated into the world of Film 
and TV production. There is a similarity with the Newtown site and we are in 
discussions with the college operator shaping the offer.  The facility will introduce, 
train and immerse students into the world of Film and TV. It is anticipated that 
working with the studios the college will allow access to the latest production facilities 
and equipment and work experience on major film and television projects 
 
The Operators other UK site makes the following offer to partner colleges: 

• Free access to state-of-the-art production facilities  
• Free access to camera, lighting and grip equipment  
• Work experience on major film and television project  
• Access to over 300 of the latest production, editing, VR and 3D Apps  
• Lectures from key industry leaders  
• Access to internship programmes at all owned, managed or affiliated 
facilities in North America and the UK  
• Support and equipment for each student to make their own film  
• Job placement – Studio operator’s strong relationships with media 
companies and producers, combined with the work experiences gained at this 
campus, will benefit students as they start their careers.  
• Trades conversion and re-training programmes to re-skill a potential 
workforce to enable access to the jobs and careers in Film and TV production.  

 
The development will include training and mentoring facilities and functions as part of 
the development plans. The objective of having training facilities is to raise 
awareness of the potential of the industry in terms of careers and via funded training 
and mentoring programmes, help address the skills demand as the UK film and TV 
sector continues to grow.  
 
The Studio operator, working with the skills levy, will also fund direct placement 
mentoring and training schemes to embed potential employees within the various 
productions at the studios. This replicates the steps taken in North America and 

Page 193



Appendix N 

learning from the success attributed to the earlier training and development models 
employed at the BBC.  The Studio operator will provide an environment where 
trainees and apprentices would be supported through a programme of hands-on 
experience and contribution to provide them with a great introduction to the industry.  
 
In summary 
 
Members are asked to consider a funding envelope of £58,000,000 to be included 
within the Capital Plan for 2023-2025 and to note a detailed report to Cabinet will 
follow on this proposal shortly including the due diligence process to be followed. 

Page 194



Appendix O 

 
Proposed Budget Savings for the 2023/24 financial year 

 
 
  

Ref. Service Saving £’000 Comments 
Proposed 
year of 
delivery 

i Corporate Management Team 
and wider restructure 300 

Based on reducing 
the size of MT, will 
require adjustments 
within team 
structures. 
 
Upfront costs may be 
required 

2023 -£200K 
 
2024 -£100k 

ii Corporate  Proposal to move to 
International House 300 

Based on reducing 
net costs, future use 
of the Civic Centre 
not factored in (i.e. 
housing scheme). 
 
Upfront costs may be 
required 

2023 

iii Various Review of service 
structures 505 

To be reviewed, 
reduction in work 
linked to reduction in 
staffing 

2023 

v Corporate Administration Review 150 Review underway 2023 
vi Corporate Enforcement Review 65 Review underway 2023 

vii Policy & 
Performance Reduction in Grants 100 

Review underway, 
recommendation to 
retain the £3k per 
Councillor 

2023 

      1,420     
 

Page 195



This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Item No: 
 

9 

Report To: 
 

Cabinet 

Date of Meeting: 
 

23 February 2023 

Report Title: 
 

Quarter 3 - Financial Monitoring 

Report Author: 
Job Title: 

Lee Foreman 
Service Lead Finance 
 

Portfolio Holder: 
Portfolio Holder for: 
 

Cllr. Neil Shorter 
Finance and IT 
 

 

Summary: 
 

This report presents the third quarter budget monitoring 
position, as at the 31 December 2022.  The economic 
outlook has calmed.  Interest rate predictions are becoming 
clearer and there are indications that we are getting to a 
stage where only 1 more increase may be necessary. 

The outlook since quarter two has improved with a reduction 
in the deficit of £642,000 making the revised forecast outturn 
£1.4m. 

The Key movements in the quarter include additional 
investment income of £570,000 with interest on cash 
balances increasing, and strategic investments returning 
stronger dividends.  On the other side borrowing costs have 
increased by £280,000 giving a net saving of £290,000. 

The Council has also received (net of fees) £270,000 for 
completing a funding agreement with Ashford International 
Development Company.  On completing the agreement the 
Council has been able to recognise interest due of £600,000, 
it is recommended that this amount should be put in an 
earmarked reserves to support any risks relating to this 
project. 

Other key movements in the quarter include £204,000 
reduction in Planning recognising the use of the planning 
reserve for specific projects within planning, and the 
repayment of £106,000 of Housing grant from 2021/22 where 
recruitment difficulties prevented this from being realised. 

The Housing Revenue Account (HRA) is reporting a total 
underspend in operational activity in year of £373,000 
(£489,000 at quarter two).  There is a further reduction of 
£1.5m within the HRA capital programme due to staff 
shortages. 

This report also provides an update on the collection fund, 
treasury management, and the ANPR (Automatic Number 
Plate Recognition) programme. 

Page 197

Agenda Item 9



 
Key Decision: 
 

 
NO 

Significantly 
Affected 
Wards: 

 

None 

Recommendations: 
 

The Cabinet is recommended to:- 
 
I. Note the quarter 3 forecast position for the 

General Fund and the Housing Revenue Account. 
II. Note the Collection Fund position 
III. Note the Treasury Management position 
IV. Note the provisional reserve allocations as 

highlighted at Table 6 of this report 
V. To note the update of the ANPR installation 

project at Appendix B. 
VI. To provide delegation to the Assistant Director 

and Portfolio Holder of Safety and Wellbeing to 
progress with ANPR installation into other 
suitable car parks, utilising the capital funding 
that was agreed in 2019. 
 

Policy Overview: The Budget is a key element supporting the delivery of the 
Council’s wider policy objectives. 
 

Financial 
Implications: 
 

The General Fund is reporting an overall pressure of 
£1.432m based on quarter three budget monitoring. 
 
The HRA is forecasting an overall underspend of £373,000 in 
operational budgets, and is forecasting a reduction in capital 
spend, compared to the original budget, of £1.5m. 
 

Legal Implications: 
 

N/a 
 
 

Equalities Impact 
Assessment: 
 

A full assessment was undertaken as part of 2022/23 Final 
Budget Report. 

 
  
Exempt from 
Publication: 
 

No 
 

Contact: Lee.foreman@ashford.gov.uk – Tel: (01233) 330509 
 

Page 198



 
Agenda Item No. 9 
 

Report Title: Quarter Three Financial Monitoring 
Introduction and Background 
 
1. This report presents the forecast outturn position to 31 March 2023 based on 

information available as at 31 December 2022. 

2. In response to rising inflation, the Bank of England (BOE) has increased the 
UK interest rate to 4% (February 2023), with further increases anticipated at 
future meetings of the BOE’s Monetary Policy Committee (MPC) with peak 
rates now anticipated to reach 4.25%. 

3. Inflationary and interest rate forecasts used in the 2022/23 budget setting 
process were a lot lower than the reality, with actual rates leading to 
significant pressure on Council budgets, notably the refuse collection contract 
(13% uplift) and short term borrowing rates which have increased by around 
3,900% over the year. 

4. In addition to the pressures being felt by the Council, the Council’s residents 
and businesses are also feeling the impacts of rising inflation and interest 
rates, which is likely to lead to pressure on the Council’s sales, fees and 
charges income, collection rates, as well as add pressure to frontline services, 
such as homelessness representations which are already well above 
budgeted levels. 

5. In light of these pressures, as well as any future turbulence in the economy, 
officers are continuing to review budgets in order to mitigate, as much as 
possible, the effects of the pressures the Council is facing.  This review 
process extended into the 2023/24 budget, which is also on tonight’s Cabinet 
Agenda. 

6. This report considers each of the following areas of the Council in more detail 
including the General Fund, Housing Revenue Account, Collection Fund 
(Council Tax and Business Rates), Reserves, Treasury Management, and an 
update on the ANPR programme. 

 

Page 199



Summary of General Fund Position 
 
7. The current General Fund position is forecasting a deficit of £1.4m which is an 

improvement of £642,000 on the 2.074m deficit reported at quarter two.   

8. Directors are continuing to review and challenge all new appointments to limit 
additional staffing costs to support the deficit.  Wider expenditure is also being 
reviewed by Assistant Directors and Heads of Service to ensure that only 
service essential is being incurred. 

9. Table 1 shows the movement between revised budget and forecast outturn, 
and the variance between the quarter two and quarter three forecasts, at an 
Assistant Director level.  Further details of material movements in each 
Assistant Director area are covered in the narrative section below. 

Table 1 - General Fund Quarter 3 Forecast as at 31 December 2023 projecting 
the year end position 

 

 

Summary of General Fund Movements at Assistant Director Level 

Finance and IT 

10. Finance and IT is reporting a quarterly movement of £385,000, this is largely 
due to the signing of the funding agreement with the Councils subsidiary 

General Fund Summary at Assistant Director Level 
2022/23 
Current 
Budget

2022/23 
Forecast 

Outturn at 
Q3

2022/23 
Quarter 2 
Forecast

2022/23 Q2 
to Q3 

Movement

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Finance and IT 2,259 1,801 2,186 (385)
HR, Customer Services, Comms and Digitalisation 522 600 611 (11)
Housing 1,227 1,737 1,658 79
Safety Wellbeing and Port 647 907 941 (34)
Environment, Property and Recreation 5,075 6,016 5,899 117
Planning and Development 2,298 2,478 2,682 (204)
Corporate Management Costs 1,650 1,402 1,389 13
Head of Economic Development 686 660 675 (15)
Head of Performance and Policy 1,352 1,319 1,316 3
Solicitor to The Council and Monitoring Officer 303 314 327 (13)
Total Service Expenditure 16,019 17,234 17,684 (450)
Capital Charges & Net Interest (2,154) (1,937) (1,654) (283)
Levies, Grants and Precepts 282 282 282 0
Contribution to Balances 1,947 1,947 1,856 91
Budget Requirement 16,094 17,526 18,168 (642)
Financing:
Retained Business Rates (4,685) (4,685) (4,685) 0
Government Grants (398) (398) (398) 0
Rural Services Delivery Grant (87) (87) (87) 0
New Homes Bonus (1,886) (1,886) (1,886) 0
Council Tax (9,038) (9,038) (9,038) 0
Total Movement 0 1,432 2,074 (642)

Page 200



Ashford International Development Company (AIDC) which attracted an 
arrangement fee of £270,000 net of legal fees.  This agreement will provide 
the mechanism for AIDC to draw down funds to develop the New Town Works 
Site. 

11. Other movements include £30,000 of salary savings in ICT, as well as 
£20,000 increase in legal fees recovered within Council tax. 

Housing (General Fund) 

12. Housing is reporting a net pressure of £79,000 within the quarter, there has 
been continued pressure in Homelessness within the quarter (£181,000) 
although these additional costs have been met from additional grant funding. 

13. The pressure reported in quarter is attributed to the repayment of £106,000 of 
grant funding received in 2021/22, the grant conditions for the support of TA 
costs were very restrictive and Ashford needed to appoint specific (new) 
Officers to utilise the grant.  Unfortunately recruitment into these posts was 
not possible within the timeframe of the grant conditions and therefore had to 
be returned. 

Environment, Property and Recreation 

14. Overall Environment, Property and Recreation is reporting a pressure of 
£117,000 within the quarter. 

15. Facilities management has incurred additional costs of £41,000 at Courtside 
and Pitchside to help reduce anti-social behaviour and ongoing damage to the 
facility.  There has also been an increase in utility costs at the Civic Centre of 
£38,000. 

16. Property services has also incurred additional expenditure of £45,000 relating 
to additional surveying work.  There has been £14,000 additional pressure to 
protect the air source heat pump at the Stour Centre from vandalism or theft 
while a long term solution is procured.  

17. Grounds Maintenance is reporting a saving of £146,000, £115,000 of this 
savings is through the recovery of works costs from the HRA and external 
sources, there is also a £32,000 saving in staff costs. 

18. Estates have a saving of £52,000 as they are carrying a vacant post. 

19. Recreation has forecast a pressure of £135,000 in quarter, this is made up 
from salary savings of £28,000, additional income from Kingsnorth Recreation 
Centre of £22,000 and £187,000 utility costs which will be billed to the Stour 
operator in the coming months.  

Planning and Development 

20. Planning and Development is forecasting a reduction in outturn of £204,000. 
This saving had been generated by £147,000 of costs are proposed to be 
funded from the Planning Reserve to fund one off additional pieces off work.  

Page 201



These projects include development of the PAA (Pre Application Advice) and 
PPA (Planning Performance Agreement) charging framework, and external 
support to help reduced the planning caseload. 

21. There is additional income of £45,000 from Planning Enforcement legal fees. 

Housing Revenue Account (HRA) 

22. The Housing Revenue Account is showing an increase in operational 
expenditure of £116,000 compared to quarter two.  This additional cost is 
within repairs and maintenance budgets and reflect the mid-year contract 
increase with the contractor.  

23. Planned capital works are currently under review, in light of contractor delays 
and long-term sickness in the team, which is creating slippage in the planned 
works and this has led to a reduction in planned spend of £1.5m. 

24. A breakdown of this variance is shown in Table 2 below: 

Table 2 – 2022/23 Housing Revenue Account Forecast Outturn Position 
(Quarter 3) 

Housing Revenue Account
2022/23 
Current 
Budget

2022/23 
Forecast 

Outturn at 
Q3

2022/23 
Quarter 2 
Forecast

2022/23 Q2 
to Q3 

Movement

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Supervision and Management 6,732 6,694 6,662 32
Income (28,775) (28,782) (28,782) 0
New Build 201 22 29 (8)
Other 15,960 15,677 15,677 0
Repairs and Maintenance 4,347 4,481 4,390 92
Net Revenue Expenditure (1,535) (1,908) (2,024) 116
Capital Works - Decent Homes 6,142 4,122 5,657 (1,535)

Financed By:
Contribution to/(from Major Repairs Reserve) (6,142) (4,122) (5,657) 1,535
Net Capital Expenditure 0 0 0 0
Total Net Expenditure (1,535) (1,908) (2,024) 116

Page 202



Collection fund Monitoring 

Business Rates 

25. Collection rates for NNDR continue to be regularly monitored to gauge the 
potential impact of the current economic situation within the Borough.  At the 
end of December 2022, 82.11% (£45.274m) of rates billed for the year had 
been collected, this compares to 79.36% in 2021/22 and 76.92% in 2020/21. 

26. Collection rates have improved compared to the same point last year, and 
pre-pandemic levels.  However, it should be noted there is a continuing 
pressure on businesses that will not only impact on the ability of businesses to 
pay but may also result in a fall in the number of businesses.   

27. The estimate of Business Rates billed in the third quarter has dropped by 
£1.3m, this is largely due to successful appeals by supermarkets (a national 
trend) against their rateable value which has been reflected in 2022.  The 
business rates appeals reserve will be reviewed at year end and 
corresponding provision released to fund the deficit. 

28. Including a prior year surplus of £3.5m, the overall surplus on the collection 
fund for business rates is forecast at £926,000 with Ashford’s share (40%) of 
that deficit being around £370,000. 

Table 3 – Business Rate Summary 

 

 

 

 

 
 

Collection Fund - Business Rates Original Budget 3 Qtr 
Outturn

2 Qtr 
Outturn

Variance to 
Previous 
Quarter 

2022/23 2022/23 2022/23 2022/23
£'000

Opening (Surplus)/Deficit 13,285 13,285 13,285 0
(Deficit) contributed by/Surplus distributed to Major Preceptors (16,771) (16,771) (16,771) (0)
Remaining Deficit/(Surplus) to be Contributed/(Distributed) (3,486) (3,486) (3,486) (0)
2022/23
Amount of Business Rates to be paid to Major Preceptors 49,326 49,380 49,326 54
Amount of Business Rates Billed (52,038) (49,075) (50,382) 1,307
Transitional Relief (Recovered)/Payable 0 0 3 (3)
Other Items Charged to the Collection Fund: 0 0 0 0
Appeals and Rateable Value Reductions 1,500 1,670 1,706 (36)
Bad and Doubtful Debts 900 289 904 (615)
Renewable Energy 106 311 311 0
Cost of Collection 205 (16) 16 (32)
In year (Surplus)/Deficit (1) 2,560 1,884 2,561

Overall (Surplus)/Deficit on Collection Fund (3,487) (926) (1,602) 2,561

Page 203



Council Tax 

29. The percentage of Council Tax receipts collected at the end of December 
2022 was 85.57% (84.265m), this compares to previous collection rates of 
85.37% in 2021/22 and 85.40% in 2020/21.  The in-year collection rate is 
comparable to previous year but still short of pre-covid levels where collection 
rates were 86.11%.  Officers are continuing to monitor collection rates. 

30. The amount of council tax billed has increased, by around £296,000, 
compared to the second quarter, and is an increase above original estimates 
generating a surplus on the account.   

31. Overall the collection fund for Council Tax is reporting a year end surplus of 
£274,000 of which Ashford’s share would be around £27,000, based on 
current forecasts.   

Table 4 Council Tax Summary 

 
 
 

Original Forecast Quarter 2 Quarter 3 Variance
2022/23 2022/23 2022/23
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Opening Deficit/(Surplus) (3,505) (3,505) (3,505) 0
Deficit contributed by Major Preceptors 3,891 3,891 3,891 0

2022/23
Amount of Council Tax to be Paid to Major Preceptors 97,347 97,347 97,347 0
Amount of Council Tax Billed (97,347) (97,480) (97,776) 296
In Year Write Offs and Bad Debt Provision Increase (983) 166 (231) 397
In Year (Surplus)/Deficit (983) 33 (660) 693

Overall (Surplus)/Deficit (597) 419 (274) 693

Page 204



Appendix A 

Capital Monitoring 
 
32. Table 5, below, illustrates the capital expenditure forecast for each approved 

capital project.  Sources of funding are detailed below so do not form part of 
the figures shown in the table. 

Table 5 – 2022/23 Capital Expenditure Forecast Quarter 3, Projecting the Year 
End Position 
 

 
 

Project Name Total 
Approved 

Budget

Spend at 
31/3/22

22/23 
forecast 
spend

Future 
Forecast spend

Total Spend Project 
Variance

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Place and Space
Planned Minor Capital Works for General Fund Assets 2,000 500 500 1,000 2,000 0
Ellingham Roof 500 0 0 500 500 0
Tenterden Leisure Centre Roof 1,178 816 362 0 1,178 0
Stour Centre Pool Tiles 750 0 0 750 750 0
Victoria Park Fountain & Carpark 570 0 0 570 570 0
International House Works 2,050 0 50 2,000 2,050 0
Solar PV (various sites) 10,800 45 3,100 7,655 10,800 0
Solar PV Carlton Road 401 0 514 0 514 113
Stodmarsh - Phase 1 10,000 5 200 9,795 10,000 0
Newtown Works - Phase 1 87,273 129 14,028 73,116 87,273 0
Vicarage Lane redevelopment - Phase 1 10,664 3,513 2,151 5,000 10,664 0
Project Green 47,000 33 0 69,967 70,000 23,000
Single Grants Gateway Fund 300 75 225 300 0
Victoria Park Rejuvenation Project 3,468 231 2,437 1,500 4,168 700
Conningbrook Lakes Country Park development 2,055 78 950 1,027 2,055 0
Tenterden Decarbonisation Works 2,010 327 936 1,213 2,476 466
Civic Centre Decarbonisation Works 0 0 0 0 0 0
Play Parks 1,100 0 2 1,098 1,100 0

Health & Wellbeing
Henwood Temporary Accommodation 4,700 90 300 4,310 4,700 0
Rough Sleepers Accommodation Programme 3,552 379 1,172 1,378 2,929 (623)

Customer Tech & IT
Digital Transformation 664 119 434 111 664 0

HRA
Programmed Works Including Disabled Adaptations 29,695 2,581 5,330 21,784 29,695 0
Play Areas 300 178 61 61 300 0
Street Purchases 39,074 5,338 800 24,881 31,019 (8,055)
St Stephens Walk 3,165 567 0 2,598 3,165 0
Halstow Way 6,997 4,131 3,073 0 7,204 207
55 Mabledon (Piper Joinery) 7,246 2,053 0 5,193 7,246 0
Oakleigh House 15,946 257 5,125 8,630 14,012 (1,934)
Ford Way 9,042 0 0 9,042 9,042 0
Coneybeare 9,776 0 0 9,776 9,776 0
Tile Kiln 7,210 1,124 0 6,086 7,210 0
Infill Sites 6,274 0 0 6,274 6,274 0
Hamlet Chilmington 1,970 1,115 855 0 1,970 0
Digitalisation 90 0 20 70 90 0
Decarbonisation 85,165 0 800 84,365 85,165 0
Lifeline 220 0 0 220 220 0
CRM 35 0 0 35 35 0
Court Wurtin 455 180 166 109 455 0

Page 205



 

 
General Fund Capital 
 

 
33. Solar Panels PV Carlton Road – £113,000 overspend due to increased costs 

since the procurement and tender stages. 
 
34. The Decarbonisation Programme – Changes have occurred since last quarter 

as the Civic Centre is not a viable site following investigations.  The budget 
has subsequently been agreed to be transferred to Tenterden Leisure Centre 
along with the Salix funding of £2m.  Due to increased costs the £466,000 
overspend will be funded from the Climate Change Reserve. 

 
  Housing Revenue Account (HRA) Capital 

 
35. The issues at Stodmarsh continue to delay the HRA building programme, in 

addition to this, the current economic climate is affecting the feasibility of 
some projects, which will need to be delayed.  Officers are currently reviewing 
the HRA Business Plan (Cabinet December 2022) which will give more detail 
on the current timeline for projects. 
 

36. On Street Purchases – At the time of writing three properties have been 
purchased in 2022/23, with a further two expected by the end of the year.  At 
the time the budget was set the economy was in a very different place, 
however with the pressures on the HRA Business Plan, due in part to the cost 
of borrowing, as well as the increasing property prices, this is no longer a 
viable way to increase the council’s housing stock.  Going forward it has been 
decided that unless there are properties that fulfil a specific housing need then 
there will be no further street purchases after 2022/23.  
 

Reserves 

37. Contributions to and from reserves that were not identified as part of the 
budget setting process are required to be reported as part of the budget 
monitoring report.  These pressures are not reflected in the general fund 
figures previously covered within this report. 

38. Following signing of the funding agreement in November, between Ashford 
Borough Council and Ashford International Development Company the 
interest on funding to year end is forecasted to be circa £600,000.  It is 
recommended that due to the size and complexity of the New Town Works 
development which encompasses multiple phases, that this funding presents 
an opportunity to create earmarked reserve within the Economic Growth and 
Risk Fund to specifically manage any risks that emerge from the development 
that need financial resource to manage.   

39. Once the development is complete and risks managed, then the reserve 
would be added back to general reserves. 

40. Table 6, below, identifies the reserve movements that are proposed for year-
end, subject to the final outturn position.  Cabinet are asked to note these 
proposals. 

Page 206



 

Table 6 – Breakdown of Reserve Movements 

Purpose Suggested Reserve Amount £ 

Support for Tenterden Leisure 
Centre as a new Operator is 
tendered for.  This support was 
put in place to retain the 
incumbent operator in light of 
challenging market conditions 
and avoid closure of the centre. 

Economic Growth and Risk 
Fund 

750,000 

The current operational repairs 
and maintenance budget for the 
Council is overspent by £543,000 
following a number of essential 
projects, this is to be funded from 
the wider repairs and renewals 
reserve. 

Repairs and Renewals 
reserve 

543,000 

Creation of an earmarked reserve 
to explicitly manage risk arising 
from the New Town Works 
Development. 

Economic Growth and Risk 
Fund (Newtown Town 
Works) 

(600,000) 

Total (to)/from reserves  693,000 

Recommendation – Cabinet is asked to note the reserve movement proposals 
in Table 6 above. 

 
 

Page 207



 

Treasury Management 
41. The breakdown of the Capital Charges and Net Interest line is shown below at 

Table 7.  This table shows the borrowing and investment budget, Minimum 
Revenue Provision (MRP) and depreciation.  The MRP is a statutory payment 
the Council has to make to offset the costs of capital borrowing over the life of 
the associated asset. 

Table 7 – Net Interest Summary 

 

Interest payable / Interest receivable 

42. There has been continued pressure on borrowing costs in the third quarter 
with interest payable increasing by £277,000.  Rates have continued to rise in 
2023 with rates increased to 4% in February, and are expected to increase to 
4.25% at the next meeting of the Bank of England Monetary Policy committee.   

43. The current loan portfolio is shown at Appendix A, where the impact of 
increasing interest rates on short term borrowing costs become evident. 

44. In the last quarter the Council has had slightly larger balances than 
anticipated as we move to a lower liquidity position to minimise borrowing 
need.  Although liquid (easily accessible) cash is only placed in Money Market 
Funds the overnight interest rates have starting to pick up increasing the 
forecast on cash balances to £180,000. 

45. The rest of the strategic investments are also outperforming expectation, 
budgets were increased conservatively last year but the changing economic 
conditions have provided greater than anticipate returns.  The strategic pooled 
funds are forecasting increased dividend payments of circa £300,000 and the 
CCLA Property funds is forecasting a £80,000 increase.  It should be noted 
however that these forecast are largely based on the first two quarters 
payments and they can fluctuate quite significantly introducing risk to the 
forecast.  

46. Investment Capital Values – the capital value of strategic investments is 
now valued at £29.2m compared to an original investment value of £30.8m, 
therefore representing a capital decline of £1.6m with a significant fall of 1.4m 
in the CCLA Property Fund although the Council still has capital growth in this 
fund as we have held it since 2013.  As we learnt from the pandemic, when 
the funds were reduced by circa £4m, the Council needs to be comfortable 
with the long term nature of these funds and hold them in accordance with 
strategy. 

2021/22 
Current 
Budget

2022/23 
Forecast 

Outturn at 
Q3

2022/23 
Forecast 

Outturn at 
Q2

2022/23 
Quarter 3 
Variance 

2022/23 
Forecast 
Variance

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000
Interest payable 1,146 1,423 1,146 277 277
Interest receivable (3,022) (3,082) (2,522) (560) (60)
Minimum revenue provision 1,664 1,664 1,664 0 0
Depreciation (1,942) (1,942) (1,942) 0 0
Total Net Interest (2,154) (1,937) (1,654) (283) 217

Page 208



 

47. Current investment balances, and borrowing portfolios are shown at 
Appendix A. 

 

Automatic Numberplate Recognition installation 
 
48. Appendix B provides an update on the progress of the Automatic 

numberplate recognition installation project and dovetails into the reports that 
were presented to Cabinet in December 2019 (minute CA191219/253) and 
January 2022 (minute CA270122/249).  The update also recommends that the 
project extends into alternative car parks with the suitable delegation being 
given to Assistant Director and Portfolio Holder for Safety and Wellbeing to 
utilising the capital funding that was agreed in 2019. 

Recommendations 
 
49. To note the update of the ANPR installation project at Appendix B. 

 
50. To provide delegation to the Assistant Director and Portfolio Holder of 

Safety and Wellbeing to progress with ANPR installation into other 
suitable car parks, utilising the capital funding that was agreed in 2019. 

 
Portfolio Holder’s Views 
 
51. Quarter three has afforded me the opportunity to deliver some positive news 

in what has been an incredibly challenging year to date.  As interest rates 
have risen and impacted borrowing costs, investment balances have proven 
more resilient than anticipated and have made a net contribution of £290,000 
towards reducing the in-year deficit.  

52. There has however been continued pressure on Council utility and 
operationally on Homelessness although I note that this has been funded from 
additional grant allocations.  

53. Directors and the wider Management Team are continuing to review 
measures in place to control expenditure and ensure that all recruitment is 
reviewed before approval is given.   

54. To conclude on a positive note, the income generated from both the loan 
interest and the facility arrangement fee in relation to the New Town Works 
Development, demonstrate that despite the challenging economic 
environment Ashford is still very much open for business and the ‘right’ 
opportunities to increase the economic prosperity of the Borough.   

 
Contact and Email 
 
55. Lee Foreman  - Lee.Foreman@ashford.gov.uk 
 

Page 209



Appendix A 

 
 

 
Counter Party Deal Date Rate Amount Fair Value

% £ £
Investment Accounts
Goldman Sachs Various 0.05% 54,117 54,117
ICD Portal - BNP Various 2.75% 6,860,000 6,860,000
Payden Global MMF Various 3.00% 3,000,000 2,918,950

Total Investment Accounts 9,914,117 9,833,067

Long Term Investments

Property Investment
A Better Choice of Property Ltd.*** Various 0.00% 789,060 1,096,036
CCLA Local Authority Property Fund Various 3.69% 11,000,000 11,792,644
Equity Funds**
CCLA Diversified Income Fund Various 2.54% 3,000,000 2,791,269
Ninety One Diversified Income Fund 28/03/2019 3.73% 2,500,000 2,208,493
Aegon Diversified Income Fund 13/05/2019 5.05% 5,500,000 4,799,363
Schroder Income Maximiser Various 7.32% 3,500,000 2,981,421
UBS Multi Asset Income Fund Various 5.29% 3,000,000 2,260,050
UBS Global Income Equity Fund 29/07/2019 9.21% 1,500,000 1,235,924

Total Long Term Investments 30,789,060 29,165,200

Total Investment Portfolio 40,703,177 38,998,267

*  Money Market Fund (MMF) are AAA rated deposit facilities which have variable rates of 
interest but have constant net asset values.   Interest rates are shown at the time of producing 
this report.
**  Equity funds and the Property fund have variable rates of interest and also have fluctuating 
capital values, the amount stated is the current fair value.

*** A Better Choice Of Property Ltd. is a solely owned subsidiary of ABC.

Page 210



Appendix A 

 
 

Debt Portfolio as at 31 December 2022

Counterparty Deal Date Rate Amount Maturity Date

% £
Temporary Borrowing
Northern Ireland Housing Executive 19/10/2021 0.20% 7,000,000 23/01/2023
Barnsley MBC 23/11/2021 0.25% 5,000,000 27/01/2023
Cambridgeshire & Peterboro Combined 
Authoirty 23/11/2021 0.25% 5,000,000 30/01/2023

Cambridgeshire & Peterboro Combined 
Authoirty 08/12/2021 0.20% 5,000,000 23/02/2023

Barnsley MBC 27/05/2022 1.20% 5,000,000 11/01/2023
Salford City Council 26/05/2022 1.20% 5,000,000 04/01/2023
Warwickshire County Council 27/05/2022 1.20% 10,000,000 05/01/2023
West Yorkshire Combined Authority 06/06/2022 1.25% 8,000,000 25/04/2023
West Yorkshire Combined Authority 08/06/2022 1.25% 4,000,000 24/05/2023
West Yorkshire Combined Authority 08/06/2022 1.25% 3,000,000 22/05/2023
London Borough of Newham 08/06/2022 1.30% 10,000,000 03/04/2023
Wokingham Borough Council 10/10/2022 2.85% 10,000,000 24/01/2023
Bedford Borough Council 19/12/2022 3.20% 3,000,000 19/06/2023
Blaenau Gwent County Borough Council 30/12/2022 3.05% 5,000,000 30/03/2023
North East Derbyshire District Council 16/12/2022 3.75% 5,000,000 15/12/2023
South Cambridgeshire District Council 22/02/2022 3.50% 1,000,000 05/01/2023
Total Temporary Borrowing 91,000,000
Long Term Borrowing
Public Works Loan Board - HRA various various 112,964,150 various
Public Works Loan Board - GF 13/07/2021 1.56% 13,500,000 13/07/2041

Total Long Term Borrowing 126,464,150

Grand Total Borrowing 217,464,150

Page 211



Appendix A 
 

 
 
 

 

Date of Advance Loan Ref 
Number

Date of 
Repayment

Amount 
Outstanding Rate

£ %
28/03/2012 499514 28/03/2023 2,000,000 2.56%
28/03/2012 499507 28/03/2024 3,000,000 2.70%
28/03/2012 499503 28/03/2025 3,000,000 2.82%
28/03/2012 499505 28/03/2026 1,000,000 2.92%
28/03/2012 499496 28/03/2027 1,000,000 3.01%
28/03/2012 499509 28/03/2028 2,000,000 3.08%
28/03/2012 499497 28/03/2029 2,000,000 3.15%
28/03/2012 499510 28/03/2030 2,000,000 3.21%
28/03/2012 499498 28/03/2031 8,000,000 3.26%
28/03/2012 499511 28/03/2032 9,000,000 3.30%
28/03/2012 499499 28/03/2033 10,000,000 3.34%
28/03/2012 499512 28/03/2034 11,000,000 3.37%
28/03/2012 499506 28/03/2035 12,000,000 3.40%
28/03/2012 499513 28/03/2036 9,000,000 3.42%
28/03/2012 499515 28/02/2037 16,713,000 3.44%
29/03/2011 498502 29/03/2061 5,951,150 5.26%
13/07/2021 374161 13/07/2041 15,300,000 1.56%

112,964,150
13/07/2021 374159 13/07/2041 13,500,000 1.56%

Total GF Borowing 13,500,000

Detail of PWLB Loans Outstanding at 31 December 2022

Total HRA Borrowing

Page 212



Appendix A 
 

Loans Deal Date Rate Amount

% £

Loan 3 12/02/2015 2.83% 400,000
Loan 9 22/07/2017 3.04% 1,445,000
Loan 12 25/03/2018 3.06% 240,000
Loan 13 04/05/2018 3.13% 2,490,000
Loan 14 05/06/2018 3.06% 1,196,311
Loan 15 05/07/2018 3.10% 113,000
Loan 16 25/09/2018 3.19% 823,000
Loan 17* 17/10/2018 3.45% 659,000
Loan 18 02/11/2018 3.31% 820,000
Loan 19 09/11/2018 3.29% 6,517,425
Loan 20* 01/02/2019 3.10% 93,890
Loan 21* 04/02/2019 3.10% 7,103,180
Loan 22 22/02/2019 3.03% 809,240
Loan 23* 04/03/2019 3.10% 941,360
Loan 24 17/06/2019 2.80% 160,000
Loan 25 01/07/2019 2.81% 91,776
Loan 26 06/09/2019 2.24% 568,400
Loan 27 08/09/2019 2.24% 3,821,595
Loan 28* 16/04/2020 3.57% 1,208,000
Loan 29* 16/10/2020 3.84% 1,029,820
Loan 30 20/11/2020 3.61% 2,175,000
Loan 31* 08/11/2021 3.22% 427,050
Loan 32* 21/04/2022 4.05% 650,000
Loan 33* 06/10/2022 5.50% 50,000
Loan 34* 12/12/2022 5.25% 1,300,000
Total loans to ABCFPL 35,133,047
* These loans have been subsequently loaned to the 
companies subsidiary A Better Choice for Property 
Development Ltd.

A Better Choice for Property Ltd. Loans as at 
31 December 2022

Page 213



Appendix B 
 

 
Update paper – February 2023 

 
Automatic Numberplate Recognition installation 

 
Background 
 
The council is keen to see a significant improvement in how customers can access 
and use its car parks. In 2019, it was agreed by cabinet that Automatic Numberplate 
Recognition (ANPR) would be installed in Elwick Place and Victoria Road car parks. 
The introduction of ANPR at Elwick Place Car Park has been highly successful and 
allows customers to leave their vehicles for as long as they wish, paying for time 
consumed used on exit. It has also allowed customers to move to more accessible 
online payment methods. The customers with online accounts do not need to use a 
payment machine. This system also provides more extensive back-office 
management tools.  
 
The installation did not happen at Victoria Road due to it being utilised as a covid 
testing site.  This is no longer the case, however, its location means that it is more 
suited to marketing as a car park for residential permits and season tickets holders 
rather than more mixed parking.  Consequentially it is more efficiently serviced by 
our RingGo and e-permit systems rather than an ANPR system.    
 
In January 2022 it was agreed by Cabinet that the next ANPR car parks would be 
the newly acquired Park Mall car park and Edinburgh Road car park.  Due to the 
decision not to currently open the top floor of the Park Mall car park and the potential 
redevelopment of the Park Mall site, which encompasses the Edinburgh Road car 
park. Alternative car parks have now been identified as more suited for the ANPR 
investment, for example Recreational Ground Road in Tenterden 
 
When these decisions were made by cabinet, delegated authority was given to the 
Head of Community Safety and Wellbeing and Portfolio Holder to effect and 
complete all necessary steps for the implementation of ANPR at the car parks 
detailed above. There is no delegated authority to agree alternative car parks.  
 
The ANPR equipment that was earmarked for the Park Mall installation is currently in 
storage and would be relocated to the next most suitable car park.  
 
Purpose of the paper 
 
To provide an update to Cabinet on the ANPR installation project and seek further 
delegation to the Assistant Director of Safety and Wellbeing and the Portfolio holder 
to progress with the installation in suitable car parks, utilising the capital funding that 
was agreed in 2019.  
 
Financial / resource implications & key risks 
 
The ANPR project had an initial capital budget of £320,000. To date, £153,530 has 
been spent therefore a capital budget of £166,470 remains. We have obtained 
quotes for two additional car parks and these works could be completed within this 
allocated budget.  
 

Page 214



Appendix B 
 

 
Timescale 
 
The contractor has confirmed that they can commence works on the next car park, 
namely Lower Level of Recreational Ground Road in April 2023.  
 
Consultation 
 
Parking services are in communication with John Lewis (Waitrose), who has already 
indicated their support for ANPR at Recreational Ground Road which services their 
Tenterden Waitrose store.  
 
On 28th February, officers and Councillors will meet as part of the Tenterden Parking 
Liaison Group. We want to advise them of the decision to install ANPR in one of their 
town's car parks. 
 
Cllr Bartlett as the Portfolio holder is aware of our desire to relocate the equipment 
from Park Mall and our recommendation to move it to the lower level of Recreational 
Ground Road. 
 
Recommendations 

• To note the update of the ANPR installation project 
• To provide delegation to the Assistant Director and Portfolio Holder of Safety 

and Wellbeing to progress with ANPR installation into other suitable car parks, 
utilising the capital funding that was agreed in 2019. 

Alison Oates 
3 February 2023 
 
 

Page 215



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
Agenda Item No: 
 

 

Report To:  
 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
Cabinet 
 

Date of Meeting:  
 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee: Tuesday 14th February  
Cabinet: Thursday 23rd February 
 

Report Title:  
 

Performance Report, Quarter 3 2022/23 
 
 

Report Author & 
Job Title:  
 

Tom Swain 
Governance and Data Protection Officer 
 
 

Portfolio Holder 
Portfolio Holder for: 
 

Cllr. Peter Feacey 
 

 
Summary:  
 

 
This report summarises performance against the council’s 
updated suite of KPIs reflecting the Corporate Plan 2022-24, 
for the Quarter 3 period 2022/23.  
 
This report pulls from across council services the information 
necessary to reflect the quarterly KPIs. Representing these 
in the four themes of the Corporate Plan that of Green 
Pioneer, Caring Ashford, Targeted Growth and the councils 
underlying principles.  
 
In addition to surrounding narrative for specific KPIs where 
available, this report highlights some of the key actions over 
the quarter where relevant to the aims and objectives of the 
Corporate plan.   
 

 
Key Decision:  
 

 
No  

Significantly 
Affected Wards:  
 

None 

Recommendations: 
 

Overview and Scrutiny  
Cabinet, is asked to:- 
 
I. Consider the performance data for Quarter 3 2022/23 
 

Policy Overview: 
 

Performance measures have been updated to reflect the 
objectives and priorities of The Corporate Plan 22-24. 
 

Page 217

Agenda Item 10



 
This quarterly Performance Report acts as an opportunity to 
monitor the progress made by the council against the 
Corporate Plan. 

Financial 
Implications: 
 

 
N/A 

Legal Implications: 
 

N/A 

Equalities Impact 
Assessment: 
 

Not required as the report presents information on past 
council performance and does not recommend any change 
to council policy or new action. 
 

Data Protection 
Impact 
Assessment: 

N/A 
 
 
 

Risk Assessment 
(Risk Appetite 
Statement): 
 

N/A 

Sustainability 
Implications:  
 

N/A 

Other Material 
Implications:  
 
 

N/A 

Exempt from 
Publication:  
 

No 
 
 

Background 
Papers:  
 
Contact: 

The Corporate Plan 2022-24  
 
 
Tom.Swain@ashford.gov.uk – Tel: (01233) 330432 
 

 
Portfolio Holder’s Views: 
 
This Q3 performance report provides an opportunity to monitor and review the 
council’s performance against its Corporate Plan. It demonstrates some of the 
progress and constraints that are influencing our short and medium term performance. 
 
Regular review of the material included in this report ensures Members and Officers 
remain focused on our priorities and understand the issues that are affecting our 
residents, providing an early indication of the areas we need to focus our attention on 
moving forward.  

Page 218



Agenda Item No. 
 
Report Title: Performance Report, Quarter 3 2022/23 
 
 
Introduction and Background 
 
1. In 2019 we embarked on a comprehensive study to inform our next Corporate 

Plan, envisaging that this would be developed and adopted during 2020. As our 
work with stakeholders was coming to a conclusion the coronavirus pandemic 
forced the country into lockdown in March 2020. Our Recovery Plan was 
developed as an interim strategic document to focus our work towards enabling 
a timely recovery from the pandemic, supporting residents, communities and 
local business.  

 
2. With the start of the 22/23 financial year the Recovery Plan has now been 

superseded by the Corporate Plan 22-24. This Corporate Plan continues this 
journey and looks ahead, with renewed vigour, to realise the Ashford Ambition 
that was developed with a wide range of local stakeholders for a vibrant, caring 
and sustainable borough. 
 

3. The Ashford Ambition is supported by three priority themes:  
 
• Green Pioneer – Where businesses, communities and the public and third 
sector have come together to become carbon neutral, respect the local 
environment and ecology, and embrace a more sustainable way of living.  
 
• Caring Ashford – A caring and supportive place to live, with rich heritage; 
thriving towns, villages and rural communities; great schools; high-quality 
housing; a plethora of cultural activities and events; and a strong sense of civic 
pride.  
 
• Targeted Growth – A place where productive, innovative, responsible town 
and rural business communities offer good quality work to an agile and skilled 
local workforce who have embraced a culture of lifelong learning. 
 
These along with our underlying principles provide a framework that focuses 
our efforts on working towards our strategic objectives.   

 
4. This report seeks to provide an overview of performance against the council’s 

key performance indicators for Quarter 3 2022/23 period. The council’s 
performance framework captures key performance data from across the 
organisation as it relates to the council’s Corporate Plan. 

 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 219

https://www.ashford.gov.uk/your-council/policies-and-strategies/recovery-plan/
https://www.ashford.gov.uk/your-council/policies-and-strategies/corporate-plan-and-our-performance/
https://www.ashford.gov.uk/your-council/policies-and-strategies/research-and-data/


Areas of Note  
 

5. Whilst measures reflecting our statutory functions continue to show positive 
progress and largely meet targets. It remains clear from a number of measures 
that the cost of living squeeze and associated inflationary pressures are starting 
to present a material impact on our residents and the council’s budgets.  
 

6. With our communities still in the recovery phase following the pandemic, the 
cost of living squeeze is a further set back and this is reflected across many of 
our KPIs.  
 

7. The council is continuing to focus on mitigating these pressures, with careful 
monitoring of its own internal budgets, please see the quarterly financial 
monitoring reports, as well as providing additional support to our residents 
where needed. Residents are reminded that our Welfare Intervention Officers 
are always available to assist. 
 

8. The Eat Well Spend Less roadshow has also returned. The roadshows focus 
on providing targeted help and advice for local families who may need extra 
support as a result of rising food prices. 

 
9. Our Town Centres are not immune and whilst occupancies rates are still above 

there pandemic lows, notable closures are starting to be experienced. This will 
likely filter through to our commercial investment measures with time. The 
council has ownership of a number of key sites within Ashford Town Centre and 
with the Town Centre Reset, a now Super Six project, this will continue to be 
an area of focus.  
 

10. With legislative changes affecting a number of our Housing teams and 
increased scrutiny from Government on the sector, this period has seen the 
Housing team take the opportunity to refocus, ensuring our homes continue to 
meet the needs of local people of all ages, incomes and abilities to live 
sustainably and safely. With a focus on compliance, voids, rent collection and 
repairs.  
 

11. The period has seen the awarding of a new waste contract to SUEZ Recycling 
and Recovery UK Ltd. Ashford, Maidstone and Swale councils, who work 
together as the Mid Kent Waste Partnership, have awarded the eight-year 
contract to Suez after a joint tender process. The new service begins in March 
2024 and will bring in new technology and industry improvements, whilst 
retaining large parts of the existing service.  

 
12. Finally, our Planning service with the new planning system now beginning to 

bed in and Stodmarsh mitigation measures moving forward, improvements in 
the associated measures should start to be seen. The team have a second 
clearance week planned for February, with the first successfully clearing in 
excess of 150 applications, this second week should also start to see the 
number of live applications begin to fall (CP_KPI_56).   

 
 

Page 220

https://www.ashford.gov.uk/benefits/welfare-intervention-officers/
https://www.ashford.gov.uk/news/latest-news/eat-well-spend-less-returns-in-2023/
https://ashford.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s21715/Stodmarsh%20Update.pdf


1 

Performance Report for the Corporate Plan 2022-24, Quarter 3 - 2022/23 
 

 

P
age 221



2 

Corporate Plan Themes and Key Performance Measures  
 
 

PI Status 

 Alert 

 Warning 

 OK 
 

Long Term Trends 

 Improving 

 No Change 

 Getting Worse 
 

 
Green Pioneer  
 
Highlights from the Quarter 
 
New waste and recycling service on its way 

Three Kent councils have agreed a new waste and recycling contract with SUEZ Recycling and Recovery UK Ltd, worth around £19m per year 
across the whole Mid Kent contract. 

Ashford, Maidstone and Swale councils - who work together as the Mid Kent Waste Partnership - have awarded the eight-year contract to Suez 
after a joint tender process. The new service begins in March 2024 and will bring in new technology and industry improvements, whilst retaining 
large parts of the existing service. 

Fortnightly collections of waste and recycling will continue across the three boroughs, with one wheeled bin for dry recycling, alongside the 
regular weekly food waste collections. The new contract offers the chance to increase recycling rates, improved efficiency of the routes, lower 
emissions from vehicles and add better technology to keep residents up to date. 

 
 
 
 

P
age 222



3 

Quarterly Measures  
  
Code & Short 
Name 

Description Q1 2022/23 Q2 2022/23 Q3 2022/23 Latest Note 
Value Target Status Value Target Status Value Target Status 

 
CP_KPI_06  

 
Number of 

organisations 
committed to 
active travel 

plans 
cycling/walking 

Number of 
organisations 
committed to 
travel plans 
cycling/walking 

Officers are developing a proposal for a travel plan for Ashford Borough Council staff. Work continues to explore how we can work with a local business to 
pilot an active travel plan within the borough to inform further role out. 
 
Initiatives to get people cycling through 'guided rides’ and bike repair and maintenance schemes have been successful and will continue to be offered. 
 
  
 
 
  

 
 

CP_KPI_09  
 

Recycling Rate 

% of borough 
waste recycled 
or composted 
  
 

54.67% 50% 
 

52.67% 50% 
 

54% 50% 
 

Recycle average is leading towards 
achieving 53% recovery for the FY at 
present. 
 
Q3 figures based on October figure 
only. 

Ashford’s recycling rate remains comfortably above the national target of 50% DEFRA’s nationwide recycling league tables. 
 
Waste data from UK local authorities is reported to WasteDataFlow with statistics available at the following links. WasteDataFlow Waste and recycling statistics 
 

 
CP_KPI_10  

 
Refuse 

Collection 
Success Rate 

% of successful 
refuse 
collections per 
100,000 refuse 
collections 
made. 
  
 

99.96% 99.96% 
 

99.96% 99.96% 
 

99.97% 99.96% 
 

Waste data from UK local authorities 
is reported to WasteDataFlow with 
statistics available at the following 
links: WasteDataFlow 
Waste and recycling statistics 

 New Waste Contract.pdf (moderngov.co.uk) This Cabinet report identifies the evaluation undertaken, the costs and the key changes and benefits that will occur from the proposed new waste 
contract. 
 
  
 

P
age 223

https://www.gov.uk/government/statistical-data-sets/env18-local-authority-collected-waste-annual-results-tables
https://www.wastedataflow.org/
https://www.wastedataflow.org/
https://www.wastedataflow.org/
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/waste-and-recycling-statistics
https://ashford.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s22473/New%20Waste%20Contract.pdf


4 

Caring Ashford  
 
Highlights from the Quarter 
 
Ryland Road brand new play area now open 

Rylands Road play area, situated on Rylands Road, Bockhanger, Ashford, is now officially open after a revamp following a £340,000 investment. 

The brand new play area allows children of all ages and abilities lots of exciting options to play and have fun including a new multiplay unit for 
toddlers, trampolines and play panels, a large junior multiplay unit with a slide, large climbing unit, springers, teacup dipper and bouncing 
spinners, a disability friendly roundabout and a range of different swings. 

 

Brand new play area coming to Spearpoint Recreation Ground 

Residents will soon see the build of a brand new play and fitness area at Spearpoint Recreation Ground, Kennington, with 65 new play features, 
inviting all ages to have fun 

The play area will be split into zones with easy access between each, for infants, toddlers, juniors, teens, with a respite and fitness area. 

The infant and toddlers areas are full of spinning, sliding and swinging features ready to explore with multiplay units, rockers, spinners, swings 
including you&me seats and an inclusive roundabout. A bespoke Heinkel Plane for toddlers is included and will commemorate the heritage of the 
site. 

 

Jasmin Vardimon Company unveils state of the art space in Ashford 

The acclaimed dance company becomes the first choreographer-named organisation to have its own purpose-built home outside London. 
JVC has revealed its new state-of-the-art purpose-built home.  

P
age 224



5 

Eight years in the planning and part funded by a £3million National Lottery grant with other financing from Kent County Council and Ashford 
Borough Council, JVC Home also includes incubator and start-up spaces for emerging local creative companies and individuals.  

 
Quarterly Measures 
 
 
Code & Short 
Name 

Description Q1 2022/23 Q2 2022/23 Q3 2022/23 Latest Note 
Value Target Status Value Target Status Value Target Status 

 
CP_KPI_13  

 
Food Hygiene 

Rating 
 

% of businesses 
in the borough 
with a food 
hygiene rating 
above 3* 

99.2% 98.5% 
 

98.8% 98.5% 
 

98.8% 98.5% 
 

 

Ashford Borough Council’s Annual Food Service Plan 2022/23, includes a review of performance in delivering official food controls during 2021/22 is available at: Food Services Plan 
202223.pdf (moderngov.co.uk) 
 

 
CP_KPI_17  

 
Council 

Affordable 
Housing – New 

Build 
 

No. of additional 
new build 
affordable homes 
delivered by 
council housing 

17 
 

0 
 

0 
 

No houses completed during the 
period due to Stodmarsh restrictions 
unfortunately. 

However in the pipeline for delivery we have 20 homes with approval in Mabledon Avenue that we would hope to begin on site as soon as possible and that in the planning process we currently 
have 3 x infill schemes totalling 12 homes, an independent living scheme totalling 69 dwellings and a temporary accommodation scheme totalling 23 dwellings.  
 
Housing Revenue Account HRA Business Plan 2022 -2052 including Financing and Affordable Homes Pro.pdf (moderngov.co.uk)  
 

 
CP_KPI_18  

 
Council 

Affordable 
Housing - On-

No. of additional 
on-street 
purchase 
affordable homes 
delivered by 
council housing 

3 
 

1 
 

1 
 

1 home completed in this period for 
the HRA. Two further property for the 
Rough Sleeper Accommodation 
Programme (RSAP) completed in this 
period too but that is from the general 
fund and not normally included within 

P
age 225

https://ashford.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s18420/Food%20Services%20Plan%20202223.pdf
https://ashford.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s18420/Food%20Services%20Plan%20202223.pdf
https://ashford.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s22476/Housing%20Revenue%20Account%20HRA%20Business%20Plan%202022%20-2052%20including%20Financing%20and%20Affordable%20Homes%20Pro.pdf


6 

Code & Short 
Name 

Description Q1 2022/23 Q2 2022/23 Q3 2022/23 Latest Note 
Value Target Status Value Target Status Value Target Status 

Street 
Purchases 

 

these figures.  

As listed in previous quarters this way of acquiring properties is not as competitive as it was during recent years since the property market boomed over the early part of last year when the 
stamp duty holiday was in place. There are reports that the market is slowing down so the suitability of such an approach in the market will be re-evaluated as things progress. 
 

 
CP_KPI_19  

 
Homelessness 
Presentations 

 

No. of 
homelessness 
presentations 
  
 

391 
 

466 
 

394 
 

 

 
CP_KPI_19b  

 
Homelessness 

Preventions 
(still in 

accommodatio
n) 
 

No. of 
households 
where 
homelessness 
was prevented 

24 
 

28 
 

27 
 

 

The latest data tables on local government housing including Ashford Borough Council, covering social housing sales, homelessness, and affordable housing supply are available at the 
following links: Social housing sales Homelessness Affordable housing supply 
 
Temporary Accommodation has seen a further increase in demand and is forecasting an additional pressure of £197,000, Novembers Quarterly Financial Moniotoring: (moderngov.co.uk) this is 
a total variance of £400,000 on the original budget. This trend is reflected across the County. 
 

 
CP_KPI_20  

 
Disabled 
Facilities 
Grants 

Completed 
 

No. of disabled 
facilities grants 
administered by 
the council 

16 
 

20 
 

20 
 

A good figure considering the run up 
to Christmas. 

 Actual spend per £196,521.61 £284,750.48 £309,199.04 Average spend for this time of year. 

P
age 226

https://www.gov.uk/government/statistical-data-sets/live-tables-on-social-housing-sales#history
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistical-data-sets/live-tables-on-homelessness
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistical-data-sets/live-tables-on-affordable-housing-supply
https://ashford.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s22239/Financial%20Monitoring%20-%20Quarterly%20Report.pdf


7 

Code & Short 
Name 

Description Q1 2022/23 Q2 2022/23 Q3 2022/23 Latest Note 
Value Target Status Value Target Status Value Target Status 

 
CP_KPI_20b  

 
Disabled 

Facilities Grant 
Spend 

 

month for 
disabled facility 
grants 

   

This report sets out the findings of a review into the Councils’ processes for administering Disabled Facilities Grants (DFG’s) and disabled adaptations in the Council housing stock Disabled 
Adaptations Review.pdf (moderngov.co.uk) 
 

 
CP_KPI_21  

 
Unemployment 

Unemployment 
figures taken 
monthly from 
Kent County 
Councils 
Economy and 
employment 
data.  
 

3.2% 
 

3% 
 

3% 
 

More information available within - 
Economy and employment data - 
Kent County Council 
 
The unemployment rate in Ashford is 
3%. This is slightly below the rate for 
Kent (3.3%).2,370 people were 
claiming unemployment benefits in 
Ashford.  

 

P
age 227

https://ashford.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s22478/Disabled%20Adaptations%20Review.pdf
https://ashford.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s22478/Disabled%20Adaptations%20Review.pdf
https://www.kent.gov.uk/about-the-council/information-and-data/facts-and-figures-about-Kent/economy-and-employment
https://www.kent.gov.uk/about-the-council/information-and-data/facts-and-figures-about-Kent/economy-and-employment
https://www.kent.gov.uk/about-the-council/information-and-data/facts-and-figures-about-Kent/economy-and-employment
https://www.kent.gov.uk/about-the-council/information-and-data/facts-and-figures-about-Kent/economy-and-employment
https://www.kent.gov.uk/about-the-council/information-and-data/facts-and-figures-about-Kent/economy-and-employment
https://www.kent.gov.uk/about-the-council/information-and-data/facts-and-figures-about-Kent/economy-and-employment
https://www.kent.gov.uk/about-the-council/information-and-data/facts-and-figures-about-Kent/economy-and-employment
https://www.kent.gov.uk/about-the-council/information-and-data/facts-and-figures-about-Kent/economy-and-employment
https://www.kent.gov.uk/about-the-council/information-and-data/facts-and-figures-about-Kent/economy-and-employment
https://www.kent.gov.uk/about-the-council/information-and-data/facts-and-figures-about-Kent/economy-and-employment
https://www.kent.gov.uk/about-the-council/information-and-data/facts-and-figures-about-Kent/economy-and-employment
https://www.kent.gov.uk/about-the-council/information-and-data/facts-and-figures-about-Kent/economy-and-employment
https://www.kent.gov.uk/about-the-council/information-and-data/facts-and-figures-about-Kent/economy-and-employment
https://www.kent.gov.uk/about-the-council/information-and-data/facts-and-figures-about-Kent/economy-and-employment
https://www.kent.gov.uk/about-the-council/information-and-data/facts-and-figures-about-Kent/economy-and-employment


8 

Code & Short 
Name 

Description Q1 2022/23 Q2 2022/23 Q3 2022/23 Latest Note 
Value Target Status Value Target Status Value Target Status 

 
CP_KPI_22  

 
Unemployment 

18-24yr olds 

Unemployment 
18-24yr olds 
taken monthly 
from the Kent 
County Council 
economy and 
employment data  
 

4.9% 
 

4.9% 
 

5% 
 

More information available within - 
Economy and employment data - 
Kent County Council 
 
Latest available data on Young 
People Not in Education, 
Employment or Training (NEET) is 
available from - Tracking Young 
People - KELSI 

 
 

 
CP_KPI_26  

 
Benefit Change 

of 
Circumstance 

Processing 
 

Average time 
taken to process 
a benefit change 
of circumstance 
in no. days 

1.94 10 
 

2.17 10 
 

2.14 10 
 

Benefit change of circumstance 
processing time continues to remain 
on target. 
 

P
age 228

https://www.kent.gov.uk/about-the-council/information-and-data/facts-and-figures-about-Kent/economy-and-employment
https://www.kent.gov.uk/about-the-council/information-and-data/facts-and-figures-about-Kent/economy-and-employment
https://www.kent.gov.uk/about-the-council/information-and-data/facts-and-figures-about-Kent/economy-and-employment
https://www.kent.gov.uk/about-the-council/information-and-data/facts-and-figures-about-Kent/economy-and-employment
https://www.kent.gov.uk/about-the-council/information-and-data/facts-and-figures-about-Kent/economy-and-employment
https://www.kent.gov.uk/about-the-council/information-and-data/facts-and-figures-about-Kent/economy-and-employment
https://www.kent.gov.uk/about-the-council/information-and-data/facts-and-figures-about-Kent/economy-and-employment
https://www.kent.gov.uk/about-the-council/information-and-data/facts-and-figures-about-Kent/economy-and-employment
https://www.kent.gov.uk/about-the-council/information-and-data/facts-and-figures-about-Kent/economy-and-employment
https://www.kent.gov.uk/about-the-council/information-and-data/facts-and-figures-about-Kent/economy-and-employment
https://www.kent.gov.uk/about-the-council/information-and-data/facts-and-figures-about-Kent/economy-and-employment
https://www.kent.gov.uk/about-the-council/information-and-data/facts-and-figures-about-Kent/economy-and-employment
https://www.kent.gov.uk/about-the-council/information-and-data/facts-and-figures-about-Kent/economy-and-employment
https://www.kent.gov.uk/about-the-council/information-and-data/facts-and-figures-about-Kent/economy-and-employment
https://www.kent.gov.uk/about-the-council/information-and-data/facts-and-figures-about-Kent/economy-and-employment
https://www.kelsi.org.uk/school-management/data-and-reporting/management-information/coreplus-team-tracking-young-people
https://www.kelsi.org.uk/school-management/data-and-reporting/management-information/coreplus-team-tracking-young-people
https://www.kelsi.org.uk/school-management/data-and-reporting/management-information/coreplus-team-tracking-young-people
https://www.kelsi.org.uk/school-management/data-and-reporting/management-information/coreplus-team-tracking-young-people
https://www.kelsi.org.uk/school-management/data-and-reporting/management-information/coreplus-team-tracking-young-people
https://www.kelsi.org.uk/school-management/data-and-reporting/management-information/coreplus-team-tracking-young-people
https://www.kelsi.org.uk/school-management/data-and-reporting/management-information/coreplus-team-tracking-young-people
https://www.kelsi.org.uk/school-management/data-and-reporting/management-information/coreplus-team-tracking-young-people
https://www.kelsi.org.uk/school-management/data-and-reporting/management-information/coreplus-team-tracking-young-people


9 

Code & Short 
Name 

Description Q1 2022/23 Q2 2022/23 Q3 2022/23 Latest Note 
Value Target Status Value Target Status Value Target Status 

 
CP_KPI_27  

 
Benefit New 

Claim 
Processing 

Time 
 

Average time 
taken to process 
a new benefit 
payment claim in 
no. days 

28.78 28 
 

27.72 28 
 

26.1 28 
 

Processing time returned to target 
following Q1 delay in the processing 
of a number of new claims in Exempt 
Supported Accommodation and 
Temporary Accommodation due to 
delays in obtaining clarification 
regarding subsidy implications from 
the DWP 

 
 

CP_KPI_29  
 

Value of grants 
awarded via 
community 
grant fund.  

 

Value of grants 
awarded via 
community grant 
fund 

£334,453.70 for 2021/22 £249,101 for H1 of 22/23 £268,978.35 to date for the financial 
year. 

Value of grants awarded via 
Community Grants Fund to date this 
financial year: £268,978.35.  Only 
increase in grants awarded since last 
period is from member grants – no 
additional capital grant round this 
period and community services 
grants all awarded in quarter 1 
 

 
 

CP_KPI_30 
 

Number of 
tickets sold 
local lottery 

Scheme 
  

Number of 
tickets sold local 
lottery scheme – 
generating x 
amount. 

Since start of scheme 17 Feb 2022, 
16,614 tickets 

Since start of scheme 17 Feb 2022  
24,106 tickets 

Since start of scheme 35,305 tickets 
sold 

Ashford Community Lottery: 35,305 
tickets sold to 31/12/22 generating 
£21,183 for good causes since start 
of lottery in Feb 2022 (60p from every 
ticket sold direct to good causes now 
implemented) 

 
Income direct to good causes will rise by 10p to 60p from each ticket sale from 7 Nov when change takes effect. 
 
Information about the Ashford Community Lottery is available from Ashford Community Lottery: Easy online fundraising for good causes - Ashford Community Lottery 
 

 
CP_KPI_32  

 
Support to 
‘vulnerable’ 

Support to 
‘vulnerable’ 
groups through 
leisure centre 
activity 

Ongoing projects and activities: 
 
Silent Sunday (SEN); a weekly soft play session targeted towards children up to 12yrs with special educational needs averaging 100 participants per 
month  
 

P
age 229

https://www.ashfordcommunitylottery.co.uk/


10 

Code & Short 
Name 

Description Q1 2022/23 Q2 2022/23 Q3 2022/23 Latest Note 
Value Target Status Value Target Status Value Target Status 

groups through 
leisure  centre 

activity 

Learning Difficulties Group, East Kent NHS Foundation; This is a 10-week course where supervised access to the gym and an exclusive Aqua Aerobics 
class is offered. 
 
75+ free swimming was launched recently in Q2. 70+ members.  
 
Fit for Life – 100+ participants a month.  
 
GP Referral Re-launch; newly re-launched scheme across both Stour and Julie Rose with a dedicated staff member, more pathways to referral, better 
monitoring and use of more facilities such as the Stour Bio-circuit. 34 referrals since June.  
 
Refugee support – 135 free memberships in 2022.  

Overall performance across the leisure centre contract has remained constant or shown increases in participation in some areas. This summer holiday period was the first one the Stour has 
been fully open since Freedom took over which meant that a full programme of swimming and holiday activities could be delivered for the first time. The Julie Rose running track was re-laid by 
ABC's contractors at the end of last quarter, with positive feedback from users.  

Pressure on operational costs from increases in utility prices remain as key challenges. A pre-booking system for the tennis courts a Spearpoint came into use (remaining free to use). Freedom 
continue to develop their environmental policy, with some key targets being developed for the future of the contract. 

An update on the Freedom leisure progress was provided to members prior of November’s Cabinet.  
 
 

P
age 230



11 

Targeted Growth  
 
Highlights from the Quarter  
 
Brompton submits planning application to build revolutionary bicycle factory of the future in Ashford 

Ashford Borough Council has confirmed that a planning application has been received from Brompton for a revolutionary new factory, delivering 
a £100 million investment for the local area and potential for up to 4,000 jobs for the Kent economy. 

 

Carnival of the Baubles kicked off the countdown to Christmas in Ashford town centre 

Christmas celebrations were in full swing in Ashford in late November as Carnival of the Baubles brought a day of festive, family fun to the town 
centre. 

Thousands of people lined the streets to watch the Outer Space themed procession of giant illuminated lanterns and baubles make its way 
through the heart of the town. Local school children and community groups gathered at Elwick Place and proceeded up Bank Street through to 
the Lower High Street where the procession came to a celebratory end with an amazing drumming performance by Blocofogo. The star of the 
show was BinBot, a giant mechanical puppet, who led the procession of lights alongside students from TheatreTrain Ashford and the man 
himself, Father Christmas, who danced his way up the street in a rocket.  

 

Reset sets out next stage of development and regeneration of Ashford Town Centre 

There has never been a more important time to set out a clear focus and strategy for Ashford Town Centre. High streets up and down the 
country are facing many challenges with the after-effects of the Covid pandemic joining the cost-of-living crisis, ongoing financial uncertainly, and 
the growing competition of online shopping. What is clear is that the space required for retail in town centres is shrinking.   
  
Ashford Borough Council understands the challenges that our town centre residents, businesses, users and community groups face. Town 

P
age 231



12 

Centres are facing considerable changes over a short period of time, being influenced by wider economic, environment and social changes. It is 
vital that we continue to invest in carefully thought-through ideas and solutions to help bring about significant change, for the benefit of all.  

The Town Centre Reset – including the revitalisation of our High Street is a ‘Super 6’ project, and a key priority in our Corporate Plan 2022-24. It 
identifies a number of areas that require improvement and intervention, and these areas have had to be prioritised to focus available resources 
over the next few years.  

 

Works begin to preserve the life of Ashford Shared Space 

During the period Kent County Council (KCC) begin roadworks aimed at preserving the life of Ashford Shared Space and Lower High Street. 

Once achieved the area will be better preserved for the longer term, making it more resistant to damage in the future and improving 
accessiblility. 

Works totalling up to £600,000 began in November and is expected to be completed in five phases with everything aimed to be completed by the 
Spring of 2023. 

The scheme is a joint project by KCC and Ashford Borough Council (ABC), originally set up to improve the look and feel of the town centre as 
well as enhancing safety for pedestrians. 

 
 
Quarterly Measures  
 
 
Code & 
Short Name 

Description Q1 2022/23 Q2 2022/23 Q3 2022/23 Latest Note 
Value Target Status Value Target Status Value Target Status 

 
CP_KPI_33  

 
Business 
survival - 

Business survival, 
measure based 
upon our business 
rates records  
 

8.65% 
 

9.4% 
 

9.2% 
 

5351 properties, 331 exemptions, 161 
reliefs  

P
age 232



13 

Code & 
Short Name 

Description Q1 2022/23 Q2 2022/23 Q3 2022/23 Latest Note 
Value Target Status Value Target Status Value Target Status 

current 
vacancy 

rates 
 

Current Vacancy 
rates 

Business survival, measure based upon our business rates records comparing the total number of rated premises against those which have an empty property exemption or relief applied to 
their accounts. 
 

 
CP_KPI_34  

 
Ashford 

town centre 
vacancy rate 

 

Ashford town centre 
vacancy rate 

15.4% 
 

15.5% 
 

15.2% 
 

Jan-23, 335 units, 51 empty -  
 
15.2% 
 
  

The area surveyed is the High Street, Middle Row, New Rents, North Street, Bank Street, Tufton Street, County Square, Park Mall and Elwick Place. This is surveyed manually quarterly. 
 
Vacancy rates peaked at 20% in September 2020, due to the effects of the Coronavirus pandemic. Although improved from the low, vacancy rates remain significantly above the previous low of 
8% in November 2017, and remain significantly above national benchmarks, which were 12% in January 2022 
 
Ashford Town Centre Reset - Strategy Action Plan.pdf (moderngov.co.uk) 
 

 
CP_KPI_35  

 
Contribution 

to budget 
from 

commercial 
investments 

Contribution to 
budget from 
commercial 
investments utilising 
the budgeted figures 
provided as part of 
the councils budget 
books. 
 

92.2% 
 

81.5% 88% Figure based on Ellingham, Carlton 
Road, Elwick Place, International 
House, Matalan and Wilkos. 

The Corporate Property Annual Performance Report 2021/22 reviewing revenue performance of the Council’s corporate property portfolio during the financial year, as well as advising on its 
expected future performance: Corporate Property Performance Annual Report 2021/22 
 
 
 
 

P
age 233

https://ashford.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s22237/Ashford%20Town%20Centre%20Reset%20-%20Strategy%20Action%20Plan.pdf
https://ashford.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s21675/Corporate%20Commercial%20Property%20Strategy%20-%20Annual%20Report.pdf


14 

Code & 
Short Name 

Description Q1 2022/23 Q2 2022/23 Q3 2022/23 Latest Note 
Value Target Status Value Target Status Value Target Status 

 
CP_KPI_36  

 
Vacancy 

rates (in our 
corporate 
property) 

 

Vacancy rates (in 
our corporate 
property) 

8% 6% 6.5%   

 
 
Major sites that we acquired for commercial/investment purposes included. Please note Park Mall and the Commercial Quarter are not included as these were purchased for development and 
regeneration purposes. 
 

 
CP_KPI_38  

 
Digital 
uptake 

Digital uptake - % of 
total council /% 
Increase 
transactions 
completed 
electronically. 

83 80 
 

80.39 80 
 

83 80 
 

In December 2022 we saw our best 
ever month in terms of digital uptake 
with 89.63% of transactions 
happening digitally. The previous best 
was in December 2021 at 89.07%. 
We anticipated December to have an 
increase on previous months as our 
webpage views for bin collections 
tend to peak at this time of the year, 
coupled with the fact that the call 
centre isn’t open for as many days. 
 

 
The Customer Service, IT and Digital Strategy was adopted at the end of June 2022 with a key focus of keeping the customer at the centre of our services. Customer Service IT Digital 
Strategy.pdf (moderngov.co.uk) 
 

P
age 234

https://ashford.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s18361/Customer%20Service%20IT%20Digital%20Strategy.pdf
https://ashford.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s18361/Customer%20Service%20IT%20Digital%20Strategy.pdf


15 

Code & 
Short Name 

Description Q1 2022/23 Q2 2022/23 Q3 2022/23 Latest Note 
Value Target Status Value Target Status Value Target Status 

 Oct 22 Nov 22 Dec 22 
Digital Transactions 27,523 27,111 36,383 
Total Transactions 34,454 34,465 40,594 
Digital Uptake 79.88% 78.66% 89.63% 

 

 
 

CP_KPI_39  
 

Social 
media 

engagement 

Social media 
engagement 

Q1 (April-June) 
 
Impressions 
 
Facebook: 977,240 
Twitter: 62,471 
Nextdoor: 91,593 
Instagram: 2,747 
 
 
Followers 
 
Facebook: 10,115 
Twitter: 9,082 
Nextdoor: 25,536 
Instagram: 2,574 
 
 

Q2 (July-Sept) 
 
Impressions 
 
Facebook: 867,487 
Twitter: 47,088 
Nextdoor: 123,428 
Instagram: 8,766 
 
 
Followers 
 
Facebook: 10,459 
Twitter: 9,112 
Nextdoor: 26,407 
Instagram: 2,633 
 

Q3 (Oct-Dec) 
 
Impressions  
 
Facebook: 798,723 
Twitter: 27,170 
Nextdoor: 172,687 
Instagram: 11,724 
 
 
Followers  
 
Facebook: 10,679 
Twitter: 9,101 
Nextdoor: 27,004 
Instagram: 2,677 
 

Ashford Borough Council’s 
Communications team is responsible 
for managing the council’s social 
media accounts. Our most active 
platforms that residents can engage 
with the council on, include 
Facebook, Twitter, Nextdoor and 
Instagram.  
 
The data will allow the Council to 
better understand the needs of our 
residents and ensure that our social 
media strategy is shaped by the 
results of the data. 
 
With circa 50,000 combined total 
followers across all ABC social 
platforms, the Communications Team 
are also actively exploring methods to 
further grow each platform through 
various digital tools so that they can 
effectively reach more residents 
across the borough, including those 
in rural areas. 
 
  

 
 
 
 
 

P
age 235



16 

Code & 
Short Name 

Description Q1 2022/23 Q2 2022/23 Q3 2022/23 Latest Note 
Value Target Status Value Target Status Value Target Status 

 
CP_KPI_41  

 
Parking 
usage 

Parking usage  
 
Ashford and 
Tenterden Car Parks  

243,026 
 

259,506 
 

277,199 
 

 

 

Overview of Car Park and on-Street sales for December 2022. These income figures are generated from the following systems, Pay and Display Machines (Flowbird), Pay by Phone (RingGo) 
and SAGOSS (ANPR). 

Monthly sales can fluctuate because of daily variation and the number of weekdays and Saturdays that fall within a given month, which may have a slight effect on income trends . 

Please see monthly revenue as below;- 

Month Income Notes  

December  £202,995 Low Seasonal Trend. This could be 
attributed to free parking offer over 
the festive period and impact of cost 
of living.  

In comparison (pre-covid). Dec 
2018 was £211,456 

November  £244,106  

October  £225,664  

September £211,014  

August £216,092  

July £202,580  

Average monthly total  £215,000  

Please see the monthly transactions below: 

Month Income 

December  91,122 

November  101,633 

P
age 236



17 

Code & 
Short Name 

Description Q1 2022/23 Q2 2022/23 Q3 2022/23 Latest Note 
Value Target Status Value Target Status Value Target Status 

October  105,522 

September 95,762 

Average monthly transactions (pre-
covid) 

106,774 

  

Our income is built up of 70% from Ashford and 30% from Tenterden.  

 

Top Performing Car Parks this month 

1. Vicarage Lane Car Park (Ashford)                                         £44k – same as previous month 

The forecast for this car park alone at end of financial year = is over £550k, which equates to around 21% of total income. 

2. Recreation Ground Car Park (Tenterden)                              £38k – same as previous month  

3. Elwick Place (Ashford)                                                            £30k – slight increase from previous month 

            

Total Financial Year Figures/ Income 

Forecast for 2022-23         £2,500,000 

2021-22                              £2,203,918 

2020-21                              £819,698 

2019-20 Income                 £2,591,786 

 

Recovery  

We want to ensure that people visit and stay in our communities by deploying technologies that improve access and services for all of our consumers. Our cashless parking system is accessible 
in all car parks for individuals who wish to pay using a mobile device. This has been a tremendous success, with strong client participation. 

I have provided Finance with estimates for 2022–2023 based on the material in this monthly report. The forecast indicates that earnings will exceed expectations. 

 
 
  

P
age 237



18 

Our Principles  
 
Highlights from the Quarter  
 
Residents’ survey reveals satisfaction levels with Council 

The 2022 Residents’ Survey indicates that residents’ general views on the council and our performance have stayed broadly consistent. 
Satisfaction levels with key services remains high and efforts to improve community safety and communication with residents appear to have 
been effective. 

The survey, which took place over the summer, asked residents for their views regarding the council and specific service areas, their local area 
and other topical questions. 

Feedback on the council’s response to the pandemic was positive and residents were generally happy with our digitalisation efforts. The 
continued importance of accessible in person options for older and digitally excluded residents was also made clear. 

Areas for improvement include residents continuing to feel they have little influence over council decisions whilst development and car parking 
provision in the borough remain areas where residents were less satisfied. 

Residents Survey 2022.pdf (moderngov.co.uk) 

 
Quarterly Measures  
 
Code & 
Short Name 

Description Q1 2022/23 Q2 2022/23 Q3 2022/23 Latest Note 
Value Target Status Value Target Status Value Target Status 

 
CP_KPI_42  

 
FOI 

Response 
Rate 

 

% of freedom of 
information requests 
responded to within 
20 working days 

98% 95% 
 

95.6% 95% 
 

100% 95% 
 

156 requests received, no requests 
responded to beyond 20 working 
days  

 

P
age 238

https://ashford.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s22234/Residents%20Survey%202022.pdf


19 

Code & 
Short Name 

Description Q1 2022/23 Q2 2022/23 Q3 2022/23 Latest Note 
Value Target Status Value Target Status Value Target Status 

CP_KPI_43 

Business 
Rates 

Collection 

% of national non-
domestic rates 
collected by the 
council - cumulative 
figure per month 

30.12% 24.75% 56.38% 49.5% 82.11% 74.25% Government finance including 
Ashford Borough Council, covering 
borrowing and investment, capital 
payments and receipts, local Council 
Tax support, quarterly revenue 
outturn and receipts of Council Taxes 
and national non-domestic rates are 
available here 

CP_KPI_44 

Council Tax 
Collection 

Rate 

Percentage of 
council tax collected 
- cumulative figure
per month

30.1% 24.57% 57.25% 49.14% 85.57% 73.71% 

CP_KPI_46 

Gas Safety 
Certificates 

% of ABC properties 
with up to date gas 
safety certificates 

99.81% 100% 99.74% 100% 99.87% 100% 99.93% December 

Our homes must meet the needs of local people of all ages, incomes and abilities to live sustainably and safely, although 99.93%, the measure as of December 2022 appears high, our target is 
100% and there is reviewed focus to achieve this consistently with a zero tolerance approach to access issues. 

CP_KPI_47 

Number of 
days 

sickness per 
full time 

equivalent 

For the complete year 21/22 8.04 days per FTE 10.41 days per FTE 

Sickness absence per employee Q3 01 Oct 22 to 31 Dec 22 

A total of 1,293.77 days were lost due to sickness absence during the quarter 01.10.22 to 31.12.22; annualised this figure would be 5,175.08.  FTE at 31.12.22 was 497.29.  Therefore, total 
days sickness per FTE (annualised for a 12-month period) equals 10.41 days.  Please note that this is a winter quarter which has been annualised and absence levels are higher during this 

P
age 239

https://www.gov.uk/government/statistical-data-sets/live-tables-on-local-government-finance#borrowing-and-investment


20 

Code & 
Short Name 

Description Q1 2022/23 Q2 2022/23 Q3 2022/23 Latest Note 
Value Target Status Value Target Status Value Target Status 

peak period of seasonal illnesses. 

Annual Sickness Report 202122.pdf (moderngov.co.uk) 

CP_KPI_48 

Average 
Speed of 
Customer 

Service 
Calls 

Answered 

Average wait time 
for customer service 
calls - to be 
benchmarked with 
results across Kent 

0h 01m 14s 0h 01m 38s 0h 01m 30s 0h 01m 38s 0h 00m 49s 0h 01m 38s FTE in December was 9.51 

5 csa’s absent totalling 66 hours 

15 csa’s took annual leave totalling 
279.25 hours 

CP_KPI_51 

number of 
ongoing 

litigation/co
urt 

proceedings 
( volume 
measure) 

number of ongoing 
litigation/court 
proceedings ( 
volume measure) 

Number of ongoing litigation matters = 
92 

Number of cases where costs have 
been awarded against ABC = 0 

Number of ongoing litigation matters = 
109 

Number of cases where costs have 
been awarded against ABC = 0 

Number of ongoing litigation matters = 
118 

Number of cases where costs have 
been awarded against ABC = 0 

Measure covers those litigation/court 
proceedings being furthered by legal 
services. 

CP_KPI_52 

number of 
new 106 

files opened 

number of new 106 
files opened 

Number of new 106 files opened - 10 

Number of draft 106 agreements sent 
out – 4 

Number of 106 cases completed – 56 

Number of new 106 files opened - 6 

Number of draft 106 agreements sent 
out – 7 

Number of 106 cases completed – 3 

Number of new 106 files opened 4 

Number of Draft 106 agreements sent 
out - 1

Number of 106 cases completed - 4 

P
age 240

https://ashford.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s19929/Annual%20Sickness%20Report%20202122.pdf
RMICKELBOROUGH
Cross-Out



21 

Code & 
Short Name 

Description Q1 2022/23 Q2 2022/23 Q3 2022/23 Latest Note 
Value Target Status Value Target Status Value Target Status 

 
CP_KPI_53  

 
Planning 

Application 
Approvals 

 

% of planning 
applications 
approved 

85% 90% 
 

90% 90% 
 

92% 90% 
 

 

The national average performance for the percentage of planning applications approved is usually around 87 to 88%. As the financial year has progressed our performance here has returned to 
target.  
 
A recent update on the Stodmarsh situation was presented to Cabinet Stodmarsh Update.pdf (moderngov.co.uk), explaining the progress made towards a mitigation to this strategic issue.  
 

 
CP_KPI_54  

 
Speed of 

Major 
Planning 

Application 
Decisions 

% of major planning 
applications 
determined within 13 
weeks (or within 
such extended 
period as agreed in 
writing between the 
applicant and the 
local authority) 

50% 65% 
 

69% 65% 
 

88% 65% 
 

 

 
CP_KPI_54b  

 
% of major 
planning 

applications 
determined 
within 13 

weeks 
amended to 

reflect 24 
rolling 
month 

% of major planning 
applications 
determined within 13 
weeks amended to 
reflect 24 rolling 
month 
  
 

82% 75% 
 

79% 75% 
 

77% 75% 
 

 

The latest data tables on local government Planning including Ashford Borough Council, covering the speed and quality of planning decisions are available at the following link: Live tables on 
planning application statistics 
 

P
age 241

https://ashford.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s21715/Stodmarsh%20Update.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistical-data-sets/live-tables-on-planning-application-statistics#local-planning-authority-performance-tables
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistical-data-sets/live-tables-on-planning-application-statistics#local-planning-authority-performance-tables


22 

Code & 
Short Name 

Description Q1 2022/23 Q2 2022/23 Q3 2022/23 Latest Note 
Value Target Status Value Target Status Value Target Status 

Performance remains good across the broader period in respect of major application determinations. Q1 performance was below par but it was based on just 11 cases (i.e. 5 out of 12 is 55%).  
The cases that ran over the statutory target date were mostly subject to particular causes of delay and difficulty associated with S106, Stodmarsh, Committee referral and two were refused 
without agreement to an EOT from the applicant. 

 
 

CP_KPI_55  
 

Speed of 
Non-Major 
Planning 

Application 
Decisions 

% of minor and other 
planning 
applications 
determined within 8 
weeks (or within 
such extended 
period as has been 
agreed in writing 
between the 
applicant and the 
council). 

86% 75% 
 

83% 75% 
 

81% 75% 
 

 

 
CP_KPI_55b  

 
% of non 
majors 

determined 
within 8 
weeks 

amended to 
reflect 24 

rolling 
month 

% of non majors 
determined within 8 
weeks amended to 
reflect 24 rolling 
month 
  

90% 80% 
 

89% 80% 
 

87% 80% 
 

 

The latest data tables on local government Planning including Ashford Borough Council, covering the speed and quality of planning decisions are available at the following link: Live tables on 
planning application statistics 
 
Performance in non-major schemes remains strong and above target. 
 

 
CP_KPI_56  

 
Number of 

live 

Number includes all 
conditions 
applications, pre-app 
cases, as well as 
applications for 

817 550 
 

831 550 
 

985 550 
 

 

P
age 242

https://eur02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.gov.uk%2Fgovernment%2Fstatistical-data-sets%2Flive-tables-on-planning-application-statistics%23local-planning-authority-performance-tables&data=05%7C01%7CMark.Berry%40ashford.gov.uk%7C98846ae43616487e011108dab68439d5%7C66a338a5cfb74d1e9354d346e02c3a75%7C0%7C0%7C638022977289068565%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=9C3rXVNJ8Rx7l%2BNVefwRCcXZvG4sTeJsDQMOTyJW8kg%3D&reserved=0
https://eur02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.gov.uk%2Fgovernment%2Fstatistical-data-sets%2Flive-tables-on-planning-application-statistics%23local-planning-authority-performance-tables&data=05%7C01%7CMark.Berry%40ashford.gov.uk%7C98846ae43616487e011108dab68439d5%7C66a338a5cfb74d1e9354d346e02c3a75%7C0%7C0%7C638022977289068565%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=9C3rXVNJ8Rx7l%2BNVefwRCcXZvG4sTeJsDQMOTyJW8kg%3D&reserved=0


23 

Code & 
Short Name 

Description Q1 2022/23 Q2 2022/23 Q3 2022/23 Latest Note 
Value Target Status Value Target Status Value Target Status 

planning 
casework 
reducing 
backlog 

outline, full or 
reserved matters 
consent. Reducing 
backlog with a 
capacity set at 550 
open cases 

Application numbers have continued to increase.  Stodmarsh is a known factor which is holding applications up (approximately 220 cases at Q2) and implementation of the new planning 
application management system (ARCUS) has resulted in the number of live applications increasing temporarily. In relation to Stodmarsh, officers are taking cases to the point where proposals 
can be agreed in all other respects pending the nutrient mitigation solution. This includes any applications where a Committee resolution may be required and/or a Section 106 Agreement to 
deal with other matters. In relation to the build-up of cases as a result of the introduction of ARCUS, officers are holding a second clearance week in February, following the very successful 
clearance week in May.  This is designed to shift a lot of cases by freeing planning officers for one week to focus purely on making planning decisions.  In May this resulted in 170 applications 
being determined in one week.  
 
Staffing resources remain fairly stable in the Development Management Team with most posts now filled on a permanent basis and reducing consultancy support. This trend is expected to 
continue but will be managed against on-going caseload numbers. 
 
 
  

P
age 243



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Item No: 
 

11 

Report To:  
 

Cabinet 

Date of Meeting:  
 

23 February 2023 

Report Title:  
 

Local Development Scheme (LDS) Update (2023) 

Report Author: 
Job Title:  
 

Daniel Carter, Spatial Planning Manager 

Portfolio Holder: 
Portfolio Holder for: 
 

Cllr. Neil Bell, Portfolio Holder for Planning and Development 
 
 

 
Summary:  
 

National Planning Policy states that Local Plans should be 
reviewed at least once every five years to determine whether 
policy revisions are needed to keep them up to date and/or 
whether new policies are required.   
 
The appended LDS sets out the pathway that the Council 
intends to follow in terms of carrying out its review of the 
Ashford Local Plan 2030 by the summer of 2023; and 
subsequent drafting of a new Local Plan thereafter.  
 
The LDS is required under legislation, and compliance with it 
is a legal requirement for the preparation of Local Plans. It is 
therefore essential that it is kept up-to-date. The appended 
LDS (2023) conforms with the relevant regulations. 
 

 
Key Decision:  
 

 
NO 

Significantly 
Affected Wards:  
 

None specifically. 

Recommendations: 
 

The Cabinet is recommended to:-   
 
  

I. Recommend to Full Council the adoption of the 
Local Development Scheme 2023, as required 
under Section 15 of the Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004 (as amended by the Localism 
Act 2011), to have effect from the day following 
the Full Council meeting. 

 
Policy Overview: 
 

 
An up-to-date LDS is required under Section 15 of the 
Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 (as amended 
by the Localism Act 2011). This revised LDS is in 
accordance with this legislation. 

 
Financial 
Implications: 
 

 
None. 

Page 245

Agenda Item 11



Legal Implications: 
[text agreed by 
Principal Solicitor – 
Strategic 
Development on 
15/02/23] 
 

The statutory requirement upon each local planning authority 
to prepare and maintain an LDS is designed to help the local 
community and other stakeholders to understand what key 
planning documents (i.e. local plans) the authority intends to 
produce, their subject-matter and geographical area, and 
when they will undergo the various stages of production.   An 
LDS is not required to include details of potential 
neighbourhood plans.   An LDS must be adopted by Full 
Council, and publicised thereafter.   Preparation of local 
plans in accordance with the adopted LDS is also a statutory 
requirement, and compliance is tested by inspectors at the 
examination stage of local plans. 
 

Equalities Impact 
Assessment: 
 

Not required as no policy changes proposed. 

Data Protection 
Impact 
Assessment: 

None. 
 
 
 

Risk Assessment 
(Risk Appetite 
Statement): 
 

The risk of not producing the LDS is that stakeholders will be 
unclear about the Council’s intentions for future plan making 
within the borough. The appended LDS will remove this lack 
of clarity and provide an up–to-date position.  
 
Given the scope and nature of plan making, there are always 
risks to a timetable. The LDS respects these risks and is 
based upon what is considered to be the most realistic 
pathway that can be pursued under the current planning 
regime. As members are aware, the Governments’ proposed 
amendments to the national planning system are currently 
under consultation, and could result in significant changes.  
 
 
More widely, there is a risk that national planning reforms will 
change the way Local Plans are prepared in the future and 
these changes will be introduced before any revised Local 
Plan is adopted.  
 
Transitional arrangements are yet to be confirmed by 
Government, as such there remains a risk that the 
preparation of a new Local Plan may be impacted upon by 
the introduction of the potential new reform. However the 
alternative would be to not proceed with a review and update 
of the Ashford Local Plan, which would also have 
unfavourable consequences on decision making within the 
borough.   
 

Sustainability 
Implications:  
 

None. 

Other Material 
Implications:  

None. 

Page 246



 
 
Exempt from 
Publication:  
 

NO 
 
 

Background 
Papers:  
 
Contact: 

None. 
 
 
daniel.carter@ashford.gov.uk / Telephone: 01233 330 238 

Page 247

mailto:daniel.carter@ashford.gov.uk


 
Agenda Item No. 11 

 
Report Title: Local Development Scheme (LDS) Update 
(2023) 
 
 
Introduction and Background 
 
1. The Local Development Scheme (LDS) is a key document that serves two 

principal functions. Firstly, it enables the local community to understand the 
current status of planning policies for their area; and secondly, it sets out the 
scope and timetable for the production of future Local Plan documents, 
including broad assumptions of when wider public consultation might occur. 

 
2. The production of an LDS is required under Section 15 of the Planning and 

Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 (as amended by the Localism Act 2011). 
Compliance with the adopted LDS timetable is a legal requirement, which is 
tested for Local Plans at Examination stage, and therefore it is essential that it 
is kept up-to-date. 
 

Proposal 
 
3. The Spatial planning team are primarily responsible within the Planning and 

Development Service for producing Local Plans which are fundamental to 
delivering a number of corporate Council objectives, including the desire for a 
‘Greener’ Ashford and the need to ‘Target Growth’.  
 

4. The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) details that LPA’s should 
assess whether they need to update the policies in their local plan at least 
once every five years. A review should consider the changing circumstances 
affecting the local area, the relevance and effectiveness of existing policy; 
and/or any recent changes in national policy.  

 
5. This report seeks approval for the appended LDS (2023), which confirms that 

a review of the Ashford Local Plan 2030 will commence in the summer of 
2023. 
 

6. Officers anticipate that the review of the Ashford Local Plan 2030 will likely 
result in the preparation of a new Local Plan for the borough which will: 
 

- extend the current Local Plan timeframe to 2041; 
- revisit the objectively assessed needs for the new plan period 

relating to housing (including Gypsy and Travellers), employment, 
retail and leisure; and other key uses; 

- allocate new sites to meet an increase in development 
requirements; 

- introduce new areas of planning policy for the Council;  
- update some existing policies to reflect recent (and potential future) 

amendments to national planning policy and practice guidance. 
- retain existing key policies on account of them remaining consistent 

with current national planning policy and practice guidance.  

Page 248



 
7. The appended LDS also assumes that the Chilmington Green Area Action 

Plan will be reviewed again as part of any new Local Plan to 2041 in order to 
determine whether policy revisions are needed, or whether the policies can be 
incorporated into the new Local Plan.   
 

8. The review of the Ashford Borough Local Plan 2030 is to take place in the 
summer of 2023, and will initiate the start of the preparation of a new Local 
Plan. The projected timetable is set out below:  
 

Local Plan Preparation Stage Anticipated Date 
  
Review of Ashford Local Plan 2030 Q3, 2023 
New Local Plan (2041) Regulation 18: public 
consultation 

Q2, 2024 

New Local Plan (2041) Regulation 19: public 
consultation 

Q1, 2025 

Regulation 22: Submission to Secretary of State Q2, 2025 
Local Plan Examination in Public Q4, 2025 
Ashford Local Plan (2041) adopted Q3, 2026 

 
9. The parameters of the timetable as set out above are subject to the timely 

resolution of the Stodmarsh issue, the scope of the Local Plan review, any 
future changes to National Planning Policy and the ability of the Planning 
Inspectorate to resource the Examination of the Plan in due course.  

 
10. A fuller explanation of the timetable is provided in the LDS appended to this 

paper.  
 
Key considerations for the preparation of a new Local Plan  

 
Meeting objectively assessed needs and the Plan period  

 
 Housing 
 
11. At present, a state of uncertainty exists around how local housing 

requirements will be calculated and administered in the future. Since 2018, 
the standard method has been applied to generate a ‘minimum’ housing need 
figure that local planning authorities have had to plan for. However, proposed 
changes to the NPPF, coming out of the Levelling Up and Regeneration Bill in 
December 2022, suggest that this approach could be amended to an 
‘advisory starting point’.  
 

12. Regardless, any revision of the existing Local Plan will require a fresh 
calculation of housing need informed by the standard method. This figure will 
then be the foundation on which that Plan progresses, as well as impacting 
the needs for employment, retail and infrastructure provision, to ensure the 
creation of sustainable balanced communities. 
 
Affordable Housing  
 

13. Although the standard method is used to calculate an overall minimum 
average annual housing figure, it doesn’t break this down into the housing 

Page 249



needs of individual groups. A revised or new local plan would also need to 
identify and plan for the housing needs of particular groups of people over the 
plan period, including affordable housing and the tenures within this housing.    

 
New planning policy areas to be addressed 

 
Stodmarsh  
 

14. In July 2020, Natural England issued Advice to the local planning authorities 
located in the Stour catchment setting out the deteriorating water quality at the 
Stodmarsh Lakes. Consequently, development which could have an impact 
on water quality in the Stodmarsh European-designated sites through 
increased nutrient levels from waste water discharges are now required to 
provide evidence of nutrient neutrality at the point of submission of the 
planning application.  
 

15. The Council has been working to prepare its Stodmarsh Mitigation Strategy 
through the creation of new strategic wetlands, which will generate nitrogen 
and phosphorus ‘credits’ that can then be purchased by developers in order to 
achieve nutrient neutrality. A revised or new Local Plan will need to include 
policies on this issue.  
 
Biodiversity Net Gain  
 

16. The NPPF sets out that planning policies and decisions ‘should contribute to 
and enhance the natural and local environment by minimising impact on and 
providing net gains for biodiversity’. Under the Environment Act 2021, it will 
become mandatory for all planning permissions granted in England to deliver 
at least 10% Biodiversity Net Gain (BNG) from an as yet unconfirmed date, 
but expected to be November 2023. 
 

17. BNG refers to the measureable gains in biodiversity (on or off-site) achieved 
through a new development that leaves biodiversity in a better state than 
before the development. Therefore, any future revision/new the Local Plan will 
need to include a policy that sets out the local circumstance and requirements 
for delivering biodiversity net gain.  
 
Design codes 
 

18. The 2021 update to the NPPF placed an increased emphasis on beauty, 
place-making and good design; and makes a requirement that design codes 
‘should be produced either as part of a development plan or as supplementary 
planning documents’. The aim of these documents is to help local authorities 
and communities decide what good quality design looks like in their area 
based on the local aspirations for how this area shall develop. Once created, 
the Design Code will be taken into account when determining planning 
applications. Any revised/new Local Plan will need to clearly articulate what 
this means for future developments in the borough.  

 
Climate Change policies  
 

19. At Cabinet in December 2022, the Council published informal guidance for 
developers, applicants and decision makers as to what the Council expects 

Page 250



certain types of new residential development to deliver in the way of 
infrastructure to help mitigate the impacts of climate change. Any future 
revision to the Local Plan may seek to include planning policies that supports, 
formalises and pushes the requirements yet further.  

 
Existing Local Plan policies to be retained  
 

20. The Local Plan review will seek to identify those existing Local Plan policies 
that are being applied effectively in decision making, and which remain 
consistent with national planning guidance. Analysis through, for example, 
appeal decisions, will be undertaken. 
 
The need to co-ordinate infrastructure to support growth  
 

21. In addition to the delivery of housing, employment and retail uses, there is a 
need to plan for the necessary supporting infrastructure including utilities, 
transport, schools, healthcare, and energy generation. The Levelling Up and 
Regeneration Bill also includes important measures to capture uplifts in land 
value more effectively through a new Infrastructure Levy.  
 

22. A new Infrastructure Development Plan (IDP) will need to be prepared to 
support a revised or new local plan. Its purpose to identify gaps in 
infrastructure provision and co-ordinate their timing, phasing, funding and 
delivery to support future growth within the borough.  

 
The challenge of the timescale  
 

23. The plan making process is required to deal with a series of multifaceted and 
interwoven set of spatial considerations and challenges, as well as the need 
to engage and work with officers inside and outside the Planning Service, 
Members, service providers and the local community.  
 

24. The management and co-ordination of all these different work streams to 
meet the timetable suggested in this paper is not an easy undertaking and 
shouldn’t be under-estimated, especially with the backdrop of an ever-shifting 
national policy.  
 

25. However, the Council remain committed to pursuing a plan-led system as the 
best means of controlling and influencing the market to achieve the Council’s 
strategic vision and aspiration for the borough.  

 
Implications of National Planning Reforms 
 
26. When the LDS was last updated in July 2022, the report noted the progress of 

the Levelling Up and Regeneration Bill through Parliament and how this may 
change the way in which Local Plans are prepared in future. The Bill has 
reached the House of Lords and is expected to be enacted later this year. 
 

27. In December the Government launched a consultation into some of the ways 
that the planning system is likely to change as a result of the Bill alongside an 
amended National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF). Comments are invited 
up until 2nd March and the Council will be responding. 
 

Page 251



28. Among other things, views are sought on possible transitional arrangements 
for Local Planning Authorities at various stages of plan making. It is 
anticipated that after the consultation responses have been considered that 
these will be included in a revised NPPF. 
 

29. Indicative arrangements suggest the new planning system will come into force 
late in 2024, after which Local Plans will have to be prepared based on the 
new processes introduced by the new Planning Act, Revised NPPF and 
accompanying Regulations. 
 
 

30. The proposed transitional period for ‘old style’ plans is that they have to be 
submitted to the Secretary of State no later than 30th June 2025 and must be 
adopted by 31st December 2026. 
 

31. The draft LDS set out would be within these deadlines. 
 
Equalities Impact Assessment 
 
32. Not required as no policy changes proposed.   
 
 
Consultation Planned or Undertaken 
 
33. There is no requirement for public consultation on the LDS. 
 
 
Other Options Considered 
 
34. Production of an up to date LDS is a statutory requirement, and therefore is 

not optional. However, the council can amend the LDS at anytime before a 
Public Examination is undertaken.  

 
35. Some Local Planning Authorities have recently taken the decision to pause 

their plan making pending further clarification on the national planning reforms 
explained above. General advice from the Government and the Planning 
Inspectorate has always been to keep plans up to date using the best 
information and guidance available at the time. 
 

36.  The option exists of postponing the review until the new planning system has 
been introduced prior to preparing a new Local Plan. However, the Ashford 
Local Plan 2030 would effectively become out of date approximately 9 months 
before the new system is expected to come into force. This could leave the 
Council more vulnerable to planning appeals (and this could be extended if 
the Government timetable slips). 

 
Reasons for Supporting Option Recommended 
 
37. Commencing the review of the Local Plan in the summer of 2023 

demonstrates that the Council is responding to Government guidance by 
maintaining an up to date plan. 

 

Page 252



38. The review can address important issues that have arisen since the Local 
plan was adopted in 2019, such as those associated with nutrient neutrality at 
Stodmarsh Lakes and the implications of the Environment Act 2021, expected 
to come into force this November. It also provides an opportunity to refresh 
the Chilmington AAP and policy approach for Gypsies and Travellers. 

 
Next Steps in Process 
 
39. Subject to Cabinet approval of the updated LDS the document will be 

published on the Council’s website and the Planning Inspectorate informed. 
 
 
Conclusion 
 
40. The revision of the LDS is essential to meet the requirements set out in 

Regulations, provides a useful tool to measure the current and future Local 
Plan progress and milestones. 

 
41. The proposed timetable and scope for the review of the Ashford Local Plan 

2030 will ensure that the necessary steps are being taken to keep the plan up 
to date and robust for development management purposes. 

 
Portfolio Holder’s Views  
 
42. The Portfolio Holder’s views will be given at the meeting. 
 
 
 
Contact and Email 
 
43. Daniel Carter – Spatial Planning Manager 
 
44. Email: daniel.carter@ashford.gov.uk / Telephone: 01233 330 238 

 
 
 
 
  

Page 253

mailto:daniel.carter@ashford.gov.uk


 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ashford Borough Council 

Local Development Scheme 
March 2023 

     

Page 254



2 

 

 

  

Page 255



3 

 

 

Contents 

Introduction .......................................................................................................................... 4 

What is a Local Development Scheme? ........................................................................... 4 

Previous LDS Documents ................................................................................................ 4 

The Current adopted Development Plan documents: .......................................................... 4 

Development Plan Documents ......................................................................................... 4 

Adopted Neighbourhood Plans ........................................................................................ 5 

Minerals and Waste Plan ................................................................................................. 5 

Supplementary Planning Documents and Guidance ........................................................ 5 

Other relevant documents .................................................................................................... 6 

Emerging Plans ................................................................................................................... 6 

Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL)................................................................................ 6 

Gypsy and Traveller Accommodation Local Plan ............................................................. 7 

Local Plan Review ............................................................................................................ 7 

Monitoring ............................................................................................................................ 9 

Appendix 1 – Boundary of Ashford Borough Local Plan 2030 (Borough-wide coverage) .. 10 

Appendix 2 – Adopted LDS Timetable (2023) .................................................................... 11 

Appendix 3 – Previous Local Development Scheme Timetables (now superseded) ......... 12 

 

  

Page 256



4 

 

 

Introduction 
What is a Local Development Scheme? 

Ashford Borough Council is required to prepare, maintain and publish a Local Development 
Scheme (LDS) in accordance with the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 (as 
amended by the Localism Act 2011).  

The LDS is a ‘project plan’ which sets out the timetable for the production of new or revised 
Local Plan Documents which will form part of the Council’s Local Development Plan. 

The LDS provides a starting point for the community to find out: 

• The current Local Plan documents which make up the statutory Development Plan 
for Ashford. 

• The subject matter and the geographical area to which each document being 
prepared relates. 

• Any future Local Plan documents which are to be prepared, and their associated 
timescales. 

The LDS will be reviewed annually through the Authority Monitoring Reports. 

 

Previous LDS Documents 

This LDS supersedes all previous versions.  The Council produced its first LDS in March 
2005, followed by subsequent schemes in July 2008, December 2010, July 2014, 
September 2015, May 2017, April 2018, March 2019, March 2021 and June 2022.  In 
accordance with Regulations, all formerly adopted LDS timetables can be reviewed at 
Appendix 3 – Previous Local Development Scheme Timetables (now superseded). 

 

The Current adopted Development Plan documents:  
Development Plan Documents  

The current Development Plan for Ashford borough comprises the Local Plan 2030 (2019), 
along with the Chilmington Green Area Action Plan (2013), the Wye Neighbourhood Plan 
(2016), the Pluckley Neighbourhood Plan (2017), the Rolvenden Neighbourhood Plan 
(2019), Boughton Aluph and Eastwell Neighbourhood Plan (2021), Egerton Neighbourhood 
Plan (2022) and the Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan (2016) as well as the Kent Minerals 
and Waste Early Partial Review (2020). 

View the adopted Development Plan documents  

 
• Ashford Local Plan to 2030 (Adopted February 2019) 

The Ashford Local Plan 2030 is the principal Development Plan document for the 
borough and sets out the overall vision and strategic objectives for the delivery of 
growth in Ashford until 2030, and establishes the level of new housing and 
employment development for Ashford borough for the life of the Plan.  There is a 
statutory requirement to review the Local Plan within 5 years of adoption.  This review 
has not commenced. 

Page 257

https://www.ashford.gov.uk/authority-monitoring-reports
https://www.ashford.gov.uk/adopted-development-plan-documents


5 

 

 

 

• Chilmington Green Area Action Plan (AAP) (2013)  

The AAP provides a policy framework to deliver up to 5,750 new homes and 1,000 
new jobs over the next 25 years at Chilmington Green.  The AAP contains topic 
policies for community infrastructure, transport improvements, ecology and provides 
a framework for different character areas. 

 

Adopted Neighbourhood Plans 

Provisions in the Localism Act (2011) allow local communities to prepare Neighbourhood 
Plans for their local areas. Neighbourhood Plans will form part of the Development Plan for 
the areas that they cover once they are formally ‘made’ by the Local Planning Authority.  
There are currently 5 adopted Neighbourhood Plans in the borough; Wye, Pluckley, 
Rolvenden, Boughton Aluph and Eastwell, and Egerton. 

There are other emerging Neighbourhood Plans, but as they are produced by the parishes, 
there is no requirement to set out the timescales within this LDS. 

View more information on all the Neighbourhood Plans in the borough.  

 

Minerals and Waste Plan  

As the minerals and waste planning authority for Kent, Kent County Council have to plan for 
waste management capacity and mineral provision.  The plan, and subsequent partial 
review in 2020, sets out the vision and strategy for waste management and mineral provision 
up until the year 2030. 

View the Kent County Council Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-2030 

 

Supplementary Planning Documents and Guidance 

Supplementary Planning Documents (SPDs) support the development plans.  All matters 
covered in SPDs relate to policies within the Development Plan.  Ashford has a number of 
adopted SPD's which are used as material considerations when assessing planning 
applications:  

• Affordable Housing SPD (2009) 

• Residential Parking SPD (2010) 

• Sustainable Drainage SPD (2010) 

• Residential Space and Layout SPD (2011) 

• Landscape Character SPD (2011) 

• Public Green Spaces and Water Environment SPD (2012) 

• Sustainable Design and Construction SPD (2012) 

• Stables, Arenas and other Horse Related Development SPD (2014) 

Page 258

https://www.ashford.gov.uk/neighbourhood-plans
https://www.kent.gov.uk/about-the-council/strategies-and-policies/environment-waste-and-planning-policies/planning-policies/minerals-and-waste-planning-policy#tab-1


6 

 

 

• Dark Skies SPD (2014) 

• Chilmington Design Code SPD (2016)  

• Fibre to the Premises SPD (2020) 

 

Similarly, the Council has a number of Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPG) documents 
and guidance notes which support policies in the Local Plan 2030 and provide more detailed 
advice on particular topics. 

 

Other relevant documents 
Statement of Community Involvement 

The Ashford Statement of Community Involvement (SCI) was adopted in March 2020.  The 
SCI sets out how the planning department intends to achieve community involvement, public 
participation and cooperation in all planning matters, including the preparation of local 
development documents, supplementary planning documents and arrangements for 
consultation on planning applications. 

 

Authority Monitoring Report 

The Council publishes up-to-date authority monitoring information on its website.  Not only 
does this information provide updates on the status of the LDS timetable, it also sets out the 
progress of the Local Plan 2030, reports on public consultations and duty-to-cooperate 
consultations, provides an update on neighbourhood planning within the borough and details 
borough-wide statistics on planning topic areas such as housing, employment, population, 
community, health, education, environment and transport. 

View the Council's Authority Monitoring Reports  

 

Policies Map  

Finally, the Council is required to produce a Policies Map, which shows the location of 
proposals in all current adopted local development documents on an ordnance survey based 
map.  The map is web based and is kept up-to-date and reflects current adopted policies 
within the borough. 

Access the Adopted Local Plan Policies Map  

 

Emerging Plans  
Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) 

The Council consulted on a Preliminary Draft Charging Schedule for an 8 week period in 
Summer 2016. 

Page 259

https://www.ashford.gov.uk/planning-and-development/planning-policy/adopted-development-plan-documents/other-planning-guidance/
https://www.ashford.gov.uk/planning-and-development/planning-policy/adopted-development-plan-documents/other-planning-guidance/
https://www.ashford.gov.uk/planning-and-development/planning-policy/public-consultation/
https://www.ashford.gov.uk/authority-monitoring-reports
https://www.ashford.gov.uk/maps


7 

 

 

However, the process to introduce CIL in Ashford has been since put on hold, awaiting the 
government’s review of CIL and developer contributions.  Following the government’s 
response to the review set out in the document ‘Government response to supporting housing 
delivery through developer contributions’ (October, 2018), the ‘Planning for the Future’ White 
Paper (August, 2020) and proposals for an Infrastructure Levy as part of the ‘Levelling Up 
and Regeneration Bill’ (May 2022) the Council is currently considering the options for taking 
forward CIL.  The Council’s developer contributions webpages will provide further updates 
on progress and timescales if and when they are available, but no timetable is set out in this 
LDS for production of CIL at this time. 

 

Gypsy and Traveller Accommodation Local Plan 

The intention had been that the outstanding Gypsy and Traveller need identified in the 
Ashford Local Plan 2030 would be addressed through the preparation of a separate 
Development Plan Document (SPD).  

However, work on the Gypsy and Traveller Local Plan was paused in 2020 following advice 
issued by Natural England regarding the water quality at the internationally important 
Stodmarsh Lakes.This required all development proposing overnight accommodation within 
the catchment of the River Stour to demonstrate ‘nutrient neutrality’ in order to prevent 
further deterioration of the Stodmarsh Lakes. 

The constraint impacted on the Council’s ability to sustainably plan for Gypsy and Traveller 
development across the borough whilst an appropriate mitigation strategy is prepared.   

As a consequence, the decision has been taken that the preparation of the Gypsy and 
Traveller Local Plan should be halted and considered as part of the future review of the 
Ashford Local Plan 2030; and addressed as part of a new Local Plan to 2041. 

 

Reviewing the Ashford Local Plan 2030 

The Ashford Local Plan 2030 was adopted in 2019.  Within paragraph 1.35 of the Local Plan 
it is set out that a decision as to whether to revise the Plan will be taken no later than five 
years from the adoption date of the Local Plan. This chimes with the NPPF in that Plans 
should be reviewed within five years of adoption.  

The review of the Ashford Local Plan 2030 will conclude by third quarter of 2023. The review 
will determine which existing local plan policies are required to be updated or revised; and 
new policy areas to be explored. 

The Review of the Local Plan 2030, shall also incorporate another review of the Chilmington 
Green Area Action Plan to determine the best pathway for that Local Plan.  

It is anticipated that the review of the Ashford Local Plan 2030 will likely result in the 
preparation of a new Local Plan for the borough which will:  

• extend the current Local Plan timeframe  to 2041; 

Page 260



8 

 

 

• revisit the objectively assessed needs for the new plan period relating to housing 
(including Gypsy and Travellers), employment, retail and leisure; and other key 
uses; 

• the allocation of new sites to meet an increase in development requirements; 
• update some existing policies to reflect recent (and potential future) amendments to 

national planning policy and practice guidance; 
• introduce new policy areas for the Council;  
• include policies for the Chilmington Green AAP area; and 
• seek to retain existing key policies  on account of them remaining consistent with 

current national planning policy and practice guidance.  

The preparation of a new Ashford Local Plan to 2041 is expected to follow the anticipated 
table set out in Appendix 2.  For reference each of the stages are explained in more detail 
below. 

Pre-publication Stage (Regulation 18) 

Evidence gathering, engaging with the local community businesses and stakeholders on 
emerging issues and options, consulting with statutory environmental consultees on the 
scope of the sustainability appraisal, and infrastructure providers with regards to the 
development options. 

The Regulation 18 consultation is expected in the second quarter of 2024. 

 

Publication of submission draft Local Plan (Regulation 19) 

This stage includes a public consultation on the submission version of the Local Plan and 
would take place prior to the submission of the Local Plan to the Secretary of State for an 
independent Examination. 

The Regulation 19 consultation is expected in the first quarter of 2025. 

 

Submission and Examination of the Local Plan (Regulation 22) 

Following Regulation 19 stage,the next stage for the council is to formally submit the draft 
Local Plan and evidence base to the Planning Inspectorate for examination on behalf of the 
Secretary of State. An independent Planning Inspector will asses the Plan against the tests 
of soundness contained in the NPPF, taking account of any representations (comments) 
received. 

It is expected that the Local Plan will be submitted to the Secretary of State in the second 
quarter of 2025, with the Examination commencing in the fourth quarter of 2025. 

 

Adoption 

If the Plan is found to be ‘sound’, the Council may adopt the Plan as soon as practicable 
following the receipt of the Inspector’s report, unless the Secretary of State intervenes.  
Once adopted, the Local Plan will form the main part of the statutory Development Plan for 
the borough. 

Page 261



9 

 

 

It is expected that the Local Plan would be adopted in the third quarter of 2026. 

 
Monitoring  
Monitoring systems will be maintained to assess the implementation of the Local 
Plan/Development Plan documents and to ensure that the evidence upon which the 
Development Plan is based is still relevant and up to date. 

The Council produces an Annual Monitoring Report (AMR). It will use the AMR to assess:  

• Whether the Council is on track to meet the targets it has set itself in its LDS and if 
not the reasons why;  

• What impact the Council’s policies are having; and  

• Whether the Council needs to review any policies in order to meet their sustainable 
development objectives.  

 

The Council will keep this LDS, and the relevant planning documents, under regular review, 
and will amend its programme of work as necessary. 

  

Page 262



10 

 

 

 
 

Appendix 1 – District Diagram, from the Ashford Borough Local 
Plan 2030 (Strategic Diagram 1) 

Page 263



11 

 

Appendix 2 – Adopted LDS Timetable (2023) 

 

P
age 264



12 

 

 

Appendix 3 – Previous Local Development Scheme Timetables (now superseded) 
LDS Timetable March 2005 

P
age 265



13 

 

 

LDS Review Timetable July 2008 

Timetable for the Preparation of the 
Ashford Local Development 
Framework – 2008 – 2011 

Key: 

C = Consultation on scope of SA 

P = Publication of submission DPD for 
consultation or Publication of draft 
SPD for consultation (as appropriate) 

S = Submission of DPD to Secretary of 
State 

A = Adoption 

1 = Pre Hearing Meeting 

2 = Hearing Sessions Open 

3 = Inspector Report Fact Check 

4 = Inspector Report Final. 

J F M A M J J A S O N D J F M A M J J A S O N D J F M A M J J A S O N D J F M A M J J A S O N D

Core Strategy A

Ashford Town Centre 
AAP P S 1 2 3 4 A

Urban Sites and 
Infrastructure DPD P S 1 2 3 4 A

Tenterden & Rural Sites 
DPD P S 1 2 3 4 A

Chilmington Green / 
Discovery Park AAP

P S 1 2 3 4 A

Cheesemans Green / 
Waterbrook AAP C P S 1 2 3 4 A

Generic DC policy DPD C P S 1 2 3

J F M A M J J A S O N D J F M A M J J A S O N D J F M A M J J A S O N D J F M A M J J A S O N D

Affordable Housing SPD P A

Sustainable Design & 
Construction SPD P A

Infrastructure 
Contributions SPD P A

Residential Space & 
Layout SPD P A

Green Spaces & Water 
Environment SPD P A

Sustainable Urban 
Drainage Systems P A

Broadband & 
Telecommunications 
SPD

P A

2011

20112010

2010

2009

20092008
Supplementary Planning 
Documents

2008
LDF Document

P
age 266



14 

 

 

LDS Review Timetable December 2010 

P
age 267



15 

 

 

LDS Review Timetable July 2014 

 
LDS Timetable September 2015 

 
  

P
age 268



16 

 

 

LDS Timetable May 2017 

 
KEY 

  

DPD

Re
g 

22
 - 

Su
bm

iss
io

n 

R A

Gy
sp

y 
&

 T
ra

ve
lle

r D
PD

 

Re
g 

22
 - 

Su
bm

iss
io

n 

EI
P R A

Lo
ca

l P
la

n 
20

30
 

2019
Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

Re
g 

18
 - 

Pu
bl

ic 
Co

ns
ul

ta
tio

n

Re
g 

19
 - 

Pu
bl

ic 
Co

ns
ul

ta
tio

n

Q1 Q2 Q3

Re
g 

19
 - 

Pu
bl

ic 
Co

ns
ul

ta
tio

n

Q4
2016 2017 2018

Re
g 

19
 - 

M
ai

n 
Ch

an
ge

s 

Co
ns

ul
ta

tio
n

EI
P

Q4Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3

A Adoption of Development Plan Document

Regulation 18 - Initial Consultation and evidence gathering 

Regulation 19 - Main Changes to Draft DPD 
Regulation 22 - Submission of document to Secretary of State; EiP = Examination Hearing; R = Inspector's Final Report

Regulation 19 - Publication of Draft DPD 

P
age 269



17 

 

 

LDS Timetable March 2018 

 
KEY 

  

DPD

Re
g 

22
 - 

Su
bm

iss
io

n 

R A

Gy
sp

y 
&

 T
ra

ve
lle

r D
PD

 

Re
g 

22
 - 

Su
bm

iss
io

n 

EI
P R A

Q4Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

Re
g 

19
 - 

M
ai

n 
Ch

an
ge

s 
Co

ns
ul

ta
tio

n EI
P

Re
g 

19
 - 

Pu
bl

ic 
Co

ns
ul

ta
tio

n

Q1 Q2 Q3

Re
g 

19
 - 

Pu
bl

ic 
Co

ns
ul

ta
tio

n

Lo
ca

l P
la

n 
20

30
 

Re
g 

18
 - 

Pu
bl

ic 
Co

ns
ul

ta
tio

n

2019
Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2016 2017 2018

A Adoption of Development Plan Document

Regulation 18 - Initial Consultation and evidence gathering 

Regulation 19 - Main Changes to Draft DPD 
Regulation 22 - Submission of document to Secretary of State; EiP = Examination Hearing; R = Inspector's Final Report

Regulation 19 - Publication of Draft DPD 

P
age 270



18 

 

 

LDS Timetable March 2019 

Gypsy and Travellers Accommodation DPD – Timetable to 2020 

Table for Gypsy and Traveller DPD only 

 
KEY 

  

P
age 271



19 

 

 

LDS Timetable March 2021 

Gypsy and Travellers Accommodation DPD  

 
 

KEY 

  

PLAN
G

ys
py

 &
 T

ra
ve

lle
r L

oc
al

 P
la

n

Re
g 

22
- S

ub
m

is
si

on

EI
P R

Q3
20212020

Re
g 

19
 P

re
pa

ra
tio

n

2022
Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4Q4

Re
g 

18
-P

ub
lic

 C
on

su
lta

tio
n

Q1 Q2 Q3

Re
g 

19
- P

ub
lic

 C
on

su
lta

tio
n

Q4 Q1 Q2

Regulation 19 - Evidence Gathering and Preparation 
Regulation 18 - Initial Consultations on Issues and Options and evidence gathering 

Regulation 19 - Publication of Draft Local Plan for consultation 
Regulation 22 - Submission of document to Secretary of State; EiP = Examination Hearing; R = Inspector's Final Report
Adoption of Local Plan 

P
age 272



20 

 

 

LDS Timetable June 2022 

Gypsy and Traveller Accommodation Local Plan  

 

P
age 273



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Item No: 
 

12 

Report To:  
 

CABINET 

Date of Meeting:  
 

23 February 2023 

Report Title:  
 

Revenues & Benefits Recommended Write-Offs Schedule 

Report Author: 
Job Title:  

Nic Stevens  
Recovery Manager 

Portfolio Holder: 
Portfolio Holder for: 
 

Cllr. Neil Shorter,  
Portfolio Holder for Finance & IT 
 
 
 

 
Summary:  
 

 
This report proposes the formal write off of £163,998.82.  
The proposals are in line with the Council’s Revenues & 
Benefits Service Write Off Policy. The Deputy Chief 
Executive (Section 151 Officer) has been consulted along 
with Heads of Service for relevant areas. 
 

 
Key Decision:  
 

 
No 

Significantly 
Affected Wards:  
 

None 

Recommendations: 
 

The Cabinet is recommended to:-   
 

I. Note the action that accounts totalling £19,639.89 
have been written off under the delegated powers 
(Financial Regulations 11.1)  

II. Approve the write offs listed in the Exempt 
Appendices totalling £144,358.93 

  
Policy Overview: The regular review and writing off of un-collectable debts is 

part of strong financial management. 
 

Financial 
Implications: 

Provision for bad debts has been made in the final accounts 
to account for expected write-offs during the year. 
 

Legal Implications: 
 

There are circumstances when it is appropriate to write off 
monies owed to the Council. Some of these are covered by 
statute or an instruction by the courts whereas other areas 
will be considered by local management, for example when 
residents abscond leaving debts. There are some debts that 
whilst are written off by ABC, could legally be pursued but 
the decision is a commercial and pragmatic one based on 
the likelihood of successful recovery further to the economic 
position of the debtor or known whereabouts or lack of. That 
said, just because a debt is written off, legally in some cases, 

Page 275

Agenda Item 12



action can be reinstated if further evidence comes to light 
that indicates that it is now in both the commercial and public 
interest of ABC so long as the debt has not become statute 
barred. 
Text agreed by Principal Litigator  
 

Equalities Impact 
Assessment: 
 

Not Required 

Data Protection 
Impact 
Assessment: 

Not required with the nature, scope, context and purposes of 
any necessary processing being in line with routine 
procedures 
 

Risk Assessment 
(Risk Appetite 
Statement): 
 

The write offs do not have an immediate financial effect on 
the current year’s budget as the bad debt provision is greater 
than the write-off total. However, the making of that provision 
did have a cost implication at the time the provision was 
made. 

Sustainability 
Implications:  
 

Not Applicable 

Other Material 
Implications:  
 
 

Not Applicable 

Exempt from 
Publication:  
 

YES 
 
[Appendix Not For Publication by virtue of Paragraph 1 
of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 
1972.]  and the public interest in maintaining the 
exemption outweighs the public interest in disclosing 
the information 

Background 
Papers:  
 
Contact: 

- 
 
 
nicola.stevens@ashford.gov.uk  Tel: (01233) 330446 

  

Page 276



Agenda Item No. 12 
 
Report Title: Revenues & Benefits Recommended Write-Offs Schedule 
 
 
Introduction and Background 
 
1. To advise Members of debts written-off and obtain approval to write off further 

individual debts of over £1,000.00 listed in the Exempt Appendices 
 
Proposal / Current position 
 
2. The write offs being recommended are in accordance with the Revenues & 

Benefits Service Write Off Policy. Over recent years, due to the economic 
climate there has been a significant increase in Non-Domestic Rates 
(Business Rates) write offs, the majority of these relate to company 
insolvency.   

3. Under delegated powers the Deputy Chief Executive (Section 151 Officer) has 
written off debts totalling £19,639.89 (column a).  Approval is sought for write 
off of debts totalling £144,358.93 (column b).  

Write off debt summary:- 

Value of debts 
written off under 

delegated 
powers  

Value of debts 
recommended for 

write off (see attached 
appendices)  

Provision for 
Bad Debt at 
1.4.2022 

 (a) (b) ( c) 

Council Tax 
11,681.15 56,956.87 £311,988.52 

Non Domestic Rates  
1,526.28 48,552.91 £288,177.70 

HB overpayment 
1,978.95 33,287.81 £595,399.01 

Sundry Debtors 
4,453.51 5,561.34 £992,344.52 

TOTAL 
19,639.89 144,358.93 

 
 
Implications and Risk Assessment 
The write offs do not have an immediate financial effect on the current year’s budget 
as the bad debt provision is greater than the write-off total. However, the making of 
that provision did have a cost implication at the time the provision was made; those 
being sundry debtors at full cost, council tax approximately 10% cost (90% financed 
by Kent County Council, Police and Crime Commissoner of Kent & Kent Fire 
Authority), housing benefit overpayments 60% cost due to existing subsidy 
arrangements and NNDR 40% (50% financed by the Government and 10% by Kent 
County Council).  

 
 
 

Page 277



 
Consultation Planned or Undertaken 
The Deputy Chief Executive been consulted along with Heads of Service for relevant 
areas. 
 
 
Other Options Considered / Reasons for Supporting Option Recommended 
 
Recovery options are considered throughout the process and all necessary efforts 
made to collect amounts due.  There are circumstances when it is appropriate to 
write off of monies owed to the Council, for example, some of which are covered by 
statute, bankruptcy, absconders who cannot be traced and when the amount is 
uneconomical to collect. That said, just because a debt is written off, in some cases 
action can be reinstated if further evidence comes to light that indicates that it is now 
in both the commercial and public interest.  
 
Next Steps in Process 
Write off amounts in attached reports. 
 
Conclusion 
 
The Service’s Write Off policy has been followed and in many cases a number of 
methods of recovery followed before the debts have been recommended for write 
off. 
 
Portfolio Holder’s Views   
To be given at meeting 
 
Contact and Email 
Nic Stevens  
nicola.stevens@ashford.gov.uk   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

  

Page 278



Exempt Appendix  
Revenues & Benefits Service Write Off Schedule 

The Exempt Appendix is Not for Publication by virtue of Paragraph 1 of 
Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972 

 
Guidance notes regarding reasons for write off and any subsequent action: 

1. Where accounts are in bankruptcy, liquidation, dissolved, in administration or 
there is a Debt Relief Order claims for the amounts due have been submitted 
to the Receivers, Liquidators or Administrators. Any amounts received will be 
written back on to the appropriate accounts. Where a company is “struck off” 
or there is a proposal to “strike off” this means a company has ceased to 
trade and comply with the requirements of Companies House i.e. submit 
company accounts and there is little chance of recovering any monies due.  

 
2. Where debtors have absconded “gone abroad” or “unable to trace” a report of 

confirmation has been obtained from a commercial tracing agency  
 

3. Where Action states “LO returned by Bailiffs” - the Bailiffs have returned the 
Liability Orders as they are unable to collect the debts as the debtor has 
absconded. The Bailiffs would have undertaken initial trace action to locate 
the debtor before returning the Liability Orders. 

 
4. Where action states “unable to attach to benefits” the debtor is not claiming 

state benefits in the UK or other attachments are in force.  
 

5. Where action states “Committal” the debtor has been taken to Court with an 
application to commit to prison.   

 
6. “Statute barred” means that the debt is unable to be recovered due the lapse 

in time (six years or more) of having contact with the debtor.        
 

7. Where action states “uneconomic to pursue” means that all recovery methods 
have been exhausted other than civil court action where legal costs are likely 
to outweigh any monies recovered.   

 
8. Company and Individual Voluntary Arrangements means that recovery action 

cannot legally proceed but there may be a partial payment of the debt.  
 

9. County Court Judgement (CCJ) obtained means recovery is now with the 
Court Bailiffs and if they cannot collect no further action can be taken.  
 

10. There have been instances where long term empty properties incurring an 
empty rates charge have been let to Companies that never occupy the 
property but become liable for the empty charge. Once recovery action 
reaches an advanced stage the Company is dissolved making the debt 
irrecoverable. The Department of Communities and Local Government 
(DCLG) have been informed of the practice and have advised that they are 
aware of the situation.   
 

 

Page 279



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 281

By virtue of paragraph(s) 1 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



   JTB 

299 
 

Joint Transportation Board 
 
Minutes of a Hybrid Meeting of the Joint Transportation Board held in Committee 
Room 2, Civic Centre, Tannery Lane, Ashford on the 6th December 2022. 
 
Present: 
 
Mr P Bartlett (Chairman) - KCC; 
Cllr B Heyes (Vice Chairman) - ABC; 
 
Cllrs Barrett, Feacey, C. Suddards – ABC. 
 
In accordance with Procedure Rule 9.3, Cllr. Barrett attended as Substitute Member 
for Cllr. Link. 
     
Mr S Campkin, Mr M Hill, Mr C Simkins – KCC. 
 
Mrs A Hicks – KALC. 
 
Apologies:  
 
Cllrs Cornish, T Heyes, Link – ABC. 
 
Mr D Robey – KCC. 
 
Mr A Rogers – KALC. 
 
Also present:  
 
Cllrs Iliffe, Nilsson, Spain, Wright – ABC. 
 
In Attendance:  
 
Safety and Wellbeing Manager; Civil Enforcement Team Leader; Member Services 
and Ombudsman Liaison Officer – ABC. 
 
In Attendance (virtually) 
 
Cllr Ledger - ABC. 
 
Highway Manager – Ashford – KCC.  
 
242 Declarations of Interest 
 
Mr Bartlett 
 

 
Made a Voluntary Announcement as he lived 
adjoining the Sevington Inland Border Facility 
site. 
 

 
 

Page 285

Agenda Item 13



JTB 
061222 

300 
 

Feacey Made Voluntary Announcements as he was 
Chairman of the Ashford Volunteer Centre. 
 

 

243  Ashford Shared Space and Lower High Street 
  
The ABC Safety and Wellbeing Manager introduced this item and drew the Board’s 
attention to the key points within the report. 
 
The Chairman read out questions that had been received from a local resident who 
was unable to speak at the meeting, as follows: 
 
1. Was some consideration given to storm water when designing this project? 
2. Does all the storm water from this impermeable surface go into the same drains 
as the foul water from nearby premises? 
3. If there is a separate drain for storm water does it flow directly to the Stour or into 
Ashford Waste-water treatment plant? 
 
The Safety and Wellbeing Manager explained in answer to question 1 that 
consideration was not given to storm water when designing the project because the 
design of the road itself was not changing, and that there was only a proposed 
change to the top surface of the road.  In relation to question 2, the surface was to 
be replaced with a permeable surface which would allow the storm water to go into 
drains which were separate from the foul water drain.  Regarding question 3, this 
was a matter for Southern Water and the Council could not provide a definitive 
response. 
 
In accordance with Procedure Rule 9.3, Mr Mathews had registered to speak on this 
item, on behalf of Central Ashford Community Forum.  He also represented a 
business which had been trading in Ashford Lower High Street for over 50 years.  
His comments covered: 
 

• Lack of consultation from either KCC or ABC on this fundamental change to 
the High Street environment. 

• Lack of maintenance from KCC over 15 years, and granite blocks were not 
finished property after being laid, hence the problems now. 

• Tarmac surface created more problems for surface water drainage and 
increased accident risks from high speed electric scooters, cyclists and 
skateboarders. 

• The cheap tarmac fix would inevitably blight the whole town centre and an 
outstanding and interesting feature of road and pavement surfaces would be 
lost forever. 

• The granite blocks should be repointed and milled down to provide a 
smoother surface that would be durable and long lasting, thereby preserving 
what was a very expensive feature for the whole of Ashford Town when the 
blocks were installed. 

• The ripping up of the granite blocks did not fit in with the Town Reset 
objectives and that of the £3.1 million grant being made available.  The money 
should be spent on the regeneration of the High Street and not used to further 
develop Elwick Road or Bank Street areas. 

Page 286



JTB 
061222 

 

301 
 

 
 
The Chairman opened up the item for discussion and the following questions/points 
were raised: 
 

• A Member expressed concern over the danger that any new tarmac surface 
would be likely to attract e-scooters and skateboarders, which could cause a 
hazard to other users.  This sort of activity was currently precluded by the 
cobblestones.  However, he also noted that the needs of wheelchair and 
mobility scooters must be taken into account, and wondered if milling might 
address this concern.  He suggested that designated crossing points could be 
installed, and that this was also an opportunity to upgrade the drainage 
system.   

 
• Another Member noted the proposal to re-point and re-sand the pathways, 

with just the roadway to be re-tarmacked.  He advised that KCC would only 
fund the proposed roadworks and any work over and above that, such as 
retaining and regenerating the cobbles, would have to be funded by Ashford 
Borough Council.  He said that he was very pleased with the work that had 
been done so far, such as mending the potholes. 
 

• A Member suggested that the cobbled area in the Lower High Street had 
historical significance and was integral to old Ashford.  He added that he 
would prefer to see the cobbles retained, with improvements to the surface, 
although he recognised that there was a cost factor to remedial work in 
comparison with removal and tarmacking the area.  He considered that there 
had not been enough consultation with users and local businesses.   
 

• The KALC representative agreed that this was a conservation area and the 
cobbles gave character to the Lower High Street.  However, she recognised 
that it was not safe for wheelchair users and that remedial work, including 
crossing areas, was needed if it was decided to retain the cobbles.   
 

• Another Member argued that it would be a shame to lose the cobbles.  He 
had been a trader in a local shop in the High Street and he considered the 
cobbles were integral to the character of that area.  He suggested that other 
measures should be put in place to facilitate disabled access.  He was 
concerned that creating a smooth surface would lead to problems with 
scooters and skateboards in future. 
 

• A Member advised that the life span of any newly repointed cobbles would 
only be 5-8 years.  In addition, the shutdown period of the Lower High Street 
would be longer for cobble renovation than for tarmacking.  He also advised 
that KCC would not replace red tarmac, and would only replace tarmac in 
future with black tarmac.  He added that he had explored the option of milling 
down the cobble stones, but this would be an immense expense.  He pointed 
out that this Board was a consultee only for the proposals and that this was 
ultimately a KCC remit.  He advised that, due to inflation, it may not be 
possible to fund this project at a later date if it did not go ahead now.  

Page 287



JTB 
061222 

302 
 

Although he recognised the arguments made by other Board members, he 
suggested that the proposals would at least provide a safe road surface for all 
users.   
 

• Another Member said that, although he appreciated the attractive appearance 
of the cobbles, they were not in fact historic and the High Street originally was 
a two way tarmac road.  It was not safe for wheelchair users in its current 
format.  He pointed out that there were already problems with skateboard and 
scooters users on the High Street.  His main concern was in relation to 
speeding traffic in the evenings.  The cobbles currently acted as a speed 
restriction and he had asked KCC if road markings and strips could be 
included in the tarmac to act as a deterrent.  Another Member said that the 
speeding problem had already been discussed and that traffic calming and 
mitigation measures were being considered.   

 
• A Member also noted that a number of High Street businesses had deliveries 

via HGV vehicles and it should be remembered that this was a highway for 
use by a variety of vehicles.   

 
• A Member made a plea for better communication with residents about the 

various phases.  She said that there had been insufficient information about 
previous stages when it had been impossible for residents to access Godinton 
Road. 

 
• A Member asked whether KCC would be obliged to repair the cobbles if the 

Board objected to the proposals.  The Chairman replied that the Board was 
only an advisory forum.   
 

Resolved  
 
That the Joint Transportation Board: 
 

i. Acknowledges the proposals and the work that has commenced and 
is planned.   

ii. Requests that measures to enhance the conservation area, including 
reconsidering a cobbled surface, are explored during the town centre 
reset.   

iii. Requests that any proposals should have regard to speed 
management and drainage of storm water.   

 
Cllr C Suddards asked for it to be noted in the Minutes that he questioned the 
procedure that had been followed to reach a resolution and vote.   
 
244 Highway Works Programme Update Report 
 
The KCC Highway Manager – Ashford introduced this item and drew Members’ 
attention to the key points within the report.  She added that the last two pages of the 
report provided an update from National Highways regarding the M20 works, as 
requested at the JTB pre-meet.  The Chairman noted that Operation Brock was to be 

Page 288



JTB 
061222 

 

303 
 

reintroduced for the coming weekend and this would cause further delay on the M20 
moveable construction barrier update.   
 
The Chairman said that there had been comments regarding access to residential 
property during large scale construction works, and he requested that a message be 
sent from the Board to KCC officers to consider carefully the impact on residents and 
access to their properties during future projects.  The KCC Highway Manager said 
she had passed previous emails on this topic to National Highways with a request 
that they provide a response to the Board Chairman.   
 
The KALC representative said that, contrary to the report, she did not consider that 
the works at Stubbs Cross were fully complete.  The report referred to signs at each 
end of Magpie Hall Road, but there was currently only one sign.  The Chairman 
asked the KCC Highways Manager to take up this matter offline with the KCC 
Member for Ashford Rural South.   
 
A Member commented on the bad state of repair of Jemmett Road and questioned 
whether there were S106 funds to repair this area, or if not, whether there were any 
plans in the pipeline.  The KCC Highways Manager said she would look into the 
matter and provide a response to all Board members.   
 
Resolved  
 
That the report be received and noted. 
 
245 Parking and Waiting Restrictions Update Summary   
 
The ABC Safety and Wellbeing Manager introduced this item and highlighted the key 
points within the report.   
 
The Chairman opened up the item for discussion and the following points/questions 
were raised: 
 

• A Member asked for an update on the provision of parking bays outside the 
sorting office.  The Safety and Wellbeing Manager said that this was at the top 
of the priority task list for the new Transport and Technical Officer. 

 
• A Member asked about the delay in the installation of electric charging points.  

The Safety and Wellbeing Manager replied that there was a delay in DNO 
connections across the Borough.  The points in Edinburgh Road had been 
installed and were working, and the points in the Stour Centre were in place 
and awaiting final commissioning work.  Points in Vicarage Lane were 
installed and were awaiting bay markings.  She had requested an updated 
schedule from the contractors, but matters were delayed by reliance on UK 
Power Network (UKPN) for connections.   
 

• A Member asked about points in Elwick Road car park.  The Safety and 
Wellbeing Manager said she wasn’t able to give a precise answer but would 
provide the Board with an updated schedule as soon as she had received it.   

Page 289



JTB 
061222 

304 
 

 
Resolved 
 
That the report be received and noted. 
 
246 Ashford HGV Enforcement Update 
 
The Civil Enforcement Team Leader introduced this item and highlighted the key 
points within the report. 
 
The Chairman opened up the item for discussion and the following questions/points 
were raised: 
 

• A Member noted the figure for number of HGVs that had been clamped during 
a two month period and asked how this compared with initial roll-out figures 
four years ago.  The Civil Enforcement Team Leader said that figures for that 
period had been similar to present numbers, and that there was always a 
peak in the three months prior to Christmas.   

 
• A Member asked whether an improved sign could be installed at the entrance 

to Aylesbury Road.  Incidents were occurring on this small dead-end road 
when heavy lorries were forced to reverse, sometimes into residents’ cars.  
Residents were requesting improved signage to deter lorry drivers from 
entering the road.  The Civil Enforcement Team Leader said she would pass 
this request on to KCC Highways.  Another Member said that there were also 
problems with lack of signage for HGV lorries in Church Road and the Civil 
Enforcement Team Leader said she would also pass this on to KCC 
Highways.  However, there were no parking restrictions on that road so there 
was no power to stop HGV lorries parking there. 
 

• In response to a question, the Civil Enforcemnt Team Leader confirmed that 
the whole zone, which encompassed 5 different areas, was typically checked 
2 or 3 times on nights when enforcement was taking place.  Other problem 
areas were being monitored, but there was currently no power of enforcement 
there.   
 

Resolved 
 
That the report be received and noted. 
 
247 Moving Traffic Violations 
 
A Member commented on the negative KCC response to a request for private hire 
taxis to be allowed over the bus gates.  He thought this was regrettable as he did not 
think the privilege would be abused if there was a camera installed.  The Chairman 
said this matter might be included in the KCC drive to enforce moving traffic 
violations.  He considered that officers should be asked to trial this for 12 months, 
with a report back to this Board on progress during that period.   
 

Page 290



JTB 
061222 

 

305 
 

Members noted that residents in private hire vehicles had to take a longer route than 
those in hackney vehicles who were permitted over the bus gates.  They felt that this 
was inequitable and the system should be amended, especially as the technology 
was already in place.   
 
Members were also aware that buses were going over the bus gate when they were 
not in service, and were using it as a quick route back to the depot.  The Chairman 
said he would take up the matter with the relevant officer but he felt that this may be 
difficult to enforce and prevent.   
 
A Member said that there was an issue with taxis speeding along Godinton Road 
late at night and better control of this problem was needed.  The Chairman 
responded that KCC would be undertaking enforcement of bus lanes and cross 
hatched areas but speeding would still remain in the remit of the Police.  A Member 
considered that hatched areas would expand into Ashford in the future and 
suggested that a presentation should be given to a future Board meeting.  The 
Chairman considered that it would be appropriate to receive a presentation to the 
Board meeting in June 2023. 
 
Resolved 
 
The item was noted.   
 
 
 
 
___________________________________________________________________ 
Queries concerning these Minutes?  Please contact Member Services: 
Telephone: 01233 330349     Email: membersservices@ashford.gov.uk 
Agendas, Reports and Minutes are available on: https://ashford.moderngov.co.uk 
 

Page 291

https://ashford.moderngov.co.uk/


This page is intentionally left blank



CA/TEB 
Published 3rd February 2022 

Decisions effective from the 13th February 2023 unless they are called in or 
recommended to the Cabinet/Council for approval 

 

345 

Trading and Enterprise Board 
 
Minutes of a Meeting of the Trading and Enterprise Board held in Council Chamber, 
Civic Centre, Tannery Lane, Ashford, on the 31st January 2023. 
 
Present: 
 
Cllr. Shorter (Chairman for this Meeting) 
 
Cllrs. Forest, Pickering 
 
Cllr Ovenden (Observer). 
 
Apologies: 
 
Cllr. Bell. 
 
Also Present: 
 
Cllr Feacey. 
 
Deputy Chief Executive, Head of Strategic Projects, Head of Economic 
Development, Principal Solicitor (Property and Projects), Member Services Manager. 
 
Huw Evans, Matt Spry – Quinn Estates. 
 
286 Election of Chairman 
 
Resolved: 
 
That in the absence of the Chairman, Councillor Shorter be elected as 
Chairman for this Meeting of the Trading and Enterprise Board. 
 
287 Declarations of Interest 
 
Councillor Interest Minute No. 

 
Feacey Made a Voluntary Announcement as Chairman 

of the Ashford International Development 
Company.  
 

290 

Head of Strategic 
Projects 
 

Made a Voluntary Announcement as a Director 
of the Ashford International Development 
Company.  
 

290 

Page 293

Agenda Item 14



CA/TEB 
310123 
 

346 

288 Minutes 
 
Resolved: 
 
That the Minutes of the Meeting of the Board held on the 11th October 2022 be 
approved and confirmed as a correct record. 
 
289 Exclusion of the Public 
 
Resolved:  
 
That pursuant to Section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act 1972, as 
amended, the public be excluded from the meeting during consideration of the 
following items, as it is likely in view of the nature of the business to be 
transacted or the nature of the proceedings that if members of the public were 
present there would be disclosure of exempt information hereinafter specified 
by reference to Paragraph 3 of Schedule 12A of the Act, where in the 
circumstances the public interest in maintaining the exemption outweighs the 
public interest in disclosing the information. 
 
290 Ashford International Development Company – 

Disposal of Residential Units 
 
The Chairman commented that there had been a short time to assimilate the huge 
amount of information related to this report. He also drew attention to the tabled 
paper which contained additional advice for the Board and a revised 
recommendation.  
 
The Deputy Chief Executive introduced the confidential report which outlined the 
proposed transaction.  
 
It was clarified that Paragraph 2 should refer to the Council having a 65% 
shareholding in the Company. 
 
Following a lengthy discussion, the Board agreed the amended recommendations 
and the principle of the transaction. An additional recommendation was added 
asking the Deputy Chief Executive to share due diligence information with Members 
of this Board prior to exercising his delegation to approve. Board Members were 
encouraged to raise any particular questions they had with the Deputy Chief 
Executive in advance, in order to inform the use of that delegation. 
 
In response to a question, the Head of Strategic Projects advised that overall 
oversight of this particular project, including the Risk Register, would be considered 
by the Economic Regeneration and Investment Board (ERIB). This Board (TEB) had 
a particular oversight role for the Company itself. 
 
  

Page 294



CA/TEB 
310123 

 

347 

Resolved:  
 
That  (i)  the proposed transaction be supported in principle, (whether or 

 not it is within the approved Business Plan for the Company). 
 
(ii)  authority be delegated to the Deputy Chief Executive, in 

consultation with the Chair of the Trading and Enterprise Board in 
his role as Shareholder Representative, and the Solicitor to the 
Council and Monitoring Officer, to approve the outcomes of the 
due diligence work to be carried out by the Company, and such 
further due diligence work as he considers appropriate, and to 
approve the terms and conditions of the final transaction.  

 
(iii) prior to exercising the delegation in (ii) above, the Deputy Chief 

Executive share the due diligence report with Members of the 
Trading and Enterprise Board. 

 
(iv) in the event that the final transaction is not with the approved 

Business Plan, this Board recommends the above to the Cabinet. 
 
 
 
 
 
_________________________________________________________________ 
Queries concerning these minutes?  Please contact Member Services 
Telephone: (01233) 330349 E-mail membersservices@ashford.gov.uk 
Agendas, Reports and Minutes are available on: www.ashford.moderngov.co.uk 
 

Page 295

mailto:membersservices@ashford.gov.uk
http://www.ashford.moderngov.co.uk/


This page is intentionally left blank



C&CPB 

1 

Civic and Ceremonial Programme Board 
 
Notes of a Virtual Meeting of the Civic and Ceremonial Programme Board held on 
the 25th January 2023. 
 
Present: 
 
Cllr. Clarkson (Chairman) 
Cllr. Forest (Vice-Chairman) 
 
Cllrs. Feacey, Harman, Lyn Suddards, Webb (ex-officio). 
 
In accordance with Procedure Rule 1.2 (c) Councillor Harman attended as Substitute 
Member for Councillor Ovenden. 
 
Apologies: 
 
Cllrs. Burgess, Iliffe, Ovenden, Grounds Maintenance Operations Manager.  
 
Also Present: 
 
Assistant Director of Environment, Property and Recreation, Tourism and Heritage 
Manager, Civic Officer, Tourism and Heritage Development Officer, Member 
Services Officer, Member Services Manager. 
 
1 Declarations of Interest 
 
1.1 Councillor Feacey made a Voluntary Announcement as Chairman of the 

Ashford Volunteer Centre and Chairman of the Ashford International 
Development Company. 

 
1.2 Councillor Webb made a Voluntary Announcement as a Director of the 

Ashford Volunteer Centre and President of the Ashford Sea Cadets. 
 
2 Notes of the Previous Meeting of the Board – 26th 

October 2022 
 
2.1 The notes of the Meeting held on the 26th October 2022 were approved and 

confirmed as a correct record. 
 
3 Civic Update (including Feedback on Remembrance 

2022 and Updates on Freedom of the Borough Parade 
and HMS Albacore Day) 

 
3.1 The Civic Officer introduced her report which gave an update on activity in the 

Civic Office including: - Remembrance 2022; forthcoming diary dates; HMS 
Albacore Day; and the REME Freedom of the Borough Parade. 

Page 297

Agenda Item 15



C&CPB 
250123 
 

2 

 
3.2 With specific reference to Remembrance, the Civic Officer said she wanted to 

express thanks to the new Ashford branch of the Royal British Legion for their 
assistance this year and getting the activities back on track from a military 
point of view. Members who had attended Remembrance Sunday this year 
said it had been a real success story and thanked all those involved in the 
organisation. The Remembrance Sunday Church Service, before the main 
service in the Memorial Gardens, had been a positive addition and the Board 
said it would support that becoming a permanent feature of the morning.  

 
3.3 The Mayor introduced plans for HMS Albacore Day on 28th February. This 

would include a small flag raising ceremony outside the Civic Centre and the 
unveiling of the minesweeper’s badge and information panel in the Civic 
Corridor on Level 2 of the Civic Suite, followed by refreshments. This would 
conclude the year’s activity with the Ashford Sea Cadets on HMS Albacore, of 
which the Mayor said she had been extremely proud.  

 
3.4 In conclusion, the Civic Officer drew attention to the REME’s Freedom of the 

Borough Parade on Sunday 19th February. There was a meeting scheduled 
for the following week, with REME, to go through the arrangements and they 
were working with both the Safety Advisory Group and the ABC 
Communications team to ensure the event went smoothly. 

 
Resolved:  
 
That the report be received and noted. 
 
4 Feedback on the Ashford 180 Celebrations 
 
4.1 The Tourism and Heritage Development Officer advised that AIMREC’s 

programme of events to recognise the 180th anniversary of the Railway 
arriving in Ashford in November 1842, had taken place over the weekend of 
19th and 20th November. He had attached AIMREC’s Event and Visitor 
Feedback Report to the agenda for information, the headline of which had 
been the attraction of over 700 visitors to the events in the town including 400 
visitors to the Ashford Museum. AIMREC were already looking to arrange a 
similar event during 2023.  

 
4.2 The Vice-Chairman said it was important to recognise that AIMREC had 

arranged this programme themselves and really risen to the challenge and 
delivered something special. It was agreed that a letter be sent to AIMREC, 
from the Mayor, praising and thanking them for their work on this event.  

 
Resolved:  
 
That the report be received and noted and a letter be sent to AIMREC, from the 
Mayor, congratulating them on the Ashford 180 Celebrations. 
 
  

Page 298



C&CPB 
250123 

3 
 

5 Update on Holocaust Memorial Day  
 
5.1 The Tourism and Heritage Development Officer advised this was taking place 

on Friday 27th January. There would be a short service in the Memorial 
Gardens where the Mayor would lay a posy at the Anne Frank tree, 
complemented by the exhibition at the Gateway building which the Mayor 
would also attend. ABC had received a request from KMTV to film at the 
event and ask the Mayor questions, which was agreed subject to a briefing 
from the ABC Communications team. 

 
Resolved:  
 
That the report be received and noted. 
 
6 80th Anniversary of the 1943 Bombing Raid on 

Ashford – 24th March 2023  
 
6.1 The Tourism and Heritage Development Officer updated on plans to hold a 

small service of reflection in the Memorial Gardens to mark this occasion.  
They were also in discussions to loan some Second World War artefacts and 
photographs from Ashford Museum and have them on display in the Gateway 
building. A local author, Ed Adams, had written a book - Ashford at War and 
there were plans for him to be present on the day as well. 

 
6.2. A Member asked about the book and wondered if there was any information 

in there about what happened in the villages. She wondered if that information 
could be used to broaden out the focus on bombing raids that happened 
across the Borough. The Tourism and Heritage Development advised that the 
book did contain several maps pinpointing the location of all the bombing 
raids across the Borough. The focus of this was mainly what had happened in 
the town, particularly at the Railway Works, but he would be happy to do 
some research and put any information he found on the website. 

 
6.3 The Leader mentioned work he had been involved in regarding the Newtown 

Memorial Monument to mark these raids, which he would expand upon later 
at the meeting. He wanted to thank the Tourism and Heritage Development 
Officer for his valuable work in researching this whole topic.  

 
Resolved:  
 
That the report be received and noted. 
 
7 Coronation of King Charles III 
 
7.1 The Civic Officer advised the following new information being made available 

from Buckingham Palace, a cross departmental working group had met to 
discuss plans for Ashford. It was anticipated that activity would again be 
badged under the banner ‘Ashford Celebrates’ as it was for the recent Jubilee. 

Page 299



C&CPB 
250123 
 

4 

 
7.2 It had been confirmed that the Coronation Ceremony would take place on 

Saturday 6th May 2023 at Westminster Abbey, followed by the Coronation 
Procession and balcony appearance. Sunday 7th would see the Coronation 
Concert in Windsor and focus would also turn to the ‘Coronation Big Lunch’, 
with street parties and gatherings encouraged. Monday 8th May had been 
designated as an additional Bank Holiday and had been labelled the ‘Big Help 
Out’, to highlight the positive impact that volunteering had on communities 
across the nation. This would encourage people to try volunteering and join 
work being undertaken to support their local areas. 

 
7.3 In terms of what was proposed to happen in Ashford, on Saturday 6th a live 

screening of the Coronation Ceremony and community event was planned for 
Victoria Park. This would involve a big screen to show the Coronation, 
followed by a stage show of multi-cultural performances during the afternoon 
(live music, dancers, choirs etc). Families would be encouraged to attend with 
a picnic and enjoy the day together. It would also provide an opportunity to 
‘show off’ the improvements at Victoria Park.  There would then be a special 
Civic Church Service at St Mary’s on the morning of Sunday 7th May. Similar 
to the Jubilee, the Council would provide advice and promotion to anyone 
planning their own events in the Borough over that weekend and the Council 
was also talking to the Town Centre team and ‘Love Ashford’ regarding how 
the town centre businesses could get involved leading up to, and during the 
Coronation weekend. 

 
7.4 It was noted that with the Local Elections on Thursday 4th May, and Election 

Count on Friday 5th, followed by the Coronation, it would to be a particularly 
busy weekend for the Council and resources would be extremely stretched, 
so it was important to keep things manageable. It was also noted that there 
had been a direct directive from the Palace that beacons were not to be lit on 
this occasion.  

 
7.5 The Assistant Director of Environment, Property and Recreation advised that 

unfortunately, due to the date of the Coronation, there would not be any 
bedding plants in place that weekend, as it would be between planting 
seasons.  

 
Resolved:  
 
That the report be received and noted and the plans endorsed and supported. 
 
8 Newtown Monument Memorial 
 
8.1 The Leader gave a verbal update and shared a draft design for the monument 

planned for the Newtown Works site. This would commemorate those who 
lost their lives at a bombing raid at the railway works in 1943, the largest 
single loss of life in Kent during the Second World War. The Memorial would 
also recognise the railway works itself dating back to 1847, as well as the 
RAF who defended this part of Kent during the war. He had been discussing 

Page 300



C&CPB 
250123 

5 
 

this with both the Ashford International Development Company (owners of the 
site) and the South Willesborough and Newtown Community Council, who 
were both supportive and the process would continue.  

 
9 Events Calendar 
 
9.1 This set out the above for 2023 - 2026. This was a live document and it would 

be updated as Officers became aware of new anniversaries and events. 
Members were encouraged to input with any events that they were aware of 
for addition to the calendar. 

 
Resolved:  
 
That the Events Calendar be received and noted. 
 
10 Any Other Business 
 
 International Women’s Day 2023  
 
10.1 This fell on 8th March and Councillor Lyn Suddards advised of plans to mark 

this with an event on Sunday 5th March 2023. There would be a march from 
the Fountain in Victoria Park via Elwick Place, Bank Street, the Lower High 
Street and Station Road, with the procession being led by the Mayor. This 
would arrive at the Coachworks at approximately 3pm with a Mayoral 
welcome and an introductory speech about International Women’s Day. This 
would be followed by musical performances by young female artistes and 
Iranian musical acts and an array of speakers. Food and drink would be 
available throughout at the Coachworks. 

 
10.2 It was agreed that International Women’s day should be added to the Events 

Calendar going forward.  
 

59th (Newfoundland) Heavy Regiment Royal Artillery – Ashford’s 
Forgotten History 

 
10.3 The Tourism and Heritage Development Officer reminded the Board that at its 

last meeting, they had agreed to establish a working group with Ashford 
School and other interested parties to promote this. They had held the first 
meeting the previous week and a number of actions had been proposed to 
best promote this, namely: - running two articles in the Ashford For You 
magazine (one in the summer edition and one in the autumn one); a physical 
marker/plaque on the school grounds at the location of the Commander’s HQ; 
the potential planting of a monkey puzzle tree in a suitable, publically 
accessible location to commemorate the 59th Regiment; and the potential 
adoption of a commemorative flag. 

 
10.4 The Board welcomed the suggestions and said there was a great deal of 

willingness to work together to promote the history of this Regiment and to 
deliver something to commemorate it. The articles in Ashford For You were 

Page 301



C&CPB 
250123 
 

6 

unanimously supported as were the commemorative plaques. It was agreed 
to examine whether this could be accommodated as part of the Council’s own 
Heritage Plaque scheme. The planting of a monkey puzzle tree, whilst 
supported in principle, may need some careful consideration regarding a 
suitable location as whilst it needed to be publically accessible, such trees did 
grow to an extremely large size. The potential adoption of a flag was also 
something to give further consideration to. 

 
11 Date of Next Meeting 
 
The next Meeting of the Board is currently scheduled for Wednesday 26th April 
2023 at 2.30pm. 
 
 
 
Councillor Clarkson 
Chairman – Civic and Ceremonial Programme Board  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
_________________________________________________________________ 
Queries concerning these minutes?  Please contact Member Services  
Telephone: (01233) 330349 Email: membersservices@ashford.gov.uk 
Agendas, Reports and Minutes are available on: www.ashford.moderngov.co.uk 

Page 302

mailto:membersservices@ashford.gov.uk
http://www.ashford.moderngov.co.uk/


CEB 

1 

Compliance and Enforcement Board 
 
Notes of a Virtual Meeting of the Compliance and Enforcement Board held on 
Microsoft Teams on the 24th January 2023. 
 
Present: 
 
Cllr. Bell (Chairman); 
 
Cllrs.  Feacey, Forest, Shorter. 
 
Apologies: 
 
Cllr. Buchanan. 
 
Solicitor to the Council and Monitoring Officer, Environmental Contracts and 
Enforcement Manager. 
 
Also in attendance: 
 
Team Leader Environmental Enforcement; Community Safety and Resilience Team 
Leader, Team Leader Planning Enforcement, Senior Planning Lawyer, Member 
Services and Ombudsman Complaints Officer, Member Services Officer. 
 
Simon Johnson – Kent Police. 
 
1. Notes of the Meeting of 25th October 2022  
 
1.1 The Board agreed the notes as an accurate record. 

 
2. Environmental Crime Enforcement in Ashford 
 
3.1 The Team Leader Environmental Enforcement introduced this item and drew 

Members’ attention to the key points within the report.   
 
3.2 The Chairman opened up the item for discussion and the following 

points/questions were raised: 
 

• A Member asked whether cannabis waste could be traced to source.  
The Team Leader Environmental Enforcement responded that no 
evidence had been found on the recent discovery to enable authorities 
to pursue the culprit.  However, landowners were being made aware of 
how to dispose safely of any waste found on their land.  In response to 
another question, the Team Leader Environmental Enforcement 
confirmed that the recent incident at Chilmington was not associated 
with the adjacent KCC-owned land.  The Team Leader Environmental 
Enforcement advised that, based on current waste fly-tipping, there 
appeared to be a significant increase in the number of factories in the 
Borough.   
 

 
Page 303

Agenda Item 16



CEB 
240123 

2 

Recommendations/Actions: 
 
That the update report be received and noted. 
 
3. Anti-Social Behaviour in Ashford - Update 
 
3.1 The Community Safety and Resilience Team Leader introduced this item and 

drew Members attention to the key points within the report.   
 
3.2 The Chairman opened up the item for discussion and the following 

points/questions were raised: 
 

• Members thanked Simon Johnson for attending as a representative of 
Kent Police.   

 
• A Member said that he recognized the work being done at present with 

regard to e-scooters but considered that there was still some way to go 
in South Ashford, where there was evidence of a continued problem 
with e-scooters on pathways.  He wanted to see a consistent approach 
to this problem throughout the Borough.  Simon Johnson responded 
that e-scooters continued to be popular, and this was an issue which 
required multi-agency action.  

 
• The Member went on to say that he was pleased to see the work 

currently being done in the Town Centre, but considered that there 
continued to be issues of anti-social behavior in the lower High Street, 
around McDonalds and the fountain.  He congratulated the team on 
their current efforts but said that he hoped to see this work continued in 
an effort to improve the situation in future.  Simon Johnson confirmed 
that the police service was committed to future operations in a 
coordinated approach, with Youth Services taking the lead.  The 
Community Safety and Resilience Team Leader emphasized that this 
issue required a multi-agency approach and should not be considered 
solely the responsibility of the police service.  She said that upfront 
preparation work was key to seeing future improvements and to this 
end PCC funding money would be used to engage youth provider 
workers and offer workshops in the Town Centre, as well as in other 
areas of the Borough.  She added this this work was critical as the first 
stage in building a platform to support young people, with police 
involvement to be provided as a last resort.   

 
• A Member commented on current issues with the 101 service and 

unanswered calls.  Simon Johnson agreed that there were challenges 
at present and significant demands on the service.  He advised that the 
police service was going through a Neighbourhood Policing Review 
model at present, which would help to develop a new approach.  The 
police service was in regular contact with local businesses, with 
monthly meetings and frequent liaison.  The recent monthly figures had 
been positive with a lower need to provide enforcement action.  This 
suggested that the approach was moving in the right direction, but 
there was still work to be done. 

Page 304



CEB 
240123 

 

3 
 

 
• A Member said that in May 2022 CI Matthew Burbeck had stated that a 

number of new police officers would be made available to the Borough, 
with named ward officers.  The Member asked when that would come 
into being.  Simon Johnson replied that the consultation period had just 
been completed.  Officers would now review the feedback and finalise 
a model.  A list of wards and officer names would be available in due 
course, but the final details had not yet been consolidated.  The 
Chairman asked the Community Safety and Resilience Team Leader to 
let Board Members see a copy of this list when it became available. 

 
Recommendations/Actions: 
 
That the update report be received and noted. 
 
4. Planning Enforcement Update 
 
4.1 The Team Leader Planning Enforcement introduced this item and highlighted 

the key points in the report.   
 
4.2 The Chairman said that he was pleased to see that a small amount of extra 

resource would be available in future, and he and other Members expressed 
their thanks and appreciation to the team.   

 
Recommendations/Actions: 
 
That the update report be received and noted.  
 
5.       Date of Next Meetings 
 
5.1 25th April 2023 at 10am 
 25th July 2023 at 10am 
 24th October 2023 at 10am 
   
 
Councillor Bell (Chairman)  
Compliance and Enforcement Board 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
________________________________________________________________ 
Queries concerning these minutes?  Please contact Member Services: 

Page 305



CEB 
240123 

4 

Telephone: 01233 330349  Email: membersservices@ashford.gov.uk  
Agendas, Reports and Minutes are available on: http://ashford.moderngov.co.uk  
  

Page 306

http://ashford.moderngov.co.uk/


CEB 
240123 

 

5 
 

 

Page 307



This page is intentionally left blank



CCAC 

Climate Change Advisory Committee 
 
Notes of a Virtual Meeting of the Climate Change Advisory Committee held on the 
17th November 2022. 
 
Present: 
 
Cllr. Barrett (Chair); 
Cllr. Feacey (Vice-Chair); 
 
Cllrs. Anckorn, Campkin, Ledger. 
 
Apology: 
 
Cllr. Mulholland 
 
Also Present: 
 
Cllr. Wright. 
 
Head of Policy & Performance, Climate Change Manager, Project Manager Carbon 
Neutrality,  Senior Climate Action Officer, Team Leader - Plan Making and 
Infrastructure, Spatial Planning Manager, Housing Development & Regeneration 
Manager, Senior Mechanical & Electrical Surveyor, Member Services Officer.  
 
1. Declaration of Interest 
 
1.1 Cllr. Feacey made a Voluntary Announcement, as he was on the 

Management Committee of UK LPG, the Managing Director of Energyshift 
and was the Chairman of the Ashford Volunteer Centre. 
 

1.2 Cllr. Campkin made a Voluntary Announcement as a Councillor for KCC. 
 

2. Minutes of Previous Meeting 
 
2.1 The Minutes of the Meeting held on 20th September 2022 were agreed as an 

accurate record. 
 
2.2 The Vice-Chair asked about the Sustainable Warmth Scheme and the 

deadline to spend the £1.6m by the 31st March 2023.  The Climate Change 
Manager advised she would check and could explore producing additional 
comms on this.   

 
2.3 The Vice-Chair enquired whether an update was available on point 5.2 of the 

minutes; Officers further investigations relating to water savings on allotments. 
The Senior Climate Action Officer advised that two containers at Singleton 
Environment Centre would be offered to ABC.  There was a further question 
regarding point 5.4 and the Blaze Farm Compost scheme being made 

Page 309

Agenda Item 17



CCAC 
171122 

available again.  The Environmental Contracts Team would be asked to 
respond to the Committee regarding the Compost Scheme.   

2.4 The Chairman suggested that the Member Services Officer highlight in red 
questions arising in each meeting requesting further information from Officers, 
within the notes. 

 
3. Climate Change Planning Guidance 
 
3.1 The Team Leader - Plan Making and Infrastructure introduced this item and 

gave a presentation to the Committee that covered the following subjects and 
points: 

 
➢ Status of the guidance 
➢ Content 

o Solar PV 
o Electric Vehicle Charging 
o Rainwater Harvesting 
o Place Making Principles 

➢ Who is the guidance for 
➢ What does the guidance require 
➢ Minimising the potential for challenge 
➢ Timescale for delivering the guidance 

 
3.2 The item was opened up for discussion and the following points were made: 

 
• A Member spoke about the orientation of the rooves that the panels would be 

fitted onto, and said how crucial it was to get that included at the planning 
stage. 
 

• Wind generators had not been covered in the guidance, nor were Ground 
Source Heat Pumps and a Member wondered whether these would be 
considered in the future.  It was confirmed that the scope of the initial 
guidance was limited, and wind and heat pumps would be considered for 
future.  Phase two was anticipated to be in the form of a supplementary 
planning document, which would potentially take a fabric first approach.   
 

• The 2018 Clean Air Strategy guidance stipulated that all new houses should 
include EV charging points, and a Member questioned how these guidelines 
were improved or not.  The Team Leader - Plan Making and Infrastructure 
explained that the position had shifted in that it was now mandatory under 
Building Regulations Approved Document S that every new dwelling had an 
EV point.  This became law in June 2022, but it was beneficial to have it 
included in the guidance to ensure it was considered at the initial stages and 
minimised the risk of reaching construction phase and then having to amend 
the plans.  The ramifications of developers not including the EV points would 
be to impose planning conditions.  A further query asked whether it was 

Page 310



  CCAC 
171122 

 

3 
 

stipulated to be a type 2 EV charging point.  The Team Leader - Plan Making 
and Infrastructure explained that applicants were asked to demonstrate that 
they were utilising the most efficient technology, so a 3-point plug would not 
be appropriate and a 2-point would be the best option.   
 

• A Member asked what was being considered to help reduce energy 
consumption in terms of draught exclusion and insulation.  The answer was 
that this would be inclusive in the fabric first approach and phase two of the 
guidance.  The Sustainable Warmth scheme incorporated grants for low-
income families to assist with these concerns for residents. 
 

• A Member noted that developers could afford the modifications that had been 
discussed.   
 

• The Chairman asked the Officers for their views on the adaptations within the 
guidance.  The Spatial Planning Manager believed the advantage was that by 
setting it out at an early stage helped to embed a clear message about what 
was trying to be achieved and inserting it at the planning stage, rather than 
alter plans further down the line.  He anticipated the only resistance that might 
be experienced would probably be around solar panels.  The Team Leader - 
Plan Making and Infrastructure agreed that the cost of solar panels might 
create financial hardship, particularly for smaller applications.  It was noted 
that the guidance gave weight to planning applications, but historically some 
would be handed over to the Planning Inspectorate where a resolution was 
not found.   

Resolved:  

That the guidance be received and noted. 
 
Recommendation: 

The Advisory Committee recommended that charging points attached to 
all new properties are type 2 charger or better/equivalent technology. 
 

4.  Government Bus Fare Cost Cap Scheme 
4.1 The Climate Change Manager gave a presentation to the Committee about 

the Central Government scheme that covered the following subjects and 
points: 

Page 311



CCAC 
171122 

➢ Scheme Overview 
➢ £2 bus fare cap for Jan to March 2023 
➢ A financial support package for regular users 
➢ Opportunity to encourage new users and frame longer term 

behaviour change 
➢ Savings could range from £1.60 to £10.90 per journey 

ABC Scheme Support will be through communications and 
evaluation, including Parish Support packs, internal comms and 
questionnaires 

➢ Research opportunity for Behaviour change project 
➢ CAT will identify KCC and Stagecoach plans for evaluation 

 
4.2 The Chair opened up the item for discussion and the following points were 

made: 
 

• A Member suggested circulating a Leaders Briefing on the scheme to 
promote it.    

 
• The Chairman asked whether bus stops could be used to promote the 

scheme and it was clarified that although this was one possible method of 
promotion for KCC, it could be quite costly, so budget restraints could 
deter this method.  Radio adverts were often favoured, along with other 
platforms.   The Chairman said he would be happy to appear on radio to 
promote the scheme. 

 
• Members voiced general concern over the long-term future of bus services 

in Kent, and whether there would be government funding to support the 
routes currently available.  The Chairman agreed that Covid, homeworking 
and rising costs had contributed to the diminishing use of public transport 
(in some areas), so it was hoped that this scheme would revitalise bus use 
across the Borough and he reminded Members that they did also have the 
ability to lobby KCC.  It was noted that the rationale behind the cap was 
also to create a change in people’s habits, whereby they get used to using 
public transport again, following the pandemic.   

 
Resolved:  
 
That the Presentation be received and noted.  
 

5. Central Government Funding Update 
 
5.1 The Climate Change Manager gave a presentation to the Committee about 

available grant opportunities relating to climate change and energy and how 
ABC were utilising them.  The presentation covered the following subjects and 
points: 

 
 
 
 

Page 312



  CCAC 
171122 

 

5 
 

➢ Funding Opportunities 
➢ Work in progress and in the pipeline 

o Social Housing Development Fund 
o Low Carbon Skills Fund 
o Office for zero emission vehicles 
o Public Sector Decarbonisation Fund 
o Share the Warmth 
o Rural England Shared Prosperity Fund 
o Green Heat Network Fund 
o Climate Action Fund 
o Green Financing 

➢ Issues and considerations relating to resourcing and the need for financing 
feasibility studies for large energy projects were outlined 

 
 
5.2 The Chair opened up the item for discussion and the following points were 

made: 
 

• The Green Heat Network Fund would be a viable consideration for the 
Newtown Works Project. 
 

• The Climate Change Manager explained that Matrix Project Groups could 
be set up to ensure Officers of different services would work together. 
 

• It was confirmed that ABC were already signed up to the Work Place 
Charging Scheme for EV charging and £165,000 was available for this. 
 

• The Head of Policy & Performance spoke about the Rural England Shared 
Prosperity Fund and confirmed that a bid was being compiled for 
submission.  A Local Partnership Group had been established and 
stakeholders including Parish Councils and Community Groups had been 
informed about the Fund.  ABC were also eligible to apply for the funding, 
it was not exclusively for any one entity.   
 

• The Chairman asked about the Councils electric car, and it was confirmed 
that the scheme was being promoted currently and an online booking 
system was being implemented, which would also include electric bikes.  
The Chairman considered whether this could be a future agenda item for 
March 2023 and further funding opportunities be explored, and the 
Committee then make a recommendation to Cabinet requesting a specific 
percentage of journeys be made via the electric car.  The Head of Policy & 
Performance explained that an Action already existed within the Corporate 
Plan that focused on workplace journeys, which the Assistant Director HR 
was already reviewing.    
 

• The Project Manger Carbon Neutrality and Housing Development & 
Regeneration Manager spoke about the Stour Centre PV Panels.  A PID 
was being produced which would be taken to PMG in December, after 

Page 313



CCAC 
171122 

which would go for sign off from Cabinet.  Procurement was hoped to 
begin in the New Year and funding streams were being explored.  
Capacity was being tested in conjunction with arrays and batteries to try to 
create the maximum number possible.  The Chairman reinforced the need 
to create dozens of points, especially taking into account the location of 
the Stour Centre being so close to the train station and the fact that any 
excess energy can be utilised and/or sold on.  The Housing Development 
& Regeneration Manager would circulate the plans to the Committee. 
 

• A Member spoke about sending the right message so that users did not 
monopolise the EV points so that other users were unable to access them.  The 
Housing Development & Regeneration Manager advised that the designers 
would be consulted on that issue.  

 
Resolved:  
 
That the update be received and noted.  
 
7. Project and Reports Tracker  
 
7.1 The Vice Chairman clarified that the Climate Change Team had now moved 

over to Policy and Performance for which Charlotte Hammersley was Head of 
Service and the Portfolio Holder was now Cllr Feacey.  

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Queries concerning these minutes?  Please contact Member Services: 
Email: membersservices@ashford.gov.uk 

Agendas, Reports and Minutes are available on: 
www.ashford.gov.uk/committees 

Page 314

mailto:membersservices@ashford.gov.uk
http://www.ashford.gov.uk/committees


LPPPTG 

Ashford Borough Council: Local Plan & Planning Policy 
Task Group 
 
Notes of a Virtual Meeting of the Local Plan & Planning Policy Task Group held on 
Microsoft Teams on 16 December 2022. 
 
Present: 
 
Cllr Bartlett (Chairman) 
 
Cllr N. Bell, Blanford, Harman, Ledger, Spain, Sparks, Walder, Wright. 
 
Also Present: 
 
Cllr Burgess. 
 
In attendance: 
 
Spatial Planning Manager; Team Leader - Plan Making and Infrastructure; Team 
Leader - Plan Making and Infrastructure; Deputy Team Leader - Plan Making and 
Infrastructure; Housing Development and Partnerships Manager; Principal Solicitor - 
Strategic Development; Senior Planning and Development Solicitor; Member Services 
and Ombudsman Complaints Officer. 
 
1 Apologies and substitutions 
 
1.1. Apologies had been received from Cllr. Mrs Bell. 
 
2. Declarations of Interest 
 
2.1 Cllr Bartlett declared that he was a Member of Kent County Council. 
 
2.2 Cllr Spain declared that, under item 5 on the agenda (4 in these Notes), he 

knew the site owner of site S28, although not well.  He also declared that the 
first of the sites mentioned in the draft Charing Neighbourhood Plan was 
adjacent to his property, not part of it despite the name given to it, and asked 
that the site’s name be corrected.   

 
2.3 Cllr Walder declared that she was a founding member of Tenterden Wildlife. 
 
2.    Notes of the last Meeting 
 
3.1     The Notes of the meeting of 4th November 2022 were received and noted. 
 

Page 315

Agenda Item 18



LPPP/TG 
161222 

3. Climate Change Guidance for Development 
 Management 
 
3.1 One of the Team Leaders – Plan Making and Infrastructure introduced this item 
 and gave a presentation which covered: 
 

• What the Guidance requires and who it is for. 
• EV Charging. 
• Solar photovoltaics 
• Rainwater harvesting. 

 
3.2 The Chairman opened up the item for discussion and the following 
 questions/points were raised: 
 

• A Member congratulated the team on an excellent piece of work.  She 
asked about the permeability of the hardstanding areas on new 
developments, especially car parks.  The Team Leader – Plan Making 
and Infrastructure replied that on major new schemes the SUDS policy 
would be relevant where non-permeable hardstanding was proposed.  
However, officers tried to discourage this approach where possible.  She 
suggested that this issue could be included when the review of the Local 
Plan was triggered and the Chairman concurred. 

 
• A Member said that she would like to see a stronger approach by officers 

than just encouragement to follow the Guidance and she considered that 
officers should insist on certain standards being met, rather than 
accepting arguments by developers against inclusion on the grounds of 
cost.   

 
• A Member pointed out that there was an error on page 30 above figure 1 

and that the population statistics quoted were incorrect.  He went on to 
ask if there was a mechanism for officers for assessing schemes and the 
various arguments given against inclusion.  The Team Leader – Plan 
Making and Infrastructure said that officers liaised with the Climate 
Change and Building Control officers where necessary and were able to 
tap into the available in-house expertise.  A Member commented that it 
would be helpful to have the Climate Change Officer attend this meeting 
going forward to provide further information.   

 
• Regarding water retention, one Member said that she considered that a 

water butt should be provided at every new house as a minimum and 
that officers should do more to encourage developers to incorporate 
water harvesting and water re-use in new developments.  The Team 
Leader - Plan Making and Infrastructure said that officers were liaising 
with Southern Water regarding rainwater harvesting, and she could 
provide links to further information on this from Southern Water.  She 
advised that the Guidance also introduced other mechanisms for 
rainwater harvesting on major developments.   

 

Page 316



LPPP/TG 
16/12/22 

• A Member said that she thought this was a positive report and she 
recognised the limitations of the Guidance.  She considered that solar 
technology should be incorporated as mandatory on new developments 
and that officers should design a new strategy to encourage this 
approach.  One of the Team Leaders – Plan Making and Infrastructure 
advised that it was proposed to introduce legislation to make solar 
panels mandatory on all new dwellings from 2025.   

 
• One Member suggested that EV charging points were needed more than 

ever in rural areas, and she was concerned that developers would not 
make this a priority.  She did not believe that Conservation Areas in rural 
villages should be an exception to installation of charging points.  The 
Team Leader – Plan Making and Infrastructure said it should be possible 
to achieve this in a sympathetic manner.  Conservation Officers could 
assist with schemes to ensure that charging points were delivered in a 
sensitive manner on new dwellings.  She added that charging points 
needed to be front-loaded through the planning process to ensure that 
this could be achieved.     

 
• The Chairman requested that an addition be made to the Tracker 

document to include the addition of surface water run off as part of the 
Local Plan Review.   

 
• In response to a question, the Team Leader – Plan Making and 

Infrastructure confirmed that insulation was checked by officers at the 
building regulations stage.   

 
• A Member asked whether Climate Change officers were official 

consultees on planning reports and the Team Leader – Plan Making and 
Infrastructure responded that they were consulted on a discretionary 
case by case basis.   

 
Resolved 
 
That the report be received and noted. 
 
4. Five Year Housing Land Supply 2022-2027 and the 

Housing Delivery Test 
 
4.1 The Spatial Planning Manager and the Deputy Team Leader – Plan Making 

and Infrastructure introduced this item and gave a presentation which covered: 
 

• Housing Delivery Test 
• Five Year Housing Land Supply 
• Five year requirement 
• Calculating supply – what sites can be counted 
• How sites are counted 
• Stodmarsh 
• Windfall assumptions 

Page 317



LPPP/TG 
161222 

• Factors affecting the supply 
• Decision making and weight of the Local Plan 
• Policy HOU5 
• Local Plan Review 
• Recommendations. 

 
4.2 The Chairman opened up the item for discussion and the following 

questions/comments were raised: 
 

• In response to a question on the Government’s likely future position on 
housing targets, the Team Leader – Plan Making and Infrastructure 
explained that the Government were likely to retain targets as an 
advisory starting position, with proposals to change the calculation 
method.  Genuine constraints could be used to argue a lower housing 
target.  The Duty to Cooperate was likely to be cancelled, and the 20% 
buffer figure was subject to consultation prior to removal.  The Team 
Leader – Plan Making and Infrastructure explained that further details 
were required from Government to clarify its proposals.  He advised that 
the Government were seeking to reset the relationship between the 
Planning Inspectorate and local authorities to provide greater weight to 
local concerns and community issues, and a balance was sought 
between local evidence and concerns and the pressure from housing 
need.   

 
• A Member pointed out that there was an error in the report in the table 

on page 98 of the agenda.  ‘Burleigh Bungalow’ should read ‘land 
adjacent to Burleigh Bungalow’. 

 
• A Member asked when Stodmarsh credits would come forward and the 

Spatial Planning Manager replied that this was likely to happen when the 
Government and Natural England decided that there was sufficient 
certainty on the solution, which could be as early as Easter 2023 if all 
went well.  In response to a question, the Deputy Team Leader – Plan 
Making and Infrastructure advised that approximately 33% of the 
dwellings counted in the Five Year Housing Land Supply were affected 
by Stodmarsh.   

 
• A Member asked whether the Government had reconsidered a more 

punitive approach to developers over the issue of land banking.  The 
Team Leader – Plan Making and Infrastructure advised that the 
Government was considering imposing financial penalties on developers 
who did not build out permissions, and also whether the character of 
developers could be used as a material consideration.  The Chairman 
said that he believed that development company shareholders put 
pressure on the management to refrain from land banking.  A Member 
also asked about the proposals for zones, which had been suggested in 
the White Paper 2020.  The Team Leader – Plan Making and 
Infrastructure confirmed that this idea had fallen by the wayside. 

 

Page 318



LPPP/TG 
16/12/22 

• In response to a request, the Team Leader – Plan Making and 
Infrastructure said he would share a copy of the Ministerial Statements 
with the Task Group.   

 
• The Team Leader – Plan Making and Infrastructure advised that the idea 

of ‘street votes’ was currently being considered to give local 
communities’ views greater weight and more chance to voice their 
wishes.  The Chairman said he would like to hear more about this issue 
in future.   

 
Resolved 
 
That the Local Plan and Planning Policy Task Group 
 

• Notes the contents of the report;  
• Agrees that the final HLS Position Statement for 2022-2027 shall be 

agreed by Assistant Director Planning & Development, in consultation 
with the Portfolio Holder for Planning & Development and the Chair of 
Local Plan & Planning Policy Task Group, once all the remaining 
calculations have been finalised, and be published on the Council’s 
website (in February 2023) to frame future decision-making. 

 
5. Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan Review 
 Regulation 18 Consultation 
 
5.1 The Team Leader – Plan Making and Infrastructure introduced this item and 

drew Members’ attention to a number of key points in the report.   
 
5.2 The Chairman suggested that if Members had any points they wished raised 

with Kent County Council, either he or the Team Leader – Plan Making and 
Infrastructure could pursue those points on their behalf.   

 
Resolved 
 
That the Local Plan & Planning Policy Task Group  
 

• endorses the contents of the paper as a means of framing responses to 
the consultation on the Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan Review;  

• agrees to delegate authority to the Assistant Director of Planning and 
Development and Assistant Director of Environment, Property & 
Recreation to finalise and agree any responses between the Portfolio 
Holder for Planning, the Portfolio Holder for Environment, Property & 
Recreation and The Chair of Task Group.  

 
6.      Member Tracker 
 
6.1 Members reiterated a requirement for surface water run-off to be added as an 

item for discussion at a future meeting on the Tracker, and requested that a 

Page 319



LPPP/TG 
161222 

Stodmarsh update be provided, possibly in the form of a confidential all-
Member briefing session.  It was agreed that the Spatial Planning Manager and 
the Principal Solicitor would liaise outside the meeting regarding the timing of 
any briefing session or extra Task Group meeting around the pre-election 
period.   

 
6.2 Members requested an additional Tracker item should be added to consider a 

policy for solar farms to be included in the next Local Plan.  The Spatial 
Planning Manager suggested that the first Task Group meeting after the 
elections could discuss what the Local Plan review should cover.  This would 
assist in scoping out a policy framework for moving forward.  He added that 
there was a policy in place in the current Local Plan on renewable and low 
carbon energy (Policy ENV10), and this could also be discussed at a future 
meeting.  It was agreed that an early meeting under the new administration 
would be required post-elections in May.   

 
 Resolved: 
 
The contents of the Tracker were noted, subject to the above discussion. 
 
7.      Date of Next Meeting. 
  

The next meeting had been arranged for 4 February 2023, at 10am, via Teams. 
 
 
Councillor Bartlett 
Chairman – Local Plan & Planning Policy Task Group 
 
 
____________________________________________________________________ 
Queries concerning these minutes?  Please contact 
membersservices@ashford.gov.uk 
Agendas, Reports and Minutes are available on: www.ashford.moderngov.co.uk 
 
 
 

Page 320

mailto:membersservices@ashford.gov.uk
http://www.ashford.moderngov.co.uk/


Agenda Item No:  
 

 

Report To: 
 

CABINET 

Date: 
 

23RD FEBRUARY 2023 

Report Title: 
 

SCHEDULE OF KEY DECISIONS TO BE 
TAKEN 
 

Report Author and 
Job Title: 
 
Portfolio Holder:       
 
 

Danny Sheppard, Member Services Manager 
 
 
Portfolio Holders are individually specified in the attached 
Schedule. 

Summary: 
 

To set out the latest Schedule of Key Decisions to be taken by 
the Cabinet of Ashford Borough Council. 

Key Decision: NO  
 

Significantly 
Affected Wards: 

Where appropriate, individual Wards are indicated. 
 

 
Recommendations 
 

That the Cabinet receive and note the latest Schedule of 
Key Decisions. 
 

Policy Overview: 
 

Under The Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) 
(Meetings and Access to Information) (England) Regulations 
2012, there is no longer a legal requirement to publish a 
Forward Plan of Key Decisions, however there is still a 
requirement to publish details of Key Decisions 28 clear days 
before the meeting they are to be considered at. The Council 
maintains a live, up to date rolling list of decision items on the 
Council’s website, and that list will be presented to the Cabinet 
each month, in its current state, for Members’ information. 
 

Financial 
Implications: 
 
Legal 
Implications: 
 
Equalities Impact 
Assessment 
 

Nil 
 
 
 
n/a 
 
n/a 

Other Material 
Implications: 
 

Nil 

Exempt from 
publication: 

No  
 

 
Background 
Papers: 
 

 
None 

Contacts danny.sheppard@ashford.gov.uk – Tel: 01233 330349 Page 321

Agenda Item 19



CABINET 
SCHEDULE OF KEY DECISIONS TO BE TAKEN 

 
The following Key Decisions will be taken by Ashford Borough Council’s Cabinet on the dates stated. 
 
Ashford Borough Council’s Cabinet is made up of: - Councillors Gerry Clarkson; Paul Bartlett; Bill Barrett, Neil Bell; Andrew 
Buchanan; Peter Feacey; Matthew Forest; Nathan Iliffe; Alan Pickering; and Neil Shorter. 
 
Copies of the reports and any other relevant documents that are submitted to the Cabinet in connection with a proposed decision will be 
available for inspection, or on screen, five clear days before the decision date at the Civic Centre, Tannery Lane, Ashford and at The 
Town Hall, 24 High Street, Tenterden, during opening hours, or at https://ashford.moderngov.co.uk  
 

 
Decision Item Report Summary Relevant 

Portfolio 
Holder 

Report Author Open or 
Exempt 

Added to 
Schedule 

23rd February 2023 
 

Revenue Budget 
2023/24 
 
 

To present the draft revenue budget for 
2023/24 to the Cabinet for recommendation to 
Council. 
 

Cllr Shorter Lee Foreman 
 

Open 28/2/22 

Financial Monitoring – 
Quarterly Report 
 

Quarterly budget monitoring report 
 

Cllr Shorter Lee Foreman Open 28/2/22 

Corporate Performance 
Report 
 
 

The report seeks to give Members and the 
Borough’s residents an overview of how the 
Council is performing. It seeks to do this in a 
transparent and easily-accessible manner, 
giving a key performance ‘snapshot’. 
 
 

Cllr Feacey Tom Swain Open 28/2/22 

P
age 322

https://ashford.moderngov.co.uk/


Decision Item Report Summary Relevant 
Portfolio 
Holder 

Report Author Open or 
Exempt 

Added to 
Schedule 

Local Development 
Scheme 
 

 Cllr Bell Claire Marchant/ 
Ian Bailey 

Open 29/11/22 

30th March 2023 
 
Annual Pay Policy 
Statement (including 
Review for 2023/24) 
 

A review of the annual Pay Policy Statement 
and Ashford Living Wage Allowance. 

Cllr Pickering Michelle Pecci/ 
Joy Cross 

Open 1/4/22 

Covert Surveillance 
Report 
 

 Cllr Clarkson Samantha Clarke Open 11/4/22 

Achieving Nutrient 
Neutrality 
Supplementary 
Planning Document 
(SPD) 
 

To seek approval of the draft Supplementary 
Planning Document for public consultation.  
The Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) 
will set out guidance on the nutrient neutrality 
process, including what information developers 
should submit with planning applications and 
details of the Council’s strategic mitigation to 
address the Stodmarsh nutrient neutrality 
requirement.  
 

Cllr Bell Daniel Carter/ 
Harriet Turner 

Open 11/11/22 

Policy for Funding the 
Voluntary and 
Community Sector 
 

To present a draft policy for funding the 
voluntary and community sector (VCS), 
including making a proposal for allocating 
revenue funding currently awarded through the 
Member grant scheme and a recommendation 
to consult on the policy with VCS. 
 

Cllr Feacey Michelle Byrne/ 
Jennifer Shaw 

Open 1/2/23 

P
age 323



Decision Item Report Summary Relevant 
Portfolio 
Holder 

Report Author Open or 
Exempt 

Added to 
Schedule 

27th April 2023 
 
 

NO CABINET MEETING – REPLACED BY FULL COUNCIL 
 

May 2023 
 

 
NO MEETING DUE TO BOROUGH COUNCIL ELECTIONS 

 
25th June 2023 

 
Corporate Plan Annual 
Report 2022/23 
 

To present the Annual Report 2022/23 
highlighting performance against the Corporate 
Plan priorities. 
 

 Tom Swain 
 

Open 4/7/22 

Final Outturn 2022/23 
 

Final budget outturn for previous financial year. 
 

 Lee Foreman 
 

Open 4/7/22 

Review of Parking 
Charges/Strategy 
 

  Alison Oates Open 1/12/22 

Anti-Social Behaviour 
Policy 
 

  Alison Oates Open 14/12/22 

Brompton Development 
 

To update of the progress of the discussions 
with both Brompton and the Developer in 
bringing forward the proposed development 
including the setting up a of joint venture 
company. 

 Paul McKenner Open 28/7/22 

P
age 324



Decision Item Report Summary Relevant 
Portfolio 
Holder 

Report Author Open or 
Exempt 

Added to 
Schedule 

Corporate Enforcement 
Statement 
 

  Jennifer Shaw Open 6/2/23 

27th July 2023 
 

Revenues & Benefits 
Recommended Write-
Offs Schedule 
 

Proposed formal write-off of debts  Nic Stevens Open 
(Exempt 
Appendix) 

30/7/22 

Update on Levelling Up 
Funding and Newtown 
Works Development 
 

  Andrew Osborne Open 3/2/23 

31st August 2023 
 

 
KEEP CLEAR FOR HOLIDAYS 

 
28th September 2023 

 
Financial Monitoring – 
Quarterly Report 
 

Quarterly budget monitoring report  Lee Foreman Open 30/9/22 

Corporate Performance 
Report 
 
 
 
 

The report seeks to give Members and the 
Borough’s residents an overview of how the 
Council is performing. It seeks to do this in a 
transparent and easily-accessible manner, 
giving a key performance ‘snapshot’. 
 

 Tom Swain Open 30/9/22 

P
age 325



Decision Item Report Summary Relevant 
Portfolio 
Holder 

Report Author Open or 
Exempt 

Added to 
Schedule 

Broadband and Digital 
Infrastructure Update 
 
 

To update on projects and initiatives to 
improve broadband in the Borough and outline 
the work that the team suggests can take place 
in the coming year. 
 

 Thomas Jenkins Open 30/9/22 

26th October 2023 
 

Medium Term Financial 
Plan 
 
 

To ask Cabinet to note the Medium Term 
Financial Plan ahead of this year’s Budget 
process. 
 

 Lee Foreman Open 28/10/22 

Corporate Commercial 
Property Strategy – 
Annual Report 
 
 

To advise of the revenue performance of the 
Council’s corporate property portfolio during 
the last financial period and to advise of 
proposals to increase profitability in the coming 
financial period. 
 

 Eloise Duffy Open 28/10/22 

30th November 2023 
 

Corporate Performance 
Report 
 

To give Members and residents an overview of 
how the council is performing with a key 
performance ‘snapshot’. 
 

 Tom Swain Open 28/11/22 

Council Tax Base 
2023/24 
 

To present for approval the estimated 2023/24 
Council tax base calculation for the Borough 
and each parished area, on which the major 
preceptors and local Parish Councils will base 
their requirements. 
 

 Lee Foreman Open 28/11/22 

P
age 326



Decision Item Report Summary Relevant 
Portfolio 
Holder 

Report Author Open or 
Exempt 

Added to 
Schedule 

Draft Budget 2024/25 
 
 
 

To present the preliminary draft service budget 
and outline MTFP for the purposes of 
subsequent formal scrutiny by the O&S Task 
Group and public consultation. 
 

 Lee Foreman Open 28/11/22 

Financial Monitoring – 
Quarterly Report 
 

Quarterly budget monitoring report. 
 

 Lee Foreman Open 28/11/22 

21st December 2023 
 

Housing Revenue 
Account (HRA) 
Business Plan 2023-
2053 (including 
Financing and 
Affordable Homes 
Programme) 
 

To detail the financial position in the HRA and 
ask Members to agree Housing’s priorities for 
the next year. 

 Sharon 
Williams/Mark 
James 

Open 
(Exempt 
Appendix) 

16/12/22 

25th January 2024 
 

Revenues & Benefits 
Recommended Write-
Offs Schedule 
 

Proposed formal write-off of debts  Nic Stevens Open 
(Exempt 
Appendix) 

27/1/23 

 
 
If you wish to contact a Report Author by email, unless stated otherwise, the addresses are; 

P
age 327



first name.surname@ashford.gov.uk 
 
6/2/23 
 

P
age 328



Document is Restricted

Page 329

Agenda Item 21
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 333

Agenda Item 22
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 337

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Declarations of Interest
	3 Minutes
	Cabinet
	263	Minutes
	264	Deputy Leader’s Announcements
	265	Housing Revenue Account Business Plan 2022-2053
	266	Waste, Recycling and Street Cleansing Service – Contract Award
	267	Climate Change Guidance for Development Management
	268	Private Sector Housing Strategy
	269	Disabled Facilities Grants and Disabled Adaptations
	270	Local Plan and Planning Policy Task Group – Notes of 4th November 2022
	271	Schedule of Key Decisions to be Taken


	6 Report of the Overview and Scrutiny Planning IT Delivery Task Group
	Agenda Item No. 6
	Report Title:	Final Report of the O&S Task Group’s Review of the Planning IT System Delivery
	Foreword from the Task Group Chairman
	Introduction and Background
	Review Scope
	Review Findings
	Conclusion
	Recommendations
	Contact and Email


	7 Report of the Overview and Scrutiny Budget Task Group
	8 Budget 2023/24
	Agenda Item No. 8
	Report Title:	Budget 2023/24
	Introduction and Background
	The Corporate Plan
	Local Government Finance Settlement
	Formula Grant
	Business Rates
	Council Tax
	Medium Term Financial Plan
	Recommendations (Part One)

	PART TWO – GENERAL FUND REVENUE BUDGET
	Table 3 - General Fund Summary
	Principal changes to draft budget
	Council Tax
	Council Tax Reduction (CTR)
	Business Rate Relief
	Discretionary Fees
	Savings
	Reserves
	Budget Scrutiny and Risk
	Equalities Impact Assessment
	Recommendations (Part Two)
	PART THREE – HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT
	Housing Revenue Account Budget
	Housing Revenue Account - Rents
	Recommendations (Part Three)
	PART FOUR – CAPITAL PROGRAMME
	Capital Resources and New Allocations to Projects
	Housing Revenue Account
	Capital Expenditure 2023/24
	PART FIVE – CAPITAL STRATEGY, TREASURY MANAGEMENT STRATEGY STATEMENT INVESTMENT STRATEGY, AND MRP POLICY
	Capital Strategy
	Treasury Management Strategy
	Investment Strategy
	HRA Debt Pools
	Annual Minimum Revenue Provision Policy Statement
	Recommendations (Part Five)
	PART SIX –
	Exceptional Circumstances Policy
	Recommendations (Part Six)
	PART SEVEN –ROBUSTNESS OF THE ESTIMATES AND ADEQUACY OF RESERVES
	Background
	Robustness
	Context
	Key components of the budget
	Adequacy of Reserves
	Monitoring and Review
	Capital Resources
	Weighing-up
	Recommendations (Part Seven):
	Equalities Impact Assessment
	Consultation Undertaken
	Other Options Considered
	Next Steps in Process
	Portfolio Holder’s Views
	Contact and Email

	LIST OF APPENDICES
	Annual Minimum Revenue Provision Statement 2023/24
	Treasury Management Strategy Statement 2023/24

	9 Financial Monitoring - Quarterly Report
	Agenda Item No. 9
	Report Title:	Quarter Three Financial Monitoring
	Introduction and Background
	Summary of General Fund Position
	Summary of General Fund Movements at Assistant Director Level
	Housing Revenue Account (HRA)
	Collection fund Monitoring
	Capital Monitoring
	Reserves
	Portfolio Holder’s Views
	Contact and Email
	Update paper – February 2023
	Automatic Numberplate Recognition installation


	10 Corporate Performance Report
	Q3 Agenda Item No
	Agenda Item No.
	Report Title: Performance Report, Quarter 3 2022/23
	Introduction and Background


	Q3_Performance
	New waste and recycling service on its way
	Ryland Road brand new play area now open
	Brand new play area coming to Spearpoint Recreation Ground
	Jasmin Vardimon Company unveils state of the art space in Ashford
	Brompton submits planning application to build revolutionary bicycle factory of the future in Ashford
	Carnival of the Baubles kicked off the countdown to Christmas in Ashford town centre
	Reset sets out next stage of development and regeneration of Ashford Town Centre
	Works begin to preserve the life of Ashford Shared Space
	Residents’ survey reveals satisfaction levels with Council


	11 Local Development Scheme
	LDS report to Cabinet Feb 2023FINAL
	Agenda Item No. 11
	Report Title: Local Development Scheme (LDS) Update (2023)
	Introduction and Background
	Proposal
	Key considerations for the preparation of a new Local Plan
	Equalities Impact Assessment
	Consultation Planned or Undertaken
	Other Options Considered
	Next Steps in Process
	Conclusion
	Portfolio Holder’s Views
	Contact and Email


	LOCAL DEVELOPMENT SCHEME 2023FINAL
	Introduction
	What is a Local Development Scheme?
	Previous LDS Documents

	The Current adopted Development Plan documents:
	Development Plan Documents
	Adopted Neighbourhood Plans
	Minerals and Waste Plan
	Supplementary Planning Documents and Guidance

	Other relevant documents
	Statement of Community Involvement
	Authority Monitoring Report
	Policies Map

	Emerging Plans
	Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL)
	Gypsy and Traveller Accommodation Local Plan

	Reviewing the Ashford Local Plan 2030
	Pre-publication Stage (Regulation 18)
	Publication of submission draft Local Plan (Regulation 19)
	Submission and Examination of the Local Plan (Regulation 22)
	Adoption

	Monitoring
	Appendix 1 – District Diagram, from the Ashford Borough Local Plan 2030 (Strategic Diagram 1)
	Appendix 2 – Adopted LDS Timetable (2023)
	Appendix 3 – Previous Local Development Scheme Timetables (now superseded)
	LDS Timetable March 2005
	LDS Review Timetable July 2008
	LDS Review Timetable December 2010
	LDS Review Timetable July 2014
	LDS Timetable September 2015
	LDS Timetable May 2017
	LDS Timetable March 2018
	LDS Timetable March 2019
	LDS Timetable March 2021



	12 Revenues and Benefits Recommended Write Offs Schedule
	Agenda Item No. 12
	Report Title:	Revenues & Benefits Recommended Write-Offs Schedule
	Introduction and Background
	Proposal / Current position
	Implications and Risk Assessment
	Consultation Planned or Undertaken
	Next Steps in Process
	Conclusion
	Contact and Email

	Exempt Appendix
	Revenues & Benefits Service Write Off Schedule
	1.	Where accounts are in bankruptcy, liquidation, dissolved, in administration or there is a Debt Relief Order claims for the amounts due have been submitted to the Receivers, Liquidators or Administrators. Any amounts received will be written back on to the appropriate accounts. Where a company is “struck off” or there is a proposal to “strike off” this means a company has ceased to trade and comply with the requirements of Companies House i.e. submit company accounts and there is little chance of recovering any monies due.
	Exempt Appendices

	13 Joint Transportation Board - Minutes of 6th December 2022
	Joint Transportation Board
	Safety and Wellbeing Manager; Civil Enforcement Team Leader; Member Services and Ombudsman Liaison Officer – ABC.
	242	Declarations of Interest
	243	 Ashford Shared Space and Lower High Street


	14 Trading and Enterprise Board - Minutes of 31st January 2023
	Trading and Enterprise Board
	286	Election of Chairman
	287	Declarations of Interest
	288	Minutes
	289	Exclusion of the Public
	290	Ashford International Development Company – Disposal of Residential Units


	15 Civic and Ceremonial Programme Board - Notes of 25th January 2023
	Civic and Ceremonial Programme Board
	1	Declarations of Interest
	2	Notes of the Previous Meeting of the Board – 26th October 2022
	3	Civic Update (including Feedback on Remembrance 2022 and Updates on Freedom of the Borough Parade and HMS Albacore Day)
	4	Feedback on the Ashford 180 Celebrations
	5	Update on Holocaust Memorial Day
	6	80th Anniversary of the 1943 Bombing Raid on Ashford – 24th March 2023
	7	Coronation of King Charles III
	8	Newtown Monument Memorial
	8.1	The Leader gave a verbal update and shared a draft design for the monument planned for the Newtown Works site. This would commemorate those who lost their lives at a bombing raid at the railway works in 1943, the largest single loss of life in Kent during the Second World War. The Memorial would also recognise the railway works itself dating back to 1847, as well as the RAF who defended this part of Kent during the war. He had been discussing this with both the Ashford International Development Company (owners of the site) and the South Willesborough and Newtown Community Council, who were both supportive and the process would continue.
	9	Events Calendar
	10	Any Other Business
	10.1	This fell on 8th March and Councillor Lyn Suddards advised of plans to mark this with an event on Sunday 5th March 2023. There would be a march from the Fountain in Victoria Park via Elwick Place, Bank Street, the Lower High Street and Station Road, with the procession being led by the Mayor. This would arrive at the Coachworks at approximately 3pm with a Mayoral welcome and an introductory speech about International Women’s Day. This would be followed by musical performances by young female artistes and Iranian musical acts and an array of speakers. Food and drink would be available throughout at the Coachworks.
	11	Date of Next Meeting


	16 Compliance and Enforcement Board - Notes of 24th January 2023
	Compliance and Enforcement Board
	Cllr. Buchanan.
	Solicitor to the Council and Monitoring Officer, Environmental Contracts and Enforcement Manager.
	Team Leader Environmental Enforcement; Community Safety and Resilience Team Leader, Team Leader Planning Enforcement, Senior Planning Lawyer, Member Services and Ombudsman Complaints Officer, Member Services Officer.


	17 Climate Change Advisory Committee - Notes of 17th November 2022
	Head of Policy & Performance, Climate Change Manager, Project Manager Carbon Neutrality,  Senior Climate Action Officer, Team Leader - Plan Making and Infrastructure, Spatial Planning Manager, Housing Development & Regeneration Manager, Senior Mechanical & Electrical Surveyor, Member Services Officer.
	1.	Declaration of Interest

	18 Local Plan and Planning Policy Task Group - Notes of 16th December 2022
	Ashford Borough Council: Local Plan & Planning Policy Task Group
	In attendance:
	Spatial Planning Manager; Team Leader - Plan Making and Infrastructure; Team Leader - Plan Making and Infrastructure; Deputy Team Leader - Plan Making and Infrastructure; Housing Development and Partnerships Manager; Principal Solicitor - Strategic Development; Senior Planning and Development Solicitor; Member Services and Ombudsman Complaints Officer.

	1	Apologies and substitutions
	1.1.	Apologies had been received from Cllr. Mrs Bell.
	2.	Declarations of Interest
	2.1	Cllr Bartlett declared that he was a Member of Kent County Council.
	2.2	Cllr Spain declared that, under item 5 on the agenda (4 in these Notes), he knew the site owner of site S28, although not well.  He also declared that the first of the sites mentioned in the draft Charing Neighbourhood Plan was adjacent to his property, not part of it despite the name given to it, and asked that the site’s name be corrected.
	2.3	Cllr Walder declared that she was a founding member of Tenterden Wildlife.
	2.    Notes of the last Meeting
	3.	Climate Change Guidance for Development 	Management
	3.1	One of the Team Leaders – Plan Making and Infrastructure introduced this item 	and gave a presentation which covered:
	3.2	The Chairman opened up the item for discussion and the following 	questions/points were raised:
		A Member congratulated the team on an excellent piece of work.  She asked about the permeability of the hardstanding areas on new developments, especially car parks.  The Team Leader – Plan Making and Infrastructure replied that on major new schemes the SUDS policy would be relevant where non-permeable hardstanding was proposed.  However, officers tried to discourage this approach where possible.  She suggested that this issue could be included when the review of the Local Plan was triggered and the Chairman concurred.
		A Member said that she would like to see a stronger approach by officers than just encouragement to follow the Guidance and she considered that officers should insist on certain standards being met, rather than accepting arguments by developers against inclusion on the grounds of cost.
		A Member pointed out that there was an error on page 30 above figure 1 and that the population statistics quoted were incorrect.  He went on to ask if there was a mechanism for officers for assessing schemes and the various arguments given against inclusion.  The Team Leader – Plan Making and Infrastructure said that officers liaised with the Climate Change and Building Control officers where necessary and were able to tap into the available in-house expertise.  A Member commented that it would be helpful to have the Climate Change Officer attend this meeting going forward to provide further information.
		Regarding water retention, one Member said that she considered that a water butt should be provided at every new house as a minimum and that officers should do more to encourage developers to incorporate water harvesting and water re-use in new developments.  The Team Leader - Plan Making and Infrastructure said that officers were liaising with Southern Water regarding rainwater harvesting, and she could provide links to further information on this from Southern Water.  She advised that the Guidance also introduced other mechanisms for rainwater harvesting on major developments.
		A Member said that she thought this was a positive report and she recognised the limitations of the Guidance.  She considered that solar technology should be incorporated as mandatory on new developments and that officers should design a new strategy to encourage this approach.  One of the Team Leaders – Plan Making and Infrastructure advised that it was proposed to introduce legislation to make solar panels mandatory on all new dwellings from 2025.
		One Member suggested that EV charging points were needed more than ever in rural areas, and she was concerned that developers would not make this a priority.  She did not believe that Conservation Areas in rural villages should be an exception to installation of charging points.  The Team Leader – Plan Making and Infrastructure said it should be possible to achieve this in a sympathetic manner.  Conservation Officers could assist with schemes to ensure that charging points were delivered in a sensitive manner on new dwellings.  She added that charging points needed to be front-loaded through the planning process to ensure that this could be achieved.
		The Chairman requested that an addition be made to the Tracker document to include the addition of surface water run off as part of the Local Plan Review.
		In response to a question, the Team Leader – Plan Making and Infrastructure confirmed that insulation was checked by officers at the building regulations stage.
		A Member asked whether Climate Change officers were official consultees on planning reports and the Team Leader – Plan Making and Infrastructure responded that they were consulted on a discretionary case by case basis.
	Resolved
	That the report be received and noted.
	4.	Five Year Housing Land Supply 2022-2027 and the Housing Delivery Test
	4.1	The Spatial Planning Manager and the Deputy Team Leader – Plan Making and Infrastructure introduced this item and gave a presentation which covered:
		Housing Delivery Test
	4.2	The Chairman opened up the item for discussion and the following questions/comments were raised:
		In response to a question on the Government’s likely future position on housing targets, the Team Leader – Plan Making and Infrastructure explained that the Government were likely to retain targets as an advisory starting position, with proposals to change the calculation method.  Genuine constraints could be used to argue a lower housing target.  The Duty to Cooperate was likely to be cancelled, and the 20% buffer figure was subject to consultation prior to removal.  The Team Leader – Plan Making and Infrastructure explained that further details were required from Government to clarify its proposals.  He advised that the Government were seeking to reset the relationship between the Planning Inspectorate and local authorities to provide greater weight to local concerns and community issues, and a balance was sought between local evidence and concerns and the pressure from housing need.
		A Member pointed out that there was an error in the report in the table on page 98 of the agenda.  ‘Burleigh Bungalow’ should read ‘land adjacent to Burleigh Bungalow’.
		A Member asked when Stodmarsh credits would come forward and the Spatial Planning Manager replied that this was likely to happen when the Government and Natural England decided that there was sufficient certainty on the solution, which could be as early as Easter 2023 if all went well.  In response to a question, the Deputy Team Leader – Plan Making and Infrastructure advised that approximately 33% of the dwellings counted in the Five Year Housing Land Supply were affected by Stodmarsh.
		A Member asked whether the Government had reconsidered a more punitive approach to developers over the issue of land banking.  The Team Leader – Plan Making and Infrastructure advised that the Government was considering imposing financial penalties on developers who did not build out permissions, and also whether the character of developers could be used as a material consideration.  The Chairman said that he believed that development company shareholders put pressure on the management to refrain from land banking.  A Member also asked about the proposals for zones, which had been suggested in the White Paper 2020.  The Team Leader – Plan Making and Infrastructure confirmed that this idea had fallen by the wayside.
		In response to a request, the Team Leader – Plan Making and Infrastructure said he would share a copy of the Ministerial Statements with the Task Group.
		The Team Leader – Plan Making and Infrastructure advised that the idea of ‘street votes’ was currently being considered to give local communities’ views greater weight and more chance to voice their wishes.  The Chairman said he would like to hear more about this issue in future.
	Resolved
		Notes the contents of the report;
		Agrees that the final HLS Position Statement for 2022-2027 shall be agreed by Assistant Director Planning & Development, in consultation with the Portfolio Holder for Planning & Development and the Chair of Local Plan & Planning Policy Task Group, once all the remaining calculations have been finalised, and be published on the Council’s website (in February 2023) to frame future decision-making.
	5.	Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan Review 	Regulation 18 Consultation

	19 Schedule of Key Decisions
	NEW Forward Plan Cover Report
	Policy Overview:
	Financial Implications:
	Other Material Implications:



	NEW Rolling Schedule of Key Decisions
	CABINET
	SCHEDULE OF KEY DECISIONS TO BE TAKEN
	The following Key Decisions will be taken by Ashford Borough Council’s Cabinet on the dates stated.
	Ashford Borough Council’s Cabinet is made up of: - Councillors Gerry Clarkson; Paul Bartlett; Bill Barrett, Neil Bell; Andrew Buchanan; Peter Feacey; Matthew Forest; Nathan Iliffe; Alan Pickering; and Neil Shorter.
	Copies of the reports and any other relevant documents that are submitted to the Cabinet in connection with a proposed decision will be available for inspection, or on screen, five clear days before the decision date at the Civic Centre, Tannery Lane,...
	If you wish to contact a Report Author by email, unless stated otherwise, the addresses are;


	21 Economic Regeneration and Investment Board - Notes of 14th December 2022
	22 Regeneration, Infrastructure and Improvement Co-ordination Board - Notes of 20th January 2023
	Exempt Advice Note




